
 

 

 

 
 
 

To: Members of the Cabinet Date: 

 
12 October 2022 
 

 Direct Dial: 
 

01824712568 

 e-mail: democratic@denbighshire.gov.uk 

 
 
 
Dear Councillor 
 
You are invited to attend a meeting of the CABINET to be held at 10.00 am on TUESDAY, 
18 OCTOBER 2022 in the COUNCIL CHAMBER, COUNTY HALL, RUTHIN AND BY 
VIDEO CONFERENCE. 
 
Yours sincerely  
 
 
G. Williams 
Monitoring Officer 
 
 
AGENDA 
 
 
1 APOLOGIES   

 

2 DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 

 Members to declare any personal or prejudicial interests in any business 
identified to be considered at this meeting.   
 

3 URGENT MATTERS   

 Notice of items which, in the opinion of the Chair, should be considered at the 
meeting as a matter of urgency pursuant to Section 100B(4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972.   
 

4 MINUTES  (Pages 7 - 12) 

 To receive the minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 29 September 2022 
(copy enclosed).   
 
 

Public Document Pack



 

5 CENTRAL RHYL AND CENTRAL PRESTATYN COASTAL DEFENCE 
SCHEMES  (Pages 13 - 84) 

 To consider a report (which includes two confidential appendices) by 
Councillor Barry Mellor, Lead Member for Environment and Transport (copy 
enclosed) regarding two potential coastal defence schemes for Central Rhyl 
and Central Prestatyn and seeking Cabinet approval to present the project to 
Council with a recommendation to fund the construction phase of both 
schemes. 
 

6 REVIEW OF CABINET DECISION RELATING TO THE PROPOSED 
SCHEME OF DELEGATED DECISION MAKING FOR LAND ACQUISITON 
(FREEHOLD AND LEASEHOLD) FOR CARBON SEQUESTRATION AND 
ECOLOGICAL IMPROVEMENT PURPOSES  (Pages 85 - 134) 

 To consider a report by Councillor Barry Mellor, Lead Member for 
Environment and Transport (copy enclosed) seeking Cabinet approval to 
introduce a proposed new scheme of delegated decision making for land 
acquisition for carbon sequestration and ecological improvement purposes 
taking into account the recommendations of Communities Scrutiny 
Committee. 
 

7 YSGOL PLAS BRONDYFFRYN PROJECT - SCHOOL ORGANISATION 
FORMAL CONSULTATION REPORT  (Pages 135 - 224) 

 To consider a report by Councillor Gill German, Lead Member for Education, 
Children and Families (copy enclosed) on the findings of the formal 
consultation to increase the capacity from 116 to 220 at Ysgol Plas 
Brondyffryn and seeking Cabinet approval for publication of a statutory notice 
for Denbighshire County Council to increase the capacity from 116 to 220 at 
Ysgol Plas Brondyffryn from 1 September 2024 subject to the new build being 
ready. 
 

8 DISTRICT HEATING SYSTEM BETWS GWERFIL GOCH  (Pages 225 - 
246) 

 To consider a report by Councillor Rhys Thomas, Lead Member for Housing 
and Communities (copy enclosed) regarding the potential of a district heating 
system for the village of Betws Gwerfil Goch incorporating the provision of 
ground source heat pumps to council and privately owned dwellings and 
seeking Cabinet approval to appoint the Contractor, Kensa to proceed with 
the design stage of the project. 
 

9 ANNUAL TREASURY MANAGEMENT (TM) REPORT 2021/22  (Pages 247 
- 280) 

 To consider a report by Councillor Gwyneth Ellis, Lead Member for Finance, 
Performance and Strategic Assets (copy enclosed) updating Cabinet on the 
performance of the treasury management function and to demonstrate 
compliance with treasury limits and Prudential Indicators during 2021/22. 
 



 

10 FINANCE REPORT  (Pages 281 - 328) 

 To consider a report by Councillor Gwyneth Ellis, Lead Member for Finance, 
Performance and Strategic Assets (copy enclosed) detailing the latest 
financial position and progress against the agreed budget strategy. 
 

11 CABINET FORWARD WORK PROGRAMME  (Pages 329 - 332) 

 To receive the enclosed Cabinet Forward Work Programme and note the 
contents.   
 

 
 
MEMBERSHIP 
 
Councillor Gwyneth Ellis 
Councillor Gill German 
Councillor Elen Heaton 
Councillor Julie Matthews 
Councillor Jason McLellan 
 

Councillor Barry Mellor 
Councillor Win Mullen-James 
Councillor Rhys Thomas 
Councillor Emrys Wynne 
 

 
COPIES TO: 
 
All Councillors for information 
Press and Libraries 
Town and Community Councils 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 
 
LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000 

 

 

 
Code of Conduct for Members 
 

DISCLOSURE AND REGISTRATION OF INTERESTS 
 
  

I, (name)   

  

a *member/co-opted member of 
(*please delete as appropriate) 

Denbighshire County Council  

 
 

 

CONFIRM that I have declared a *personal / personal and prejudicial 
interest not previously declared in accordance with the provisions of Part 
III of the Council’s Code of Conduct for Members, in respect of the 
following:- 
(*please delete as appropriate) 

Date of Disclosure:   

   

Committee (please specify):   

   

Agenda Item No.   

   

Subject Matter:   

   

Nature of Interest: 

(See the note below)* 

 

 
 

 

   

Signed   

   

Date   

 

 
*Note: Please provide sufficient detail e.g. ‘I am the owner of land adjacent to the application for 
planning permission made by Mr Jones', or 'My husband / wife is an employee of the company which 
has made an application for financial assistance’. 

Page 5

Agenda Item 2



This page is intentionally left blank



 

CABINET 
 
Minutes of a meeting of the Cabinet held in the Council Chamber, County Hall, Ruthin and 
by video conference on Thursday, 29 September 2022 at 1.00 pm. 
 

PRESENT 
 

Councillors Jason McLellan, Leader and Lead Member for Economic Growth and 
Tackling Deprivation; Gill German, Deputy Leader and Lead Member for Education, 
Children and Families; Gwyneth Ellis, Lead Member for Finance, Performance and 
Strategic Assets; Julie Matthews, Lead Member for Corporate Strategy, Policy and 
Equalities; Barry Mellor, Lead Member for the Environment and Transport; Win Mullen-
James, Lead Member for Local Development and Planning; Rhys Thomas, Lead Member 
for Housing and Communities, and Emrys Wynne, Lead Member for Welsh Language, 
Culture and Heritage 
  
Observer:  Councillor Gareth Sandilands 
 

ALSO PRESENT 

 
Chief Executive (GB); Corporate Director: Governance and Business/Monitoring Officer 
(GW); Head of Finance and Property (SG); Acting Head of Highways and Environmental 
Services (AC); Lead Officer Corporate Property and Housing Stock (DL); Strategic 
Planning and Housing Manager (AL); Senior Planning Officer (KB); Planning Officer 
(GC); Business Coordinator: Leader’s Office (SE) and Committee Administrators (KEJ & 
SJ [Webcaster])  
 

 
POINT OF NOTICE - TRIBUTE: HER LATE MAJESTY QUEEN ELIZABETH II 
 
Due to the national mourning period following the death of Her Majesty Queen Elizabeth II 
the Cabinet meeting scheduled for 20 September 2022 had not been held.  Given that 
some decisions needed to be made, today’s meeting of Cabinet had been arranged. 
 
The Leader spent some time reflecting on the sad news of the passing of Her Late 
Majesty Queen Elizabeth II who had dedicated her life to the people of this country and 
the Commonwealth during her 70-year reign as Britain’s longest serving Monarch.  The 
Leader paid tribute and expressed gratitude for her lifetime of devotion to public service 
and detailed how the Council had responded to the announcement of her death in line 
with national protocol.  He also recorded his gratitude to Councillor Arwel Roberts, Chair 
of the Council for the way he had carried out his duties on behalf of the Council with 
dignity and honour.  Finally, the Leader thanked members and officers who had continued 
to provide Council services and carried out their duties in a dignified and respectful 
manner during the national period of mourning, and to all officers across the Council who 
had ensured the Council arrangements were carried out in line with national protocol. 
 
1 APOLOGIES  

 
Councillor Elen Heaton, Lead Member for Health and Social Care 
 

Page 7

Agenda Item 4



Councillor Julie Matthews, Lead Member for Corporate Strategy, Policy and 
Equalities would be slightly late to the meeting due to a prior engagement. 
 

2 DECLARATION OF INTERESTS  
 
No declarations of interest had been raised. 
 

3 URGENT MATTERS  
 
No urgent matters had been raised. 
 

4 MINUTES  
 
The minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 26 July 2022 were submitted. 
 
RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting held on 26 July 2022 be received and 
confirmed as a correct record. 
 

5 FINANCE REPORT  
 
Councillor Gwyneth Ellis presented the report detailing the latest financial position 
and progress against the agreed budget strategy, highlighting the current financial 
uncertainties, and also recommended Cabinet approval of two business cases. 
 
A summary of the Council’s financial position was provided as follows – 
 

 the net revenue budget for 2022/23 was £233.696m (£216.818m in 2021/22) 

 an overspend of £1.953m was forecast for service and corporate budgets 

 highlighted current risks and assumptions relating to corporate budgets and 
individual service areas together with the impact of coronavirus and inflation 

 detailed service savings and fees and charges increases (£0.754m); no savings 
having been requested from Community Support Services or Schools 

 provided a general update on the Housing Revenue Account, Treasury 
Management, Capital Plan and major projects. 

 
The Head of Finance and Property explained that the report had been prepared for 
Cabinet on 20 September and some figures had changed but a further update 
would be provided to Cabinet in October.  He drew attention to the budget pressure 
in Children’s Services and out of county placements, and in Community Support 
Services with little remaining in cash reserves to fund in-year pressures and any 
future movements likely to show an overspend.  Councillor Gill German gave 
assurances that much work was being done to address budget pressures caused 
by out of county placements with plans in place.  The Leader referred to the 
implications of the UK Government’s budget on Welsh Government funding with 
huge budget pressures going forward.  The Head of Finance and Property shared 
those concerns and the impact on future budget setting with an update thereon 
scheduled for Cabinet Briefing. 
 
Cabinet approval had been sought for two business cases relating to new salt 
storage facilities at Corwen and Lon Parcwr, Ruthin depot sites and new welfare, 

Page 8



vehicle and equipment storage facilities at Rhyl Botanical Gardens depot which had 
been reviewed and supported by the Budget Board.  The Acting Head of Highways 
and Environmental Services provided an overview of the business cases and 
reasoning behind the request and need for investment in those assets.  Councillors 
Gwyneth Ellis and Barry Mellor had visited the facilities and were fully supportive of 
the proposed investment.  Cabinet considered each business case separately – 
 

 New salt storage facilities at Corwen and Lon Parcwr, Ruthin depot sites 
 
Cabinet considered the proposal to replace the temporary buildings at Corwen and 
develop new salt storage facilities at Corwen and Lon Parcwr with new purpose 
built facilities.  It was accepted that the current storage and drainage systems were 
not fit for purpose and did not comply with current guidelines.  It was clarified that 
the proposal involved improvement to the existing sites and not relocation of the 
facilities.  Cabinet was supportive of the capital investment to improve the facilities 
to address the issues raised and also ensure significant improvements to welfare, 
vehicle and equipment storage facilities and reduce environmental impacts.  With 
regard to Corwen, it was noted that the new build would enable vehicles to be kept 
on-site thereby further facilitating both operational and environmental efficiencies. 
 

 New welfare, vehicle and equipment storage facilities at the Rhyl Botanical 
Gardens Depot 

 
Cabinet considered the proposal to develop and construct new welfare, vehicle and 
equipment storage facilities along with the reconfiguration of the remaining site in 
order to replace the existing temporary buildings.  It was noted that the existing 
buildings were no longer fit for purpose and were beyond economic repair, some of 
which had already been demolished due to significant safety concerns.  Reference 
was made to Phase 1 construction works which had commenced on site with the 
business case focusing on Phase 2 to continue improvement work on site.  Cabinet 
considered it vital that staff had appropriate facilities in their place of work.  
 
In summary, Cabinet noted the proposed significant capital investment in council 
facilities of just over £3.5m combined for both projects to benefit the county, 
improve facilities for staff, create efficiencies and positively impact on environmental 
concerns, and therefore were fully supportive of both business cases. 
 
RESOLVED that Cabinet – 

 
(a)  note the budgets set for 2022/23 and progress against the agreed budget 

strategy; 
 
(b) approve new salt storage facilities at Corwen and Lon Parcwr, Ruthin depot 

sites as detailed in Section 6.9 of the report and Appendix 5 to the report, 
and 

 
(c) approve the development and construction of a new welfare, vehicle and 

equipment storage facilities at the Rhyl Botanical Gardens as detailed in 
Section 6.9 of the report and Appendix 5 to the report. 

 

Page 9



6 PHASE 2 SOCIAL HOUSING RETROFIT WORKS - RHYDWEN DRIVE, RHYL  
 
Councillor Rhys Thomas presented the report seeking approval to proceed with a 
Direct Award contract to Sustainable Building Services for energy retrofit works. 
 
In line with the council’s planned capital maintenance work, Welsh Government 
funding had been secured for optimised retrofit works for energy saving in homes 
and the benefit of tenants.  Previous funding had enabled Phase 1 energy works to 
55 houses on Rhydwen Drive and the intention was to use the latest funding to 
continue those works for a further 44 houses along the street.  Details of the 
improvement works and benefits of continuing the scheme had been set out and it 
was recommended that Cabinet approve the award of a contract through the Welsh 
Alliance Framework to enable the contractor currently on-site to continue with the 
work into Phase 2.  The Phase 1 contract ended on 30 September and therefore 
Cabinet had been asked to approve immediate implementation of the contract 
award given any delay would lead to additional costs and programme delays. 
 
Cabinet praised the excellent work that had already been carried out with the 
council being at the forefront in progressing energy improvement works, particularly 
in one of the most deprived areas in Wales, with tenants benefiting from lower 
energy bills at a time of fuel insecurities.  Cabinet also welcomed the community 
benefits in terms of training and apprenticeships, including 12 local apprentices, 
and members were keen for the council to continue to support those apprentices to 
ensure they obtained good qualifications and secured future employment.  The 
Lead Officer Corporate Property and Housing Stock confirmed that whilst similar 
works had been carried out by other local authorities, Denbighshire remained at the 
forefront.  Phase 2 would enable the 12 apprentices from Phase 1 to continue their 
employment and gain relevant qualifications by the end of the second phase.  
Assurances were also given that the apprentices would be supported to gain full 
time employment following completion of the works, and reference was made to 
Working Denbighshire as a further means of providing help to ensure the 
apprentices secured further employment if it was not possible for them to be taken 
on by the current contractor on-site. 
 
In terms of the contract award and potential waive of the 5-day call in period, the 
Lead Officer confirmed that if Cabinet approved the contract award it would give 
confidence to the contractors and others in the supply chain that the award would 
be imminent and ensure a seamless transition to Phase 2.  The Monitoring Officer 
provided some legal context and provision in the council’s constitution to waive the 
call in for urgent decisions where the reasons for the urgency had been set out. 
 
Cabinet considered the report recommendations and it was subsequently – 
 
RESOLVED that Cabinet – 
 
(a) directly award the contract to the contractor currently undertaking Phase 1 of 

the works based on the competitive rates via the Welsh Procurement 
Alliance Energy Framework as agreed by Procurement, and 

 

Page 10



(b) that the 5-day call in period requirement prior to implementing the Cabinet 
decision is waived on the basis that the current contract ends on 30 
September 2022 and any delay in contract award will lead to additional costs 
and programme delays leading to the risk of missing grant stipulated 
spending deadlines. 

 
7 FORMATION OF A NUTRIENT MANAGEMENT BOARD TO TACKLE 

PHOSPHORUS POLLUTION IN THE "RIVER DEE AND BALA LAKE" SPECIAL 
AREA OF CONSERVATION  
 
Councillor Barry Mellor presented a joint report with Councillor Win Mullen-James 
on the formation of the Nutrient Management Board to tackle phosphorus pollution 
in the River Dee catchment area, and for lead member representation on the Board. 
 

Cabinet was advised that new phosphorous standards for the Welsh Riverine 
Special Areas of Conservation (SAC) had been set with around 38% of surveyed 
waterbodies in the “River Dee and Bala Lake SAC” compliance areas having failed 
to achieve the targets.  Wrexham County Borough Council and Flintshire County 
Council had committed to form a Nutrient Management Board (NMB) and it was 
recommended that Denbighshire County Council join the partnership to enable a 
catchment-wide approach to improving water quality in the River Dee, and ensure 
the Council could deliver local community projects and an efficient Planning Service 
under consideration of the Habitats Regulations 2017.  The report set out the legal 
framework, structure, potential resource requirements and early workload. 
 
The Strategic Planning and Housing Manager, Senior Planning Officer and 
Planning Officer attended for this item.  Cabinet was advised of the environmental 
damage caused by too much phosphorous in the river and the implications that the 
new targets would have on planning applications and delivery of new housing, 
employment land, etc.  Reference was made to the map accompanying the report 
showing the River Dee catchment area which covered a significant part of southern 
Denbighshire, including Llangollen and Corwen as the main towns and the villages 
in between.  The NMB provided a partnership approach to tackling water quality 
and approval was sought to join the Board and confirm Councillor Barry Mellor as 
the Council’s representative and Councillor Win Mullen-James as substitute. 
 
The following points were raised during the ensuing debate – 
 

 Councillor Win Mullen-James highlighted the devastating impact of algae 
blooms caused by raised phosphate levels on river ecology and wildlife and the 
importance of joining the NMB with a view to tacking the issue of phosphate 
pollution and the implications on future planning applications 

 Councillor Emrys Wynne raised questions regarding the lack of reference in the 
report to the River Alyn as a tributary of the River Dee and the known problem 
with phosphates in the Llanarmon yn Ial area.  Officers advised that the River 
Alyn itself and Llanarmon yn Ial area were not part of the SAC which focused on 
the area specifically around the River Dee.  However, the wider catchment area 
still fell under the Habitats Regulations 2017 because increases in phosphates 
in those areas had a pathway into the River Dee.  Attention was drawn to the 

Page 11



map attached to the report highlighting the distinction between SAC phosphate 
compliance areas and SAC phosphate sensitive areas 

 Welsh Government designates riverine Special Areas of Conservation in light of 
recommendations made by Natural Resources Wales (previously Countryside 
Council for Wales) through the Joint Nature Conservation Committee  

 Councillor Barry Mellor stressed the need to consider all phosphate sources 
entering the River Dee, including those from outside the SAC, and the issue 
would best be raised at the NMB.  He added that the Welsh Government had 
provided funding to support the work of the NMBs, with up to £415k available 
across Wales in 2022-23 and additional provision in 2023-24 and 2024-25 

 Councillor Rhys Thomas referred to survey work he had undertaken on the 
River Dee and he fully understood the problems associated with phosphate 
levels.  He emphasised the need to work across the whole catchment area 
taking into account all causes of phosphate pollution with a view to resolving the 
problem and therefore was fully supportive of the work of the NMB. 

 
Cabinet recognised the importance of tacking phosphate pollution both for 
environmental reasons and impact on planning applications, including future 
housing provision, and were fully supportive of the Council joining the NMB. 
 
RESOLVED that Cabinet agrees – 
 
(a) that Denbighshire County Council joins the Nutrient Management Board and 

works collaboratively with its partners to tackle phosphorus pollution in the 
River Dee catchment area, and 

 
(b) that the Council is represented by the Lead Member for Environment and 

Transport with the Lead Member for Local Development and Planning being 
the substitute. 

 
8 CABINET FORWARD WORK PROGRAMME  

 
The Cabinet forward work programme was presented for consideration and 
members noted that the item ‘Queen’s Market: Operator Contract Award’ had been 
rescheduled from November to January.  It was also noted that the reference to the 
lead member and officer relating to the Annual Treasury Management Report 2021-
22 item for October should read Councillor Gwyneth Ellis and Steve Gadd.  
 
RESOLVED that Cabinet’s forward work programme be noted. 
 
The meeting concluded at 2.00 pm. 

Page 12



 

Report to Cabinet 

Date of meeting 18th October 2022 

Lead Member / Officer Cllr Barry Mellor, Lead Member for Environment and 

Transport / Tony Ward, Corporate Director 

Report author Wayne Hope, Flood Risk Manager 

Title Central Rhyl and Central Prestatyn Coastal Defence 

Schemes 

1. What is the report about?  

1.1. This report is about two potential coastal defence schemes for Central Rhyl and 

Central Prestatyn. 

2. What is the reason for making this report?  

2.1. To provide an update to Members regarding the development of the schemes 

and the next steps involved. 

2.2 Due to the level of financial commitment required by the council, Cabinet approval 

is sought to present the project to Council with a recommendation to fund the 

construction phase of both schemes.  

3. What are the Recommendations?  

3.1. That Cabinet confirms that it has considered the content of the Well-being Impact 

Assessments for each scheme (attached at Appendix 3a and Appendix 3b). 

3.2. That Cabinet supports the proposal to progress the Central Rhyl Coastal Defence 

scheme to the construction phase, using the grant aid funding model set out by 

the Welsh Government, and agrees to the proposal being presented to Council 

for a decision. 

Page 13

Agenda Item 5



 
 

3.3. That Cabinet supports the proposal to progress the Central Prestatyn Coastal 

Defence scheme to the construction phase, using the grant aid funding model set 

out by the Welsh Government, and agrees to the proposal being presented to 

Council for a decision 

3.4. That Cabinet delegates authority to the Coastal Defence Project Board to deliver 

the schemes. 

4. Report details 

4.1. Prestatyn: The existing coastal defences along Rhyl Golf Course frontage are 

about 70 years old and in poor condition, which means they could be breached 

in the next 30 years. If the existing defences fail in this location, the flood risk to 

over 2,000 properties in the Prestatyn area will increase significantly. This is 

because low land elevations behind the defences will allow any tidal flood water 

to spread and flood a wide area. After an appraisal of options, the preferred 

option (indicative cost £26m, with 85% of the costs funded by the Welsh 

Government) is an earth embankment that follows the boundary of Rhyl Golf 

Club and is set back from the front-line defences.  As the current front line 

defences become increasingly overtopped during storm events, flood water will 

be contained within the golf course until it can discharge back to the sea.  The 

extent of the scheme and an image of the design can be seen in Appendix 1. 

The scheme was taken to Planning Committee on 13th July 2022, at which 

planning permission was granted. There were a number of pre-commencement 

conditions set, which the project team are confident can be discharged A marine 

licence for the scheme was granted by Natural Resources Wales on 9th 

November 2021. 

A Full Business Case for the scheme will be submitted to the Welsh Government 

(WG) by the end of September 2022. The Council has worked closely with WG 

throughout the development of the scheme and anticipates WG approval to be 

granted by the end of October 2022. 

A carbon impact assessment has been carried out which shows that, over the 

lifetime of the scheme, the carbon impacts are very similar to the carbon benefits, 

which means that the scheme is carbon neutral. 

Page 14



 
 

The scheme has an impact on Rhyl Golf Club, which leases Rhyl Golf Course 

from the Council. Negotiations with the club are ongoing and proceeding in a 

positive manner. 

4.2. Central Rhyl : The central area of Rhyl (between Splash Point and the Drift 

Park) is currently protected by sea defences that are deteriorating. The Council 

wants to ensure that existing defences are replaced well ahead of time, to 

protect this popular part of Rhyl's coastline from flooding and coastal erosion. If 

the existing defences fail in this location, the flood risk to over 600 properties in 

the Rhyl area will increase significantly. The scheme is expected to cost in the 

order of £58m, with 85% of the costs funded by the Welsh Government. The 

scheme consists of: Rock armour scour protection, buried beneath the existing 

sand level, and concrete repairs to the existing sea wall, towards the eastern 

end of the proposed scheme area; Concrete stepped revetment to absorb 

energy from the waves, incorporating beach access steps and a large beach 

access ramp, between the Drift Park and Rhyl SeaQuarium; A new raised 

promenade and back of the promenade sea defence wall, between the Drift 

Park and Rhyl SeaQuarium; Widening the promenade adjacent to the 

Children's Village. The extent of the scheme and an image of the design can be 

seen in Appendix 2. 

The scheme was taken to Planning Committee on 13th July 2022, at which 

planning permission was granted. There were a number of pre-commencement 

conditions set, which the project team are confident can be discharged.  A 

marine licence for the scheme was granted by Natural Resources Wales on 9th 

November 2021. 

A Full Business Case for the scheme will be submitted to the Welsh Government 

(WG) by the end of September 2022. The Council has worked closely with WG 

throughout the development of the scheme and anticipates WG approval to be 

granted by the end of October 2022. 

A carbon impact assessment has been carried out which shows that, over the 

lifetime of the scheme, the carbon impacts are very similar to the carbon benefits, 

which means that the scheme is carbon neutral. 

Page 15



 
 

The Council has been involved in positive discussions and negotiations with 

businesses affected by the scheme. 

The project team is working closely with the Rhyl Regeneration project team, to 

make certain that the coastal defence scheme and regeneration scheme are 

closely co-ordinated to ensure that the inevitable disruption of these significant 

construction projects is kept to a minimum. 

5. How does the decision contribute to the Corporate 

Priorities?  

5.1. Denbighshire Council’s Corporate plan (2017-22) has two priorities that are 

relevant in this case; Environment and Younger People. Progression of the 

schemes will meet an ambition under the Environment priority to protect 

residents from flooding.  Work experience and work opportunities for younger 

people should be available during future construction phases.   

6. What will it cost and how will it affect other services? 

6.1. The combined cost of both schemes is approximately £84m. Of this cost, 85% is 

funded by the Welsh Government as grant in aid, paid to the Council over a 25 

year period through the Revenue Support Grant. 

7. What are the main conclusions of the Well-being Impact 

Assessment? 

7.1. Prestatyn Summary: The aim of the project is to reduce flood risk in Prestatyn. 

Provided this aim is fulfilled, the result will be a more prosperous, resilient, 

healthy, equal and globally responsible Denbighshire.  See Appendix 3a for the 

full assessment. 

7.2. Central Rhyl Summary: The aim of the project is to reduce flood risk in Central 

Rhyl. Provided this aim is fulfilled, the result will be a more prosperous, resilient, 

healthy, equal and globally responsible Denbighshire.  See Appendix 3b for the 

full assessment. 

Page 16



 
 

8. What consultations have been carried out with Scrutiny 

and others? 

8.1. Extensive consultation has taken place for both schemes, including that carried 

out as part of the formal planning process. Consultees include local residents and 

businesses, county councillors, town councillors and statutory bodies. 

8.2. A report was taken to Communities Scrutiny Committee on 8th September 2022. 

The Committee resolved to recommend that the schemes be taken to Strategic 

Investment Group, Cabinet and Council successively for their respective 

approval. 

8.3. A business case for each scheme was presented to Budget Board on 20th 

September 2022. The board resolved to recommend that the schemes be taken 

forward to construction, subject to Cabinet and Council approval and Welsh 

Government grant approval (copies of the business cases are included in 

Appendix 4 and Appendix 5). 

9. Chief Finance Officer Statement 

9.1. If approved this would be a significant financial commitment by the council at a 

time of huge economic uncertainty. The scheme proposed requires a contribution 

from the council of £12.6m based on the information provided in Section 6. The 

Welsh Government funding model for such schemes is for councils to borrow the 

money to pay for the entire scheme and the government reimburses the annual 

cost of borrowing 85% of it to councils via the RSG. The revenue cost to the 

council of borrowing its proportion would be approximately £0.7m in a full year 

post completion The actual cost will depend on the final contract sum and interest 

rates at the time (which are currently predicted to continue to rise). This 

constitutes a huge commitment at this very uncertain time and, if approved, 

would therefore increase the savings or cuts the council has to make in each of 

those years or require a further Council Tax increase to that already assumed of 

approximately 1.2%. 

Page 17



 
 

10. Risks 

10.1. The most significant risk associated with the project is that the terms of the WG 

loan will result in a long term (25 year) revenue burden for the Council, which 

would have an impact on the delivery of other services. Also, there is a risk that 

the Welsh Government won’t increase the grant award to cover any cost 

increases during construction. This risk has been mitigated by choosing a 

procurement option that has resulted in a high level of cost certainty. 

10.2. The size and location of the Central Rhyl scheme means that there is likely to be 

significant disruption during the construction period of approximately two and a 

half years. Every effort will be made to manage and minimize disruption as much 

as possible and communication and engagement plan with stakeholders will be 

put in place. Whilst the scheme will inevitably be disruptive, the long term 

benefits by far outweigh the short-term impact. 

11. Power to make the decision 

11.1. The power to make decisions is contained in S2 Local Government Act 2000, 

and S111 Local Government Act 1972. 

11.2. In addition, the Council has powers to carry out maintenance and improvements 

to its coastal defences under the Coast Protection Act 1949. 

Page 18



Appendix 1: Prestatyn Coastal Defence Scheme - Location and Design 

Prestatyn frontage 

 

Although the entire frontage (shown by the red line in the location plan 

above) will eventually need improvements, the Central Prestatyn Coastal 

Defence Scheme focuses on the area of most immediate concern, adjacent 

to Rhyl Golf Club: see below 

 

Page 19



Prestatyn flood risk map adjacent to Rhyl Golf Club 

 

Prestatyn coastal flood alleviation design (earth embankment location 

indicitave) 

 

 
Page 20



Appendix 2: Central Rhyl Coastal Defence Scheme – Location and Design 

Central Rhyl frontage and location of the 3km+ scheme (blue / green below) 

 

 

 

 

Central Rhyl design comparing existing infrastructure with proposed 

visualisations of the scheme 

 

Page 21



 

 

 
Page 22



 

 

 

 

 

Page 23



This page is intentionally left blank



Coastal defence works at
Prestatyn
Well-being Impact Assessment Report
This report summarises the likely impact of the proposal on the social, economic, environmental
and cultural well-being of Denbighshire, Wales and the world.

Assessment Number: 983

Brief description: Coastal defence works at Prestatyn to reduce the risk of flooding and
coastal erosion.

Date Completed: Version: 0

Completed by:

Responsible Service: Highways & Environmental Services

Localities affected by
the proposal: Prestatyn,

Who will be affected by
the proposal?

The residents and business owners of Prestatyn will be positively
impacted as the proposed flood defence scheme will safeguard their
homes and businesses.

Was this impact
assessment completed
as a group?

No

Page 25



IMPACT ASSESSMENT SUMMARY AND CONCLUSION
Before we look in detail at the contribution and impact of the proposal, it is important to consider
how the proposal is applying the sustainable development principle. This means that we must act "in
a manner which seeks to ensure that the needs of the present are met without compromising the
ability of future generations to meet their own needs."

Score for the sustainability of the approach

 ( 3 out of 4 stars ) Actual score : 29 / 36.

Summary for each Sustainable Development principle

Long term

The project will be carried out in a way that ensures that are minimal
negative impacts on the natural environment. There may be opportunities
to improve biodiversity in the built environment. Flooding of properties
creates a large amount of contaminated, non-recyclable waste. Post flood
clear up operations use a considerable amount of energy/fuel, therefore
this project will reduce this risk. There are strong links between flooding
and climate change (sea level rise). The project will draw these issues to
the attention of Denbighshire residents. Flood risk is understood to have a
negative impact on the economic prosperity of communities, Therefore,
reducing flood risk will have a positive impact. The project involves heavy
civil engineering work which will provide an opportunity for local
employment in that sector. Reduced flood risk will encourage potential
future employers to invest in the area. Coastal engineering is a specialism
and the project has the potential to enable to development of local skills in
this field. By developing this scheme it will protect as many properties as
possible to the highest economically achievable standard.

Prevention

Coastal defence works at Prestatyn will reduce the risk of flooding and
coastal erosion. The project will make Prestatyn more resilient to future
flood events. The current and ongoing risk of flooding of properties has a
significant negative impact on the prosperity of the county, as
demonstrated by the floods that affected the region in 2012 and 2013.
Therefore, the project will have a positive impact on the community. The
project will have the greatest positive impact on the most vulnerable
members of the community. People with protected characteristics are our
most vulnerable residents during a flood event. Reducing the risk of
flooding will improve their well-being. One of the consequences of flooding
is high insurance costs, which could result in poverty. The project could
make properties cheaper to insure for residents.

Integration

The existing beach at this location is sometimes floods the coastal path
and over onto the Golf Course. Whilst the project won't stop this
happening it should reduce this likelihood of flooding the surrounding
properties. Peoples concerns and fears of being flooded have a significant
impact on their emotional and mental well-being. The project will
significantly reduce this likelihood.

Collaboration

We have consulted with the Council's Countryside Service team and
Natural Resources Wales. We have consulted with Local councillors,
Prestatyn Golf Club, MAG and the community. The project involves heavy
civil engineering work which will provide an opportunity for local
employment in that sector. Reduced flood risk will encourage potential
future employers to invest in the area. Coastal engineering is a specialism
and the project has the potential to enable to development of local skills in
this field. By reducing the risk of flooding it will reduce the need to drain
resources from the emergency services once a flood clean up is needed.

Page 26



Well-being Goals

A prosperous Denbighshire Positive

A resilient Denbighshire Positive

A healthier Denbighshire Positive

A more equal Denbighshire Positive

A Denbighshire of cohesive communities Positive

A Denbighshire of vibrant culture and thriving
Welsh language Neutral

A globally responsible Denbighshire Positive

Involvement
We have consulted with local members in Prestatyn, Prestatyn Golf Club,
community groups, local businesses and are keeping the public up to date
with regular communications in the local newspapers.

Summary of impact

Main conclusions

The aim of the project is to reduce flood risk in Prestatyn. Provided this aim is fulfilled, the result will
be a more
prosperous, resilient, healthy, equal and globally responsible Denbighshire.

Evidence to support the Well-being Impact Assessment

 We have consulted published research or guides that inform us about the likely impact of the
proposal

 We have involved an expert / consulted a group who represent those who may affected by the
proposal

 We have engaged with people who will be affected by the proposal

Page 27



THE LIKELY IMPACT ON DENBIGHSHIRE, WALES AND THE
WORLD

A prosperous Denbighshire

Overall Impact Positive

Justification for
impact

The positives to this proposal way outweighs any short terms negatives.
The opportunities for work experience, training, apprenticeships and the
use of local businesses is positive.

Further actions
required

The main negative in this proposal is the need to use lorries for
transporting the materials to site. Although we cannot mitigate these
impacts as the lorries are not Electric, the need to use them is relatively
short lived.

Positive impacts identified:

A low carbon society

If there is less risk of flooding then more people can cycle, walk.
Reducing the risk of flooding will reduce the need to use emergency
services and their large fire engines/ambulances/boats etc reducing the
carbon emissions.

Quality
communications,
infrastructure and
transport

Our project will put Denbighshire in better stead for operating in more
extreme and frequent weather events as it will reduce the risk of flooding
due to rising sea levels.

Economic
development

The project could help lower house insurance premiums for residents. 
Through community benefits, there will be a number of work experience
places to be taken by local young adults who may want a career within
civil engineering. 

Quality skills for the
long term

As young adults have work experience opportunities then hopefully they
will go on to qualify in their chosen fields and take forward quality skills
for their futures, and possibly for their families futures.
A positive outlook on employment will bring positive health and well
being.

Quality jobs for the
long term

Local community benefits will see the need for local young adults to
engage with work experience and apprenticeship opportunities.

Childcare

The Welsh Government have a scheme called Childcare Offer in Wales
which financially helps parents of 3/4 year olds with childcare needs.
Some employers offer childcare voucher schemes in which the
government help with childcare costs. 

Negative impacts identified:

A low carbon society The initial use of lorries transporting materials to site will necessitate the
need to use roads and carbon emissions from the lorries.

Quality
communications,
infrastructure and
transport

Economic
development

Quality skills for the
long term

Quality jobs for the
long term

Page 28



Childcare More young adults who gain employment may need access to affordable
childcare.

A resilient Denbighshire

Overall Impact Positive

Justification for
impact The project will make Prestatyn more resilient to future flood events.

Further actions
required

Through consultation with the Council's Countryside Service team and
Natural Resources Wales.

Positive impacts identified:

Biodiversity and the
natural environment

The project will be carried out in a way that ensures that are minimal
negative impacts on the natural
environment.

Biodiversity in the
built environment

There may be opportunities to improve biodiversity in the built
environment.

Reducing waste,
reusing and
recycling

Flooding of properties creates a large amount of contaminated, non-
recyclable waste. The project will reduce this likelihood.

Reduced energy/fuel
consumption

Post flood clear up operations use a considerable amount of energy/fuel,
this project will reduce that.

People’s awareness
of the environment
and biodiversity

There are strong links between flooding and climate change (sea level
rise). The project will draw these issues to the attention of Denbighshire
residents.

Flood risk
management The project will reduce the likelihood of flooding in Prestatyn.

Negative impacts identified:

Biodiversity and the
natural environment

Biodiversity in the
built environment

Reducing waste,
reusing and
recycling

Reduced energy/fuel
consumption

People’s awareness
of the environment
and biodiversity

Flood risk
management

A healthier Denbighshire

Overall Impact Positive

Justification for
impact

The project will have a beneficial impact on the mental well-being of
residents currently at risk of flooding.

Page 29



Further actions
required

By working with local residents and community groups as the project
develops to ensure that residents fears and concerns are recognised and
addressed.

Positive impacts identified:

A social and physical
environment that
encourage and
support health and
well-being

The coastal path will be re routed if it is subject to flooding to take it
around the Golf Course then back on to the Promenade. This is used for
walking and cycling etc.

Access to good
quality, healthy food N/A

People’s emotional
and mental well-
being

Peoples concerns and fears of being flooded have a significant impact on
their emotional and mental well-being.
The project will significantly reduce this likelihood.

Access to healthcare N/A

Participation in
leisure opportunities

If there is a future need to re-route the coastal path around the current
Golf course then this will continue the coastal path for residents that use it
for physical activity.

Negative impacts identified:

A social and physical
environment that
encourage and
support health and
well-being

Access to good
quality, healthy food

People’s emotional
and mental well-
being

Access to healthcare

Participation in
leisure opportunities

A more equal Denbighshire

Overall Impact Positive

Justification for
impact

The project will have the greatest positive impact on the most vulnerable
members
of the community.

Further actions
required n/a

Positive impacts identified:

Page 30



Improving the well-
being of people with
protected
characteristics. The
nine protected
characteristics are:
age; disability;
gender
reassignment;
marriage or civil
partnership;
pregnancy and
maternity; race;
religion or belief;
sex; and sexual
orientation

People with protected characteristics are our most vulnerable residents
during a flood event. Reducing the risk of flooding will improve their well-
being.

People who suffer
discrimination or
disadvantage

Reducing the risk of flooding will improve their well-being. Even if the
coastal path has to be re-routed in the future then it will still be able to be
used for physical exercise and mental well-being

People affected by
socio-economic
disadvantage and
unequal outcomes

One of the consequences of flooding is high insurance costs, which could
result in poverty. The project could
make properties cheaper to insure.

Areas affected by
socio-economic
disadvantage

Protecting Prestatyn from possible flooding will help the area's businesses
and keep access to services open

Negative impacts identified:

Improving the well-
being of people with
protected
characteristics. The
nine protected
characteristics are:
age; disability;
gender
reassignment;
marriage or civil
partnership;
pregnancy and
maternity; race;
religion or belief;
sex; and sexual
orientation

People who suffer
discrimination or
disadvantage

People affected by
socio-economic
disadvantage and
unequal outcomes

Areas affected by
socio-economic
disadvantage

A Denbighshire of cohesive communities
Page 31



Overall Impact Positive

Justification for
impact

Reducing flood risk will improve the strength and long term viability of the
community.

Further actions
required n/a

Positive impacts identified:

Safe communities
and individuals

Following previous flood events, crime e.g., burglary, has been an issue
during the recovery phase. Reducing the likelihood of flooding will have a
positive impact.

Community
participation and
resilience

There is already a strong community in Prestatyn, with a good knowledge
of flood risk. The community will be
engaged with as the project develops.

The attractiveness of
the area

Connected
communities

Any flooding could disrupt the connectivity to broadband and travel
infrastructure, therefore reducing the likelihood of flooding will reduce this
issue.

Rural resilience Reducing the likelihood of flooding will help build a resilient rural
community.

Negative impacts identified:

Safe communities
and individuals

Community
participation and
resilience

The attractiveness of
the area The 3m high bund may be seen as slightly unsightly

Connected
communities

Rural resilience

A Denbighshire of vibrant culture and thriving Welsh language

Overall Impact Neutral

Justification for
impact n/a

Further actions
required n/a

Positive impacts identified:

People using Welsh n/a

Promoting the Welsh
language Welsh policy will be implemented on the construction site

Culture and heritage n/a

Negative impacts identified:

People using Welsh

Promoting the Welsh
language Page 32



Culture and heritage

A globally responsible Denbighshire

Overall Impact Positive

Justification for
impact n/a

Further actions
required n/a

Positive impacts identified:

Local, national,
international supply
chains

It's likely that the project will maximise the use of the local supply chain.

Human rights Procurement will be carried out with due cognisance of human rights law.

Broader service
provision in the local
area or the region

n/a

Reducing climate
change n/a

Negative impacts identified:

Local, national,
international supply
chains

Human rights

Broader service
provision in the local
area or the region

Reducing climate
change

Page 33



This page is intentionally left blank



Central Rhyl Coastal Defence
Works
Well-being Impact Assessment Report
This report summarises the likely impact of the proposal on the social, economic, environmental
and cultural well-being of Denbighshire, Wales and the world.

Assessment Number: 982

Brief description: Coastal defence works at Central Rhyl to reduce the risk of flooding and
coastal erosion.

Date Completed: Version: 0

Completed by:

Responsible Service: Highways & Environmental Services

Localities affected by
the proposal: Rhyl,

Who will be affected by
the proposal?

The residents and business owners of Rhyl will be positively impacted as
the proposed flood defence scheme will safeguard their homes and
businesses.

Was this impact
assessment completed
as a group?

No

Page 35



IMPACT ASSESSMENT SUMMARY AND CONCLUSION
Before we look in detail at the contribution and impact of the proposal, it is important to consider
how the proposal is applying the sustainable development principle. This means that we must act "in
a manner which seeks to ensure that the needs of the present are met without compromising the
ability of future generations to meet their own needs."

Score for the sustainability of the approach

 ( 3 out of 4 stars ) Actual score : 33 / 36.

Summary for each Sustainable Development principle

Long term

The project will be carried out in a way that ensures that are minimal
negative impacts on the natural environment. There may be opportunities
to improve biodiversity in the built environment. Flooding of properties
creates a large amount of contaminated, non-recyclable waste. Post flood
clear up operations use a considerable amount of energy/fuel, therefore
this project will reduce this risk.There are strong links between flooding
and climate change (sea level rise). The project will draw these issues to
the attention of Denbighshire residents. Flood risk is understood to have a
negative impact on the economic prosperity of communities, Therefore,
reducing flood risk will have a positive impact. The project involves heavy
civil engineering work which will provide an opportunity for local
employment in that sector. Reduced flood risk will encourage potential
future employers to invest in the area. Coastal engineering is a specialism
and the project has the potential to enable to development of local skills in
this field. By developing this scheme it will protect as many properties as
possible to the highest economically achievable standard.

Prevention

Coastal defence works at Central Rhyl will reduce the risk of flooding and
coastal erosion. The project will make Central Rhyl more resilient to
future flood events. The current and ongoing risk of flooding of properties
has a significant negative impact on the prosperity of the county, as
demonstrated by the floods that affected the region in 2012 and 2013.
Therefore, the project will have a positive impact on the community. The
project will have the greatest positive impact on the most vulnerable
members of the community. People with protected characteristics are our
most vulnerable residents during a flood event. Reducing the risk of
flooding will improve their well-being. One of the consequences of flooding
is high insurance costs, which could result in poverty. The project could
make properties cheaper to insure for residents.

Integration

The project is likely to result in improved opportunities for beach based
leisure activities and local businesses will also benefit from the project, it
will also have a beneficial impact on the mental well-being of residents
currently at risk of flooding. The existing beach at this location is
occasionally stripped of sand due to coastal erosion. The project should
reduce this likelihood and will conserve a sandy beach. There's an
opportunity to improve the quality of the existing beach at Central Rhyl,
with an access point for all users, which will encourage greater use by
residents and tourists. Peoples concerns and fears of being flooded have a
significant impact on their emotional and mental well-being. The project
will significantly reduce this likelihood.

Page 36



Well-being Goals

A prosperous Denbighshire Positive

A resilient Denbighshire Positive

A healthier Denbighshire Positive

A more equal Denbighshire Positive

A Denbighshire of cohesive communities Positive

A Denbighshire of vibrant culture and thriving
Welsh language Neutral

A globally responsible Denbighshire Positive

Collaboration

We have consulted with the Council's Countryside Service team and
Natural Resources Wales. We have consulted Rhyl Town Council, Rhyl
MAG and the community. We are working with other council projects
(Central Prom project) to provide access onto the beach. The project
involves heavy civil engineering work which will provide an opportunity
for local employment in that sector. Reduced flood risk will encourage
potential future employers to invest in the area. Coastal engineering is a
specialism and the project has the potential to enable to development of
local skills in this field. By reducing the risk of flooding it will reduce the
need to drain resources from the emergency services once a flood clean
up is needed.

Involvement

We have consulted with local members in Rhyl, community groups, local
businesses and are keeping the public up to date with regular
communications in the local newspapers and online / paper based
consultations.

Summary of impact

Main conclusions

The aim of the project is to reduce flood risk in Central Rhyl. Provided this aim is fulfilled, the result
will be a more
prosperous, resilient, healthy, equal and globally responsible Denbighshire.

Evidence to support the Well-being Impact Assessment

 We have consulted published research or guides that inform us about the likely impact of the
proposal

 We have involved an expert / consulted a group who represent those who may affected by the
proposal

 We have engaged with people who will be affected by the proposal

Page 37



THE LIKELY IMPACT ON DENBIGHSHIRE, WALES AND THE
WORLD

A prosperous Denbighshire

Overall Impact Positive

Justification for
impact

The positives to this proposal far outweighs any short terms negatives.
The opportunities for work experience, training, apprenticeships and the
use of local businesses is positive.

Further actions
required

The construction emissions for the proposed scheme are estimated to be
7,800tCO2e. This includes the embodied carbon within the proposed
construction materials, transport of materials to site, and the use of plant
on-site. Materials were estimated to account for 86% of these emissions
with concrete being the largest contributor (45% of the total construction
emissions). Mitigation to reduce the emissions associated with the
proposed scheme include the use of standardised precast concrete
elements and the reuse of existing infrastructure (including the sky tower
and children’s village walls). In addition, the use of 85% recycled steel
rather than world average steel throughout the proposed scheme could
result in additional savings of up to 1,000tCO2e. The existing coastal
defences between Splash Point and the Events Arena are also to be
retained instead of being replaced as part of the scheme. The works to the
coastal defences Splash Point and the Events Arena are limited to repairs
and rock scour protection. Further work is ongoing to investigate the
potential to reduce the overall extent of rock scour protection for the
proposed scheme, which would if realised would likely introduce further
construction emission savings. It’s worth noting that although there will be
a significant upfront carbon cost due to the construction works (mostly
quantities of concrete and rock/fill) the scheme itself is a response to the
effects of climate change in order to protect nearly 600 properties from
flooding and coastal erosion; and safeguard the future of the town’s tourist
economy. A negative in this proposal is the need to use lorries. Main
issues might be access into the town and foot access to business during
construction. A park and ride alternative will be looked into . Although we
cannot mitigate these impacts, the need to use them is relatively short
lived.

Positive impacts identified:

A low carbon society

If there is less risk of flooding then more people can cycle, walk.
Reducing the risk of flooding will reduce the need to use emergency
services and their large fire engines/ambulances/boats etc reducing the
carbon emissions.

Quality
communications,
infrastructure and
transport

Our project will put Denbighshire in better stead for operating in more
extreme and frequent weather events as it will reduce the risk of flooding
due to rising sea levels.

Economic
development

The project could help lower house insurance premiums for residents. 
Through community benefits, there will be a number of work experience
places to be taken by local young adults who may want a career within
civil engineering. 
The project will safeguard future tourism opportunities in Rhyl.

Quality skills for the
long term

As young adults have work experience opportunities then hopefully they
will go on to qualify in their chosen fields and take forward quality skills
for their futures, and possibly for their families futures.
A positive outlook on employment will bring positive health and well
being.

Page 38



Quality jobs for the
long term

Local community benefits will see the need for local young adults to
engage with work experience and apprenticeship opportunites.

Childcare

The Welsh Government have a scheme called Childcare Offer in Wales
which financially helps parents of 3/4 year olds with childcare needs.
Some employers offer childcare voucher schemes in which the
government help with childcare costs.

Negative impacts identified:

A low carbon society

The main negative in this project is the significant upfront Carbon impact
due to the the construction works (mostly quantities of concrete and
rock/fill)
Some other issues might be access into the town and foot access to
business during construction. A park and ride alternative will be looked
into .

Quality
communications,
infrastructure and
transport

Economic
development

Some disruption to local businesses but the scheme will work with
businesses to limit disruption

Quality skills for the
long term

Quality jobs for the
long term

Childcare More young adults who gain employment may need access to affordable
childcare.

A resilient Denbighshire

Overall Impact Positive

Justification for
impact The project will make east Rhyl more resilient to future flood events.

Further actions
required

Through consultation with the Council's Countryside Service team and
Natural Resources Wales , DCC Climate change project team and the local
community of Rhyl .

Positive impacts identified:

Biodiversity and the
natural environment

The project will be carried out in a way that ensures that are minimal
negative impacts on the natural
environment.

Biodiversity in the
built environment

There may be opportunities to improve biodiversity in the built
environment.

Reducing waste,
reusing and
recycling

Flooding of properties creates a large amount of contaminated, non-
recyclable waste. The project will reduce this likelihood.

Reduced energy/fuel
consumption

Post flood clear up operations use a considerable amount of energy/fuel,
this project will reduce that.

People’s awareness
of the environment
and biodiversity

There are strong links between flooding and climate change (sea level
rise). The project will draw these issues to the attention of Denbighshire
residents.

Flood risk
management The project will reduce the likelihood of flooding in Central Rhyl.

Page 39



Negative impacts identified:

Biodiversity and the
natural environment

Biodiversity in the
built environment

Reducing waste,
reusing and
recycling

Reduced energy/fuel
consumption

People’s awareness
of the environment
and biodiversity

Flood risk
management

A healthier Denbighshire

Overall Impact Positive

Justification for
impact

The project is likely to result in improved opportunities for beach based
leisure activities for all users as an access ramp is proposed to be
constructed onto the beach is part of the design and will have a beneficial
impact on the mental well-being of residents currently at risk of flooding.

Further actions
required

By working with local residents and community groups as the project
develops to ensure that residents fears and concerns are recognised and
addressed.

Positive impacts identified:

A social and physical
environment that
encourage and
support health and
well-being

A promenade that has less likelihood of flooding will encourage physical
activity on it ie walking, cycling etc.

Access to good
quality, healthy food N/A

People’s emotional
and mental well-
being

Peoples concerns and fears of being flooded have a significant impact on
their emotional and mental well-being.
The project will significantly reduce this likelihood.

Access to healthcare N/A

Participation in
leisure opportunities

There's an opportunity to improve the access onto the existing beach at
Central Rhyl, which will encourage greater use for physical activity by
residents and tourists.

Negative impacts identified:

A social and physical
environment that
encourage and
support health and
well-being

Access to good
quality, healthy food

Page 40



People’s emotional
and mental well-
being

Access to healthcare

Participation in
leisure opportunities

A more equal Denbighshire

Overall Impact Positive

Justification for
impact

The project will have the greatest positive impact on the most vulnerable
members of the community.

Further actions
required n/A

Positive impacts identified:

Improving the well-
being of people with
protected
characteristics. The
nine protected
characteristics are:
age; disability;
gender
reassignment;
marriage or civil
partnership;
pregnancy and
maternity; race;
religion or belief;
sex; and sexual
orientation

People with protected characteristics are our most vulnerable residents
during a flood event. Reducing the risk of flooding will improve their well-
being.

People who suffer
discrimination or
disadvantage

They will be able to use the promenade and live in Rhyl without fear of
flooding.

People affected by
socio-economic
disadvantage and
unequal outcomes

One of the consequences of flooding is high insurance costs, which could
result in poverty. The project could
make properties cheaper to insure.

Areas affected by
socio-economic
disadvantage

Tourism will be better protected without the fear of flooding therefore
helping the area of Rhyl's businesses and residents working in Rhyl.

Negative impacts identified:

Page 41



Improving the well-
being of people with
protected
characteristics. The
nine protected
characteristics are:
age; disability;
gender
reassignment;
marriage or civil
partnership;
pregnancy and
maternity; race;
religion or belief;
sex; and sexual
orientation

People who suffer
discrimination or
disadvantage

People affected by
socio-economic
disadvantage and
unequal outcomes

Areas affected by
socio-economic
disadvantage

A Denbighshire of cohesive communities

Overall Impact Positive

Justification for
impact

Reducing flood risk will improve the strength and long term viability of the
community.

Further actions
required n/a

Positive impacts identified:

Safe communities
and individuals

Following previous flood events, crime e.g., burglary, has been an issue
during the recovery phase. Reducing the likelihood of flooding will have a
positive impact.

Community
participation and
resilience

There is already a strong community in Central Rhyl, with a good
knowledge of flood risk. The community will be
engaged with as the project develops.

The attractiveness of
the area

Connected
communities

Any flooding could disrupt the connectivity to broadband and travel
infrastructure, therefore reducing the likelihood of flooding will reduce this
issue.

Rural resilience Reducing the likelihood of flooding will help build a resilient rural
community.

Negative impacts identified:

Safe communities
and individuals

Page 42



Community
participation and
resilience

The attractiveness of
the area

Connected
communities

Rural resilience

A Denbighshire of vibrant culture and thriving Welsh language

Overall Impact Neutral

Justification for
impact n/a

Further actions
required n/a

Positive impacts identified:

People using Welsh

Promoting the Welsh
language Welsh policy implemented on the construction site

Culture and heritage

Negative impacts identified:

People using Welsh

Promoting the Welsh
language

Culture and heritage

A globally responsible Denbighshire

Overall Impact Positive

Justification for
impact

The project will maximise the use of the local supply chain, including
employment, skills and materials.

Further actions
required n/a

Positive impacts identified:

Local, national,
international supply
chains

It's likely that the project will maximise the use of the local supply chain.

Human rights Procurement will be carried out with due cognisance of human rights law.

Broader service
provision in the local
area or the region

Reducing climate
change

Negative impacts identified:

Page 43



Local, national,
international supply
chains

Human rights

Broader service
provision in the local
area or the region

Reducing climate
change

Page 44



Document is Restricted

Page 45

By virtue of paragraph(s) 14 of Part 4 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 65

By virtue of paragraph(s) 14 of Part 4 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Report to Cabinet 

Date of meeting 18 October 2022 

Lead Member / Officer Councillor Barry Mellor (Lead Member for Environment and 

Transport) / Liz Grieve (Head of Communities and Customers & 

Climate and Ecological Change Programme Senior 

Responsible Owner) 

Report author Jane Hodgson (Climate Change Programme Manager) 

Title Review of Cabinet Decision relating to the Proposed Scheme of 

Delegated Decision Making for Land Acquisition (Freehold and 

Leasehold) for Carbon Sequestration and Ecological 

Improvement Purposes 

1. What is the report about? 

1.1. This report addresses the recommendations of Communities Scrutiny 

Committee relating to a proposal to introduce a new scheme of delegated 

decision making for land acquisition (freehold/leasehold) for carbon 

sequestration and ecological improvement purposes. The purpose of the new 

scheme is to allow land to be more promptly and effectively acquired, 

particularly in an auction scenario, so that the Council delivers upon its Climate 

Change and Ecological Emergency declaration and the subsequent targets 

within its Climate and Ecological Change Strategy (2021/22 – 2029/30). 

2. What is the reason for making this report? 

2.1. A decision is required on whether or not to introduce the new scheme of 

delegated decision making as proposed. 

2.2. This report is submitted for consideration as requested by Cabinet (26/07/22), 

item 5. See Appendix 1 for extract. 

Page 85

Agenda Item 6



 
 

3. What are the Recommendations? 

3.1. Cabinet to approve the introduction of the new scheme of delegated decision 

making for land acquisition (freehold/leasehold) for carbon sequestration and 

ecological improvement purposes as proposed in Appendix 3. 

 

3.2. That the Committee confirms that it has read, understood and taken account of the 

Well-being Impact Assessment (Appendix 4) as part of its consideration. 

4. Report details 

4.1. The Communities Scrutiny Committee’s recommendations (10/03/22) to be 

addressed are included in Appendix 2, and each is addressed below.  

4.2. (i) Officers have contacted the following organisations by email: Clwyd Federation 

Young Farmers’ Club, Farmers’ Union Wales (FUW), NFU Cymru, Country Land 

and Business Association (CLA), Coleg Cambria and Jones Peckover. 

Responses were received from FUW and CLA. Only CLA have been available 

for a meeting. Their comment on the proposed new scheme was that it was not 

for them to comment on Denbighshire County Council policy. A meeting will be 

set up with FUW as soon as they are available. 

4.3. (ii) Please see Appendix 4 for where the wording of the Proposed Scheme of 

Delegated Decision Making and associated documents, as it relates to liaising 

with local councillors and Member Area Groups, has been amended as 

requested. 

4.4. (iii) The capacity of Countryside Service to deal with the anticipated duties that 

will be placed on the Service in connection with carbon sequestration and 

ecological improvement work has been considered and included as part of the 

request to Budget Board for funding Net Carbon Zero and Ecologically Positive 

Council activity in 2023/24. The Climate and Ecological Change Strategy 

document is due to be formally reviewed during 2023/24, ie after the second 

year of delivery. This will include estimates of the resource that will be needed 

to support activities, including carbon sequestration and ecological 

improvement work. 

Page 86



 
 

4.5. (iv)  Agricultural land classification forms part of the Land Assessment Criteria 

(Appendix 7). The matrix is a guide - it is not the definitive mechanism for 

deciding whether or not a particular property should be acquired. Information on 

land classification in Denbighshire can be found via the 

website:https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-

05/agricultural-land-classification-frequently-asked-questions.pdf 

4.6. See Appendix 5 for detail on the Council’s Net Carbon Zero and Ecologically 

Positive 2030 targets and rationale for acquisition for the purposes of carbon 

sequestration and ecological improvement. 

4.7. See Appendix 6 for detail on the Council’s current approach for acquisition 

(freehold/ leasehold) for purposes of carbon sequestration and ecological 

improvement and how that would look under this proposed scheme of 

delegated decision making. 

5. How does the decision contribute to the Corporate 
Priorities? 

5.1. The proposed approach will make a direct contribution to delivering upon the 

Council’s Climate Change and Ecological Emergency declaration which 

committed the Council to become Net Carbon Zero by 2030, and the 

subsequently adopted Climate and Ecological Change Strategy, by supporting 

the increase in tonnage of carbon sequestered by Council owned/operated land 

and at the same time directly contributing to the achievement of Ecologically 

Positive Council by 2030 by increasing the number of hectares of Council 

owned/operated land in the highest species richness categories. 

5.2. The approach will support the Council in making its contribution to the Welsh 

Government policy for the public sector to be carbon neutral by 2030, for Wales 

to meet its legally binding target of reducing emissions to Net Zero by 2050 and 

supports the Council’s statutory duty under Section 6 of the Environment 

(Wales) Act 2016 to “seek to maintain and enhance biodiversity”. 

6. What will it cost and how will it affect other services? 

6.1. Capital costs include any costs related to the acquisition of the land eg 

purchase cost, and any costs related to converting the land into woodland eg 

tree planting, and ecological improvement interventions e.g. habitat creation, 

Page 87

https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-05/agricultural-land-classification-frequently-asked-questions.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-05/agricultural-land-classification-frequently-asked-questions.pdf


 
 

livestock fencing. External grants would be sought wherever possible to provide 

a funding mix alongside capital allocated to the Climate and Ecological Change 

Programme each year as part of the budget setting process. 

6.2. Revenue costs include fees and charges related to acquisition of the land which 

cannot be capitalised and costs related to the management of the asset 

thereafter. For woodland creation at scale, the approach being undertaken is 

that of natural regeneration wherever possible. For woodland creation within 

communities the approach being undertaken is that of ‘right tree, right place’ to 

avoid unnecessary tree maintenance or failure. Sites acquired are likely to be 

added to the Countryside Services asset portfolio and will be reviewed from an 

ongoing management perspective. Revenue costs may be identified and 

external grant will be sought to supplement management budgets across all 

sites. 

6.1 The likely impact on other service areas are as follows: 

 Strategic Assets and Legal - in relation to land acquisition negotiations   

 Climate Change Team – providing project management to assess potential land 

acquisitions and deliver any subsequent woodland creation and habitat 

enhancement activity 

 Countryside Services – providing specialist advice for carbon sequestration and 

ecological improvement plans; undertaking operational management and 

maintenance 

 Democratic services - to manage a notice of decision process to enable sufficient 

awareness in case Members wish to call in the executive delegated decision. 

7. What are the main conclusions of the Well-being Impact 
Assessment? 

7.1. See Appendix 4 for the full WIA. 

Page 88



 
 

8. What consultations have been carried out with Scrutiny 
and others? 

8.1. This report addresses as a result of Communities Scrutiny Committee’s 

recommendations (10 March 2022). No further consultations have been carried 

out with Scrutiny. 

8.2. External groups have been contacted for their input, in line with the 

recommendations from Communities Scrutiny Committee. See 4.2 for details. 

9. Chief Finance Officer Statement 

9.1. It is clear that land use and acquisition for carbon sequestration and ecological 

improvement purposes form a key part of the agreed Net Carbon Zero Target 

Programme. It is important to note that the annual budget allocation will still be 

subject to reports to the Budget Board and ultimately approval by Cabinet and 

Council and that individual projects over £1m will still require Cabinet approval. 

It is the professional opinion of senior officers within property and the 

programme that these proposals will help to secure sites in a prompt and 

effective manner and help the Council to achieve the 2030 target. On that basis 

the proposals are supported. If not approved, then an honest appraisal of the 

Council’s ability to meet the agreed target should be brought forward. 

10. What risks are there and is there anything we can do to 
reduce them? 

10.1. Pertinent risks provided in Appendix 8. 

11. Power to make the decision 

11.1. See Appendix 9. 

 

Page 89



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1- Extract from minutes from Cabinet (26/07/22), item 5 

REVIEW OF CABINET DECISION RELATING TO THE PROPOSED SCHEME OF 
DELEGATED DECISION MAKING FOR LAND ACQUISITION (FREEHOLD AND 
LEASEHOLD) FOR CARBON SEQUESTRATION AND ECOLOGICAL 
IMPROVEMENT PURPOSES  

  RESOLVED that Cabinet – 

(a)  acknowledges Communities Scrutiny Committee’s conclusions, its 

concerns and recommendations following its review of the Cabinet 

decision of 15 February 2022 in relation to a ‘Proposed Scheme of 

Delegated Decision Making for Land Acquisition (Freehold and 

Leasehold) for Carbon Sequestration and Ecological Improvement 

Purposes’; 

(b) agrees to reconsider its original decision, with a view to expediting 

the decision making process for purchasing land, and as part of that 

review will consider and take into account the recommendations 

made by the Scrutiny Committee as set out in paragraph 3.2 of the 

report, and 

(c) officers be asked to bring a report back to Cabinet on that review to 

be considered by Cabinet in October. 

 

Page 91



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 2 – Extract from minutes Communities Scrutiny Committee 

(10/03/22) item 5 

REVIEW OF CABINET DECISION RELATING TO THE PROPOSES SCHEME OF 

DELEGATED DECISION MAKING FOR LAND ACQUISITION (FREEHOLD AND 

LEASEHOLD) FOR CARBON SEQUESTRATION AND ECOLOGICAL 

IMPROVEMENT PURPOSES 

Following an in-depth discussion, the Committee having considered all the 

information presented to it, unanimously: 

Resolved:  to seek Cabinet at its next appropriate meeting to reconsider its original 

decision relating to the ‘Proposed Scheme of Delegated Decision Making for Land 

Acquisition (Freehold and Leasehold) for Carbon Sequestration and Ecological 

Improvement Purposes.  With a view to expediting the decision-making process for 

purchasing land -  

(i) that prior to reviewing its decision Cabinet should work with the Farming 

Unions and the Federation of Young Farmers Clubs to seek comprehensive 

responses from those organisations in relation to the Proposed Scheme;  

(ii) that Cabinet amend the wording within the Proposed Scheme of Delegated 

Decision Making (and any associated documentation) as it relates to liaising 

with local councillors and Member Area Groups (MAGs) to read 

‘consult/consultation’ rather than ‘notify/notification’;  

(iii) that at the appropriate time a review is undertaken of staffing resources within 

the Council’s Countryside Service to ensure that it has sufficient capacity to 

deal with the additional duties that will be placed on the Service in future in 

connection with carbon sequestration and ecological improvement work; and 

(iv) that detailed information on agricultural land grading in Denbighshire 

(including illustrative maps) are provided to the decision-maker when 

reviewing the decision. 

 

Page 93



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 3 - Proposed New Scheme of Delegated Decision Making 

CURRENT PROPOSED  

 As per the Officer Scheme of 

Delegation section of the Council’s 

Constitution (page 128 onward). 

To the Head of Finance and Property: 

a) In consultation with the Corporate 

Director: Economy and Public 

Realm, to negotiate the acquisition 

and/or disposal of land for all 

purposes, in conjunction with the 

Councils Asset Management Group 

and/or the Strategic Investment 

Group and subject to the results 

thereof being reported to all 

Members for information, where 

appropriate. 

b) To authorise investment decisions 

following recommendations from 

Strategic Investment Group and their 

terms of reference. 

c) Acquisitions of land by freehold or 

leasehold, up to a market value or 

rental commitment for the term of the 

lease up to £30,000 if funding is 

available. 

 In order to secure sites for purposes 

of carbon sequestration and 

ecological improvement in a prompt 

and effective manner, it is proposed 

the following, within the Officer 

Scheme of Delegation section of the 

Council’s Constitution the following 

wording added:  

For acquisitions for purposes of carbon 

sequestration and ecological 

improvement the delegation is as 

follows: 

To the Head of Finance and Property  

a) In consultation with the Section 151 

Officer, Monitoring Officer and Lead 

Member for Property & Finance, in 

conjunction with the Corporate 

Landlord, Lead Member for 

Environment and Transport  

(covering Net Carbon Zero Council 

and Ecologically Positive Council)*, 

to negotiate the acquisition of land 

for purposes of carbon 

sequestration and ecological 

improvement as long the land in 

Page 95

https://www.denbighshire.gov.uk/en/documents/your-council/about-the-council/council-constitution/denbighshire-county-council-constitution.pdf
https://www.denbighshire.gov.uk/en/documents/your-council/about-the-council/council-constitution/denbighshire-county-council-constitution.pdf
https://www.denbighshire.gov.uk/en/documents/your-council/about-the-council/council-constitution/denbighshire-county-council-constitution.pdf


CURRENT PROPOSED  

d) Acquisitions of land by freehold or 

leasehold, up to a market value or 

rental commitment for the term of the 

lease from £30,001 and £1,000,000; 

if funding is available and in 

consultation with the Lead Member, 

S.151 Officer and the Monitoring 

Officer. 

 

question does not meet any of the 

stated disqualifying criteria**.   

b) Acquisitions of land by freehold or 

leasehold, up to a market value or 

rental commitment for the term of 

the lease up to £30,000 if funding is 

available. 

c) Acquisitions of land by freehold or 

leasehold, up to a market value or 

rental commitment for the term of 

the lease from £30,001 and 

£1,000,000; if funding is available 

and in consultation with the Lead 

Member, S.151 Officer and the 

Monitoring Officer. 

e) Subject to the results thereof being 

reported to the Councils Asset 

Management Group and/or the 

Strategic Investment Group at the 

next nearest meeting, and being 

reported to all Members for 

information, where appropriate. 

*or the relevant successor role/s 

**disqualifying criteria is as follows: 

Property that is classed in the following 

LDP classifications will not be 

considered: 

Page 96



CURRENT PROPOSED  

 BSC1 Housing Allocation or 

Housing Commitment 

 PSE2 Employment Areas  

 

 

 

Page 97



This page is intentionally left blank



Land use and acquisition for carbon sequestration and ecological
improvement purposes :
Well-being Impact Assessment Report

This report summarises the likely impact of the proposal on the social, economic, environmental and

cultural well-being of Denbighshire, Wales and the world.

Assessment Number: 957

Brief description: In order to help achieve the Council’s ambition to become Net Carbon Zero and

Ecologically Positive by 2030.... - The concept of woodland creation on land in Council ownership -

The concept of acquiring land for the purpose of carbon sequestration and biodiversity

Date Completed: 01/02/2022 08:32:53 Version: 1

Completed by: Andrew Cutts

Responsible Service: Business Improvement & Modernisation

Localities affected by the proposal: Whole County,

Who will be affected by the proposal? Positively - Residents - Tourism industry - Visitors - Flora

and fauna (plants and animals) - Council staff Negatively - Tenants of land we own but currently lease

out - Other potential buyers of land

Was this impact assessment completed as a group? Yes

Land use and acquisition for carbon sequestration and ecological improvement purposes 

Page 1 of 17 Printed on 01/02/2022Page 99



Summary and Conclusion

Before we look in detail at the contribution and impact of the proposal, it is important to consider how

the proposal is applying the sustainable development principle. This means that we must act "in a

manner which seeks to ensure that the needs of the present are met without compromising the ability

of future generations to meet their own needs."

Score for the sustainability of the approach

3 out of 4 stars

Actual score : 31 / 36.

Summary for each Sustainable Development principle

Long term

Progressing land use for the purpose of carbon sequestration and ecological improvement has long

term thinking at its heart. To deliver immediate benefit of reduced flood risk, recreational value, urban

cooling, health and wellbeing. And over time increase its benefit in carbon sequestration and air

quality improvement. To continue to score highly in this principal need to ensure maintenance and

management is appropriately addressed.

Prevention

Woodland creation is for the purpose of increasing carbon sequestration and ecological

improvement and thus reduce climate change and nature's decline. Each site will be considered on

an individual basis and in relation to the wider landscape - if appropriate, tree planting will be chosen

for increasing canopy coverage. However, natural regeneration of trees and woodland will be the

preferred option. Added benefits around increasing wellbeing through access to nature on peoples

doorsteps.

Integration

Multiple benefits involved in woodland creation hitting other well-being goals and corporate priorities.

Other public body objectives would be- NRW for flooding; Betsi Cadwaladr for health. Compatibility

of carbon sequestration and ecology goals with the LDP is an interesting one and being actively

Land use and acquisition for carbon sequestration and ecological improvement purposes 

Page 2 of 17 Printed on 01/02/2022Page 100



explored in the developing new LDP. Main compatibility focus would be how land is classified in the

county.

Collaboration

Wide collaboration internally across multiple services and departments, including the AONB

Partnership. More limited externally, but early collaboration discussions with NRW. Stakeholder

engagement has taken place with members of the agricultural community.

Involvement

Engagement has been limited with residents on woodland creation and done currently on a site by

site basis e.g. the public consultation day at Maes Gwilym (Rhyl) in June 2021. This will need to be

ramped up throughout the 9 years. Proposal is that a lot of engagement is done via the Member Area

Groups, Lead Members and Ward Members. This could be extended to C,T&CC's too as well as

direct to residents.

Summary of impact

Well-being Goals Overall Impact

A prosperous Denbighshire Positive

A resilient Denbighshire Positive

A healthier Denbighshire Positive

A more equal Denbighshire Neutral

A Denbighshire of cohesive communities Neutral

A Denbighshire of vibrant culture and thriving Welsh language Neutral

Land use and acquisition for carbon sequestration and ecological improvement purposes 

Page 3 of 17 Printed on 01/02/2022Page 101



A globally responsible Denbighshire Positive

Well-being Goals Overall Impact

Main conclusions

The proposal has a strong positive impact to the delivery of 4 out of the 7 wellbeing goals and no

negative contribution (remaining 3 goals neutral impact), particularly for the delivery of a resilient

Denbighshire and a globally responsible Denbighshire. It also scores high (31/36) on the sustainable

development principals with "long term" and "prevention" being at the proposals heart.

Land use and acquisition for carbon sequestration and ecological improvement purposes 

Page 4 of 17 Printed on 01/02/2022Page 102



The likely impact on Denbighshire, Wales and the world.

A prosperous Denbighshire

Overall Impact

Positive

Justification for impact

Proposal has the potential to provide additional social, environmental and economic value to

Denbighshire increasing its prosperity, particular in the areas of access to green space and boosting

the visitor economy.

Further actions required

Ensuring Countryside Services fleet vehicles transition early to ULEV early in the 9 year

decarbonisation of fleet programme leading up to 2030.

Ensuring land use allocation in LDP is actively considered in site selection for woodland creation

plus considerations around grading of agricultural land. Unproductive land prioritised for woodland

creation wherever possible.

Positive impacts identified:

A low carbon society

Woodland creation and nature areas will be done by natural regeneration wherever possible and by

utilising wildflower seed harvested locally or/and trees grown by our Council Tree Nursery

Quality communications, infrastructure and transport

Proposal is both safeguarding and creating new green space for the benefit of recreation, carbon

sequestration, and biodiversity.

Economic development

Proposal has benefits for the tourism industry/ visitor economy as more nature sites for people to

visit and enjoy.

Land use and acquisition for carbon sequestration and ecological improvement purposes 

Page 5 of 17 Printed on 01/02/2022Page 103



Quality skills for the long term

Proposal opens up opportunities for skill development in green industries.

Quality jobs for the long term

No direct jobs are suggested to be created by this proposal currently but likely to support the

developing green industry in North Wales.

Childcare

n/a

Negative impacts identified:

A low carbon society

Increasing the number of woodland sites the Council owns will require staff to travel to these sites to

periodically check up on them. However, Countryside Services fleet will be transitioning to EV's by

2030 reducing carbon impact.

Quality communications, infrastructure and transport

n/a

Economic development

Potential competing demands on land needing to be used for woodland creation. Land allocated for

employment in LDP will not be utilised.

Quality skills for the long term

n/a

Quality jobs for the long term

n/a

Land use and acquisition for carbon sequestration and ecological improvement purposes 

Page 6 of 17 Printed on 01/02/2022Page 104



Childcare

n/a

A resilient Denbighshire

Overall Impact

Positive

Justification for impact

This workstream is all about creating woodland and spaces for nature to the benefit of increasing the

County's resilience to climate change and its impacts such as flooding.

Further actions required

Need to ensure only suitable tree species are incorporated on wetlands or marsh land which would

impair that habitat in retaining water.

Positive impacts identified:

Biodiversity and the natural environment

This workstream is all about creating woodland and spaces for nature. The definition for woodland

will be maximised on (i.e. 20% of square meter with tree cover) to allow for a matrix of habitat to be

created to support a great species diversity. Mixed broadleaf and yew native planting progressed.

Biodiversity in the built environment

n/a

Reducing waste, reusing and recycling

n/a

Reduced energy/fuel consumption

Land use and acquisition for carbon sequestration and ecological improvement purposes 

Page 7 of 17 Printed on 01/02/2022Page 105



n/a

People’s awareness of the environment and biodiversity

By having more green spaces and spaces for nature accessible to people will increase peoples

awareness and appreciation of environment and biodiversity. Also the wider communication on why

the Council is doing this i.e. to increase the capture of carbon emissions to prevent worsening

climate change.

Flood risk management

Mutual benefits between carbon sequestration, ecological improvement and reducing flood risk will

be maximised upon e.g. through planting of upstream catchment areas to trap more water upstream

for longer.

Negative impacts identified:

Biodiversity and the natural environment

n/a

Biodiversity in the built environment

n/a

Reducing waste, reusing and recycling

n/a

Reduced energy/fuel consumption

n/a

People’s awareness of the environment and biodiversity

n/a

Flood risk management

Land use and acquisition for carbon sequestration and ecological improvement purposes 

Page 8 of 17 Printed on 01/02/2022Page 106



Need to ensure only suitable tree species are incorporated on wetlands or marsh land which would

impair that habitat in retaining water.

A healthier Denbighshire

Overall Impact

Positive

Justification for impact

The improvement of existing green spaces into woodland and creation of new woodlands and places

for nature provide greater interest and opportunities to promote health and mental wellbeing goals as

well as leisure and activity pursuits.

Further actions required

Need to be careful where woodland created to avoid any feelings of 'loss' for how the land used

previously.

Need to take community with us and engender a feeling of joint ownership with local people so to

avoid issues of vandalism/anti social behaviour.

Positive impacts identified:

A social and physical environment that encourage and support health and well-being

The improvement of existing green spaces into woodland and creation of new woodlands and places

for nature provide greater interest and opportunities to promote health and wellbeing goals. Such as

volunteering, connecting to the signs and sounds of nature, access to enjoy the open air.

Access to good quality, healthy food

n/a

People’s emotional and mental well-being

Their is a much researched and evidenced link between being outdoors amongst nature and the

Land use and acquisition for carbon sequestration and ecological improvement purposes 

Page 9 of 17 Printed on 01/02/2022Page 107



improvement of mental well-being. The improvement of existing green spaces into woodland and

creation of new woodlands and places for nature provide increased and geographically spread

access.

Access to healthcare

n/a

Participation in leisure opportunities

The improvement of existing green spaces into woodland and creation of new woodlands and places

for nature provide increased and geographically spread access to increase availability of these

places for leisure.

Negative impacts identified:

A social and physical environment that encourage and support health and well-being

Increased opportunity for vandalism and/or places for anti social activities to take place. However,

such concerns would be addressed prior to site alterations to aim for a focus on the positive

opportunity overall.

Access to good quality, healthy food

n/a

People’s emotional and mental well-being

Need to be careful where woodland created to avoid any feelings of 'loss' for how the land was used

previously.

Access to healthcare

n/a

Participation in leisure opportunities

Need to be careful where woodland created to avoid any feelings of 'loss' for how the land used

Land use and acquisition for carbon sequestration and ecological improvement purposes 

Page 10 of 17 Printed on 01/02/2022Page 108



previously.

A more equal Denbighshire

Overall Impact

Neutral

Justification for impact

A more equal Denbighshire isn't a core objective of this project but has a contribution to play and at

the very least is being planned in a way that doesn't exacerbate inequalities.

Further actions required

Ensure any access requirements addressed when creating woodland and spaces for nature which

are open to public. Maximise on opportunities for woodland creation and spaces for nature in or

close to areas affected by socio-economic disadvantage.

Positive impacts identified:

Improving the well-being of people with protected characteristics. The nine protected
characteristics are: age; disability; gender reassignment; marriage or civil partnership;
pregnancy and maternity; race; religion or belief; sex; and sexual orientation

This activity is being delivered to tackle climate change and nature's decline which impacts

everyone.

People who suffer discrimination or disadvantage

If existing green spaces are improved or new woodland created which includes public access that

access requirements to enable all people to contribute will be pursued.

People affected by socio-economic disadvantage and unequal outcomes

Woodland creation could be in locations of socio-economic disadvantage. Some external grants for

woodland creation have this as a prerequisite for access to grant. This could provide volunteering

opportunities to people with socio-economic disadvantage on their doorstep.

Land use and acquisition for carbon sequestration and ecological improvement purposes 

Page 11 of 17 Printed on 01/02/2022Page 109



Areas affected by socio-economic disadvantage

Woodland creation could be in locations of socio-economic disadvantage. Some external grants for

woodland creation have this as a prerequisite for access to grant.

Negative impacts identified:

Improving the well-being of people with protected characteristics. The nine protected
characteristics are: age; disability; gender reassignment; marriage or civil partnership;
pregnancy and maternity; race; religion or belief; sex; and sexual orientation

n/a

People who suffer discrimination or disadvantage

n/a

People affected by socio-economic disadvantage and unequal outcomes

n/a

Areas affected by socio-economic disadvantage

Location of sites for woodland creation will be led on land availability and the site's appropriateness

(for various environmental factors) for woodland creation, it won't be led in the first instance by where

areas of socio-economic disadvantage are.

A Denbighshire of cohesive communities

Overall Impact

Neutral

Justification for impact

A Denbighshire of cohesive communities isn't a core objective of this project but has contribution to

play particularly around resilience.

Land use and acquisition for carbon sequestration and ecological improvement purposes 

Page 12 of 17 Printed on 01/02/2022Page 110



Further actions required

Need to take community with us and engender a feeling of joint ownership for woodland created with

the community so to avoid issues of vandalism/anti social behaviour. Need to think about how visitors

get to sites created which are more rural if they have public access.

Positive impacts identified:

Safe communities and individuals

n/a

Community participation and resilience

Woodland creation on sites close to where people live, we will engage the local population on plans

for the site- seeking their views on what they want to see and seeking their views for design of the

sites.

Mutual benefit of using woodland to reduce flood risk will also be maximised upon where possible

and thus increase community resilience to impacts of climate change.

The attractiveness of the area

This project is about safeguarding and increasing green space for the benefit carbon absorption and

biodiversity and thus increases attractiveness of area and opportunities for recreation.

Connected communities

Some people prefer to travel on foot/bike and will have greater opportunity to move through

accessible and connected green spaces.

Rural resilience

Work to improve biodiversity, including diversity and abundance of insect pollinators, supports the

farming industry through crop pollination. Woodland creation on non productive land gives formally

low value land a higher value. Increasing woodland creation and spaces for nature could increase

footfall into rural areas and opportunities for rural assets like pubs, shops, cafes.

Negative impacts identified:

Land use and acquisition for carbon sequestration and ecological improvement purposes 

Page 13 of 17 Printed on 01/02/2022Page 111



Safe communities and individuals

Increased opportunity for vandalism and/or places for anti social activities to take place.

Community participation and resilience

n/a

The attractiveness of the area

n/a

Connected communities

n/a

Rural resilience

n/a

A Denbighshire of vibrant culture and thriving Welsh language

Overall Impact

Neutral

Justification for impact

A Denbighshire of vibrant culture and thriving Welsh language isn't a core objective of this project but

has contribution to play particularly around use of any information board or incorporation of any

art/sculpture into sites created.

Further actions required

Ensure site selection for woodland creation is considerate to any sites of cultural and heritage

significance - particularly relevant for any woodland creation within the AONB area of Denbighshire.

Land use and acquisition for carbon sequestration and ecological improvement purposes 

Page 14 of 17 Printed on 01/02/2022Page 112



Positive impacts identified:

People using Welsh

Any signage or information relating to sites created will be bilingual.

Promoting the Welsh language

Any signage or information relating to sites created will be bilingual.

Culture and heritage

Any signage or information relating to sites which could also tell a local story about the wider place

could be maximised upon e.g. Pengwern can translate to 'head of the alder (a species of tree)

swamp'.

Negative impacts identified:

People using Welsh

n/a

Promoting the Welsh language

n/a

Culture and heritage

Ensure site selection for woodland creation is considerate to any sites of cultural and heritage

significance - particularly relevant for any woodland creation within the AONB area of Denbighshire.

A globally responsible Denbighshire

Overall Impact

Positive

Justification for impact

Land use and acquisition for carbon sequestration and ecological improvement purposes 

Page 15 of 17 Printed on 01/02/2022Page 113



This proposal is all about increasing woodland for carbon sequestration purposes whilst improving

biodiversity and thus specifically about preventing the problem of climate and nature’s decline from

getting worse.

Further actions required

No negatives of note. Opportunities for mutual benefit in tackling the impact of climate and ecological

change already being felt will be maximised upon e.g. woodland creation to reduce flood risk, tree

cover to reduce air pollution and urban heating etc.

Positive impacts identified:

Local, national, international supply chains

Trees, plants, seeds will be of native providence and sourced as locally as possible, if not grown

internally at the Council's Tree Nursery.

Projects for woodland creation could provide activity for contractors working for the Council on other

contracts to contribute to via Community Benefits process.

Human rights

n/a

Broader service provision in the local area or the region

n/a

Reducing climate change

This proposal is all about increasing woodland for carbon sequestration purposes whilst improving

biodiversity and thus specifically about preventing the problem of climate and nature’s decline from

getting worse.

Opportunities for mutual benefit in tackling the impact of climate and ecological change already

being felt will be maximised upon e.g. woodland creation to reduce flood risk, tree cover to reduce

air pollution and urban heating etc. Thus the proposal is likely to better prepare Denbighshire and

beyond for a future with climate change.

Land use and acquisition for carbon sequestration and ecological improvement purposes 

Page 16 of 17 Printed on 01/02/2022Page 114



Negative impacts identified:

Local, national, international supply chains

An active 'grow your own' or buy local approach will be undertaken thus national and international

supply chains will 'miss out'

Human rights

n/a

Broader service provision in the local area or the region

n/a

Reducing climate change

n/a

Land use and acquisition for carbon sequestration and ecological improvement purposes 

Page 17 of 17 Printed on 01/02/2022Page 115



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 5 - The Council’s Net Carbon Zero and Ecologically Positive 2030 

targets 

1. The Council declared a Climate Change and Ecological Emergency in July 2019 

which committed the Council to become Net Carbon Zero by 2030. Subsequently 

the Climate and Ecological Change Strategy (CECS) was approved in February 

2021 with the Net Carbon Zero by 2030 Goal and what that means in terms of 

carbon emission reduction and carbon sequestration increase. 

2. Net Carbon Zero means the total carbon emissions (from Council buildings, fleet, 

waste generated in operations, business travel, staff commuting, street lighting) 

being equal to the total carbon absorbed by the land owned/leased in and 

managed by the Council by 31st March 2030. In 2019/20 the Council’s carbon 

emissions were: 16,448 tonnes. In 2019/20 the Council’s carbon sequestration 

was: 2,418 tonnes. Therefore, Net Carbon Zero position is: 14,030 tonnes. The 

goal is to reduce carbon emissions and increase carbon sequestration to get that 

Net Carbon Zero position to zero. 

3. Whilst the Council is committed to going as far and as fast as we can to reduce 

the Council’s carbon emissions, it is not possible to reduce the Council’s carbon 

emissions to zero (from Council buildings, fleet, waste generated in operations, 

business travel, staff commuting, street lighting). Therefore, we need to increase 

carbon sequestration to offset the emissions we are unable to reduce/remove. 

The achievement pathway estimates carbon sequestration will need to increase 

by 4,911 tonnes to a figure of 7,329 tonnes by 2030 to meet our Net Carbon Zero 

goal. 

4. Land eligible to be counted within the Council’s carbon sequestration figures 

includes: land the Council owns and manages and land the Council leases from 

others and manages. Note: land the Council owns but then leases out to others 

to manage e.g. tenanted agricultural estate, cannot be included. 

5. The Council is pursuing a multifaceted approach to achieving that additional 

carbon sequestration tonnage required including: 

Page 117

https://www.denbighshire.gov.uk/en/your-council/strategies-plans-and-policies/strategies/climate-and-ecological-change-strategy.aspx


a) Improving the accuracy of our carbon sequestration data including the 

accounting of carbon from Council owned urban trees; 

b) Increasing the carbon sequestration value of our existing 

freehold/leasehold land that we manage; 

c) Protecting our existing green spaces as much as we can from 

development where appropriate; 

d) Maximising on opportunities to convert brown field sites where 

appropriate into woodland and/or grassland (depending on suitability); 

e) Maximising on opportunities to bring land leased out back into Council 

management where appropriate and convert to woodland (if not 

already) or keep as grassland (depending on suitability); and 

f) Seeking acquisition opportunities, freehold and leasehold, and convert 

to woodland (if not already) or keep as grassland (depending on 

suitability). 

6. Approaches a) to e) listed above will not be enough to meet our carbon 

sequestration target of 7,329 tonnes by 2030; acquisition, freehold or leasehold, 

is required and due to the nature of the market and the time window in which to 

achieve target means that options for acquisition will need to be considered every 

year for the 9 years up to 2030. 

7. In addition, to achieve Ecologically Positive Council by 2030 requires the Council 

to increase the amount of land it owns/leases and manages that is in the highest 

categories of species richness by at least 13% compared to 2019/20 baseline.  

8. The carbon sequestration target and the species richness target as part of the 

Ecologically Positive Council goal are complementary. Mixed broadleaved and 

yew woodland is the second highest species richness category and this 

woodland can be created in a way that contains a mosaic of grassland and scrub 

patches increasing the diversity of species and ecological niches these sites 

contain, whilst complying with the UK Land Inventory Definition for land to be 

classified as forestland as follows: 

Page 118



a.  the land parcel must be 

i. minimum area of 0.1 hectares;  

ii. minimum width of 20 metres;  

iii. tree crown cover of at least 20 per cent, or the potential to achieve 

it; and  

iv. minimum height of 2 metres, or the potential to achieve it.  

 

Page 119



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 6 - The Council’s approach for acquisition (freehold/leasehold) for 

purposes of carbon sequestration and ecological improvement. 

1. A scoring matrix based on various categories has been developed to assess sites 

for acquisition (freehold/leasehold) for the purposes of carbon sequestration and 

ecological enhancement (see appendix 7).  

2. Land is scored for its potential to do the following: 

a) The potential to sequester carbon – to meet our Net Carbon Zero 

target; 

b) The potential to enhance biodiversity – to meet our Ecologically 

Positive target; 

c) The potential to reduce flooding through planting or different 

management regimes; 

d) The potential to be manageable. 

3. If the land scores well at assessment and there are no immediate legal concerns 

discovered in the early negotiations with the seller/land agent, the current 

process for any land acquisition for carbon sequestration and ecological 

improvement purposes is as follows: 

a) Ward Member notified 

b) MAG consulted 

c) Independent valuation sought 

d) Paper to Asset Management Group (AMG), to gain approval for any 

acquisition (if site over £1m then requires Cabinet approval) 

e) Paper to Strategic Investment Group (SIG), to gain approval to spend 

the capital. 

Page 121



4. Under the proposed scheme of delegated decision making and if the land scores 

well at assessment and there are no immediate legal concerns discovered in the 

early negotiations with the seller/land agent, the process for any land acquisition 

for carbon sequestration and ecological improvement purposes is as follows: 

 

a) Ward Member consulted 

b) MAG consulted (if MAG meeting not scheduled, MAG chair consulted 

outside of meeting eg by email) 

c) Independent valuation sought 

d) Request to the Head of Finance and Property to acquire the land under 

delegated authority (see appendix 3) 

e) Offer on land and negotiations concluded. 

f) Paper to Asset Management Group (AMG) at soonest opportunity to let 

them know about acquisition. 

g) Paper to Strategic Investment Group (SIG) at soonest opportunity to let 

them know about budget used. 

 

Page 122



Appendix 7 - Land Assessment Criteria 

As part of the Climate & Ecological Strategy, the matrix has been developed to assess sites: 

 For consideration for acquisition for either carbon sequestration or ecological enhancement; OR 

 Before disposal of existing DCC sites. 

Only property that is exclusively or partly within the county of Denbighshire will be considered. 

Property that is classed in the following LDP classifications will not be considered: 

 BSC1 Housing Allocation or Housing Commitment 

 PSE2 Employment Areas 

The matrix is to be used as a guide only – not the definitive mechanism for deciding whether or not a particular property should be 

acquired, as other factors outside the matrix criteria may have a bearing on the suitability of a property for purchase (e.g. value of 

the site for curlew habitat).  The matrix tries to achieve a reasonable balance between the following factors in relation to identified 

properties: 

1. The potential to sequester carbon – to meet our Net Carbon Zero target; 

2. The potential to enhance biodiversity – to meet our Ecologically Positive target; 

3. The potential to reduce flooding through planting or different management regimes; 

P
age 123



4. The potential to be manageable e.g. proximity to existing DCC sites, building liabilities, etc. 

5. The occurrence of key risks/ issues e.g. presence of ash trees, ability to attract external funding, etc. 

 Criteria Scores 0 Scores 1 Scores 2 Scores 3 Scores 4 Scores 5 

1 Site Size 
Less than 0.5 

acres 
0.5 to 1 acres 1 to 50 acres 50 - 200 acres 

200 - 1,000 

acres 

More than 

1,000 acres  

2 
Agricultural 

Classification 

Grade 1- 

Excellent, 

Grade 2- Very 

Good, Grade 3a 

- Good 

Grade 3b - 

Moderate 

Grade 4 – Poor  Grade 5 – Very 

Poor 

No agricultural 

designation 

Brownfield site 

3 

Carbon 

sequestration 

value 

(current) 

Less than 20% 

existing tree 

crown cover. 

Less than 2 

meters’ height 

and not the 

Less than 20% 

existing tree 

crown cover. 

Less than 2 

meters’ height 

but with the 

Less than 20% 

existing tree 

crown cover. 2 

meters’ height. 

Less than 20% 

existing tree 

crown cover. At 

least 2 meters’ 

height with 

under 50% 

20% + existing 

tree crown 

cover. At least 

2 meters’ height 

with under 50% 

being examples 

20%+ existing 

cover. At least 

2 meters’ height 

with 50%+ 

being examples 

of older trees. 

P
age 124



 Criteria Scores 0 Scores 1 Scores 2 Scores 3 Scores 4 Scores 5 

potential to 

achieve it  

potential to 

achieve it  

being examples 

of older trees. 

of older trees. 

Under 50% 

Broadleaved or 

Yew 

specimens. 

50% + 

Broadleaved or 

Yew 

specimens. 

4 

Carbon 

sequestration 

(potential)  

Unsuitable for 

tree planting 

No potential for 

natural 

regeneration. 

Significant tree 

planting 

required. 

Potential for 

some natural 

regeneration 

with significant 

additional 

planting. 

Potential for 

natural 

regeneration 

with limited 

additional 

planting. 

Potential for 

natural 

regeneration 

without 

planting. Some 

non-native 

rectification 

required. 

Potential for 

natural 

regeneration 

without planting 

or non-native 

rectification. 

5 

Habitat 

potential 

(connections) 

Connected 

forestland of 

Connected 

forestland – 0.5 

to 1 acres 

Connected 

forestland – 1 

to 50 acres 

Connected 

forestland – 50 

to 20 acres 

Connected 

forestland – 

Connected 

forestland of 

P
age 125



 Criteria Scores 0 Scores 1 Scores 2 Scores 3 Scores 4 Scores 5 

less than 0.5 

acres 

200 to 1,000 

acres 

more than 

1,000 acres  

6 

Habitat 

potential 

(water) 

No 

watercourses or 

water bodies.  

Land unsuitable 

to create water 

bodies 

No 

watercourses or 

water bodies.  

Land suitable to 

create water 

bodies 

No 

watercourses.  

Water bodies 

present.  

Watercourses 

present.  No 

water bodies.  

Watercourses 

and water 

bodies present.  

Low density/ 

Low quality 

Watercourses 

and water 

bodies present.  

High density/ 

High quality 

7 

Habitat 

potential 

(biodiversity 

enhancement 

potential) 

Species/habitats 

of conservation 

concern 

present, on or 

adjacent to site, 

which would be 

harmed by 

No species or 

habitats of 

conservation 

concern 

present on or 

adjacent to site.  

Species or 

habitats of 

conservation 

concern 

present on site. 

No species or 

habitats of 

conservation 

No species or 

habitats of 

conservation 

concern 

present on site. 

Species or 

habitats of 

conservation 

Species or 

habitats of 

conservation 

concern 

present on and 

adjacent to site 

(poor condition) 

Species or 

habitats of 

conservation 

concern 

present on and 

adjacent to site 

(good 

condition) 

P
age 126



 Criteria Scores 0 Scores 1 Scores 2 Scores 3 Scores 4 Scores 5 

creation of 

“forestland” 

concern 

adjacent to site. 

concern 

adjacent to site. 

8 

Flood 

Management 

Potential 

No potential 
Very poor 

potential 
Poor potential Good potential 

Very Good 

potential 

Excellent 

potential 

9 
Manageability 

– Buildings 

Multiple 

buildings on the 

site which 

present 

immediate 

maintenance 

liabilities 

Single building 

on site which 

presents 

immediate 

maintenance 

liabilities 

Buildings on 

site but low 

confidence of 

productive use 

or 

straightforward 

disposal 

Buildings on 

site but medium 

confidence of 

productive use 

or 

straightforward 

disposal 

Buildings on 

site but high 

confidence of 

productive use 

or 

straightforward 

disposal 

No buildings on 

the site 

10 

Manageability 

– adjacent 

sites 

No existing 

DCC 

“countryside” 

Within 3 to 10 

miles of existing 

DCC 

Within 3 miles 

of existing DCC 

Connects to 

existing DCC 

“countryside” 

Connects to 

existing DCC 

“countryside” 

Connects two 

or more 

“countryside” 

sites currently 

P
age 127



 Criteria Scores 0 Scores 1 Scores 2 Scores 3 Scores 4 Scores 5 

site within 10 

miles 

“countryside” 

site 

“countryside” 

site 

sites of less 

than 5 acres 

sites of more 

than 5 acres 

in DCC 

ownership 

11 

Manageability 

-  use of 

naturalistic 

grazing 

animals as 

the primary 

management 

tool 

No access from 

the roadside to 

load/unload 

livestock 

Difficult access 

from the 

roadside to 

load/unload 

livestock, no 

current 

presence of 

stock proof 

fencing/hedging 

Difficult access 

from the 

roadside to 

load/unload 

livestock, there 

is presence of 

stock proof 

fencing/hedging 

but incomplete 

and requires 

attention 

Workable 

access from the 

roadside to 

load/unload 

livestock,  there 

is presence of 

stock proof 

fencing/hedging 

but incomplete 

or requires 

attention 

Easy access 

from the 

roadside to 

load/unload 

livestock,  stock 

proof 

fencing/hedging 

surrounding site  

Adjacent 

access from the 

roadside to 

load/unload 

livestock, stock 

proof 

fencing/hedging 

surrounding site  

 

P
age 128



Appendix 8 – Risks and Mitigation 

Title 
Inherent 

Risk 
Mitigating Action 

Residual 

Risk 

Availability of the type of land we 

want to purchase for increasing 

carbon sequestration 

2C  Actively monitor the market and also word of mouth for 

potential opportunities 

 Keep abreast on the new policies post Brexit and maximise on 

any opportunities that might ensue 

 Ensure pathway to purchase is as smooth as possible in 

readiness for opportunities e.g. delegated approvals in place 

etc. 

 Ensure budget available to jump on opportunities when they 

come up. 

2D 

Another buyer offers on the sites we 

are targeting before us and the offer 

is accepted 

1C 
 Horizon scan and maximise on word of mouth for potential 

purchases 
1D 

P
age 129



Title 
Inherent 

Risk 
Mitigating Action 

Residual 

Risk 

 Complete the assessment on potential sites asap on 

discovering an opportunity 

 Seek ward member and MAG engagement on the potential 

purchase asap 

 Seek independent valuation asap on potential purchase 

 Attend AMG asap in the negotiation process 

 Develop business case as quickly as possible for SIG. 

 Seek a new delegated authority to enable purchases for the 

purposes of carbon sequestration and ecological improvement 

to happen quicker. 

The asking price for the sites is 

higher than the independent 

valuation 

1D  n/a- accept risk 1D 

P
age 130



Title 
Inherent 

Risk 
Mitigating Action 

Residual 

Risk 

Management and maintenance of 

additional nature sites become a 

financial and operational burden 

2D  Ensure that initial procurement has strong focus on efficiency 

and low running costs for all equipment and facilities.  

 Maximise on opportunities for grant funding in future years. 

 Forecast additional revenue pressures and flag early through 

budget setting cycle. 

 Maximise on land purchase opportunities (large and few) to 

keep management burden low, to be able to manage the land 

through natural regeneration and use of static livestock. 

 Consider location of additional nature sites, being close to 

existing sites in Countryside Services portfolio wherever 

possible. 

4E 

P
age 131



 

 

P
age 132



Appendix 9 - Power to make the decision 

LEGISLATION / POLICY / 

DUTY 

POWER 

Local Government Act 1972 General powers and consents to acquire and 

dispose of land. 

Section 2, Local Government 

Act 2000 

The power to do anything which DCC consider is 

likely to achieve the promotion or improvement of 

the environmental well-being of their area. 

Section111, Local 

Government Act 1972 

The power to do anything which is conducive to, or 

calculated to facilitate, the discharge of the 

Council’s functions. 

Section 6, Environment 

(Wales) Act 2016 

Statutory duty to seek to maintain and enhance 

biodiversity. 

Section 13.2, DCC 

Constitution 

All decisions of the Council will be made in 

accordance with the following principles: 13.2.8 

having regard to tackling climate and ecological 

change. 

 

 

 

Page 133



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Report to Cabinet 

Date of meeting 18/10/22 

Lead Member / Officer Cllr.Gill German / Geraint Davies 

Report author Lisa Walchester/ Carwyn Edwards 

Title Ysgol Plas Brondyffryn Project - School Organisation formal 

consultation report 

1. What is the report about? 

1.1. This report is to inform Cabinet Members of the findings of the formal 

consultation in regards to Denbighshire County Council increasing Ysgol Plas 

Brondyffryn’s capacity from 116 to 220.  

2. What is the reason for making this report? 

2.1. To enable the required approvals to be gained to progress the Ysgol Plas 

Brondyffryn project to the next stage.   

3. What are the Recommendations? 

Cabinet are asked: 

3.1.  To note the findings of the formal consultation to increase the capacity from 116 to 

220 at Ysgol Plas Brondyffryn; 

3.2. To approve the publication of a statutory notice for Denbighshire County Council to 

increase the capacity from 116 to 220 at Ysgol Plas Brondyffryn from 1st 

September 2024 subject to the new build being ready; 

3.3. That the Committee confirms that it has read, understood and taken account of the 

Well-being Impact Assessment, Appendix 1, as part of its consideration 

 

Page 135

Agenda Item 7



 
 

4. Report details 

4.1. This is a Band B project in the Welsh Governments Sustainable Communities for 

Learning programme, previously 21st Century Schools and College programme.  

Commitment to this proposal was outlined in a revised Strategic Outline 

programme, which was approved by Welsh Government in September 2020.  The 

programme included an overall allocation of £23.8m for this project.  As this project 

is for a special school Welsh Government, subject to the approval of the relevant 

Business Cases, will provide 75% of the funding with the remaining 25% to be 

provided by Denbighshire as per the Corporate Plan commitments. 

4.2. Ysgol Plas Brondyffryn is a 3-19 school which provides specialist provision for 

pupils with autism. The proposal is to bring 3 of the 4 current sites in Denbigh 

together in a purpose built building and to increase the capacity of the school as 

demand for these specialist places increase.   

4.3. The proposed site for the new build is the field next to Denbigh Leisure centre and 

currently used by Denbigh High School. It is owned by the Local Authority.  

4.4.  In total we received 93 responses during the consultation- 89 online responses 

forms and 4 emails- plus a response from Estyn. Of the 93 responses received 71 

were for the proposal, 18 against and 4 did not state either way.  

4.5. The main issues against the proposal are the location proposed for the new build 

including loss of green space, impact on Denbigh High school losing one of their 

playing fields and traffic concerns. There were no objections regarding the 

increase in capacity at the school. The location of the new build is a planning issue 

and this will be subject to the planning process. In regards to Denbigh High they 

currently have another field which is underused and survey works are ongoing to 

establish what improvement works are needed on this field to ensure the school 

can continue to deliver all elements of the PE curriculum. Please see Appendix 2 

for further details.      

4.6.  Members need to consider the consultation report and the supporting documents 

which have been produced following the formal consultation period. For ease of 

reference these are detailed below: 

 Appendix 2 contains the Formal Consultation Report. In this report we have; 

Page 136



 
 

o Summarise each of the issues raised by consultees; 

o Respond to these issues by means of clarification; 

o Set out Estyn’s view of the overall merits of the proposal.  

 

The formal consultation report document contains the following Appendices: 

Appendix A- Consultation Document recipient list 

Appendix B- Summary of comments/ questions raised in meetings   

Appendix C- School Council findings 

Appendix D- Full Governing Body response 

Appendix E- Summary of responses received via email 

Appendix F- Summary of responses via the Formal Consultation Response form 

Appendix G- Estyn Response 

4.7. From reviewing this information it is recommended that the Council proceeds to 

publish a Statutory Notice based upon the current proposal. The Statutory Notice 

will be required to be published for 28 days. During this 28 day period anyone 

wishing to make objections to the proposal has the opportunity to do so. It is 

intended that subject to approval this proposal will be published on 8th November 

2022 with the objection period ending on 5th December 2022. To be considered as 

statutory objections, they must be made in writing or by email and sent to the 

proposer within 28 days of the date on which the proposal was published.  

4.8. Following this date the Council will need to publish an objections report and the 

Cabinet will be asked to utilise its powers under the School Standards and 

Organisation (Wales) Act 2013 to consider any objections submitted and to 

determine whether to implement the proposal.  The final decision is likely to be 

made in January 2023. 

5. How does the decision contribute to the Corporate 
Priorities? 

5.1. The project links with the Young People Corporate priority in the Corporate Plan 

2017-2022- Continue to modernise schools to improve school facilities and 

enhance pupils learning.  

Page 137



 
 

5.2. The proposed new build will have a positive contribution to the Council 

becoming Net Carbon Zero by 2030. Welsh Government announced that from 

1st January 2022 all new build projects will be required to demonstrate delivery 

of Net Zero Carbon in operation. Welsh Government have stated that they will 

fund 100% of this in line with current benchmarks that they have detailed. This 

will form part of the business case as the design develops and costs become 

clearer.  

6. What will it cost and how will it affect other services? 

6.1. There will be minimum costs to the Council via the publication of the statutory 

notice. This will mainly be printing costs associated with the actual publication.  

6.2. In terms of the build at this stage of the project we are anticipating that the likely 

project costs will increase beyond the initial allocation of £23.8m.  This is in line 

with the wider pressures on construction costs which has seen costs increase in 

excess of 10% in many areas.  Options for value engineering will be explored to 

minimise increases but these are unlikely to balance of inflationary 

pressures.  The submission of the Outline Business Case and Full Business 

Case to the Welsh Government in early 2023 will need to reflect these 

pressures.  This is likely to require the use of the current reserve of unallocated 

funding as part of Denbighshire’s outline programme for Band B. 

7. What are the main conclusions of the Well-being Impact 
Assessment? 

7.1. Please see attached Appendix 1- New build- Ysgol Plas Brondyffyn. 

7.2. The main conclusions of the report are:  

7.2.1. The proposal scored 3 out of 4 stars and 28/36, 

7.2.2. The proposal is considering the long term future of the school as demand for 

these types of school places will increase. The new build will allow the school 

to use the space flexible and bring all staff and pupils onto one site.  

7.2.3. The build itself will help the local economy and will have a strong emphasis 

on community benefits.  

Page 138



 
 

7.2.4. As the project develops the assessment has been revisited and updated. The 

school and other officer within education have been consulted.  

8. What consultations have been carried out with Scrutiny 
and others? 

8.1. The project is on the Denbigh MAG agenda as a standing item and therefore 

updates are provided at every meeting. 

8.2. The school staff and Governors are aware of the project and have engaged in 

the design meetings with Wates.  

8.3. Internally highways, planning, leisure and ICT have all been made aware of the 

project and feedback received.  

9. Chief Finance Officer Statement 

9.1  Although supportive in principle, certainly to this stage of the process, it is 

important that the full financial implications of the proposals are explored and 

understood in more detail. In particular the possible impact on the wider Band B 

programme and on the Medium Term Financial Plan. Finance will provide support to 

the Modernisation Education Board in order to do this. 

10. What risks are there and is there anything we can do to 
reduce them? 

10.1. The formal consultation process needs to proceed alongside the new build 

design and funding approvals.  

10.2. The mitigating risk is that formal appointment of the lead contractor for the build 

itself will take place following completion of the formal consultation process. 

Therefore should there be significant opposition to the proposal at an early 

stage the Council could seek to delay the appointment of the lead contractor as 

appropriate.  

11. Power to make the decision 

11.1. The School Standards and Organisation (Wales) Act 2013 provides the 

legislative requirement for local authorities to review school proposals and to 

progress proposals to reconfigure school provision. 

Page 139



This page is intentionally left blank



New build- Ysgol Plas
Brondyffryn
Well-being Impact Assessment Report
This report summarises the likely impact of the proposal on the social, economic, environmental
and cultural well-being of Denbighshire, Wales and the world.

Assessment Number: 860

Brief description:
The impact of bringing Ysgol Plas Brondyffryn together on one site in a
new purpose built building in Denbigh. The school is currently over 3
sites in the town.

Date Completed: 15/10/2021 15:46:11 Version: 1

Completed by: Lisa Walchester

Responsible Service: Education & Children Services

Localities affected by
the proposal: Denbigh,

Who will be affected by
the proposal? Staff and pupils at the school

Was this impact
assessment completed
as a group?

No

Page 141



Well-being Goals

A prosperous Denbighshire Positive

A resilient Denbighshire Positive

A healthier Denbighshire Positive

A more equal Denbighshire Positive

A Denbighshire of cohesive communities Positive

A Denbighshire of vibrant culture and thriving
Welsh language Neutral

A globally responsible Denbighshire Positive

IMPACT ASSESSMENT SUMMARY AND CONCLUSION
Before we look in detail at the contribution and impact of the proposal, it is important to consider
how the proposal is applying the sustainable development principle. This means that we must act "in
a manner which seeks to ensure that the needs of the present are met without compromising the
ability of future generations to meet their own needs."

Score for the sustainability of the approach

 ( 3 out of 4 stars ) Actual score : 28 / 36.

Summary for each Sustainable Development principle

Long term

A new building for Ysgol Plan Brondyffryn will see its capacity increase by
approx 100 places and will give the school an opportunity to design the
school how they want to and ensure flexibility for the future in terms of
the curriculum delivery and pupil numbers. It will bring all staff and pupils
onto one site in a purpose build school fit for 21st Century learning.

Prevention

The increase in places at the school is needed- currently there is waiting
list for the school and this September they Year 7 pupils were unable to
move to the secondary due to lack of room and have and to remain in the
primary site. As the proposal develops the impact of the build on the
environment and on energy use moving forward will be considered.

Integration

We need to increase the capacity at the school significantly as demand
increases for pupil places of this nature. If we do not local pupils will have
to travel into other Local Authority areas to access these places or stay in
unsuitable schools that cannot cater for their needs. By building a brand
new build nearby to the current school- delivery on all current sites will
not be disrupted.

Collaboration We are already engaging with the school at a management level- with the
senior staff and governors.

Involvement

As mentioned we are already engaging with the school and as we move
forward parts, carers and pupils will be consulted in what they would like
to see in the new school. As the project develops pre planning consultation
will be undertaken with local residents.

Summary of impact

Main conclusions

The project to bring together Ysgol Plas Brondyffryn on one site in a brand new building links with the
Corporate priority of Young People and will enhance pupils learning. All the well being goals have

Page 142



positive impacts except one which is neutral. As the business case for the proposal develop there will
be a requirement for an on-going assessment process to ensure that potential impacts are
appropriately addressed- i.e. if we need to undertake bat surveys for example. 
The build itself will help the local economy and will have a strong emphasise on community benefits.
Once the school is completed the pupils and staff will have a modern purpose built facility that will
match their needs and allow more pupils to access this type of school in the locality. The transition
process for pupils will be managed in partnership with the school and staff and will be planned for in a
detailed manner as will the decant of each site.

Evidence to support the Well-being Impact Assessment

 We have consulted published research or guides that inform us about the likely impact of the
proposal

 We have involved an expert / consulted a group who represent those who may affected by the
proposal

 We have engaged with people who will be affected by the proposal

Page 143



THE LIKELY IMPACT ON DENBIGHSHIRE, WALES AND THE
WORLD

A prosperous Denbighshire

Overall Impact Positive

Justification for
impact

The new build will bring all pupils of the school together on one site with
improved facilities and outdoor areas. The project will also increase the
schools current capacity- the school is currently over its capacity and
demand for places continues to increase.

Further actions
required

Work closely with the appointed contractor on how we can reduce any
carbon emissions during the build stage.

Positive impacts identified:

A low carbon society Reduce the carbon footprint of the school as 3 buildings will be vacated
and the new building will employ new technologies.

Quality
communications,
infrastructure and
transport

Utilise existing transport links. New build will have new ICT infrastructure
which will improve the ICT delivery at the school.

Economic
development

Building phase of the project will have Community benefits and use of
local labour, apprentices etc.

Quality skills for the
long term

The schools new facilities could provide pupils with opportunities to
develop practical life and work skills- for example an operational cafe.

Quality jobs for the
long term

The new provision will secure and increase the number of jobs at the
school. Better facilities will also increase staff morale and improve staff
retention.

Childcare The new school will increase the amount of places available at this special
school for pupils with Autistic Spectrum Condition.

Negative impacts identified:

A low carbon society The construction of the new build will create carbon emissions.

Quality
communications,
infrastructure and
transport

N/A

Economic
development N/A

Quality skills for the
long term N/A

Quality jobs for the
long term N/A

Childcare N/A

A resilient Denbighshire

Overall Impact Positive

Justification for
impact

The site of the new building will be on an existing playing field and
therefore we do not see a major disruption to the eco system. As
described above any issues will be mitigated for in the relevant manner.

Page 144



Further actions
required Waste management plan will be requirement of the procurement process.

Positive impacts identified:

Biodiversity and the
natural environment

The project will ensure all relevant biodiversity studies are undertaken
and any mitigation actions followed.

Biodiversity in the
built environment

If required new habitat areas would be developed within the school
grounds.

Reducing waste,
reusing and
recycling

Appointed contractor will have a waste management plan.

Reduced energy/fuel
consumption

The new building will be designed to minimise energy costs. Consideration
will be made on how the transportation of materials will be delivered to
the site, sourcing locally where possible to reduce emissions.

People’s awareness
of the environment
and biodiversity

Scope during the construction phase to involve the local community and
the school.

Flood risk
management

The issue of flooding will be examined during the design and planning
stages.

Negative impacts identified:

Biodiversity and the
natural environment N/A

Biodiversity in the
built environment N/A

Reducing waste,
reusing and
recycling

N/A

Reduced energy/fuel
consumption N/A

People’s awareness
of the environment
and biodiversity

N/A

Flood risk
management N/A

A healthier Denbighshire

Overall Impact Positive

Justification for
impact

Improved facilities for the school will assist in pupil and staff overall
emotional and mental wellbeing. The building will be fit for purpose and
will be flexible enough to adapt when it needs to.

Further actions
required

Ensure all residents are informed and kept up to date in regards to build
progress by the contractor.

Positive impacts identified:

A social and physical
environment that
encourage and
support health and
well-being

Improved facilities and learning environment will improve staff, pupil and
community morale.

Access to good
quality, healthy food The school will have a dedicated dining area for all pupils.Page 145



People’s emotional
and mental well-
being

Improved external areas for play and the new build could also house a
hydro therapy pool to be used by pupils. All pupils on one site- no
transition when pupils move from the primary to the secondary section of
the school and any siblings at the school would be at the same site at all
times.

Access to healthcare N/A

Participation in
leisure opportunities

Improved access to outdoor areas as well as improved external areas
overall with more space and play equipment.

Negative impacts identified:

A social and physical
environment that
encourage and
support health and
well-being

N/A

Access to good
quality, healthy food N/A

People’s emotional
and mental well-
being

Disruption for residents living near the site during the construction of the
new build.

Access to healthcare N/A

Participation in
leisure opportunities N/A

A more equal Denbighshire

Overall Impact Positive

Justification for
impact

The project will provide facilities that will support better teaching and an
improved learning environment.

Further actions
required None

Positive impacts identified:

Improving the well-
being of people with
protected
characteristics. The
nine protected
characteristics are:
age; disability;
gender
reassignment;
marriage or civil
partnership;
pregnancy and
maternity; race;
religion or belief;
sex; and sexual
orientation

Improve access to education for those pupils with Autism Spectrum
Condition.

People who suffer
discrimination or
disadvantage

Improve access to education for those pupils with Autism Spectrum
Condition.

Page 146



People affected by
socio-economic
disadvantage and
unequal outcomes

N/A

Areas affected by
socio-economic
disadvantage

Pupils with ASC will have first class facilities to develop life and work skills.

Negative impacts identified:

Improving the well-
being of people with
protected
characteristics. The
nine protected
characteristics are:
age; disability;
gender
reassignment;
marriage or civil
partnership;
pregnancy and
maternity; race;
religion or belief;
sex; and sexual
orientation

N/A

People who suffer
discrimination or
disadvantage

N/A

People affected by
socio-economic
disadvantage and
unequal outcomes

N/A

Areas affected by
socio-economic
disadvantage

N/A

A Denbighshire of cohesive communities

Overall Impact Positive

Justification for
impact

The proposal would bring the school community of Ysgol Plas Brondyffyrn
together in a brand new purpose built facility. The school already link in
with Ysgol Tir Morfa and these links will be strengthened as facilities could
also be accessed by these pupils. Facilities could also be offered out to
community use where appropriate i.e. if there was a hydro therapy pool
this could be available at weekends or evening to the health authority.

Further actions
required

Keep residents informed of when any particular noisy works are to take
place.

Positive impacts identified:

Safe communities
and individuals

All pupils will be educated at one site rather than 3 separate sites which is
how the school currently operates. 
Safeguarding will be considered during the design stage to ensure clear
demarcation between the public and private zones both within the new
building itself and the overall site. 
The new building will be designed to ensure pupil and staff safety.

Page 147



Community
participation and
resilience

Pre-planning consultation events will be held with the community so they
can view the plans and ask any questions they may have.
The facilities could include a cafe and more vocational opportunties that
pupils from our other special school in Denbighshire Ysgol Tir Morfa can
also utilise especially in the post 16 provision.

The attractiveness of
the area The design of the new build will look to enhance the area.

Connected
communities

The new build will increase the capacity of the school which will ensure
Denbighshire pupils will not need to go out of County to access this type of
provision.

Rural resilience N/A

Negative impacts identified:

Safe communities
and individuals N/A

Community
participation and
resilience

N/A

The attractiveness of
the area Noise and disruption through the build process.

Connected
communities N/A

Rural resilience N/A

A Denbighshire of vibrant culture and thriving Welsh language

Overall Impact Neutral

Justification for
impact

The majority of the children that attend are from English speaking homes
and Welsh is taught as a second language, however education can be
provided through the medium of Welsh if requested by the family. It will
be important for the contractor to ensure all communications to residents
are bilingual.

Further actions
required None

Positive impacts identified:

People using Welsh Insisting the contractors use bilingual signs and newsletters when
communicating to the public.

Promoting the Welsh
language N/A

Culture and heritage The new facility could be used for community events and social activities
linked to the Welsh culture.

Negative impacts identified:

People using Welsh N/A

Promoting the Welsh
language N/A

Culture and heritage N/A

A globally responsible Denbighshire

Overall Impact Positive Page 148



Justification for
impact

Overall the impact will be positive through encouraging the use of local
supply chains.

Further actions
required

As the proposal develops further the impact of the works on carbon
emissions will be more apparent and it possible mitigation actions will be
put in place. We will work closely with the contractor in designing an
energy efficient building as we can within the budget.

Positive impacts identified:

Local, national,
international supply
chains

The procurement option for the project will allow access to local
contractors. 
Community Benefits will be evaluated at tender stage and monitored
throughout the project.

Human rights Ensure the contractor is a 'Considerate Contractor' .

Broader service
provision in the local
area or the region

N/A

Reducing climate
change

The building will be designed so it is as energy efficient as it possibly can
be.

Negative impacts identified:

Local, national,
international supply
chains

N/A

Human rights N/A

Broader service
provision in the local
area or the region

N/A

Reducing climate
change The constructions of a new build will create carbon emissions.

Page 149



This page is intentionally left blank



Published September 2022 

 

Formal 
Consultation Report- 
Relating to the proposal to 
increase the capacity at 
Ysgol Plas Brondyffryn 
  

September 2022  

Page 151



Formal Consultation Report 

 
2 

 

 

Should you require a copy of this report in hard copy please email 

modernisingeducation@denbighshire.gov.uk with your name and postal address. 

Please indicate whether you would like to receive the document in Welsh, English or 

both. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 152

mailto:modernisingeducation@denbighshire.gov.uk


Formal Consultation Report 

 
3 

Contents 

Introduction 4 

Formal Consultation 4 

Meetings 5 

Consultation Responses 6 

Response Forms 7 

Response from Estyn 8 

Conclusion 12 

The next step 12 

APPENDIX 1- Consultation Document Recipient List 13 

APPENDIX 2- Summary of Comments/ Questions raised in the meetings 15 

APPENDIX 3- School Council Findings 20 

APPENDIX 4- Full Governing Body response to the consultation: 28 

APPENDIX 5- Summary of responses received via Email 30 

APPENDIX 6- Summary of responses via the Formal Consultation Response Form 37 

APPENDIX 7- Estyn Response 68 

  

Page 153



Formal Consultation Report 

 
4 

Introduction 

Denbighshire County Council (DCC) have completed a period of formal consultation 

regarding the proposal to increase Ysgol Plas Brondyffryn’s capacity from 116 to 220. The 

school will move into a brand new purpose built facility in the town of Denbigh to 

accommodate the increase.  

The formal consultation began on 17th May 2022 and closed on the 27th June 2022. 

Following the end of a school organisation consultation period, the Welsh Government’s 

School Organisation Code requires the proposers to publish a consultation report.  In this 

document we have to: 

 Summarise each of the issues raised by people we speak to and who write to us;  

 Show our response to those issues; and  

 Set out Estyn’s view of the overall merits of what we are considering. 

This report should be considered by decision makers prior to determining whether or not to 

implement any proposal. 

Formal Consultation 

Electronic versions of the Formal Consultation document were sent to 460 recipients.  You 

can see the complete list of recipients in Appendix 1.   

Hard copies of all documents including response forms were left in Denbigh library. The 

school were also given a number of hard copies of all documents.  

Hard copies of all documents were sent out via the school to 2 parents who were not 

contactable via email and 1 person contacted the Local Authority during the consultation 

period requesting for a hard copy to be sent out via post, which was provided.  

The Formal Consultation documents were published on DCC’s website on 17th May 2022. 

We also produced a Children’s and Young person version of the document.  

Page 154



Formal Consultation Report 

 
5 

All documentation, including the Formal Consultation document, Community, Equality and 

Welsh language impact assessment, Children and Young peoples’ consultation document 

and the electronic version of the response form were published on the DCC website. All 

documents were available in both Welsh and English.  

To help and encourage people to give us their views, we produced a response document 

(Formal Consultation Response Form).  This Response Form formed part of the 

Consultation Document and as such was also published on the DCC website. The Formal 

Consultation Response Form was converted into an online survey; a link to this survey was 

also published on the DCC website.   

Meetings 

In the Consultation document information on booking a 10 minute slot to discuss the 

consultation was offered for the 24th May (between 4-7pm). These were offered as telephone 

or online sessions- representatives from the school and the Local Authority would have been 

involved to answer any questions asked. No requests for these were made. 

The following meetings were held: 

 Ysgol Plas Brondyffryn Governors online- 6th June 2022, 

 Primary site staff meeting- also open to staff at Ty’r Ysgol site at Ysgol Plas 

Brondyffryn primary site - Tuesday 7th June 2022,  

 Secondary site staff meeting which was also open to staff at Ty’r Ysgol at Ysgol 

Plas Brondyffryn secondary site - Wednesday 8th June 2022, 

 Primary School Council at Ysgol Plas Brondyffryn primary site- 10th June 2022 

10am, 

 School Council at Ysgol Plas Brondyffryn secondary site – 10th June 2022, 

11.10am. 

A summary of the points raised at these meetings and the responses given at the time is 

available in Appendix 2.  

Page 155



Formal Consultation Report 

 
6 

Consultation sessions were arranged for the school councils at the school- the primary 

school council and secondary school council. A summary of both sessions can be found in 

Appendix 3.   

Consultation Responses 

In total 93 responses were received during the consultation period and a response was 

received from Estyn. 

The Governing Body for Ysgol Plas Brondyffryn also responded - this can be read in full in 

Appendix 4.   

Support of the proposal is as follows: 

 Total 

For the proposal 71 

Against the proposal 18 

Didn’t state either way 4 

Total 93 

 

The table below shows the methods people used to respond to the consultation: 

1. Method of contact 
Number of contacts 

received 

Online Response Forms 89 

Page 156



Formal Consultation Report 

 
7 

Letters 0 

Emails 4 

2. Total  
93 

Respondents were as follows: 

3. Responding as: 
Number 

Pupil 0 

Parent 20 

Staff member 30 

Local resident 22 

Likely to be a pupil 0 

Parent/carer of a prospective pupil 4 

Other 7 

Did not say 10 

4. Total number of contacts 
93 

 

Appendix 5 summaries the comments received via email.  

Response Forms 

The Formal Consultation Response Form was designed to establish: 

 whether or not people were in favour of the Proposals;  

Page 157



Formal Consultation Report 

 
8 

 the capacity in which they were responding;  

 If they had any alternative options to the current proposal that they would like the 

proposers to consider; 

 whether they wanted to make any other comments. 

A summary of the responses to the Formal Consultation Response Form is set out in 

Appendix 6 together with the Proposers’ response. 

Response from Estyn 

The main points made by Estyn in response to the Proposals and the Proposers’ response 

to them are set out below.  The full response from Estyn is set out in Appendix 7.  

Estyn Comment Proposers’ Response 

It is Estyn’s opinion that the proposal is 

likely to at least maintain the current 

standards of education in the area. 

 

Agreed 

The council has presented an 

appropriate rationale for the proposal. 

 

Agreed 

The nominal capacity at the school is 

116, the school currently has 136 

pupils on roll and has been over 

capacity for the last 6 years. The 

school currently has pupils waiting to 

attend the school and the council 

expects the demand to increase over 

the next few years and suggests that a 

capacity of 220 is reasonable. 

The Local Authority believe that 220 is 

justified for the new building for the 

school.  

 

Currently the school has 136 pupils 

(September 2021 numbers on roll) with 

Page 158



Formal Consultation Report 

 
9 

However, there is no explanation as to 

why the figure of 220 has been 

chosen. 

10 pupils on the waiting list and a 

possible further 10 in the system.  

 

There are approximately 63 pupils still 

awaiting assessment due to delays 

caused by the pandemic. If 40% are 

admitted to the school then a further 25 

pupils would be admitted- this would 

leave 39 places. Given the impact of 

the pandemic and the predicted 

consequence on the demand for these 

school places we believe that the 220 

number is sensible.  

The council also lists some issues with 

the conditions of the sites currently 

being used which a new build facility 

would address. 

Agreed 

The council has provided seemingly 

appropriate details regarding the 

timescales for the implementation of 

the proposal. 

Agreed 

The expected advantages of the 

proposal include increasing the 

capacity to better meet the demand, all 

pupils and staff being on the same site, 

improved transition arrangements and 

having subject specific rooms. The 

disadvantages include an increase in 

Agreed 

Page 159



Formal Consultation Report 

 
10 

traffic to the one site and a potentially 

noisy play area for all pupils. 

These seem to be appropriate and 

reasonable. 

 

The mitigation against these risks 

appears to be mainly appropriate, 

however the council does not provide 

sufficient information regarding 

alternative pathways should they fail to 

obtain planning and funding approval. 

If funding and planning are not 

approved the school will continue to be 

supported by the Local Authority and 

the capacity will not change. 

The council has provided suitable 

reasons for discounting three of these 

options and choosing the fourth option. 

 Agreed 

The council iterates that transport 

arrangements will continue to be made 

in accordance with the county council’s 

home to school transport policy. This 

seems to be fair and reasonable. 

Agreed 

The council has appropriately 

undertaken a Welsh language impact 

assessment. It states that providing an 

improved educational provision 

represents an opportunity to 

strengthen Welsh education in the area 

and as a result strengthen the Welsh 

language. It concludes that overall, the 

Agreed 

Page 160



Formal Consultation Report 

 
11 

proposal would not have a negative 

impact on the Welsh language 

The council does not refer directly to 

how this proposal will support the 

targets in the Welsh in Education 

Strategic Plan. It does however 

comment that Welsh is not used as a 

language of instruction in any Key 

Stage or subject, but the school 

provides the necessary resources for 

pupils to access the whole curriculum 

through the medium of Welsh. It would 

be useful to provide further details 

regarding this assertion. 

Special schools do not have a 

language designation. Based on the 

needs of the pupils attending the 

school, the language of the teaching is 

provided appropriately. 

Some teachers at the school can teach 

through the medium of Welsh if 

required. This is consistent in the 

approach set out in Section 6 of 

Denbighshire’s Welsh in Education 

Strategic Plan.  

The council has suitably identified the 

financial costs for this proposal. 

Agreed 

The school has suitably considered the 

impact of the proposal on the quality 

and standards in education including 

the impact of the proposal on teaching 

and learning experiences, care, support 

and guidance and leadership and 

management. 

Agreed 

The council has provided a document 

called “community, equality and Welsh 

language impact assessment”. Whilst 

this document suitably considers the 

impact of the proposal on the 

community and the Welsh language, it 

The proposal will improve the number 

of places available to all pupils 

including those with protected 

characteristics.  

The building will be fully accessible.  

Page 161



Formal Consultation Report 

 
12 

lacks sufficient consideration of the 

proposal’s impact on vulnerable groups 

or on pupils that have protected 

characteristics. 

The council has appropriately 

considered that one of the main 

advantages of this proposal is that 

construction works would take place 

away from all current school sites, 

therefore minimal disruption to pupils 

learning will occur. 

Agreed 

    

Conclusion 

Having considered all the information gathered to date, it is the view of officers that 

increasing Ysgol Plas Brondyffryn’s capacity from 116 to 220 in a brand new facility in the 

town of Denbigh will deliver the greatest benefits to pupils, staff and the wider community. 

The location of the new facility is subject to the planning process. 

The next step 

Following the publication of this consultation report the proposal will be discussed at DCC 

next Cabinet meeting. If the proposal is given approval a Statutory notice will be published 

following the decision by Cabinet.  

Consultees are advised that, unfavourable comments made during the consultation period 

will not be treated as objections. Anyone wishing to object will need to do so in writing 

during the statutory objection period. Comments submitted as part of this consultation 

process will need to be re-submitted in writing during the statutory objection period if they 

are to be considered as objections. 

Page 162



Formal Consultation Report 

 
13 

APPENDIX 1- Consultation Document Recipient List 

No Stakeholder Number of recipients  

1.  Parents of pupils of Ysgol Plas Brondyffryn 131 

2.  Teachers and support staff at Ysgol Plas Brondyffryn 106 

3.  Ysgol Plas Brondyffryn Governing Body  17 

4.  The School Council of Ysgol Plas Brondyffryn- Primary 

and secondary 

2 

5.  The Diocese of St Asaph  1 

6.  The Diocese of Wrexham 1 

7.  Headteachers and Chair of Governors of all schools in 

Denbighshire ( Primary, Secondary & Special Schools) 

50- Chairs 

51- Heads 

8.  Denbighshire Children and Young People’s 

Partnership and the Early Years Development and 

Childcare Partnership 

2 

9.  NHS Community Paediatric  1 

10.  All Denbighshire County Councillors  48 

11.  Local and regional Assembly Members and MPs 10 

12.  Denbigh Town Council  1 

13.  The Welsh Government 1 

14.  Estyn 1 

15.  Relevant Teaching and support staff Trade Unions 8 

Page 163



Formal Consultation Report 

 
14 

16.  North Wales Regional School Effectiveness and 

Improvement Service 

3 

17.  North Wales Police and Crime Commissioner 1 

18.  Welsh language Commissioner 1 

19.  Flintshire County Council- Chief Officer for Education 

and Youth 

1 

20.  Conwy County Borough Council- Head of Education 

Services 

1 

21.  Wrexham County Borough Council- Chief Officer 

Education and Early Intervention 

1 

22.  Denbighshire County Council- Head of Education 1 

23.  Gwynedd Council- Head of Education 1 

24.  Isle of Anglesey County Council- Director of 

Education, Skills and Young People 

1 

25.  Children and adolescent learning disability Service 1 

26.  National Autistic Society 1 

 Total 460 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 164



Formal Consultation Report 

 
15 

APPENDIX 2- Summary of Comments/ Questions raised in the 

meetings 

Online Governors meeting via Teams- Monday 6th June 2022 

No Comment/ Question Raised Response 

1.  
How did DCC come up with the 

number 220 for the new capacity? 

The number of 220 was arrived at to 

ensure that the school is placed to meet 

future demand. Pupil numbers at the 

school for the last few years are around 

140 and there have been significant 

challenges to meet demand due to a lack 

of space at the school. We looked at the 

numbers currently in the system, awaiting 

assessment and room for future growth.  

2.  
How long will it take until we are full 

once again? 

This is difficult to say with any certainty 

however we believe the 220 number is a 

reasonable number taking into account 

numbers awaiting assessments currently. 

Future demand in terms of special 

schools is very difficult to predict  

3.  
Impact on the Admissions policy Admission into the school is in 

accordance to the Admissions policy and 

all pupils must have a Statement of 

Education needs indicating autism as the 

primary need. If the Admissions policy 

requires review, the Governors will do 

this in conjunction with the Local 

Page 165



Formal Consultation Report 

 
16 

Authority with any changes being subject 

to a consultation process. 

4.  
When will parents and governors 

see the latest regarding the design of 

the new build? 

At the moment we are hoping the pre-

planning process will start in the summer 

and will involve a drop-in session at the 

school where the latest plans can be 

seen and discussed with members of the 

project team.  

Alternatively we can ask Wates to 

present at a future Governors meeting 

the latest design.  

 

Staff meetings- Primary site meeting- also open to staff at Ty’r Ysgol site- Tuesday 7th 

June 2022, Secondary site meeting which was also open to staff at Ty’r Ysgol- 

Wednesday 8th June 2022 

No Comment/ Question Raised Response 

5.  
Will we have 220 pupils on day 1 of 

the new build? 

No, the Local Authority believe it will be a 

gradual increase over a number of years. 

The growth will be controlled so that 

pupils and staff can settle into the new 

building.   

6.  
Will we still be a ‘regional centre’? The school has traditionally operated as 

a regional provision since the school was 

re-established in the early 2000’s. The 

school was considered as a regional 

provision although the funding model for 

Page 166



Formal Consultation Report 

 
17 

the school was solely through 

Denbighshire.   

Faced with a growing demand for places 

and a restricted capacity the short term 

decision was taken by Denbighshire, 

pending the outcome of the Band B 

proposals to restrict admissions to 

Denbighshire pupils pending the 

outcome of a long term approach for the 

school. 

One of the workstreams of the project will 

be to review the admission policy to 

clarify access for out-of-county 

placements.  

7.  
Are the building plans set in stone? No, we still need to carry out pre-

planning consultation and then submit to 

full planning.  

8.  
How big are the classrooms 

compared to the classrooms now? 

Comparisons are below:  

New build-General Classrooms- approx. 

55m²,  

Specialist rooms range from 60m² Art to 

DT 72m², Science Lab 65m², Science 

Studio 60m² 

Primary hall/dining- 122m² 

Secondary hall- 145m² 

Page 167



Formal Consultation Report 

 
18 

Secondary dining- 138m² 

Current sizes- Classrooms range from 

45m² to 54m² 

Primary dining/hall- 103m² 

Park Street site- DT room approx. 58m², 

Science lab 69m² 

9.  
How will we manage moving the 

pupils into a new setting given that 

some will be unsettled? 

During the construction phase there will 

be opportunities for staff and pupils to 

visit the site and start familiarising 

themselves with the new building. As the 

moving date gets nearer, we will work 

closely with the contractors and the 

school to ensure any pupils that need 

additional visits to the new building can 

be facilitated.   

10.  
How does the project link with 

Denbigh High- they are losing one of 

their fields?  

This projects links closely with the 

Denbigh High project in a number of 

ways. As this project progresses through 

the milestones the more certainty and 

confidence of delivery will ensure a 

clearer scope for the development of 

Denbigh High School.  

The secondary site at Ysgol Plas 

Brondyffryn will be key to the 

developments at Denbigh High as this 

building is in a relatively good condition 

and will enable Denbigh High to utilise 

the space either temporarily or 

Page 168



Formal Consultation Report 

 
19 

permanently depending on how the 

Denbigh High project progresses and 

what works are agreed on the site. This 

will also include the external areas 

currently used by Plas Brondyffryn.  

11.  
What happens if there is a delay with 

the build- will we be expected to 

increase our capacity at our current 

sites? 

No, there will be a modification to the 

Statutory Notice if a delay in the build 

occurs.  

12.  
Who are the architects and do they 

have experience in designing 

schools for autistic pupils?  

The architects on the project are Pozzoni 

Architects, they are very experienced in 

designing SEN schools, please see their 

website for further details:  

www.pozzoni.co.uk 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 169

http://www.pozzoni.co.uk/


Formal Consultation Report 

 
20 

APPENDIX 3- School Council Findings 

Report on the consultation with the School Councils of Ysgol Plas Brondyffryn- 

Primary council and Secondary council 

The sessions were led by the Local Authority’s Engagement and Participation Lead officer 

and were supported by the staff from the school. In the primary sessions a number of 

pupils were non-verbal and staff had brought PECS Cards (Picture Exchange 

Communication System) so they could participate in the session.   

Pupils on the secondary school council had taken the questions in the consultation 

document and discussed it with their class members so had a number of responses for 

each question- all are detailed below.  

How do you feel about the proposal? 

 Within the sessions we asked pupils how they felt about all Ysgol Plas Brondyffryn pupils 

being in the same building and having a new build, below are the responses from the 

sessions.  

Primary School Council: 

 Thumbs up 

 Excited 

 Bit Nervous 

 Excited to be together with other pupils 

 Good 

 Happy 

 Ok 

 Bit happy, bit nervous 

 Cheeky 

Secondary School Council: 

 Excited-4 

Page 170



Formal Consultation Report 

 
21 

 I don’t mind-2 

 Good-4 

 Feel cool about it 

 Happy-3 

 Happy to have a new yard as its too small right now 

 Very good as we need more space 

 Not sure if there will be enough outdoor space for all pupils to use in the new 

building. 

 Ok-3 

 Could be terrible as will be chaotic 

 Ok in the same building but I feel a bit uncomfortable on the yard with everyone 

 Fine- 1 

 Good as easier for taxis. 

 It will be more eco friendly 

 I can see why we need a new building so we won’t be paying bills on each site 

 Not sure about us being around smaller, screaming children- will be nosier 

 It will be a nice change. 

 Get to know other pupils. 

 Not bothered 

 Very happy as I will be able to see my friends in primary.  

What is important to you about School now? 

Within the sessions we asked pupils what was important to them about school.  

Primary school council responses:  

 Chrome books  

 Sensory room 

 Friends 

 Swings and slides outside 

 Garden 

 Forest school 

Page 171



Formal Consultation Report 

 
22 

 Science room 

 Drums 

 Climbing wall 

 Outdoor space 

 Cookery 

 Medical room 

 Bigger classrooms 

 Mud kitchen- outdoor classrooms 

 Story time 

 Cycle path 

Secondary school council responses: 

 Lessons 

 Chrome books 

 Access to ICT 

 Important to know where you are going 

 One dinner hall 

 Equipment on the yard- swings missing, green spinners are broken 

 Forest school 

 The ICT room 

What don’t you like about your school now? 

Primary School Council responses:  

 Work 

 Loud noises 

 No shade on the yard 

 There is only one medical room 

 No small/ break out rooms 

 

Page 172



Formal Consultation Report 

 
23 

Secondary School Council responses: 

 Toilets- lots are broken 

 Canteen 

 Need more toilets 

 Need a new yard- too small at the moment 

What are your worries about the plans? 

When there are plans to make big changes, it is normal to have concerns about what 

could happen. Within the sessions we asked pupils if they had any worries about the plan. 

The responses below will be taken into consideration if the plan is approved. 

 Primary school council: 

· Mixing with the bigger children 

· Bullies 

· People pushing- need wide corridors 

Secondary school council: 

· Taxis- it will be chaos 

· Lunch time arrangements 

· Not knowing the way around the building 

· It might be difficult for staff to keep pupils from different sites apart- need strong 

doors with codes so can’t be pushed open between different areas. 

· Concerned that we will lose forest school 

What would you like to see in the new school? 

Within the sessions we asked pupils what they would like to see in the new school if the 

plans for the new school were agreed, below are the suggestions from the sessions. 

 A stage room. 

Page 173



Formal Consultation Report 

 
24 

 Computer room-3 

 Gaming room- 2 

 Acting room. 

 A Playground. 

 Bigger playground-2 

 Swings on the playground and a better playground. 

 A gym. 

 A second small playground with trampolines. 

 Better computers with photoshop. 

 Mediation area. 

 Need a lift for disabled people. 

 Have a field of our own. 

 Have a canteen on our own-2 

 Drinking fountains in the corridor so we don’t have to ask staff-2 

 Need a better playground.-3 

 Better art room, science labs and toilets. 

 More technology. 

 A sports hall 

 Grass on the playgrounds. 

 All weather football pitch. 

 Swings. 

 Trampoline-2 

 Climbing wall. 

 Basketball hoop- 2 

 Mini house. 

 Separate area for pupils who do not attend lessons etc as it stops other pupils using 

facilities. 

 Football posts. 

 Updated computing system and greater ICT space. 

 Updated D&T and art facilities. 

 More GSCE options. 

 More appropriate sports facilities. 

 Lockers for pupils in corridors. 

Page 174



Formal Consultation Report 

 
25 

 Soft play area. 

 Relaxing area for staff. 

 Better school WI-FI.  

Questions?  

We asked pupils if they had any questions about the plan. Below are the pupil’s questions 

and responses. 

Question Response 

Will there be enough space on the 

playground? 

 

Yes, the playground areas are split up 

into sections depending on what age 

you are in the school. Some classrooms 

will have direct access into an outdoor 

area. There will also be a small 

woodland and forest school area and 

equipment such as swings and 

trampolines will be available for all 

pupils to use.    

Is there going to be separate 

breakout/ group rooms? 

 

Yes many of the classrooms have group 

rooms within them so they are easy for 

pupils and staff to get to.  

Will there be maps of the new school 

to help students and staff find their 

way around? 

 

If maps would be useful this can be 

arranged for your first day in the new 

building.  

Pupils and staff will be invited to visit the 

site as the building progresses so they 

can get used to the layout and visit 

areas of the new build that they are 

Page 175



Formal Consultation Report 

 
26 

interested in.  

How will the taxis be able to line up? 

 

Taxis and minibuses will enter the site 

from Ystrad Road and line up within a 

secure zone next to the school. Pupils 

will only exit the taxi once everyone is 

stationary. This process will be 

managed by school staff and vehicles 

will only leave the zone once all pupils 

are safely inside.  

If a taxi is late they would queue up in 

the staff parking area before being 

allowed through to the main drop off 

zone. There are also 2 areas either end 

of the school where taxis can drive onto 

the school yard itself and drop off those 

pupils who maybe experiencing 

difficulties exiting the car that day.  

During the school day this secure taxi 

drop off zone can be used by the school 

for cycling lessons and highway 

awareness.  

Will all the school finish at the same 

time? 

 

This will be decided and agreed by the 

headteacher and governors.  

It is likely that there will be a small time 

gap between the primary and secondary 

pupils leaving the building.  

How will playtime/lunchtime be The primary pupils will have their own 

Page 176



Formal Consultation Report 

 
27 

allocated? Same times or different? 

How will dinner time be arranged? 

 

dining area in the primary hall and will 

probably be served food just before the 

secondary pupils. The secondary pupils 

have their own separate dining area 

away from the younger pupils. Times 

will be decided by the headteacher. 

Playtimes will also be agreed by the 

headteacher- it is important to say that 

pupils will have their own specific areas 

to play in and older pupils will not be on 

the same area of yard as the younger 

ones.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 177



Formal Consultation Report 

 
28 

APPENDIX 4- Full Governing Body response to the 

consultation: 

This submission to the consultation process regarding the new build school for Plas 

Brondyffryn is from the full Governing Body and was agreed unanimously at the Governors 

Meeting tonight, 27-06-2022 Alison Duncan (chair), Simon Humphreys (vice-chair), David 

Price (Head teacher), Hannah Maddock, Louise Hollingworth, Joanne Morris, Eirlys Parry, 

Ali Ballantyne, Haydn Owen, Nathalie Thomas, Sian Evans, Mark Adams, Richard 

Crowther, Cheryl Cooper (Absent tonight but provided a written response in support of this 

statement)  

The present capacity of the school is 116 pupils. According to the most recent records, the 

current number of pupils in the school is 139, i.e. 23 above its stated capacity - 81 below 

the planned increase to 220 pupils. The school is at present under a high degree of strain 

given the many compromises which have had to be introduced in order to accommodate 

the increase in pupil numbers. This increase is not a blip, but steady and ongoing. More 

and more young people are receiving a diagnosis of autism and there is a constant 

demand for places. Quite recently, the LA agreed that new admissions to the school would 

be limited to priority situations only. This decision did reduce the volume of new 

admissions which helped stabilise the organisation of the school but undoubtedly caused 

harm to those young people desperately needing to be admitted to the school.  

The compromises I have referred to are not matters of minor tinkering with school 

arrangements, but significant alterations which have made the numbers manageable but 

have reduced in a worrying way the quality of educational provision. Thus, the range of 

special rooms or areas (break-out areas, play areas, sensory areas, quiet areas) which, in 

addition to ordinary classrooms, are an essential part of any special school, have been 

whittled away, till they have become pale shadows of what is actually needed and what 

once existed. This has led to, at times, an increase in unsettling behaviours, all the more 

challenging because the well-recognised and well-established processes for dealing with 

these have been compromised, simply because of a lack of physical space. Classes are 

regularly above the national guidelines for special schools of eight pupils. 

Page 178



Formal Consultation Report 

 
29 

It is therefore self-evident that the school needs more room not only to accommodate the 

existing pupils, and enable them to thrive, but also to reach out to the pupils who are 

already knocking at the door as well as the others, yet to be identified, but coming our way 

soon. It is the Governors' strong belief that a larger, better resourced school is urgently 

needed now, and that, given ever-pressing demand, the new school will have reached its 

capacity of 220 within the next decade. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 179



Formal Consultation Report 

 
30 

APPENDIX 5- Summary of responses received via Email 

Summary of Comments Proposers Response 

Concerned around loss of green spaces 

and increased volume of traffic. 

Please see Appendix 6- section 3 for 

a full response 

In favour in principle.  

Must question the logic of site selection.  

Not only will it deprive the adjacent school 

of valuable playing fields and open space, 

but as the majority of pupils will inevitably 

be delivered and collected by some form of 

transport, this will significantly add to 

congestion in the area.  

Surely a site outside of town would be 

more appropriate, which could have 

adequate off-road space for parking, 

setting-down and picking-up, without 

depriving other schools of playing fields 

and making it more difficult for parents. 

Please see Appendix 6- section 3 for 

a full response 

I think the impact of the school on the 

physical education provision at Denbigh 

high will be significant due to the additional 

time it will take pupils to get to the farthest 

fields away. How will this be mitigated? 

The mitigation of this will be a 

consideration in the design for the 

remodelling of Denbigh High. 

Page 180



Formal Consultation Report 

 
31 

If the proposal does go ahead will the LA 

consider modernising and amalgamating 

Ysgol y Parc and Ysgol Frongoch on the 

current Frongoch site? 

There is currently no proposal to 

amalgamate Ysgol y Parc and Ysgol 

Frongoch. 

There has been significant investment in 

main stream schools (Rhyl, Glan Clwyd, 

Brynhyfryd etc.) right across the county but 

this has not been reflected in Denbigh and 

it should be.   

 

The Band B proposals for the 

Sustainable Communities for leaning 

programme- previously 21st Century 

Schools and College programme is 

focused on the town of Denbigh with 

the following 3 projects being 

proposed:  

 Proposal to rebuild Ysgol 

Pendref, 

 Proposal to increase the 

capacity at Ysgol Plas 

Brondyffryn via a new purpose 

built facility, 

 Proposal to refurbish Denbigh 

High school. 

If all 3 proceed there would be £46.6 

million investment in the town. 

As it is proposed to build this facility on 

part of the existing Denbigh High School 

playing field, I consider this is a near-

sighted proposal that will in the long term 

prove to be detrimental to the pupils and 

residents of Denbigh. 

 

Please see Appendix 6- section 3 for 

a full response 

Page 181



Formal Consultation Report 

 
32 

Open recreational space is extremely 

valuable to the physical and mental health 

of the community, and regrettably since the 

creation of the footpath/ cycleway around 

the perimeter of the proposed site, which 

included fencing off the Denbigh High 

School fields, the public access to the 

playing fields and athletics facilities has 

been severely limited.  

Many individuals/ groups previously used 

the athletics track out of hours for training, 

the wider fields for running and walking, 

however as noted in your response to 

queries on my behalf to Dr James Davies 

MP, there is now little booked activity there 

- unsurprising as there has been a Covid-

19 pandemic; and the once freely 

accessible fields presumably now incur a 

usage charge via the leisure centre. 

The consultation document refers to the 

outdoor space requirements being less 

than at available at present by Denbigh 

High School; has this taken into account 

the long term population growth estimates?  

Given the considerable number of new 

houses built and current planned house 

building projects, presumably the Council 

believes the local population is likely to 

increase, which will increase pupil 

The current proposal to enable the 

increase in capacity of Ysgol Plas 

Brondyffryn includes consolidating 

provision on a single site.  This would 

involve the building of a new facility 

on one of the two fields currently 

used by Denbigh High School.  

The field proposed for development 

is currently used by Denbigh High 

predominantly in the spring / summer 

term for athletics, football and rugby- 

Page 182



Formal Consultation Report 

 
33 

numbers at Denbigh High School, requiring 

a greater outdoor footprint. 

 

the school principally use the all-

weather pitch at the leisure centre 

during the winter months.  

This site is fenced off for school use 

and can only be accessed by the 

community if they book it through the 

leisure centre. 

At present the space provided by 

these 2 external pitches area for 

Denbigh High School is in excess of 

what is required for current pupil 

numbers and its capacity.  Based on 

the school capacity there is a 

requirement of approximately 45,000 

sqm for pitches and the school at 

present has an overall area of 

approximately 70,000 sqm including 

the all weather pitch. 

During construction of Ysgol Plas 

Brondyffryn and then following 

completion of works, pupils at 

Denbigh High School would retain 

access to the second field and the all 

weather pitch.   

The field that would be retained by 

Denbigh High School together with 

the continued use of the All Weather 

Pitch at the Leisure Centre would 

give Denbigh High access to the 

equivalent of approximately 46,000 

Page 183



Formal Consultation Report 

 
34 

sqm.  This would be in line with the 

suggested size for the school. 

Survey works have started on the 

field next to Denbigh Town FC to 

establish whether any remedial 

works are needed to ensure Denbigh 

High are able to continue to use it for 

PE. 

We will be working with the school to 

ensure the field is accessible to 

pupils from the leisure centre where 

they currently change. There will 

need to be a temporary route during 

the construction phase and then a 

permeant solution once the project is 

completed as this will impact on the 

Denbigh High project.  

Based on this we are of the view that 

for school pupils at Denbigh High 

there will remain appropriate access 

to sports pitches for the full delivery 

of physical exercise and this will 

allow the school to continue to 

address agendas such as childhood 

obesity etc. 

Will the remaining sports field be upgraded 

to develop a 400 m track and all the other 

field -events facilities as well? If not this will 

disadvantage Denbigh pupils from training 

Please see Appendix 6- section 3 for 

a full response 

Page 184



Formal Consultation Report 

 
35 

and competing compared with their local 

peers in Ruthin and St Asaph, as well as 

local athletics groups who wish to train 

competitively. 

Can I request confirmation that the Council 

has fulfilled all the requirements of the 

Welsh Government document: 

 

https://gov.wales/playing-field-disposal-

guidance 

In particular Sections 8.7-9.12 

The Local Authority is not granting 

any estate in the land and we are not 

‘disposing’ of the land.  

As part of the pre-planning and 

planning process Sports Council for 

Wales and Fields in Trust will be 

consulted. Informal discussions have 

already taken place.  

While I am in not opposed to the proposal 

to merge the three schools onto one 

campus, it should not be at the expense of 

the sporting opportunities, and potential 

detriment to the physical health of Denbigh 

school students,  and the loss of the sole 

publically -accessible athletics facility in 

Denbigh. 

Please see Appendix 6- section 3 for 

a full response 

I would like to propose that an alternative 

location be considered: the recently 

purchased, council -owned site, namely 

the former North Wales Hospital campus, 

which is currently being re-developed for 

further proposed housing.  

The site is currently owned by DCC 

however there is a Development 

Agreement with Jones Bros.(JB) in 

place. As part of that agreement they 

currently have right to occupy the site 

and an obligation to provide security. 

 

Page 185

https://gov.wales/playing-field-disposal-guidance
https://gov.wales/playing-field-disposal-guidance


Formal Consultation Report 

 
36 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

If some land there were to be set aside 

and the new school built there, this could 

be an ideal alternative for the Brondyffryn 

schools, without the loss of the Denbigh 

High School sports fields. Additionally it is 

very close to the Gerddi Glasfryn 

residential site; this could allow the 

residents the opportunity to walk to their 

school, instead of requiring a daily short 

trip in a vehicle, with the benefit of 

reducing the council’s carbon footprint. 

JB have submitted an outline 

planning application to renovate and 

convert the main range listed building 

into 34 apartments and construct 

houses on the site in order to fund 

the restoration. Members have 

resolved to grant outline planning 

consent subject to a section 106 

agreement being signed.  

JB are currently in the process of 

developing a section106 which sets 

out the detail of the development. 

The site is outside DCC’s 

development boundary and planning 

consent was only granted on the 

principal of enabling development. 

Even with the enabling development 

there is still a viability funding gap 

and funding application have been 

submitted as part of DCC’s Vale of 

Clwyd Levelling Up Funding bid and 

Growth Deal. 

Page 186



Formal Consultation Report 

 
37 

APPENDIX 6- Summary of responses via the Formal 

Consultation Response Form 

Question 1 Are you in favour of the Proposals? 

 Total 

Yes 70 

No 18 

No answer 1 

 89 

Question 2: Please tell us whether you are responding as a: 

Type Total 

Pupil  0 

Parent/Carer  20 

Teacher/ Staff Member  30 

Local Resident 22 

Prospective pupil 0 

Parnet/ Carer of 

prospective pupil 

4 

Page 187



Formal Consultation Report 

 
38 

Other 6 

Skipped Question 7 

 89 

Question 3: Please provide comments regarding the proposal and any suggestions on 

alternative proposals which should be considered:  

These responses have been grouped into themes below alongside a response or point of 

clarification from the local authority: 

Summary of Comments 

General support for the proposal 

14 Respondents raised 

My daughter has come from a mainstream school to YPBD and although she still has 

challenging times she is much more fully supported by YPBD than she ever was at 

mainstream. Autistic pupils with a Statement of Special Education Needs will not thrive 

in a mainstream environment as the staff are not sufficiently trained to deal with the 

demands / challenges faced by autistic pupils, they're deemed as "problematic" and 

take up too much time. They are also more likely to be bullied in a mainstream than 

their peers because they are "different". In a specialist school / environment such as 

YPBD the staff nurture each individual child and support them so they can become the 

best they possibly can enjoying school life which was a challenge to them before. They 

accept each other as they are all equals. The staff at YPBD are excellent and as well 

as supporting their pupils they also support the parents too - its one big family. Whilst 

the increase in pupil numbers will need a match in increasing staff numbers its 

important that the right staff are found as it can be quite challenging for the staff 

emotionally and mentally due to the challenging needs of some of the pupils who 

Page 188



Formal Consultation Report 

 
39 

attend YPBD, including my daughter. That said the pupils have a high regard / respect 

for all their teachers and each other and every milestone they meet is a proud moment 

for them, the teachers and their parents. Their recent Eisteddfod performance at this 

year's Urdd confirms this. 

I agree the proposal should go ahead it’s a fantastic school and more children should 

be given the opportunity to access the school 

I think the proposal should go ahead it will give 116 other children access to the school 

Spaces should be increased in all SEN provision. There are so many children with ALN 

in mainstream schools who simply can't access the curriculum, the schools themselves 

are massively under staffed and the child's needs are not being met. Nobody seems to 

listen and nobody seems to care. Very little is done in terms of transferring pupils from 

mainstream into a specialist setting, and opening up these spaces will provide a 

welcomed opportunity for so many children. 

As education in Wales is evolving, it provides a wonderful opportunity to provide 

learners who have ASC to develop in a new and exciting environment that takes into 

account the unique needs of the learners. There are many pupils who need to have the 

security of the amazing support that Brondyffryn provides but are currently denied. In 

order to help all pupils in Denbighshire achieve their potential, I feel this is an incredible 

opportunity to ensure ASC pupils are highly challenged and supported. 

Ysgol Plas Brondyffryn is essential for children with ASD, as all their learning, social 

and personal needs are met accordingly, whereas their needs may not be met in the 

same way as a main stream school. More children should have access to our 

exceptional facilities. 

As a parent of a child who is currently benefiting hugely from being at Brondyffryn, I am 

completely for the proposal. As a teacher in a local primary school, I know of several 

children who would thrive in Brondyffryn as our child is, but unfortunately there isn't 

enough capacity as it stands. Our family life has completely changed for the better 

since our child started at Brondyffryn. Our child is much happier and settled which of 

course has a massive effect on us as a whole family. Our child is now reaching his full 

Page 189



Formal Consultation Report 

 
40 

potential thanks to this specialist school and its staff. Surely every child in the same 

situation as ours deserves this opportunity to reach their full potential and to be in an 

environment that's suitable for their specific needs? The fact that all school sites would 

be on one site is also very important for continuity for these pupils. 

I am for the proposal as I think every child with ASD deserves a chance to go to a 

school that will fully understand them. 

I think that the proposal offers a positive education provision which will serve to benefit 

even more children. Having all phases of the school on one site will clearly have many 

benefits too. The fact that there are children currently waiting for places at the school it 

shows that there is need for such a provision to be made. I believe that the proposal to 

increase numbers to 220 is excellent. It means that more children will benefit from the 

specialist education on offer. There shall be benefits to the community in terms of 

creating jobs and also have the chance for a community cafe. I believe that the larger 

school size would be a real asset to Denbighshire County Council. 

I think this is a fantastic proposal to give children like my son a chance to thrive in an 

environment suitable to his needs. My son started in September and had come on 

leaps and bounds. I know lots of children that our in main stream school that should be 

in a sen school but there are no places available. 

It’s needed. 

Completely agree with the proposal a new school is needed as the numbers will 

continue to increase. Hopefully two years will allow a gradual change for our pupils as 

we support them to move over to a new building. 

My niece has been attending this school since September and she has become a 

completely different child!! She now skips into school whereas before whilst in a 

mainstream school she would hold onto her mother's clothes and not want to go 

inside!! Ysgol Plas Brondyffryn is, in my opinion, an essential part of any autistic child's 

(or children with other disabilities) development. 

 

Page 190



Formal Consultation Report 

 
41 

This is a very positive opportunity for all pupils and staff as well as future pupils, more 

space, opportunities to learn more new skills such as serving the community in the new 

school café and having all our pupils and staff in the one site, is beneficial in a 

supportive and interactive way. 

I fully support the preferred option of the proposal to increase the capacity of the school 

and to bring the school sites together on a new purpose built school building, although 

the capacity increase to 220 pupils could become oversubscribed in just a few years 

given the growing demand for places. 

Response: 

Points noted. 

Loss of playing fields/ green space/ athletics track: 

19 Respondents raised 

Will other playing fields be found? 

The proposed site would require the loss of the playing fields adjacent to Denbigh 

Leisure Centre. I cannot support, condone, or understand the decision to remove this 

asset from the community. The playing fields are currently underused in my opinion. 

The recent installation of perimeter fencing has removed the use of the field by the 

casual public, and the ability for children to play freely in a large open space. I believe 

the current usage is purely by prior arrangement with Denbighshire Leisure Ltd, and is 

primarily school PE lessons. The proposal for a new school build on this field relies on 

the transfer of open play/sports space to an area adjacent to Middle Parc and the 

football ground. I would state that this in unacceptable as the land is neither flat/level, 

not large enough to house a suitable 400m running track. It is worth stating for a 

moment that the provision of athletics is essential to a modern PE curriculum, and to 

suggest that the school pupils of Denbigh should 'make do' with a second-rate sports 

space is wholly inadequate. Another point worth noting is that there are no athletics 

Page 191



Formal Consultation Report 

 
42 

track in Denbighshire. Conwy, Flintshire, Ynys Mon, etc, all provide these facilities for 

their communities, and each has spawned sports clubs at these venues. 

I support improvements to Plas Brondyffryn but have concerns about the loss of 

playing fields at the proposed sight. 

The field is used for physical exercise and the destruction of green space for buildings 

hardly a good thing for the environment and residents wellbeing. 

What consideration has been given for the needs of Denbigh High School after the land 

has been used for Ysgol Brondyffryn - whether consideration has been given for the 

needs of green land resources, sports/athletics resources for the school and the wider 

community due to a change of use of the proposed land? 

I am opposed as the proposed site will use playing fields and green space used by the 

community and the proposed site is the only running track available in Denbigh and 

only full sized running 400m track in the Vale of Clwyd. 

The location of the new building takes away the precious green spaces that are so 

lacking in Denbighshire for sport and other physical activities. The school is the only 

400m flat track in the county, it is always sport that suffers and this is seen time and 

time again where 3g pitches are put over long jump run ways, schools have less 

playing fields to work with. 

I fully support the building of a new school, however I cannot agree that this location is 

the best place for it. Denbigh has experienced so much new building in the past few 

years. 2-3 years ago, when I walked down towards Brookhouse I used to be 

surrounded by fields - this is no longer the case. There are houses on each side of the 

road - so all I have to look at is bricks. At the moment when I walk alongside the 

Leisure Centre I enjoy watching Denbigh High School children playing football, rugby, 

hockey and athletics. I enjoy the great expanse of green grass to look at. If this new 

school building goes ahead then all I will see is bricks. This is not good for the 

wellbeing of Denbigh residents - these are our leisure areas - surely we should be 

allowed some areas where we can enjoy green spaces? 

Page 192



Formal Consultation Report 

 
43 

Whilst I understand the need for a new site, it seems like a very small number of 

families who will benefit compared to those who will lose out by building the school on 

the main playing fields in Denbigh. I would be in support of the proposal if it wasn't for 

the location. We know that obesity is increasing and getting kids to exercise is a big 

challenge - this area of Denbigh gives my child and many others the opportunity to see 

green spaces rather than concrete. Denbigh doesn't have the luxury of plenty of open 

space within the Crown and outside the town is surrounded by fields with limited 

access. I love driving down Ystrad road with the amazing view from the playing fields, 

and my child loves scootering round the lovely path - which is fairly new and 

presumably the council spent a lot of money on - to the playground at the back of the 

tennis courts. This whole area isn't perfect by any means but imagine how many 

children could be encouraged outside if it was dedicated to encouraging them to be 

outside even more than it does already and the council built some facilities to get kids 

outside and away from screens. Once this open space is lost then we'll never get it 

back and I believe this would have a negative effect on the young people of Denbigh. 

Do not think taking the area designated is right. There is very little playing GB areas in 

Denbigh and to take the green space would minimise this even more. 

I do not agree with building the school on green land. Playing fields and green spaces 

are important to our community and I do not think we should build on them. I wonder if 

there are any brown sites which require redevelopment which could be used as an 

alternative? 

The proposed site is the only flat field for sports and a running track in Denbighshire. 

This proposal would mean getting rid of even more of the green space in lower 

Denbigh which should be protected rather than built on. Until recently the sports field 

was very well used by local residents for over 30 years for family sports, picnics, 

running track youths having a kick around and generally making use of the limited 

green space. This was of course stopped once Denbighshire Leisure, which is basically 

a part of DCC fenced off the field and started to charge for the use, which ultimately 

has helped claims in the proposal that the field is not used. Only last week a group of 

Page 193



Formal Consultation Report 

 
44 

youths were playing football in the car park rather than on the fields that are all fenced 

off and locked. Where are youths supposed to go? 

I wonder if there is an alternative place to build rather than use more green space. 

Denbigh High School and the community who pay to use the current playing field will 

lose this green space, the athletics track and a football field if the build were to go 

ahead. Is this fair for the community of Denbigh?  

The playing field that the proposed building is set to occupy is far more than just a 

playing field. It is the areas only dedicated grass running track and is pivotal in training 

runners who in some cases represent North Wales in races. It would be an absolute 

travesty to assume this is a mere playing field and treat it with such little regard. The 

decision to build on it will negatively impact the sporting representation of Denbighshire 

and north wales. I beg of you please give us all the continued chance to run for and 

represent the place we love in the sport we love. 

Reducing green space and access to sports and play areas is not in keeping with 

initiatives to improve health and increase physical activity. Consolidating the schools 

and increasing capacity is great, but this would be better located on an existing site that 

does not reduce green space. 

The proposed site for the new build is, currently, Denbigh High School's athletics track/ 

football pitch. This green space is also used by the community ( they hire it). Losing 

this green space would mean that Denbigh High School and the young people of the 

community would be at a disadvantage. There are two other fields belonging to 

Denbigh High School, the rugby filed but this filed is on a slope and uneven, also much 

further from the Leisure Centre. The County is putting profit in front of the wellbeing of 

our young people and adults. This new proposal is definitely a money making scheme 

for the County rather than the county looking at the needs its community and this is 

why I am against this proposal. We have very little green space for adults and children 

and young people in Denbigh and this new build would mean we have nothing for an 

athletic Club to hire ... 

Page 194



Formal Consultation Report 

 
45 

Estyn have commented on the lack of green space at Denbigh high yet Denbighshire 

county council don’t seem to think that taking more of their green space away is a 

problem ?? 

There is not sufficient green space for existing school children at Denbigh High School, 

this has been highlighted during a recent Estyn report however you still propose to 

build the school on the current school field depriving the children of even more grassed 

area. 

RESPONSE: 

It is important to note that this formal consultation is in regards to the increase in 

capacity at Ysgol Plas Brondyffryn and not the location of the new build. This will be 

subject to the planning process for which there will be a public consultation before any 

decision is made.  

The current proposal is to build on 1 of Denbigh High’s fields. This field currently is 

used by Denbigh High predominantly in the summer term for athletics, football and 

rugby. The school principally use the all-weather pitch at the leisure centre.  

This site is also currently fenced off and can only be accessed by the community if they 

book it through the leisure centre. Prior to taking any booking, the leisure centre has to 

check with the school if it is available and gain their permission to use the area. The 

area is accessed by a junior running club Saturday mornings and Tuesday evenings 

but there are no other bookings on this area other than the junior section of Denbigh 

Harriers Running Club.  

Survey works have started on the other Denbigh High field next to Denbigh Town FC to 

establish whether any improvement works are needed to ensure Denbigh High are able 

to continue to use it for PE and to ensure it is available for controlled community use. 

We will be working with the school to ensure the field is accessible to pupils from the 

leisure centre where they currently change. There will need to be a temporary route 

Page 195



Formal Consultation Report 

 
46 

during the construction phase and then a permeant solution once the project is 

completed as this will impact on the Denbigh High project.  

Capacity of the school: 

16 Respondents raised 

I welcome this proposal to increase capacity at this important school. 

The proposal for the increase in education capacity at Plas Brondyffryn is worthy and 

would be a superb upgrade from the current situation for the pupils, parents and 

teachers of the school. I am in full support of this idea. 

In principle I support the need for increasing capacity for Brondyffryn Special School. I 

understand and support the need for resources that are suitable for the 21st century 

ensuring extensive and suitable resources for all pupils at the school to support 

education that is suitable and of the highest quality. I am pleased to see that the 

proposal ensures capacity for the future not only in the short term but also for the long 

term as well. 

A huge need for more capacity - need for specialist provision. 

I feel that more specialist placements are required to meet the increasing demand for 

our young people with autism. Increasing the number of places at the school will 

hopefully help to meet this increasing demand, for Denbighshire pupils and for pupils 

from outside the County also. 

More places are desperately needed. I have many parents approach me who’s children 

are struggling in mainstreams which are not suitable to meet the child’s needs, 

resulting in a hugely detrimental effect on the young persons mental health. Also as we 

are aware a 3-18 setting provides continuity, nurturing, and the best academic 

outcomes. Please approve the new school. 

Page 196



Formal Consultation Report 

 
47 

There is a desperate need for ASD provision and increasing the school capacity by the 

way of a new build is definitely necessary. 

We are in favour of the proposal with reservations. Whilst the idea of better facilities is 

very attractive we are concerned that the whole point of moving our younger son to 

YPD was for him to enjoy a quieter, less busy environment with fewer pupils and to be 

able to thrive instead of feeling permanently anxious. I’m sure many other families are 

in the exact same situation. We are concerned that a doubling of pupils will be a very 

serious increase in the noise and bustle and will impact his experience of a quiet 

school. 

I'm not surprised there is already a waiting list for further pupils to join YPBD, it is an 

excellent school. It makes sense to bring all sites together to a more modern building to 

accommodate and fulfil their needs educationally and mentally. Other schools have 

been brought into modernisation to accommodate demands, YPBD is no different. I 

support the increase in pupil numbers and the new build. 

The current situation in the school is totally unacceptable in terms of space. It is 

becoming increasingly difficult to create the environment pupils need to thrive. The 

school is so crowded there are very few opportunities for the flexibility and personal 

space that autistic pupils need. I know too that we are saying "no" to a lot of pupils who 

should be coming to us. 

The current school buildings are no longer fit for purpose and they don't offer enough 

accommodation for the numbers of students who need specialist schooling. 

Increasing the capacity would ensure that all pupils needing the provision would be 

able to access it. 

Because capacity is not enough currently. The system… waiting lists… everything is all 

wrong. Children should not have to wait to be at a suitable setting. 

The school has been over capacity with regards to pupils for a number of years and as 

a result there isn’t enough space. Classrooms are too small and there aren’t enough 

safe spaces to have inclusion or therapy rooms to support the needs of the pupils. 

Page 197



Formal Consultation Report 

 
48 

I think I increasing the school capacity is a great idea! There is a desperate need for 

more specialist education placements in the local area. 

At present the school is too small, we already have too many pupils attending the 

school and not enough space. 

RESPONSE: 

As detailed in the formal consultation document the school is currently facing difficulties 

due to the amount of pupils it has. The demand for places at the school has increased 

and a waiting list is growing. The Local Authority believe this proposal will ensure the 

school can meet the growing demands now and in the future.  

Facilities at the new building 

5 Respondents raised 

Outside areas are very important to my son. Currently it's very small and 'prison like'. It 

would be lovely to have a variety of different play / break areas, grassed/ natural areas, 

veg patches, a view of the surroundings. Their own sports area and equipment so it's 

not shared, and their own dining facilities. 

Would the new building be likely to lead to wider use e.g. for a summer school? After 

school provision? 

There appears to be no facility for sports day events such as running, field sports etc. 

Is there plans for a garden area and plenty of space for the children with the more 

complex needs of ASD. The children currently have a huge outdoor area and this plays 

an important part in keeping them happy, content and ensuring they have the space 

and privacy they need. The garden at the Ty’r Ysgol site will be such a massive loss to 

the children who spend a lot of time on the swings/ trampolines and they are highly 

Page 198



Formal Consultation Report 

 
49 

used as a method of redirecting pupils who are unsettled. Maybe we could take the 

swings with us and create an area for them. 

It will be amazing for the whole school to be together and the pupils will have a purpose 

built school for their autism. 

RESPONSE: 

The design of the external areas of the new build are informed by Building Bulletin 

guidance- in relation to SEN schools this is BB104. This guides the type of spaces 

needed and areas required based on 220 pupils. BB104 guidance state a minimum 

area of and the current design shows we are considerably over the minimum amount. 

There will be a mixture of hard surface, soft and habitat area.  

Dining areas- the building will have it owns dining facilities meaning pupils will not have 

to share these with other schools.  

The Governors and the head teacher would decide on the after school provision 

provided and the summer school offer. The Local Authority would hope that the 

building will be utilised outside of school hours.  

Class sizes 

5 Respondents raised 

I would like the class sizes to remain small with the proposed increase of pupils on roll.  

More classes with fewer pupils. 

I am in favour as long as it does not see class sizes get bigger as a result because this 

has a detrimental effect on both the pupils and staff /teacher wellbeing and stress. 

I am all for expanding the school to cater for more children with Autism like my son as I 

am completely aware of the shortage of setting within Wales and UK . However my 

Page 199



Formal Consultation Report 

 
50 

concern and my husband the current class sizes and teachers per class would this 

cause a shortage of teachers if you where to increase class sizes. My son requires 

small class sizes and as much 1-2-1 support as possible. I would like to assume you 

would put more classes in places and to keep the class sizes at a minimum. 

What will be the ideal class size per classroom? 

Classes are regularly above the national guidelines for special schools of eight pupils. 

It is therefore self-evident that the school needs more room not only to accommodate 

the existing pupils, and enable them to thrive, but also to reach out to the pupils who 

are already knocking at the door as well as the others, yet to be identified, but coming 

our way soon. It is the Governors' strong belief that a larger, better resourced school is 

urgently needed now, and that, given ever-pressing demand, the new school will have 

reached its capacity of 220 within the next decade. 

RESPONSE: 

The new school is being designed to have a maximum of 8 pupils in each classroom.  

The school believe that small groups of 8 or less allow them to use person centred 

approaches so that each pupil has an individual and/or bespoke plan. The new building 

design also has a number of group/ break out rooms in order to deliver individual 

interventions/ therapies.  

Advantages of bringing the school together 

5 Respondents raised 

Bring YPB under one site would support developing closer and more complex 

relationships with health, especially therapies and developing an increasingly 

integrated approach to care between health and education, in keeping with the new 

ALN act. It would support the training and development of staff with special skills, e.g. 

ABA, makaton, physical intervention etc. for children with complex needs. 

Page 200



Formal Consultation Report 

 
51 

This seems to be the sensible and long overdue decision to transform Brondyffryn into 

a centre of excellence with adequate resources and a completely fit for purpose site. 

As a member of staff at YPBD I am fully aware of the growing need for specialist 

provision for pupils with ASD. Incorporating all three (current) sites into one will be 

highly beneficial for the progression of our pupils also. 

PB has been split across sites for years. This meaning our pupils can only access one 

of the sites were in reality some of our pupils would benefit greatly on being able to 

access at least two of them for different activities and having a curriculum that will work 

for them so every pupil can access an education that suits them. As a member of staff 

being able to work on one site as a team will be beneficial to us all. We are proud to 

work in such an amazing school and to be able to help more children with autism - as 

I’m sure the community of Denbigh will be too. 

Agree with the plans to have all pupils at one site which will also help with transitions. 

RESPONSE: 

The Local Authority agree that there will be many benefits of bringing all staff and 

pupils into one building, including appropriate training and the development of 

specialist skills. 

Alternative proposal 

7 Respondent raised 

As an alternative proposal, I would put forward the idea of building the new school on 

the land behind the skatepark and the land currently used for Denbigh Town FC. 

Included in the development would be the installation of a modern synthetic athletics 

track behind the leisure centre, with a small covered spectator stand. This would house 

the football club in the winter months, and provide far superior sports facilities than the 

community currently has access to. 

Page 201



Formal Consultation Report 

 
52 

Surely there is a better proposal for a brown site or doing better with Denbigh High 

School itself. 

A site outside town would be more appropriate. No loss of existing playing fields, and 

no additional traffic congestion and pollution. 

Has consideration has been given to the possibility of expanding existing locations for 

increasing capacity as needed? 

Probably impossible but the land up at Gerddi would surely offer the peace and quiet 

these children crave? 

I don’t think having the school spread across different sites is a bad thing and I like that 

it gives the pupils similar experiences of transition as their mainstream counterparts 

(I.e. changing setting moving to high school). Despite change being more challenging 

for pupils with ASD it is an unavoidable part of life and managing change in a 

supported manner is a good learning experience for the children. I wonder if there 

would be the ability to extend the schools on their current sites? 

I am unsure why the current Denbigh high school rugby fields haven’t been 

investigated and thought off before disrupting Denbigh high school learners. 

RESPONSE: 

In 2019 a feasibility report looked at options regarding the development of Ysgol Plas 

Brondyffryn. As part of that study the current Ty’r Ysgol site was looked at as an option, 

however the site is steeply sloping and to accommodate the volume of new building 

accommodation would require a massive amount of excavation. The site also has listed 

buildings.  

Another option examined was to refurbish the existing secondary site utilising some 

parts of Denbigh High school- this option assumed Denbigh High was vacant and that 

the works could be done without disrupting the pupils too much.  

Page 202



Formal Consultation Report 

 
53 

Travel/ traffic concerns 

10 Respondents raised 

Please consider any active travel routes to the school and link in with other routes if 

possible. 

How and where is the building likely to be located - will this likely increase transport 

along Ystrad Road? Will this likely have a negative impact on the trumpet route 

(walking and cycling) 

The only criticism we have ever had of the school is the taxi/car debacle at drop-off and 

collection. The hope is that this ridiculous situation will cease and a real workable 

solution is achieved. 

The impact on the local infrastructure in terms of the increase of traffic is also a 

concern. 

Current Primary site has no walkway from the car park or the car park entrance side of 

the school to drop off children, will this be provided on the new site? 

Given that the council are proposing to increase pupil numbers, how do they envisage 

the passenger transport accessing the site? Again Park Street and the junction onto 

Ruthin Road is not suitable for this amount of traffic and there would need to be 

significant improvement in the current road layout to make this a safe junction...given 

the amount of passenger transport I have seen queuing to get into the site on Rhyl 

Road, many impatient taxi drivers who can't wait to drop off their load.  

I am also concerned about the extra traffic that would be necessary to accommodate 

the increase in school children should this new build go ahead. The volume of traffic 

during some periods of the day - at both Ty'n Fron and Park Street - is tremendous and 

to think that this will be increased is worrying. The Denbigh High school area is all 

ready congested with traffic - buses, taxis etc, the junctions just can't take much more 

traffic 

Page 203



Formal Consultation Report 

 
54 

Another concern is the increased traffic on Ystrad Road which is already a fairly narrow 

twisty road - and characterful because of it - this is going to totally change this end of 

Denbigh for the worse. If this went ahead, the top end of Denbigh is going to be 

affected by the long term building work at the old mental hospital at the same time as 

the bottom end (Ystrad Road) is going to be affected by building the school. 

I am very concerned as a local resident how the increased traffic to this site will be 

managed, currently the taxis at Plas Brondyffryn juniors park up at the current site so 

where will the safe entry be for the vehicles to access the new proposed site? 

Access to the site will be overcrowded and present additional dangers to pedestrians 

and school children attending both school areas. The higher proportion of vehicles 

including buses will present additional problems to the already busy infrastructure. 

RESPONSE: 

The current proposal is to take all vehicles off the highway so there will be no queuing 

on Ystrad Road. The drop off will take place within a secure zone directly adjacent to 

the school. Students will only exit the vehicles once everyone is stationary. This 

process will be managed by school staff and vehicles will only leave the zone once all 

pupils are safely inside.   

The drop off area will be used to accommodate all anticipated taxis and minibuses. Any 

late arrivals would stack up in the teaching staff parking and not on the road. There is a 

separate area for the SSP pupils to be dropped off and for the occasional student 

unable to exit the vehicle.  16 visitors spaces and 17 staff parking spaces are 

accessible at all times- the remaining of the car park spaces for staff are in a controlled 

area to assist the safe drop off of all pupils in the ‘stationary drop off’ area. This 

strategy has been discussed in partnership with the school. 

DCC ‘s highways department will be involved in ensuring the plans are safe and 

complaint.  

Page 204



Formal Consultation Report 

 
55 

Community Use 

1 Respondents raised 

I am also pleased to see proposals such as expanding potential use of the resources 

for the local community also being considered in the scheme particularly the reference 

to a community café that may be available for the local sports and leisure provision. 

RESPONSE: 

The Governors are keen that the new building will be accessible to the community to 

use out of hours. The Café is an existing opportunity for the school to establish a 

relationship between them and the community. Pupils will be able to learn hospitality 

and social skills through controlled and gentle interaction with members of the public 

who use the cycle and walking route surrounding the school site, and individuals within 

the community will have opportunities to meet pupils experiencing a range of additional 

learning needs, to better appreciate their challenges and difficulties. 

Future Use of current buildings 

3 Respondents raised 

What plans have been considered for the use of the existing, relatively new buildings, 

within the community? 

What does the council propose to do with the old building next to Ysgol Frongoch, is 

this to be made suitable for use by the other schools next to it or will it just become a 

white elephant? 

Concern over the amount of buildings being unused which is waste such as the 

previous Brondyffryn site at the Ystrad road and what will happen to the old buildings 

now. 

Page 205



Formal Consultation Report 

 
56 

RESPONSE: 

Discussions regarding the 3 sites that will be vacated if the project progresses is 

ongoing. In terms of the primary site options around Ysgol Frongoch utilising the 

vacated space will be examined.  

The secondary site next door to Denbigh High will form part of the Denbigh High 

developments and will allow the school to be reconfigured and refurbished utilising the 

extra space internally and externally. The Ty’r Ysgol site is next door to the residential 

provision Gerddi Glasfryn which is currently being reviewed and may form part of any 

developments around this. The charity SENSE have also moved onto the site and 

refurbished 2 other buildings and they may look to expand provision.  

Environmental considerations 

2 Respondents raised 

Has there been consideration given to the materials / building methods that would be 

used especially given the DCC’s carbon impact agenda. 

Clearly we need to build for the future and time proof ourselves as much as we can in 

terms of heating and running costs as well as allowing ample storage space and 

communal areas. 

RESPONSE: 

DCC are committed to the following in regards to any new build projects: 

 Net Zero carbon in construction 

 Net Zero carbon in operation 

 Net Zero carbon in whole life 

Page 206



Formal Consultation Report 

 
57 

The design for the new build will embrace all of the above requirements as a core part 

of the design work.  

Links with Denbigh High/ Denbigh Leisure 

6 Respondents raised 

How much consultation has been undertaken with Denbigh High School and Denbigh 

Leisure and the impact the change will have on their provision. 

The building on the proposed site will reduce sporting opportunity and amenity for 

Denbigh High School Students. 

I am unsure about putting the specialist provision next to the high school. Many 

children have had negative experiences of mainstream provision before attending the 

special school and I feel that it may be difficult for them being so close to a 

setting/cohort that may have caused them distress/trauma. I also think that the local 

authority need to be aware that young people can be very cruel and the interface 

between the mainstream high school and the specialist provision, particularly for those 

with more complex needs, will need to be carefully managed and consistently and 

comprehensively monitored. 

I also object because of the Impact on Denbigh High School. As a parent of 3 students 

in Denbigh High School I am disgusted that once again they are being let down by 

DCC and the LEA. I feel there are plenty of other more suitable locations for a new 

school that should be considered. The fact that DLL/DCC fenced off the fields 12-18 

months ago is of concern as it suggests this proposal was always on the cards. 

Additionally the extra traffic on Ystrad Road/leisure centre would impact on local 

residents. 

Denbigh High pupils already have to cross a road (clwyd avenue ) to get to their pe 

lessons and with this proposal where will the pupils new field be ? across a public 

footpath?, this wasn’t allowed in rhyl high due to various safe guarding issues so surely 

Page 207



Formal Consultation Report 

 
58 

can’t happen in Denbigh, not to mention the class time wasted to walk to the lesson 

across the fields, operationally it will be a lot of wasted time. 

The first language English schools seem to be under-represented and the poor 

relations when it comes to any funding or development of a new school site. The 

current Denbigh High school is no longer fit for purpose, showing its age and 

impractical to attract new pupils. The improvements for the school through a new 

building are long overdue. The access to the school playing fields for children of 

Denbigh High School will include crossing two gated areas onto a public cycle footpath 

to participate in their sporting activity. This was not allowed to take place during the 

recent construction of a new building at Rhyl High School so can not be acceptable at 

Denbigh. Where is the safeguarding protection around child safety considered in this 

expectation. It will reduce the current timetable of children and make sporting activities 

less inclusive for the curriculum of children at Denbigh High who will be left 

disadvantaged by the new sites. This development should be opposed and 

reconsidered as it is not a viable option for children in Denbigh High who will lose out 

significantly if this planning is given consent. 

RESPONSE: 

Denbigh High is part of the Local Authorities Band B projects and is inevitably linked 

with the proposal around Ysgol Plas Brondyffryn.  

Given the specialist nature of Plas Brondyffryn and the need for any construction works 

to be away from the current sites due to the cohort of pupils at the school, it was 

agreed that this proposal would move forward first. The current pressures the school 

currently faces in terms of the lack of capacity was also a major factor in ensuring this 

project was progressed first.   

If the secondary provision at Ysgol Plas Brondyffryn vacates the Denbigh High site as 

part of the Denbigh High School project, they will not only have their building but also 

additional yard space and improved access to the schools other field which will be used 

solely for PE lessons.   

Page 208



Formal Consultation Report 

 
59 

The flow of Denbigh High is not currently ideal and condition of the building is overall 

rated D.  The likely options of refurbishment, remodelling, demolition and rebuild will be 

complimented by the option of refurbishment and utilising of the better conditioned 

vacated Plas Brondyffryn building.  This will enhance the offer for Denbigh High pupils 

and provide greater flexibility for the Denbigh High project. 

Currently Denbigh High and the secondary pupils at Ysgol Plas Brondyffryn utilise the 

leisure centre facilities quite heavily- both schools use the main hall, dance studio, the 

field, all weather pitch and the swimming pool. The 2 schools work together to ensure 

the facilities are timetabled in a way that suits both schools. Denbigh High has a Dual 

Use agreement with the leisure centre and then Ysgol Plas Brondyffryn work with 

Denbigh High on appropriate use. As part of this agreement the All weather pitch is 

available to the schools term time everyday 8.45-17.00.  The Ysgol Plas Brondyffryn 

primary pupils and high needs pupils who are on different sites only access the leisure 

centre for swimming.  If the proposal goes ahead as planned Ysgol Plas Brondyffryn 

pupils would only access the leisure centre for swimming in the future as all PE lessons 

would be delivered from the new facility.  

Officers from Denbighshire Leisure are aware of the project and are kept up to date 

regularly. Both Ysgol Plas Brondyffryn and Denbigh High projects are entwined with the 

leisure centre and are important partners in delivery of PE in both schools. 

Integration with mainstream 

4 Respondent raised 

The proposal to have a combined site for all age groups reduces opportunities for 

integration with main stream students, especially for primary aged students. 

The school already utilises existing sites. The separation of these sites has met pupils 

needs well on the basis of both learning and behavioural needs. The division has been 

based on ability and management needs (behavioural). Many of the pupils placed are 

out of county, provision should be made for local pupils to local inclusion. Segregation 

Page 209



Formal Consultation Report 

 
60 

of pupils now seems dated and units within mainstream sites promote inclusion and 

knowledge around disability needs from peer groups, staff groups and community alike. 

The Primary - aged pupils at Brondyffryn should be integrating into a primary school / 

junior/ infant school for some subjects e.g. P. E. , Art. At the moment they are next door 

to Ysgol Frongoch, Ysgol Twm o’r Nant and not too far from Ysgol y Parc. On the 

Denbigh High school site they would be much further … this makes no sense. 

The Primary Department of Ysgol Brondyffryn is, currently, near Ysgol Fron Goch and 

Ysgol Twm o'r Nant. It is convenient for the integration of pupils from Ysgol Brondyffryn 

into a mainstream class for certain subjects such as P.E. or Art or other subjects which 

an individual with autism would benefit from being with mainstream pupils. Moving 

these pupils to the new proposed site would mean longer travelling times between 

schools, less time for education. 

RESPONSE: 

In regards to the primary site currently there is no physical joining of the school to 

Ysgol Frongoch. The pupils from both schools share the dining room for lunch every 

day but that is the extent of collaboration. As far as pupils utilising the mainstream 

school this has not happened in a number of years.  

The secondary site is joined to Denbigh High School by a corridor but the door that 

connects the two is always locked. However some pupils do spend time at Denbigh 

High. Pupils may study a subject that Denbigh High offer and Plas Brondyffryn do not 

and they wish to go to college in the future to study this. Other pupils who may benefit 

from time spent in the 'mainstream' setting to prepare for what is to come when they 

leave Ysgol Plas Brondyffryn are those pupils who are on target for solid Level 2 GCSE 

grades. This year, 4 Year 10 pupils started GCSE courses in DHS, supported by our 

TAs.  

Moving to the site proposed for the new build will not impact on this at all and this 

aspect of integration will continue exactly as it is now. The physical inter-connection 

between the 2 schools is irrelevant because pupils currently have to enter Denbigh 

Page 210



Formal Consultation Report 

 
61 

High through the public foyer and sign-in. The route from the proposed new site to 

Denbigh High is actually shorter, simpler and safer than the existing one. 

Location 

6 Respondents raised 

I think the area designated for the school is very cramped and hemmed in. There is no 

room for possible expansion to the site to accommodate more students as we are 

already over capacity on the current site and the same will more than likely happen on 

the new site. 

Of concern is also the location. Situated behind the high school where the pupils are 

loud and boisterous will also increase noise levels. There is also the issue of the 

boundary between the two schools and the potential for name-calling through fencing 

etc. 

This should all have been thought of prior to the resitting of the current junior element 

of Plas Brondyffryn and the council should have been forward thinking to envisage that 

the school and needs of the children would change. In addition to siting it next to a 

mainstream school was short sited. 

I have no objections to the building of the new school and can understand the need for 

it. But I feel the location need more consideration. 

I strongly believe an alternative site should be chosen. 

I strongly object to this proposal, due to the proposed location for the school. 

I also am unsure why you would build a school for children who might have sensory 

needs as well as other complex needs on the middle of a busy public footpath and a 

sports pitch which is used frequently. 

 

Page 211



Formal Consultation Report 

 
62 

RESPONSE: 

As mentioned previously this proposal is around increasing the capacity at Ysgol Plas 

Brondyffryn, and not the location of the new build- this will be subject to the planning 

process. 

The Local Authority believe that Denbigh is the right location for the school, the school 

has always been in the town and given the catchment of pupils to the school Denbigh 

is considered central and ensures travel times to those in the north and south of 

Denbighshire are reasonable to the school.  

The design of the external areas will consider the proximity of the cycle/ path and 

majority of the areas will be screened by some means to ensure pupils privacy.  

Gerddi Glasfryn 

1 Respondent raised 

I believe Gerddi Glasfryn should remain under the control of Brondyffryn. I am aware 

the reasons as to why this break away is being proposed. I believe that the constraints 

placed around the school prohibiting the disclosure of Gerddi Glasfryn to prospective 

and existing families is a travesty. Most of the time these resources are going under-

used. However this s not a reflection of the need! Families all too often are reaching 

crisis point before adding support is even considered. 

RESPONSE 

This proposal does not include the residential provision Gerddi Glasfryn. This provision 

is still accessible to Ysgol Plas Brondyffryn. The future of the provision is currently 

being discussed with the Governors and the Local Authority but is not linked with 

increasing the capacity of the school.  

Page 212



Formal Consultation Report 

 
63 

Admissions  

3 Respondents raised 

I am highly concerned about upcoming proposals in the future around admissions 

policy changes. The children at the school desperately need this provision. Being 

funded 75% by Welsh Government and 25% DCC, I fear that it will become a postcode 

lottery. I have heard language such as "lets look at what's in the local area first" and 

"tightening up admissions". This is a mistake as locally there has been such significant 

under-investment for so long that there are no there suitable settings that can come 

anywhere near close to Brondyffryn and what it provides the pupils, Brondyffryn are 

unrivalled (in my humble opinion). 

ASC provision in Denbighshire is woefully inadequate and none of the mainstream high 

schools are able to provide a suitable environment for autistic kids to thrive - which will 

place more pressure on YPB. As well as expanding YPB you should also consider 

making mainstream high schools neurodiversity friendly (they are not at the moment) 

so that every child can have access to good quality education. You should really ask 

Autistic experts to help you with this - (rather than Autism experts) since the people 

with lived experience are the ones who really understand what’s needed. 

The school is at present under a high degree of strain given the many compromises 

which have had to be introduced in order to accommodate the increase in pupil 

numbers beyond the reported capacity of 116 pupils for the school. This increase is not 

a blip, but steady and ongoing. More and more young people are receiving a diagnosis 

of autism and there is a constant demand for places. Quite recently, the LA agreed that 

new admissions to the school would be limited to priority situations only. Whilst this 

decision did reduce the volume of new admissions which has helped to stabilise the 

organisation of the school but has undoubtedly caused harm to those young people 

desperately needing to be admitted to the school. The compromises I have referred to 

are not matters of minor tinkering with school arrangements, but significant alterations 

which have made the numbers manageable but have reduced in a worrying way the 

quality of educational provision. Thus, the range of special rooms or areas (break-out 

Page 213



Formal Consultation Report 

 
64 

areas, play areas, sensory areas, quiet areas) which, in addition to ordinary 

classrooms, are an essential part of any special school, have been whittled away, until 

they have become pale shadows of what is actually needed and what once existed. In 

order to meet the needs of pupils at Ysgol Plas Brondyffryn it is extremely important to 

provide a low arousal environment, and the facilities, space and opportunities for 

sensory breaks as and when these are needed. The current building does not have 

capacity to provide this for the number of pupils that are in attendance. This has led to, 

at times, an increase in unsettling behaviours, all the more challenging because the 

well-recognised and well-established processes for dealing with these have been 

compromised, simply because of a lack of physical space. 

RESPONSE 

As a Local Authority we will continue to work with all our mainstream schools to ensure 

pupils with autism, if possible, can remain in mainstream with the correct support.  

Pupils who are already at the school will move over into the new build. As part of the 

project one of the workstreams will be to review the admission policy to clarify access 

for out-of-county placements. Consultation on the revised admission policy will take 

place with colleagues from across the region. 

Finance 

4 Respondents raised 

With the increase in pupils in the school how will this affect the provision for each child 

currently set at £26k per pupil. Will this decrease? What affect will this have on the 

pupils? 

How many of the proposed students are Denbighshire residents? The current student 

population has a high proportion of out of county students if this trend continues it is 

Page 214



Formal Consultation Report 

 
65 

unclear how this benefits Denbighshire residents apart from out of county payments. 

Perhaps DCC should be up front about this. 

Building a new school here for Ysgol Brondyffryn is a money- making scheme for 

Denbighshire County Council. Out-of -county pupils bring in a great amount of money 

… at the detriment of our local children … it’s not right. 

Many of Ysgol Brondyffryn's pupils are not Denbighshire pupils... they come out of 

County. The County receives a great sum money for each pupil they accept. 

RESPONSE 

Ysgol Plas Brondyffryn is funded in accordance with Denbighshire County Council’s 

funding formulas and will receive resources in the same basis as any other school 

within the County Council, based on the new schools pupil numbers and facilities.    

As the table below reflects in recent years the amount of Out of County placements at 

the school has reduced and currently is 16%.  

Child resides… 

Jan 

2022 

Jan 

2021 

Jan 

2020 

Jan 

2019 

Jan 

2018 

Jan 

2017 

Jan 

2016 

in 

Denbighshire 111 112 97 103 95 79 65 

Outside 

Denbighshire 21 28 29 31 45 49 58 

Total  132 140 126 134 140 128 123 

Page 215



Formal Consultation Report 

 
66 

% from out of 

county 16% 20% 23% 23% 32% 38% 47% 

Faced with a growing demand for places and a restricted capacity the short term 

decision was taken by Denbighshire, pending the outcome of the Band B proposals to 

restrict admissions to Denbighshire pupils pending the outcome of a long term 

approach for the school. This will be reviewed and managed once the new build is 

open as the school will have an increase in capacity. 

Construction concerns 

2 Respondents raised 

The construction traffic will have to pass by Denbigh Infirmary, a road that currently is 

not suitable for that amount of traffic, due to local residents parking and the 

configuration of the junction onto Ruthin Road, plus the access needed on occasion for 

emergency vehicles. In addition there will be a substantial amount of construction dust 

believe all construction comes with dust and I don't believe any construction company 

that says there isn't. This dust will -dependant on weather conditions blow towards the 

Infirmary meaning that there will be occasions when the windows of the Infirmary 

cannot be opened. Dust requires extra cleaning in place and I wonder how the council 

will mitigate for this. The noise from the construction including traffic is not good for the 

patients either. I feel for the local residents whose houses back onto this playing field 

who will also have to put up with months of noise and dust. 

There is no consideration for residents who will be exposed to increased traffic, risk, 

noise and disruption in the area.  

RESPONSE 

Page 216



Formal Consultation Report 

 
67 

Construction traffic to the proposed site would not go past Denbigh Infirmary- it would 

access the site off Ystrad Road.  

As with all DCC builds the contractors will need to minimise dust and noise and keep 

nearby residents informed of any works that will be disruptive. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 217



Formal Consultation Report 

 
68 

APPENDIX 7- Estyn Response 

Estyn response to Denbighshire County Council’s proposal to increase the capacity 
at Ysgol Plas Brondyffryn from 116 to 220. 

Introduction 

This report has been prepared by Her Majesty’s Inspectors of Education and 

Training in Wales. 

Under the terms of the School Standards and Organisation (Wales) Act 2013 and its 

associated Code, proposers are required to send consultation documents to Estyn. 

However, Estyn is not a body which is required to act in accordance with the Code 

and the Act places no statutory requirements on Estyn in respect of school 

organisation matters. Therefore, as a body being consulted, Estyn will provide their 

opinion only on the overall merits of school organisation proposals. 

Estyn has considered the educational aspects of the proposal and has produced the 

following response to the information provided by the proposer. 

 

Summary/ Conclusion 

The proposal is by Denbighshire County council. It is to increase the capacity at 

Ysgol Plas Brondyffryn from 116 to 220. The school would move into a brand-new 

purpose-built facility in the town of Denbigh to accommodate the increase. 

It is Estyn’s view that this proposal is likely to at least maintain the standard of 

education provision and outcomes for pupils in the area. 

 

Page 218



Formal Consultation Report 

 
69 

Description and benefits 

The council has presented an appropriate rationale for the proposal. It is to increase 

the capacity of the school to meet the growing demand for provision for pupils with 

Autism Spectrum Condition (ASC). The nominal capacity at the school is 116, the 

school currently has 136 pupils on roll and has been over capacity for the last 6 

years. The school currently has pupils waiting to attend the school and the council 

expects the demand to increase over the next few years and suggests that a 

capacity of 220 is reasonable. However, there is no explanation as to why the figure 

of 220 has been chosen. The school currently caters for pupils from across 

Denbighshire and beyond with pupils from Flintshire, Wrexham and Gwynedd also 

receiving education from the provision. The provision is currently located over four 

sites and the proposal would rationalise this from three of these sites onto one site 

with new purpose-built provision. The council also lists some issues with the 

conditions of the sites currently being used which a new build facility would address. 

The council has provided seemingly appropriate details regarding the timescales for 

the implementation of the proposal. 

 

The expected advantages of the proposal include increasing the capacity to better 

meet the demand, all pupils and staff being on the same site, improved transition 

arrangements and having subject specific rooms. The disadvantages include an 

increase in traffic to the one site and a potentially noisy play area for all pupils. 

Page 219



Formal Consultation Report 

 
70 

These seem to be appropriate and reasonable. 

The council includes three main risks with the proposal. These include failure to 

obtain statutory approval to implement the proposal, reduced demand for provision and 

integration of pupils into the new school building. The mitigation against these 

risks appears to be mainly appropriate, however the council does not provide 

sufficient information regarding alternative pathways should they fail to obtain 

planning and funding approval. 

 

The council has provided details of the four options considered as part of this 

consultation process. These options were to do nothing, to do the minimum by 

clearing the maintenance backlog at each site, an intermediate option and the 

preferred option. The council has provided suitable reasons for discounting three of 

these options and choosing the fourth option. 

 

The council states that the proposed site is already in the local authority’s ownership 

and is still in the town of Denbigh, therefore travel times for pupils will not be 

significantly different. In addition, the council iterates that transport arrangements will 

continue to be made in accordance with the county council’s home to school 

transport policy. This seems to be fair and reasonable. 

 

The council has appropriately undertaken a Welsh language impact assessment. It 

Page 220



Formal Consultation Report 

 
71 

states that providing an improved educational provision represents an opportunity to 

strengthen Welsh education in the area and as a result strengthen the Welsh 

language. It concludes that overall, the proposal would not have a negative impact 

on the Welsh language. The council does not refer directly to how this proposal will 

support the targets in the Welsh in Education Strategic Plan. It does however 

comment that Welsh is not used as a language of instruction in any Key Stage or 

subject, but the school provides the necessary resources for pupils to access the 

whole curriculum through the medium of Welsh. It would be useful to provide further 

details regarding this assertion. 

 

The council has suitably identified the financial costs for this proposal. It falls within 

Band B of the Welsh Government’s Sustainable Communities for Learning 

programme and was approved by Welsh Government in September 2020. The 

programme included an overall allocation of £23.8m for this project. Subject to the 

approval of the relevant business cases, the Welsh Government will provide 75% of 

the funding with the remaining 25% to be provided by Denbighshire County council. 

There will be no capital receipts from this proposal as the current sites share with 

other facilities. 

 

Educational aspects of the proposal 

The school has suitably considered the impact of the proposal on the quality and 

Page 221



Formal Consultation Report 

 
72 

standards in education including the impact of the proposal on teaching and learning 

experiences, care, support and guidance and leadership and management. The 

council summarises this by expressing its view that, should the proposal be 

implemented, it would at least maintain the current standard and quality of education. 

The new building will be equipped to provide all pupils with a broad and balanced 

curriculum from foundation phase to post-16. Bringing together all pupils and staff 

into a provision that is purpose built for their needs can only have a positive influence 

on pupil wellbeing and attitude to learning. 

 

The council has included the findings from the school’s most recent Estyn inspection 

report which was in July 2016. This inspection returned judgements of good for all 3 

key questions and for the school’s current performance and its prospects for 

improvement. 

 

The council has provided a document called “community, equality and Welsh 

language impact assessment”. Whilst this document suitably considers the impact of 

the proposal on the community and the Welsh language, it lacks sufficient 

consideration of the proposal’s impact on vulnerable groups or on pupils that have 

protected characteristics. 

 

The council has appropriately considered that one of the main advantages of this 

Page 222



Formal Consultation Report 

 
73 

proposal is that construction works would take place away from all current school 

sites, therefore minimal disruption to pupils learning will occur. 

 

 

Page 223



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Report to Cabinet 

Date of meeting 18th October 2022 

Lead Member / Officer Rhys Thomas – Lead Member Housing & Communities/David 

Lorey – Lead Officer Corporate Property & Housing Stock 

Report author Katrina Allen – Senior Architect / Mark Cassidy – Property 

Operations Manager 

Title District Heating System Betws Gwerfil Goch 

1. What is the report about? 

1.1. The potential of a district heating system for the Village of Betws Gwerfil Goch 

incorporating the provision of ground source heat pumps (GSHP) to Council 

and Privately owned dwellings. 

2. What is the reason for making this report? 

2.1. To update Cabinet on the community engagement during August/September 

2022 and the proposal to appoint Kensa as the approved contractor for the 

design stages. 

3. What are the Recommendations? 

3.1. That the Cabinet note the updated engagement activity and approve the 

appointment of the Contractor, Kensa to proceed with the design stage of the 

project. This stage of the project will take 12-16 weeks. 

4. Report details 

4.1. In December 2021 the Welsh Government invited bids for round 2.1 of the 

Optimised Retrofit Programme. Denbighshire had already secured circa 

£4Million from previous bids in 2020/21 and 2021/22 

Page 225

Agenda Item 8



 
 

4.2. An opportunity to extend the offer to private home owners in off gas/hard to 

heat areas was put forward for the Village of Betws Gwerfil Goch. The rationale 

for choosing the village was based on the poorly performing properties 

(thermally), the lack of mains gas supply (increasing heating costs) and the 

relatively difficult circumstances of delivering a scheme in a remote area (the 

thinking being if we can deliver here, we can deliver almost anywhere within 

DCC) 

4.3. A technical partner was selected via procurement off a Welsh Procurement 

Alliance framework (Kensa) and initial feasibility studies produced which 

supported the viability of the scheme. 

4.4. In January 2022, Welsh Government approved funding for the scheme, 

recognising the innovation aspect of a whole village approach. Grant funding 

was awarded on the understanding that the project would be delivered during 

2022/2023 

4.5. It was recognised that this would be a challenge by all and that community 

engagement would be key to successful delivery – not least to give confidence 

to private home owners that the proposals represent good financial and 

environmental benefits. 

4.6. Stage 1: consultation and engagement plan was initiated week commencing 7th 

Sept which included a parish community meeting, information letters/leaflets, 

roadshows, door knocking, website sign up with unique owner codes and a 

public engagement session in the local Chapel etc. 

4.7. Stage 1 engagement activity is almost complete. (Focusing on sign ups) which 

now allows us to carry out in depth surveys, design work and costs which will be 

developed by Kensa. To date, we have 26 interested residents, 4 residents 

have refused, 7 have indicated they need more information and no response 

yet from 17 homes. (we have some empty properties in the village) Further 

engagement/door knocking will continue while the Design Survey is ongoing.  

4.8. A report will be presented to Cabinet in October 2022 giving full details of the 

outcome of community engagement, detailed proposals and costs and requesting 

approval to proceed with the contract. So far four surveys have been planned in 

tenant / resident homes. 

Page 226



 
 

4.9. The Local Member was contacted and briefed prior to the engagement taking 

place.  

4.10. The design element is: £106,189.00 which includes: 

 Room by room heat loss calculations to BS EN12831 

 Survey of each property on the scope including an EPC 

 Schedule of required heat emitter outputs 

 Heating distribution system schematics 

 Heat Pump & Cylinder location and M&E design 

 System product specification and proposed special locations 

 Compliance with all system design requirements of MCS 

 Desktop geological study 

 Borehole design and layout & drilling specification 

 2D System Hydraulic design 

 Scope of Work 

 Fixed Price quotation to deliver Scope of Work 

 Mobilisation of Drill rig and Thermal Response test to determine ground 

conductivity and ascertain artesian risk. (£60K) 

We will undertake our own surveys to produce the ‘Passport’ element of the 

scheme.  

The Asbestos team have been asked to arrange surveys to these properties 

once we have the full list of signups.  

The above cost is what we are requesting at this stage, however, this is a Direct 

Award using the Welsh Procurement Alliance and it is assumed we will 

continue to use their services past the design stage to completion.   

5. How does the decision contribute to the Corporate 
Priorities? 

5.1. Housing: The EPC’s for these houses are a mix of E,F and G which are the lowest 

performing in energy performance. Denbighshire’s required targets are for our 

houses to get to an EPC A so this scheme will help put residents on a future road 

map to get them up to this target  

Page 227



 
 

5.2. Connected Communities: This scheme will help create a resilient and connected 

community as they will be in control of their own energy infrastructure. This pilot 

scheme forms the basis to build upon to roll out to neighbouring villages if suitable? 

5.3. Environment and Climate: The sooner we get our homes off fossil fuels the 

quicker we will achieve our County carbon targets. GSHP’s are an efficient form of 

renewable energy. Focusing on a whole off grid village will allow Denbighshire to 

reduce the amount of County carbon. 

5.4. Addressing Deprivation: The residents in this village are at a disadvantage as 

they have no choice but to use Oil/LPG or Electric to run their houses. According to 

the EPC records for these houses some energy bills run up to £3/4K/year (based 

on 2020) these bills will be considerably higher now. Oil £/L this year doubled. This 

scheme will help reduce fuel insecurities for the village.   

6. What will it cost and how will it affect other services? 

6.1. The overall scheme will cost circa £1.0Million 

6.2. Welsh Government will provide £670K to cover the cost of the private dwelling 

GSHP in the area. 

6.3. DCC’s Housing Revenue Account will cover Circa £330K improvement works to 

our social housing stock in addition to the GSHP provision. 

7. What are the main conclusions of the Well-being Impact 
Assessment? 

7.1. WBIA has been completed. The score for the sustainability approach was 3 out 

of 4 stars or 34/35. Full details in the attached WBIA. 

8. What consultations have been carried out with Scrutiny 
and others? 

8.1. Community consultation and engagement activity is complete. We now await 

tenants and home owners accepting the proposal for the ground source heating 

system. Once the cabinet approval is given and tenants have signed up, a 

period of surveying each property will begin. 

Page 228



 
 

9. Chief Finance Officer Statement 

9.1. As outlined in Section 6 the scheme itself has attracted 100% grant funding from 

Welsh Government. Additional improvement works to our social housing stock 

amounting to approximately £330k, funded by the HRA, will also take place to 

compliment the scheme and ensure our tenants experience the maximum benefit. 

This is an exciting project and is fully supported. 

10. What risks are there and is there anything we can do to 
reduce them? 

10.1. Refusal of private owners to accept the scheme/works to their homes. The 

engagement exercise will mitigate by promoting the financial and environmental 

improvements. 

11. Power to make the decision 

11.1. The power to make decision is contained in S2 Local Government Act 2000, 

S111 Local Government Act 1972, Regulation 33 Public Contracts Regulations 

2015 

 

Page 229



This page is intentionally left blank



Betws GG - Community Ground Source Heating Proposal:
Well-being Impact Assessment Report

This report summarises the likely impact of the proposal on the social, economic, environmental and

cultural well-being of Denbighshire, Wales and the world.

Assessment Number: 1084

Brief description: The installation of a ground source heating system providing district heating from

a renewal source for the community of Betws GG

Date Completed: [TEXT HERE] Version: 0

Completed by: [TEXT HERE]

Responsible Service: Facilities, Assets & Housing

Localities affected by the proposal: Dee Valley,

Who will be affected by the proposal? Home owners & Denbighshire Housing tenants

Was this impact assessment completed as a group? No

Betws GG - Community Ground Source Heating Proposal

Page 1 of 16 Printed on 24/08/2022Page 231



Summary and Conclusion

Before we look in detail at the contribution and impact of the proposal, it is important to consider how

the proposal is applying the sustainable development principle. This means that we must act "in a

manner which seeks to ensure that the needs of the present are met without compromising the ability

of future generations to meet their own needs."

Score for the sustainability of the approach

3 out of 4 stars

Actual score : 35 / 36.

Summary for each Sustainable Development principle

Long term

The proposal places sustainability at its core as it will provide renewable a heating source to all

residents in the village of Betws GG. The project will ensure that the village of nearly 70 homes

becomes considerably less reliant on the grid as their heating demands will be delivered via ground

source bore holes supplemented by heat pumps which greatly reduces the amount of electricity

required to provide heating. The project will also include retrofit improvement works to the council

housing properties to provide increased insulation to our homes and solar panel insulations to

supplement the heat pumps, again reducing the demands of grid electricity in the village.

Prevention

The project is a major flagship innovative energy project centralised around the Welsh Governments

commitment to reduce the amount of carbon generated from the housing stock. The proposal builds

independence considerably as residents will become less reliant on grid and fossil fuels, the project

will provide a long term sustainable heating infrastructure for the community. Less pressure and

demand will be exerted on public services as their will be less demand on the grid and homes will

conserve heat better due to the installation of increased insulation measures. The project actively

promotes new technologies designed to reduce climate change positively which has an expected

lifecycle in excess of 100 years.

Integration

Betws GG - Community Ground Source Heating Proposal

Page 2 of 16 Printed on 24/08/2022Page 232



Denbighshire County Council is committed to reducing the amount of carbon which our properties

create, this unique project will build on this priority and include the wider owner occupier housing

stock in the village as well. The project will also deliver priority repairs as identified as part of our

asset management plan which are resilient and sustainable, thus ensuring our homes remain

compliant with the WHQS. SAP scores will significantly increase in line with local targets and the

Welsh Governments decarb target as direct result of the project. Reduced fuel bills for residents will

help towards overall promoting good health and well being thus reducing the stain on our public

health services. The infrastructure can also be extended in the village therefore provide flexibility for

future development should the local development plan allow.

Collaboration

The project is reliant on collaboration across several organisations including the council, the

community council, utility providers and the infrastructure provider itself. The proposal is a long term

project, therefore ensuring the project is monitored and maintained is a core requirement to ensure is

longevity. The project will provide a significant positive economic outcome beyond 2050 as the

heating systems, combined with other forms of renewable power including solar panels will reduce

residents fuel bills for future generations to come. The positive environmental outcome of the project

will also be measured in the future as we install technologies able to track and report on the

performance of the installations.

Involvement

The project has been developed taking into consideration all relevant stakeholders and designed in

accordance with national regulation using professional personnel from within the council thus

ensuring full public engagement from the outset. Collaboration is key to the success of this project to

ensure that all residents benefit from the project now and in the future, a clear road map has been

developed by our corporate communications teams and several stakeholder events have been

planned to promote and educate residents from within the village. The contractor who is highly

experienced in this sector is also actively involved with our stakeholder engagement plan and will

provide support during the lifetime of the project.

Summary of impact

Betws GG - Community Ground Source Heating Proposal

Page 3 of 16 Printed on 24/08/2022Page 233



Well-being Goals Overall Impact

A prosperous Denbighshire Positive

A resilient Denbighshire Positive

A healthier Denbighshire Positive

A more equal Denbighshire Positive

A Denbighshire of cohesive communities Positive

A Denbighshire of vibrant culture and thriving Welsh language Neutral

A globally responsible Denbighshire Positive

Main conclusions

Carbon reduction to the housing stock

Increased employment opportunities

Increased training opportunities

SME and local supply chain benefits

Skill development

Tenant engagement

Community involvement

Betws GG - Community Ground Source Heating Proposal

Page 4 of 16 Printed on 24/08/2022Page 234



The likely impact on Denbighshire, Wales and the world.

A prosperous Denbighshire

Overall Impact

Positive

Justification for impact

The project will develop a sustainable housing stock and in doing so develop new skills within the

construction sector

Further actions required

Negative impacts are minimal, continuity of work could be resolved by future potential similar projects

being considered in other areas on the successful completion of this pilot

Positive impacts identified:

A low carbon society

The project embeds a low carbon society as its core objective. This will include heat pumps, solar

panels and increased thermal efficiency works

Quality communications, infrastructure and transport

Improved energy infrastructure 

Improved energy data via new technology

Economic development

Increased employment opportunities

Increased training opportunities

Use of local supply chain

Quality skills for the long term

New skills developed in the renewable sector and retrofit industry,

Betws GG - Community Ground Source Heating Proposal

Page 5 of 16 Printed on 24/08/2022Page 235



increased integration with local colleges

Quality jobs for the long term

Job creation for the duration of the framework for local SMES

New sector jobs in a growing industry of renewable technology

Childcare

N/A

Negative impacts identified:

A low carbon society

There are no perceived negative impacts

Quality communications, infrastructure and transport

There are no perceived negative impacts

Economic development

There are no perceived negative impacts

Quality skills for the long term

There are no perceived negative impacts

Quality jobs for the long term

Job creation may not extend beyond the framework

Childcare

N/A

A resilient Denbighshire

Betws GG - Community Ground Source Heating Proposal

Page 6 of 16 Printed on 24/08/2022Page 236



Overall Impact

Positive

Justification for impact

The impact will have a long term positive impact as the environmental will be aesthetically improved

as a result of the work and provide a platform for biodiversity to thrive. The project will entice local

SME's therefore reduce carbon by maintaining local supply links

Further actions required

Encouraging the use of locally sourced materials where ever possible. Offsetting carbon creation by

planting trees via a community benefit

scheme during the lifetime of the project.

Positive impacts identified:

Biodiversity and the natural environment

Wildlife habitats will be preserved and enhanced by the work by installing

temporary bird/bat boxes which will encourage biodiversity

Biodiversity in the built environment

As above , similar arrangements will be Incorporated for the built

environmental as well as the natural environment

Reducing waste, reusing and recycling

Site waste material will be recycled and subject to contractor KPI

Reduced energy/fuel consumption

The contract will entice local SME's, thus reducing fuel and transport costs,

the local supply chain will be favoured to procure building materials

Betws GG - Community Ground Source Heating Proposal

Page 7 of 16 Printed on 24/08/2022Page 237



People’s awareness of the environment and biodiversity

Contractor training

increased integration with colleges

Resident information enhanced

Flood risk management

New rainwater goods and drainage systems will channel rainwater more

effectively thus reducing flooding risk

Negative impacts identified:

Biodiversity and the natural environment

Some habitats will be impacted for a short duration of time while works

are underway

Biodiversity in the built environment

Some habitats will be impacted for a short duration of time while works

are underway.

Reducing waste, reusing and recycling

Some hazardous material will have to be disposed of in accordance with

the law which may go to landfill

Reduced energy/fuel consumption

Some materials are not manufactured locally, therefore some carbon will

be created from their supply

People’s awareness of the environment and biodiversity

There no negative impacts in this regard

Flood risk management

Betws GG - Community Ground Source Heating Proposal

Page 8 of 16 Printed on 24/08/2022Page 238



There no negative impacts in this regard

A healthier Denbighshire

Overall Impact

Positive

Justification for impact

Overall the benefits of improved housing standards create a positive impact on peoples health and

well being and less demand on other public

services including the NHS.

Further actions required

There are no negative impacts resulting from the project which require mitigating.

Positive impacts identified:

A social and physical environment that encourage and support health and well-being

The project will deliver homes that are fit for purpose, fuel efficient, warm

and healthier places to live

Access to good quality, healthy food

The reduction in energy costs for residents will reduce fuel poverty

therefore allowing tenants to have more money to spend on good quality

food.

People’s emotional and mental well-being

Lower levels of fuel poverty will reduce anxiety therefore potentially have

a positive impact on mental well being

Access to healthcare

Betws GG - Community Ground Source Heating Proposal

Page 9 of 16 Printed on 24/08/2022Page 239



Improved housing will improve peoples health therefore create less strain

on the healthcare system

Participation in leisure opportunities

More money in peoples pockets from reduced household bills could be

invested into leisure opportunities for families living in social housing.

Negative impacts identified:

A social and physical environment that encourage and support health and well-being

There are no negative impacts in this regard

Access to good quality, healthy food

There are no negative impacts in this regard

People’s emotional and mental well-being

There are no negative impacts in this regard

Access to healthcare

There are no negative impacts in this regard

Participation in leisure opportunities

There are no negative impacts in this regard

A more equal Denbighshire

Overall Impact

Positive

Justification for impact

Betws GG - Community Ground Source Heating Proposal

Page 10 of 16 Printed on 24/08/2022Page 240



The impact for a more equal Denbighshire is significant as homes will

become more standardised, efficient and more desirable places to live. Training opportunities could

also potentially be offered to tenants who express an interest in the project to learn new skills which

potentially will have a direct positive socio-economic advantage within the region.

Further actions required

There are no negative impacts to mitigate in this regard.

Positive impacts identified:

Improving the well-being of people with protected characteristics. The nine protected
characteristics are: age; disability; gender reassignment; marriage or civil partnership;
pregnancy and maternity; race; religion or belief; sex; and sexual orientation

The work will ensure our homes are future proofed for all people in the

protected groups ensuring they feel safe and settled in their surroundings

People who suffer discrimination or disadvantage

The project will generate homes which are neutral for all protected groups

to benefit from in terms of low cost housing accommodation.

People affected by socio-economic disadvantage and unequal outcomes

The project will develop existing housing stock in deprived areas therefore

creating a more equal society.

Areas affected by socio-economic disadvantage

The work will encourage healthier lifestyles as homes improve so does

peoples general health and well being, new skills can be developed with

residents who could directly benefit from training opportunities as part of

the project.

Negative impacts identified:

Improving the well-being of people with protected characteristics. The nine protected

Betws GG - Community Ground Source Heating Proposal

Page 11 of 16 Printed on 24/08/2022Page 241



characteristics are: age; disability; gender reassignment; marriage or civil partnership;
pregnancy and maternity; race; religion or belief; sex; and sexual orientation

There are no negative impacts in this regard

People who suffer discrimination or disadvantage

There are no negative impacts in this regard

People affected by socio-economic disadvantage and unequal outcomes

There are no negative impacts in this regard

Areas affected by socio-economic disadvantage

There are no negative impacts in this regard

A Denbighshire of cohesive communities

Overall Impact

Positive

Justification for impact

The project will deliver over £1M worth of investment in to warmer homes with reduced on grid energy

reliance and significantly improve the

visual aesthetics of our housing estates.

Further actions required

There are no required mitigation works in this regard to consider.

Positive impacts identified:

Safe communities and individuals

The project will deliver safe housing within Denbighshire fully complaint

Betws GG - Community Ground Source Heating Proposal

Page 12 of 16 Printed on 24/08/2022Page 242



with the WHQS

Community participation and resilience

Tenants will be informed and engaged with as part of the scheme to

ensure their voices are heard and training provided where necessary

The attractiveness of the area

The work will dramatically improve the aesthetics and desirability of the

county's housing estates

Connected communities

The project will engage and encourage connected communities via

community benefit schemes and integration with local community groups

Rural resilience

The project will deliver off grid power supplies and reduced on grid energy

demand, which has a positive impact to homes currently not connected to

the gas network as alternative heating systems will now be viable as a

direct result of the works.

Negative impacts identified:

Safe communities and individuals

There are no negative impacts in this regard

Community participation and resilience

There are no negative impacts in this regard

The attractiveness of the area

There are no negative impacts in this regard

Betws GG - Community Ground Source Heating Proposal

Page 13 of 16 Printed on 24/08/2022Page 243



Connected communities

There are no negative impacts in this regard

Rural resilience

There are no negative impacts in this regard

A Denbighshire of vibrant culture and thriving Welsh language

Overall Impact

Neutral

Justification for impact

As the project is construction related project only a neutral impact is deemed achievable, however

improvements in this area will be discussed

with successful contractors during each phase of the project.

Further actions required

This will be reviewed throughout the lifetime of the project and improvements adopted in negotiation

with each successful contractor.

Positive impacts identified:

People using Welsh

Contractors selected for the project will offer all communication bilingually

therefore encouraging people to embrace the language

Promoting the Welsh language

The project will endeavour to promote the Welsh language through tenant

liaison and contractor involvement

Betws GG - Community Ground Source Heating Proposal

Page 14 of 16 Printed on 24/08/2022Page 244



Culture and heritage

Home will be improved taking into consideration the local area and will be

sympathetic to original designs

Negative impacts identified:

People using Welsh

There are no negative impacts in this regard

Promoting the Welsh language

There are no negative impacts in this regard

Culture and heritage

There are no negative impacts in this regard

A globally responsible Denbighshire

Overall Impact

Positive

Justification for impact

The project aims to deliver homes which reduces carbon and improves energy efficiency to meet

both corporate and national WG decarb targets for social housing.

Further actions required

Carbon off setting by planting trees through community benefit schemes will be promoted during the

life time of the project as well as other

suitable innovative mitigation measures during the project.

Positive impacts identified:

Betws GG - Community Ground Source Heating Proposal

Page 15 of 16 Printed on 24/08/2022Page 245



Local, national, international supply chains

The use of local supply chains will be encouraged to reduce carbon

wherever possible.

Human rights

Contractors will be obliged to ensure they remain within the law when

conducting construction related actives for the council.

Broader service provision in the local area or the region

No broader services will not be affected as a direct result of this project.

Reducing climate change

The project centres around energy efficiency and carbon reduction across

the housing stock.

Negative impacts identified:

Local, national, international supply chains

Some materials can only be purchased via national/global supply routes.

Human rights

N/A

Broader service provision in the local area or the region

There are no negative impacts in this regard

Reducing climate change

There are no negative impacts in this regard

Betws GG - Community Ground Source Heating Proposal

Page 16 of 16 Printed on 24/08/2022Page 246



 

Report to Cabinet 

Date of meeting 18 October 2022 

Lead Member / Officer Gwyneth Ellis, Lead Member for Finance, Performance and 

Strategic Assets 

Report author Steve Gadd, Head of Finance 

Title Annual Treasury Management (TM) Report                           

2021/22 (Appendix 1)                                                                        

1 What is the report about? 

1.1 The report is about the Council’s investment and borrowing activity during 2021/22.  

It also provides details of the economic climate during that time and shows how the 

Council complied with its Prudential Indicators.  

1.2 The term ‘treasury management’ includes the management of the council’s 

borrowing, investments and cash flow. Approximately £0.5bn passes through the 

council’s bank accounts every year. The council’s outstanding borrowing at 31 March 

2022 was £234.7m at an average rate of 3.77% and the Council held £28.7m in 

investments at an average rate of 0.47%. 

2 What is the reason for making this report?   

2.1 The main purpose of this report is to update members on the performance of the 

treasury management function and to demonstrate compliance with treasury limits 

and Prudential Indicators during 2021/22. 

3 What are the Recommendations? 

3.1 That members note the performance of the Council’s Treasury Management function 

during 2021/22 and its compliance with the required Prudential Indicators as reported 

in the Annual TM Report 2021/22 (Appendix 1).  

 

Page 247

Agenda Item 9



 
 

3.2 That the Cabinet confirms that it has read, understood and taken account of the 

Wellbeing Impact Assessment (Appendix 2) as part of its consideration.  

4 Report details 

4.1 The report gives details of the Council’s treasury management activities and an 

overview of the economic background for the year.  The report also reports on the 

risk implications of treasury decisions and transactions and confirms compliance with 

treasury limits and Prudential Indicators.  

5 How does the decision contribute to the Corporate 
Priorities? 

5.1 Good investment and borrowing decisions allow additional resources to be directed 

to other Council services. 

6       What will it cost and how will it affect other services? 
 
6.1 Not applicable. 
 

7 What are the main conclusions of the Wellbeing Impact 
Assessment? 

7.1 Financial planning and decision making should ensure that proper regard is given to 

the requirements of the Wellbeing of Future Generations Act and in particular, proper 

consideration of the long term impact of financial decisions, including the payback 

period and whole life costs of capital investment decisions, properly impact assessed 

budget proposals and long term debt and investment (treasury management) 

strategies. The principles of prudence, affordability and sustainability are already 

enshrined within the requirements of the Prudential Code and should underpin 

financial planning and decision making.  

7.2 In the context of treasury management, the existing requirements to assess and 

report on the long term financial consequences of investment and borrowing 

decisions using prudential indicators and long-term debt planning support the 

sustainability goals of the Wellbeing Act.   

7.3 The Wellbeing Impact Assessment report is included in Appendix 2 which shows how 

an efficient Treasury Management strategy promotes the wellbeing goals of the Act.  

Page 248



 
 

8 What consultations have been carried out with Scrutiny 
and others? 

 
8.1 The Council has consulted with its treasury advisers, Arlingclose Ltd. 

8.2 The Governance and Audit Committee has been updated on Treasury Management 

activities throughout the year and has reviewed this report before its submission to 

Cabinet.  

9 Chief Finance Officer Statement 

9.1 Treasury Management involves looking after significant sums of cash so it is a vital 

part of the Council’s work. It requires a sound strategy and appropriate controls to 

safeguard the Council’s money, to ensure that debt is effectively and prudently 

managed and reasonable returns on investments are achieved. 

10 What risks are there and is there anything we can do to 
reduce them? 

10.1  Treasury Management is inherently risky but the Council is monitoring and controlling 

these risks as outlined in the main report.  However, it is impossible to eliminate these 

risks completely. The council’s treasury management strategy and procedures are 

audited annually and the latest internal audit review was positive with no significant 

issues raised.  

11     Power to make the Decision  

11.1  The Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) (Wales) Regulations require 

local authorities to have regard to the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and 

Accountancy’s Code of Practice on Treasury Management which determines the 

requirement for the Cabinet to receive an annual report on treasury activities for the 

previous financial year.  

 
 
 
 

Page 249



This page is intentionally left blank



 

   Page 1 

      
 
 

Appendix 1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

DENBIGHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
 
 
 
 

ANNUAL TREASURY MANAGEMENT 
REPORT 
2021/22 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Steve Gadd 
Head of Finance 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 251



 

   Page 2 

CONTENTS 
 
Section Title 
 
   
1  Background 
 
2  Economic Background 
 
3   Borrowing Activity 
 
4  Investment Activity 
 
5  Compliance with Prudential Indicators 
 
6  Money Laundering Update  
   

  Annex A - PWLB borrowing rates and UK Money Market rates 
 

  Annex B – Compliance with Prudential Indicators 2021/22 
 
  Annex C – Glossary 
 
 
    
 
   
 
   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 252



 

   Page 3 

1. Background 
 
1.1 The Council’s treasury management activity is underpinned by CIPFA’s 

Code of Practice on Treasury Management (“the Code”), which requires 
local authorities to produce Prudential Indicators annually and a Treasury 
Management Strategy Statement on the likely financing and investment 
activity. The Code also recommends that members are informed of treasury 
management activities at least twice a year.  Reports are presented twice a 
year to the Governance and Audit Committee which is the committee with 
responsibility for the scrutiny of the Council’s treasury policy, strategy and 
activity, as well as the annual report made to cabinet and the report to full 
council for approval of the annual treasury strategy.     

 
1.2 Treasury management is defined as: “The management of the local 

authority’s investments and cash flows, its banking, money market and 
capital market transactions; the effective control of the risks associated with 
those activities; and the pursuit of optimum performance consistent with 
those risks.”  

 
1.3 The Council has borrowed and invested substantial sums of money and is 

therefore exposed to financial risks including the loss of invested funds and 

the revenue effect of changing interest rates.  This report covers treasury 

activity and the associated monitoring and control of risk.  

 
2. Economic Background 
 
2.1 The continuing economic recovery from coronavirus pandemic, together with 

the war in Ukraine, higher inflation, and higher interest rates were major 

issues over the period. 

2.2 Bank Rate was 0.1% at the beginning of the reporting period.  April and May 

saw the economy gathering momentum as the shackles of the pandemic 

restrictions were eased.  Despite the improving outlook, market expectations 

were that the Bank of England would delay rate rises until 2022.  Rising, 

persistent inflation changed that. 

 

2.3 Having increased Bank Rate from 0.10% to 0.25% in December, the Bank of 

England hiked it further to 0.50% in February and 0.75% in March. At the 

meeting in February, the Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) voted 

unanimously to start reducing the stock of its asset purchase scheme by 

ceasing to reinvest the proceeds from maturing bonds as well as starting a 

programme of selling its corporate bonds. 

 

2.4 In its March interest rate announcement, the MPC noted that the invasion of 

Ukraine had caused further large increases in energy and other commodity 

prices, with the expectation that the conflict will worsen supply chain 

disruptions around the world and push CPI inflation to around 8% later in 

Page 253



 

   Page 4 

2022, even higher than forecast only a month before in the February 

Monetary Policy Report. The Committee also noted that although GDP in 

January was stronger than expected with business confidence holding up 

and the labour market remaining robust, consumer confidence had fallen 

due to the squeeze in real household incomes. 

 

3. Borrowing Activity 
 
3.1 The table below shows the level of the Council’s borrowing from the Public 

Works Loan Board (PWLB) at the start and the end of the year. 
 

 

Balance at 
01/04/2021 

£000 

Maturing 
loans  
£000 

Premature 
repayments 

£000 

New 
Borrowing 

£000 

Balance at 
31/03/2022 

£000 

Fixed rate loans – 
Public Works Loan 
Board (PWLB) 220,006 10,300 0 0 209,706 

Total borrowing  220,006 10,300 0 0 209,706 

 
3.2 The Council has been accessing temporary borrowing from other local 

authorities at very low rates to cover short-term cash flow requirements.  
 
3.3 As a result of this borrowing, the average rate on the Council’s debt 

decreased from 3.95% at 1 April 2021 to 3.77% at 31 March 2022.   
 
3.4 Annex A shows how interest rates for borrowing have moved over the 

course of the year. 
 
4. Investment Activity 

 
4.1 The Council held cash balances of £28.7m at the end of 2021/22. These 

represent the Council’s Balances and Reserves (after internal borrowing and 
working cash balances are accounted for) and also where money has been 
borrowed before capital expenditure is incurred.  

 
4.2 The Welsh Government’s Investment Guidance requires local authorities to 

focus on security (keeping the money safe) and liquidity (making sure the 
Council never runs out of cash) as the primary objectives of a prudent 
investment policy. The Council’s aim was to achieve a return on investments 
in line with these principles. The return is important but is a secondary 
consideration and the priority is the security of the sums invested.   

 
4.3 The table below shows the level of the Council’s investments at the start and 

the end of the year. 
 

 

Balance at 
01/04/2021 

£000 

Investments 
Raised 
£000 

Investments 
Repaid 
 £000 

Balance at 
31/03/2022 

£000 

Investments 17,800 375,600 364,700 28,700 

Page 254



 

   Page 5 

4.4 Security of capital remained the Council’s main investment objective.  This 

was maintained by following the Council’s counterparty policy as set out in 

its Treasury Management Strategy Statement for 2021/22 which defined 

“high credit quality” organisations as those having a long-term credit rating of 

A- or higher if domiciled in the UK or a foreign country with a sovereign 

rating of AA+ or higher.    

 

 Unsecured Bank Deposits 
 
4.5 Conventional bank deposits have become riskier because of a lower 

likelihood that the UK and other governments will support failing banks. As 
the Banking Reform Act 2014 was implemented in the UK from January 
2015, banks were no longer able to rely on government bail-outs if they got 
into difficulty. They would be required instead to bail themselves out by 
taking a proportion of investors’ deposits to build up their capital.  This new 
risk has been termed ‘bail-in’ risk and is potentially a greater risk to investors 
than the ‘bail-out’ risk of the past. 

 
4.6 Given the increasing risk and continued low returns from short-term 

unsecured bank investments, the Council has only held a minimal amount of 
investments for short-term cash flow purposes and has placed a far greater 
emphasis on investing with the UK Government’s Debt Management Office 
and other local authorities in order to minimise these risks. 
 
Credit Risk Management  

 
4.7 Counterparty credit quality was assessed and monitored with reference to 

the following: 
 

 credit ratings (minimum long-term counterparty rating of A- across rating 
agencies Fitch / S&P / Moody’s); 

 analysis of funding structure and susceptibility to bail-in; 

 credit default swap prices;   

 financial statements;  

 information on potential government support; 

 share prices. 
 
Liquidity Management  

 

4.8 In keeping with the WG’s Guidance on Investments, the Council maintained 

a sufficient level of liquidity through the use of overnight deposits and instant 

access call accounts. The Authority uses purpose-built cash flow forecasting 

software to determine the maximum period for which funds may prudently be 

committed.  

 
 
 
 

Page 255



 

   Page 6 

Yield  
 
4.9 The Council sought to achieve the best return balanced against its 

objectives of security and liquidity. The UK Bank Rate remained at 0.1% 
until December 2021 at which point it was increased to 0.25% with further 
increases to follow up to 0.50% in February and 0.75% in March. Short term 
money market rates remained at very low levels which had a significant 
impact on investment income. 

 
4.10 All investments made during the year complied with the Council’s agreed 

Treasury Management Strategy, Prudential Indicators, Treasury 
Management Practices and prescribed limits.  Maturing investments were 
repaid to the Council in full and in a timely manner.   

 
5. Compliance with Prudential Indicators 
  
5.1 The Council can confirm that it has complied with its Prudential Indicators for 

2021/22, which were set in February 2021 as part of the Council’s Treasury 
Management Strategy Statement.  Details can be found in Annex B. 

 
5.2 In compliance with the requirements of the CIPFA Code of Practice this 

report provides members with a summary report of the treasury 
management activity during 2021/22. None of the Prudential Indicators have 
been breached and a prudent approach has been taken in relation to 
investment activity with priority being given to security and liquidity over 
yield.     

 
6. Money Laundering Update 
  
6.1 The Council is alert to the possibility that it may become the subject of an 

attempt to involve it in a transaction involving the laundering of money.  
Accordingly, it has a Money Laundering Policy and maintains procedures for 
verifying and recording the identity of counterparties and reporting 
suspicions, and will ensure that relevant staff are properly trained. This 
policy is due to be reviewed and updated in view of new regulations.  

 
6.2 The Section 151 Officer is the Money Laundering Reporting Officer with the 

Deputy Section 151 Officer as the Deputy. There haven’t been any cases of 
money laundering reported since the start of Denbighshire to date and the 
risk to the Council is considered to be minimal.   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 256



 

   Page 7 

Annex A 
 
Interest Rates 2021/22 
 
Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) borrowing rates and UK Money Market rates 
during the year were: 
 
Example PWLB Borrowing rates (The rate at which the Council could borrow 
money from the Government) 
 

Start Date  
Length of 

Loan  

 1yr 19½-20 yrs 49½-50 yrs 
 % % % 

01-Apr-21 0.99 2.35 2.19 

30-Sep-21 1.18 2.37 2.17 

31-Mar-22 2.11 2.86 2.59 

 
Example Bank Rate, Money Market rates (The rate at which the Council could 
invest with banks) 
 

Date 

Bank 
Rate 

% 

7-day 
Investment 

Rates % 

1-month 
Investment 

Rates % 

6-month 
Investment 

Rates % 

01-Apr-21 0.10 0.05 0.02 0.09 

30-Sep-21 0.10 0.05 0.03 0.16 

31-Mar-22 0.75 0.70 0.61 1.33 

        
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 257



 

   Page 8 

Annex B 
 
Compliance with Prudential Indicators 2021/22 
 
1 Estimated and Actual Capital Expenditure  
 
1.1 This indicator is set to ensure that the level of proposed investment in capital 

assets remains within sustainable limits and, in particular, to consider the 
impact on the Council Tax and in the case of the HRA, housing rent levels.   

 

Capital Expenditure 

2021/22 
Estimated 

February 2021 
£000 

2021/22 
Revised 

February 2022 
£000 

2021/22 
Outturn 

March 2022 
£000 

Non-HRA 56,031 41,751 35,544 

HRA 20,663 24,448 15,715 

Total 76,694 66,199 51,259 

  
NB The figures for the February estimate were produced early in January but 

due to the nature of capital expenditure, some of the major schemes have 
slipped and this expenditure will now be incurred in 2022/23.  

  
2  Estimated and Actual Ratio of Financing Costs to Net Revenue Stream 
 
2.1 This is an indicator of affordability and demonstrates the revenue 

implications of capital investment decisions by highlighting the proportion of 
the revenue budget required to meet the borrowing costs associated with 
capital spending.  The financing costs include existing and proposed capital 
commitments. 
 

Ratio of Financing 
Costs to Net Revenue 
Stream 

2021/22 
Estimated 

February 2021 
£000 

2021/22 
Revised 

February 2022 
£000 

2021/22 
Outturn 

March 2022 
£000 

Financing Costs 15,246 15,515 15,515 

Net Revenue Stream 216,818 216,818 216,818 

Non-HRA Ratio 7.03% 7.16% 7.16% 

Financing Costs 6,498 6,219 5,807 

Net Revenue Stream 16,743 16,365 16,365 

HRA Ratio 38.81% 38.00% 35.48% 

   
3 Capital Financing Requirement 
 
3.1 The Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) measures the Council’s 

underlying need to borrow for a capital purpose.  In order to ensure that over 
the medium term net borrowing will only be for a capital purpose, the Council 
ensures that net external borrowing does not, except in the short term, 
exceed the CFR in the preceding year plus the estimates of any additional 
CFR for the current and next two financial years. Performance during 
2021/22 is demonstrated in the following table: 

Page 258



 

   Page 9 

 
 
  
 
   
 
 
 
 
 
NB  The outturn figures are taken from the pre-audited Statement of Accounts 

2021/22 so they may be subject to change. 
 
4  Authorised Limit and Operational Boundary for External Debt  
 
 Summary Table: 
 

2021/22 31/03/2022 
£000 

External Borrowing  234,706 

Internal Borrowing 53,147 

Operational Boundary 275,000 

Authorised Limit 280,000 

 
4.1 Operational Boundary: This limit is set to reflect the Council’s best view of 

the most likely prudent (i.e. not worst case) levels of borrowing activity. 
 
4.2 Authorised Limit: This is the maximum amount of external debt that can be 

outstanding at one time during the financial year. The limit, which is 
expressed gross of investments, is consistent with the Council’s existing 
commitments, proposals for capital expenditure and financing and with its 
approved treasury policy and strategy and also provides headroom over and 
above for unusual cash movements.     

  
4.3 The levels of debt are measured on an ongoing basis during the year for 

compliance with the Authorised Limit and the Operational Boundary.  The 
Council maintained its total external borrowing and other long-term liabilities 
within both limits; at its peak this figure was £243.7m.  In addition to external 
borrowing, the Council uses its own reserves and balances to fund capital 
expenditure and this is known as internal borrowing as shown in the table 
above.     

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Capital Financing 
Requirement  

2021/22 
Estimated  

February 2021 
£000 

2021/22 
Revised 

February 2022  
 £000 

2021/22 
Outturn  

March 2022 
£000 

Non-HRA 240,511 216,900 216,974 

HRA 84,394 76,251 70,879 

Total 324,905 293,151 287,853 

Borrowing 279,705 239,705 234,706 

Page 259



 

   Page 10 

5 Upper Limits for Fixed Interest Rate Exposure and Variable Interest 
Rate Exposure 

  
5.1 These indicators allow the Council to manage the extent to which it is 

exposed to changes in interest rates.  The exposures are calculated on a net 
basis i.e. fixed rate debt net of fixed rate investments.  The upper limit for 
variable rate exposure allows for the use of variable rate debt to offset 
exposure to changes in short-term rates on the portfolio of investments.   

  

 2021/22 
Estimated 

 
% 

2021/22 
Actual 

Peak Exposure 
% 

Upper Limit for Fixed Rate 
Exposure 

100 100 

Upper Limit for Variable 
Rate Exposure 

40 0 

 
6 Maturity Structure of Fixed Rate borrowing  
 
6.1 This indicator is to limit large concentrations of fixed rate debt needing to be 

replaced at times of uncertainty over interest rates and is designed to protect 
against excessive exposures to interest rate changes in any one period, in 
particular in the course of the next ten years.   

 
6.2 It is calculated as the amount of projected borrowing that is fixed rate 

maturing in each period as a percentage of total projected borrowing that is 
fixed rate.  

 

Maturity structure of 
fixed rate borrowing 

Upper 
limit 

 
 

% 

Lower 
limit 

 
 

% 

Actual 
Borrowing 

as at 
31/03/2022 

£000 

Percentage 
of total 
as at  

31/03/2022 
% 

under 12 months  30 0 32,563 13.87 

12 months and within 24 
months 

30 0 7,503 3.20 

24 months and within 5 
years 

30 0 21,209 9.04 

5 years and within 10 
years 

30 0 29,668 12.64 

10 years and above 100 50 143,762 61.25 

Total   234,705 100.00 

  
 
 
 
 
 

Page 260



 

   Page 11 

7 Total principal sums invested for periods longer than 364 days 
 

7.1 This indicator is set in order to allow the Council to manage the risk inherent 
in investments longer than 364 days. For 2021/22 this limit was set at £10m.  
The Council did not have any investments which exceeded 364 days during 
2021/22. 

 
8 Adoption of the CIPFA Treasury Management Code 
 
8.1 The Council confirms its adoption of the CIPFA Code of Treasury 

Management at its Council meeting on 26 March 2002.  The Council has 
incorporated the changes from the revised CIPFA Code of Practice into its 
treasury policies, procedures and practices. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 261



 

   Page 12 

Annex C 
 
GLOSSARY - Useful guide to Treasury Management Terms and Acronyms  
 
BANK OF ENGLAND UK’s Central Bank 
   
BANK RATE  Bank of England Interest Rate (also known as Base 

Rate)  
 
CPI     Consumer Price Index – a measure of the increase in  
    prices 
 
RPI     Retail Price Index – a measure of the increase in prices 
 
DMO  Debt Management Office – issuer of gilts on behalf of 

HM Treasury 
 
FSA Financial Services Authority - the UK financial watchdog 
  
GDP Gross Domestic Product – a measure of financial output 

of the UK 
 
LIBID  London Interbank Bid Rate - International rate that 

banks lend to other banks 
 
LIBOR   London Interbank Offer Rate – International rate that  
    banks borrow from other banks (the most widely used 
    benchmark or reference for short term interest rates) 
 
PWLB    Public Works Loan Board – a Government department 
    that lends money to Public Sector Organisations 
 
MPC Monetary Policy Committee - the committee of the Bank 

of England that sets the Bank Rate   
 
LONG TERM RATES More than 12 months duration 
 
SHORT TERM RATES Less than 12 months duration 
 
BOND (GENERAL) An investment in which an investor loans money to a 

public or private company that borrows the funds for a 
defined period of time at a fixed interest rate 

 
GOVERNMENT BOND A type of bond issued by a national government 

generally with a promise to pay periodic interest 
payments and to repay the face value on the maturity 
date 

 
CORPORATE BOND A type of bond issued by a corporation to raise money 

in order to expand its business 

Page 262



 

   Page 13 

COVERED BOND A corporate bond issued by a financial institution but 
with an extra layer of protection for investors whereby 
the investor has recourse to a pool of assets that 
secures or “covers” the bond if the financial institution 
becomes insolvent 

 
GILT A bond that is issued by the British government which is 

classed as a low risk investment as the capital 
investment is guaranteed by the government    

 
REPO A repurchase agreement involving the selling of a 

security (usually bonds or gilts) with the agreement to 
buy it back at a higher price at a specific future date 
For the party selling the security (and agreeing to 
repurchase it in the future) it is a REPO 
For the party on the other end of the transaction e.g. the 
local authority (buying the security and agreeing to sell 
in the future) it is a reverse REPO 

 
FTSE 100 Financial Times Stock Exchange 100 - An index 

composed of the 100 largest companies listed on the 
London Stock Exchange which provides a good 
indication of the performance of major UK companies 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 263



This page is intentionally left blank



Annual Treasury Management Report 2021/22:
Well-being Impact Assessment Report

This report summarises the likely impact of the proposal on the social, economic, environmental and

cultural well-being of Denbighshire, Wales and the world.

Assessment Number: 148

Brief description: A review of the Treasury Management activities for 2021/22

Date Completed: 05/09/2022 09:39:42 Version: 24

Completed by: Rhys Ifor Jones

Responsible Service: Finance

Localities affected by the proposal: Whole County,

Who will be affected by the proposal? Proposals have little or no direct impact on the vast

majority of residents as the strategy involves managing the Council's investments and borrowing.

Was this impact assessment completed as a group? No

Annual Treasury Management Report 2021/22

Page 1 of 15 Printed on 05/09/2022Page 265



Summary and Conclusion

Before we look in detail at the contribution and impact of the proposal, it is important to consider how

the proposal is applying the sustainable development principle. This means that we must act "in a

manner which seeks to ensure that the needs of the present are met without compromising the ability

of future generations to meet their own needs."

Score for the sustainability of the approach

2 out of 4 stars

Actual score : 23 / 36.

Summary for each Sustainable Development principle

Long term

The impact of this report is neutral in this particular area.

Prevention

The impact of this report is neutral in this particular area.

Integration

The impact of this report is neutral in this particular area.

Collaboration

The impact of this report is neutral in this particular area.

Involvement

The impact of this report is neutral in this particular area.

Summary of impact

Annual Treasury Management Report 2021/22

Page 2 of 15 Printed on 05/09/2022Page 266



Well-being Goals Overall Impact

A prosperous Denbighshire Positive

A resilient Denbighshire Positive

A healthier Denbighshire Neutral

A more equal Denbighshire Neutral

A Denbighshire of cohesive communities Neutral

A Denbighshire of vibrant culture and thriving Welsh language Neutral

A globally responsible Denbighshire Neutral

Main conclusions

An effective Treasury Management strategy ensures that the Council's investment and borrowing

decisions will contribute towards the goal of maximising income and minimising costs which

supports efficient service delivery.

Annual Treasury Management Report 2021/22

Page 3 of 15 Printed on 05/09/2022Page 267



The likely impact on Denbighshire, Wales and the world.

A prosperous Denbighshire

Overall Impact

Positive

Justification for impact

An effective Treasury Management strategy ensures that the Council's investment and borrowing

decisions will contribute towards the goal of maximising income and minimising costs which

supports efficient service delivery.

Further actions required

Sound financial planning and efficient long term treasury management strategies ensure that the

positive impact of this report on the County's prosperity is maximised.

Positive impacts identified:

A low carbon society

Not applicable

Quality communications, infrastructure and transport

Financial planning and decision making ensures that proper consideration of the long term impact of

financial decisions is given, including the payback period and whole life costs of capital investment

decisions, properly impact assessed budget proposals and long term debt and investment (treasury

management) strategies.

Economic development

The Treasury Management strategy and Prudential Indicators ensure that the Council's cash is

safeguarded as much as possible by making investments in banks recommended in the annual

strategy statement.

Annual Treasury Management Report 2021/22

Page 4 of 15 Printed on 05/09/2022Page 268



Quality skills for the long term

The strategy ensures that the Council's borrowing is monitored and is within set limits and is

affordable. It identifies current financing requirements for the Capital Plan and estimates the

proposed capital requirements for the next three financial years.

Quality jobs for the long term

Sound investment and borrowing decisions relating to the Council's cash will maximise the Council's

income within the guidelines set in the Treasury Management strategy.

Childcare

The Prudential Indicators are a statutory requirement which demonstrate the affordability of our plans

and contribute towards the overall financial wellbeing of Denbighshire.

Negative impacts identified:

A low carbon society

Not applicable

Quality communications, infrastructure and transport

Not applicable

Economic development

Not applicable

Quality skills for the long term

Not applicable

Quality jobs for the long term

Not applicable

Annual Treasury Management Report 2021/22

Page 5 of 15 Printed on 05/09/2022Page 269



Childcare

Not applicable

A resilient Denbighshire

Overall Impact

Positive

Justification for impact

A sound Treasury Management strategy ensures that the Council's cash is secure and new

borrowing is affordable. It also enables the Council to react quickly to market volatility by continual

monitoring of the financial institutions throughout the year.

Further actions required

Good investment decisions will help the Council to develop more efficient working practices which

will use less resources which will help to maximise the positive impact of this report on the County's

resilience.

Positive impacts identified:

Biodiversity and the natural environment

Not applicable

Biodiversity in the built environment

Not applicable

Reducing waste, reusing and recycling

Good investment decisions will help the Council to develop more efficient working practices which

will use less resources.

Annual Treasury Management Report 2021/22

Page 6 of 15 Printed on 05/09/2022Page 270



Reduced energy/fuel consumption

The strategy is set at the start of the financial year but it is monitored carefully throughout the year to

ensure that the Council reacts quickly to any market volatility and the impact on the banking

institutions.

People’s awareness of the environment and biodiversity

Not applicable

Flood risk management

Not applicable

Negative impacts identified:

Biodiversity and the natural environment

Not applicable

Biodiversity in the built environment

Not applicable

Reducing waste, reusing and recycling

Not applicable

Reduced energy/fuel consumption

Not applicable

People’s awareness of the environment and biodiversity

Not applicable

Flood risk management

Not applicable

Annual Treasury Management Report 2021/22

Page 7 of 15 Printed on 05/09/2022Page 271



A healthier Denbighshire

Overall Impact

Neutral

Justification for impact

Proposals have little or no direct impact on the vast majority of residents as the strategy involves

managing the Council's investments and borrowing.

Further actions required

The impact of this report is neutral in this particular area so this is not applicable.

Positive impacts identified:

A social and physical environment that encourage and support health and well-being

Not applicable

Access to good quality, healthy food

Not applicable

People’s emotional and mental well-being

Not applicable

Access to healthcare

Not applicable

Participation in leisure opportunities

The strategy contributes to the overall financial health of Denbighshire and therefore supports the

delivery of the annual budget.

Annual Treasury Management Report 2021/22

Page 8 of 15 Printed on 05/09/2022Page 272



Negative impacts identified:

A social and physical environment that encourage and support health and well-being

Not applicable

Access to good quality, healthy food

Not applicable

People’s emotional and mental well-being

Not applicable

Access to healthcare

Not applicable

Participation in leisure opportunities

Not applicable

A more equal Denbighshire

Overall Impact

Neutral

Justification for impact

A good treasury management strategy contributes to the overall financial resilience of the Council

and supports the on-going work of the Authority without impacting on residents.

Further actions required

The impact of this report is neutral in this particular area so this is not applicable.

Positive impacts identified:

Annual Treasury Management Report 2021/22

Page 9 of 15 Printed on 05/09/2022Page 273



Improving the well-being of people with protected characteristics. The nine protected
characteristics are: age; disability; gender reassignment; marriage or civil partnership;
pregnancy and maternity; race; religion or belief; sex; and sexual orientation

Not applicable

People who suffer discrimination or disadvantage

Not applicable

People affected by socio-economic disadvantage and unequal outcomes

An efficient treasury management strategy contributes to the financial resilience of the Council and

supports service delivery.

Areas affected by socio-economic disadvantage

Not applicable

Negative impacts identified:

Improving the well-being of people with protected characteristics. The nine protected
characteristics are: age; disability; gender reassignment; marriage or civil partnership;
pregnancy and maternity; race; religion or belief; sex; and sexual orientation

Not applicable

People who suffer discrimination or disadvantage

Not applicable

People affected by socio-economic disadvantage and unequal outcomes

Not applicable

Areas affected by socio-economic disadvantage

Not applicable

Annual Treasury Management Report 2021/22

Page 10 of 15 Printed on 05/09/2022Page 274



A Denbighshire of cohesive communities

Overall Impact

Neutral

Justification for impact

A good treasury management strategy contributes to the overall financial resilience of the Council

and supports the on-going work of the Authority without impacting on residents.

Further actions required

The impact of this report is neutral in this particular area so this is not applicable.

Positive impacts identified:

Safe communities and individuals

Not applicable

Community participation and resilience

Not applicable

The attractiveness of the area

Not applicable

Connected communities

Not applicable

Rural resilience

Not applicable

Negative impacts identified:

Annual Treasury Management Report 2021/22

Page 11 of 15 Printed on 05/09/2022Page 275



Safe communities and individuals

Not applicable

Community participation and resilience

Not applicable

The attractiveness of the area

Not applicable

Connected communities

Not applicable

Rural resilience

Not applicable

A Denbighshire of vibrant culture and thriving Welsh language

Overall Impact

Neutral

Justification for impact

A good treasury management strategy contributes to the overall financial resilience of the Council

and supports the on-going work of the Authority. It has no direct impact on the language and the

culture because any treasury management decisions are based on the treasury strategy and advice

from financial consultants.

Further actions required

The impact of this report is neutral in this particular area so this is not applicable.

Annual Treasury Management Report 2021/22

Page 12 of 15 Printed on 05/09/2022Page 276



Positive impacts identified:

People using Welsh

Not applicable

Promoting the Welsh language

Not applicable

Culture and heritage

Not applicable

Negative impacts identified:

People using Welsh

Not applicable

Promoting the Welsh language

Not applicable

Culture and heritage

Not applicable

A globally responsible Denbighshire

Overall Impact

Neutral

Justification for impact

A good treasury management strategy contributes to the overall financial resilience of the Council

and supports the on-going work of the Authority. It has no direct impact on the local area.

Annual Treasury Management Report 2021/22

Page 13 of 15 Printed on 05/09/2022Page 277



Further actions required

The impact of this report is neutral in this particular area so this is not applicable.

Positive impacts identified:

Local, national, international supply chains

Not applicable

Human rights

All investments are undertaken from national institutions in line with the strategy and financial advice.

The strategy determines the institutions with the minimum credit rating which the Authority is

permitted to invest with.

Broader service provision in the local area or the region

All borrowing is undertaken from central Government as detailed in the strategy and in line with other

local authorities.

Reducing climate change

Not applicable

Negative impacts identified:

Local, national, international supply chains

Not applicable

Human rights

Not applicable

Broader service provision in the local area or the region

Not applicable

Annual Treasury Management Report 2021/22

Page 14 of 15 Printed on 05/09/2022Page 278



Reducing climate change

Not applicable

Annual Treasury Management Report 2021/22

Page 15 of 15 Printed on 05/09/2022Page 279



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Report to Cabinet 

Date of meeting 18th October 2022 

Lead Member / Officer Councillor Gwyneth Ellis, Lead Member for Finance, 

Performance and Strategic Assets / Steve Gadd, Head of 

Finance and Property 

Report author Steve Gadd, Head of Finance and Property 

Title Finance Report (September 2022/23) 

1. What is the report about? 

The report gives details of the council’s revenue budget and savings as agreed for 

2022/23. The report also provides a summary update of the Capital Plan as well as the 

Housing Revenue Account and Housing Capital Plan. 

2. What is the reason for making this report? 

The purpose of the report is to provide an update on the council’s current financial position 

and confirm the agreed service budgets for 2022/23.  

3. What are the Recommendations? 

3.1 Members note the budgets set for 2022/23 and progress against the agreed strategy. 

3.2 Members approve the plans to spend a Schools’ capital grant (£1.799m) to improve 

ventilation, supporting decarbonisation and reducing backlog maintenance in schools 

as detailed in section 6.9 and Appendix 5. 

Page 281

Agenda Item 10



 
 

4. Report details 

The report provides a summary of the council’s revenue budget for 2022/23 detailed in 

Appendix 1. The council’s net revenue budget is £233.696m (£216.818m in 21/22).  The 

position on service and corporate budgets is a forecast overspend of £2.661m (£1.953m 

overspend last month). Narrative around the current risks and assumptions underlying this 

assessment are outlined in Section 6 and Appendix 2. 

The 2022/23 budget required service savings and efficiencies of £0.754m to be identified 

and agreed as detailed below: 

 Fees and Charges inflated in line with agreed Fees and Charges policy (£0.120m).  

 Operational efficiencies (£0.634m) mostly identified by services throughout the year 

and within Head Service delegated responsibility in consultation with Lead 

Members.  

 No savings were requested from Community Support Services or Schools. 

 

The operational savings and fees and charges increases are assumed to have been 

achieved.  

5. How does the decision contribute to the Corporate 

Priorities? 

Effective management of the council’s revenue and capital budgets and delivery of the 

agreed budget strategy underpins activity in all areas, including corporate priorities. 

6. What will it cost and how will it affect other services? 

Significant service narratives explaining variances and risks are detailed in Appendix 2, 

however the following should also be noted:  

6.1  Impact of Corona Virus and Inflation - We continue to claim for payments to Self-

isolation and Statutory Sick Pay Enhancement payments, along with Free School Meals 

direct payments. A contingency of £1.9m was agreed as part of the budget for 22/23 to 

fund any ongoing impact of the pandemic which cannot be claimed from WG this year, and 

in recognition of the increases in inflation at the time the budget was set. Early indications 

Page 282



 
 

are that whilst the risk due to Covid has diminished considerably, the inflationary risk has 

increased largely due to the war in Ukraine. The position will continue to be monitored 

closely over the coming months. 

6.2  Corporate Budgets – It is currently estimated that corporate non-inflationary related 

contingencies amounting to £417m will be available to be released. Details relating to 

other risks are still being analysed:  

 Pay settlements for 2022/23 – although ‘final offers’ have been made the pay 

settlement for non-teachers and teachers have yet to be agreed 

 Call on contingencies relating to energy and other inflationary pressures (see 6.1) 

These will be monitored closely over the coming months. 

6.3  Education and Children’s Service – The current outturn prediction is £2.416m 

overspend (previously £2.457m).  Although an additional pressure of £750k was accepted 

as part of the agreed budget for 2022/23 this remains an area of concern. The majority of 

the pressure (£1.8m) relate to residential and independent fostering placements, which 

have either commenced early this financial year or are now projected to continue longer 

than previously predicted. The Out-of-County income budget pressure of £584k is due to a 

reduction in number of pupils from other Councils attending DCC facilities.  

6.4  Community Support Service – Although an additional pressure of £3.127m was 

included in the budget for 2022/23 this service area remains a high risk area. As 

highlighted in previous reports a service cash reserve of £2.440m was available to help 

fund any in year pressures. The service is now anticipating having to use all this cash 

reserve to fund in-year pressures in 2022/23 and still overspend by £606k (see Appendix 2 

for details).  

6.5  Schools - The budget agreed by Council for 2022/23 included a total net additional 

investment (excluding increases in Welsh Government grants) in schools delegated 

budgets of just over £4.4m. The latest projection for school balances to be carried forward 

into 2023/24 is a net credit balance of £6.430m, which represents a decrease of £6.018m 

on the balances brought forward into 2022/23 of £12.448m. The movement is as expected 

as the movement last year largely related to the receipt of one-off funding and one-off 

savings relating to schools being closed for much of the year and, in particular, a number 

of large grants were received at the end of March. The grants are now projected to be 

Page 283



 
 

spent this financial year on the catch-up and Covid recovery programme in schools. There 

is a small underspend of £108k on non-delegated school budgets.                                                                                

6.6  The Housing Revenue Account (HRA).  The latest revenue position assumes a 

decrease in balances at year end of £570k which is £566k more than the £4k at the time 

the budget was approved. The movement relates to a reduction in estimated rental 

income. HRA balances are therefore forecast to be £1.486m at the end of the year. The 

HRA Capital budget of £31m is largely allocated between planned improvements to 

existing housing stock (£18m) and new build developments and acquisitions (£13m).  

6.7  Treasury Management – At the end of September, the council’s borrowing totalled 

£247.391m at an average rate of 3.78%. Investment balances were £23.3m at an average 

rate of 1.76%.  

6.8  A summary of the council’s Capital Plan is enclosed as Appendix 3. The approved 

capital plan is £69.6m with expenditure to date of £11.4m. Appendix 4 provides an update 

on the major projects included in the overall Capital Plan. The Capital Plan contingency 

was increased by £1.676m to £2.176m (up from the £0.500m agreed in February) due to 

carrying forward the unhypothecated element of a capital grant received from WG in 

March. After an allocation made to the Waste Project, the contingency level at £1m will 

help mitigate the risks to the overall programme of the impact of inflation on capital costs. 

6.9  The Budget Board has reviewed and support a business case for spending a £1.799m 

capital grant from Welsh Government. The proposal is to improve ventilation, supporting 

decarbonisation and reducing backlog maintenance in schools. The proposals are detailed 

in Appendix 5 and recommended in 3.2. 

7. What are the main conclusions of the Well-being Impact 

Assessment?  

A Well-being Impact Assessments for the Council Tax rise was presented to Council on 25 

January. 

 

Page 284



 
 

8. What consultations have been carried out with Scrutiny 

and others? 

In addition to regular reports to the Corporate Governance Committee, the budget process 

has been considered by SLT, Cabinet Briefing, Group Leaders and Council Briefing 

meetings. The School Budget Forum have been included in the proposals through-out the 

year. Trade Unions have been consulted through Local Joint Consultative Committee. The 

Covid pandemic has continued to impact on the level of consultation and engagement with 

the public, however plans are in place to engage early with all stakeholders during the 

budget process for 2023/24. 

9. Chief Finance Officer Statement 

Specific pressures remain evident in social care budgets, both Adults’ and Children’s. 

Significant investment has gone into these areas in recent years and it is expected that 

that need will continue. Initial pressures have already been included in the Medium Term 

Financial Plan and these will be kept under review, while the pressure for both services will 

need to be closely monitored and reviewed in the coming months. These issues, along 

with inflationary pressures across all services, are becoming increasingly hard to finance 

as our funding fails to keep up with inflationary, service and demographic pressures. 

10. What risks are there and is there anything we can do to 

reduce them? 

This remains a very challenging financial period and there is still uncertainty around the 

ongoing inflationary increases, Brexit and the financial strategy of the UK government in 

dealing with the long term financial impact on the public finances of the response to Covid, 

the cost of living crisis and recent announcements about tax policy. Although the financial 

outlook looks uncertain, our finances are in a healthy position for 22/23 and a robust 3/5 

year budget process to help meet the challenges ahead has recently been approved by 

SLT, CET, Cabinet and scrutinised by the Governance and Audit Committee. 

11. Power to make the decision 

Local authorities are required under Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972 to 

make arrangements for the proper administration of their financial affairs.  

Page 285



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1

Net Budget Variance

Sep-22 2021/22 Expenditure Income Net Expenditure Income Net Expenditure Income Net Net Previous 
Report

 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 % £'000

Communities and Customers 3,263 4,160 -851 3,309 5,495 -2,185 3,310 1,335 -1,334 1 0.03% 0
Education and Children's Service 17,802 34,509 -15,989 18,520 31,325 -10,389 20,936 -3,184 5,600 2,416 13.05% 2,457
Business Improvement and Modernisation 4,593 6,262 -1,121 5,141 6,782 -1,716 5,066 520 -595 -75 -1.46% -76 
Legal, HR and Democratic Services 2,364 4,152 -1,632 2,520 4,028 -1,601 2,427 -124 31 -93 -3.69% -57 
Finance and Property 5,744 10,537 -4,640 5,897 9,114 -3,225 5,889 -1,423 1,415 -8 -0.14% -14 
Highways and Environmental Services 15,730 28,827 -12,257 16,570 26,230 -9,484 16,746 -2,597 2,773 176 1.06% 42
Planning and Public Protection 9,562 17,608 -7,312 10,296 18,492 -8,152 10,340 884 -840 44 0.43% 12
Community Support Services 39,854 63,699 -20,399 43,300 62,315 -18,409 43,906 -1,384 1,990 606 1.40% 0
Leisure - Retained Budgets 3,255 3,393 0 3,393 3,404 0 3,404 11 0 11 0.32% 11
Total Services 102,167 173,147 -64,201 108,946 167,185 -55,161 112,024 -5,962 9,040 3,078 2.83% 2,375

Corporate 18,474 51,034 -29,271 21,763 50,803 -29,457 21,346 -231 -186 -417 -1.92% -422 
Precepts & Levies 5,060 5,381 0 5,381 5,381 0 5,381 0 0 0 0.00% 0
Capital Financing 15,176 15,956 0 15,956 15,956 0 15,956 0 0 0 0.00% 0
Total Corporate 38,710 72,371 -29,271 43,100 72,140 -29,457 42,683 -231 -186 -417 -0.97% -422 

Council Services & Corporate Budget 140,877 245,518 -93,472 152,046 239,325 -84,618 154,707 -6,193 8,854 2,661 1.75% 1,953

Schools & Non-delegated School Budgets 75,941 91,349 -9,699 81,650 96,178 -8,619 87,559 4,829 1,080 5,909 7.24% 5,056

Total Council Budget 216,818 336,867 -103,171 233,696 335,503 -93,237 242,266 -1,364 9,934 8,570 3.67% 7,009

Housing Revenue Account 653 17,585 -17,581 4 17,677 -17,107 570 92 474 566 566

Budget 2022/23 Projected Outturn

DENBIGHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL REVENUE BUDGET 2022/23

P
age 287



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 2 - Service Variance Narrative

Service

Variance 
Last 

Month
£000

Variance 
This 

Month
£000

Change
£000

Description

Communities and Customers 0 1 1 No significant variances to report

Education and Children's Service 2,457 2,416 -41
See body of report for summary.
All residential and fostering placements have been costed to realistic timescales however no allowance has been made for any further placements 
throughout the year. The slight decrease from last month relates to confirmation of grant monies.

Business Improvement and Modernisation -76 -75 1 Underspend due to a vacancy savings. 

Legal, HR and Democratic Services -57 -93 -36 Underspend due to a number of temporary vacancy savings, further increased this month.

Finance and Property -14 -8 6 The underspend relates to the net impact of temporary vacancy savings due to a number of retirements within finance.

Highways, Facilities and Environmental 
Services

42 176 134

A review of the budgeted arrangements within the Streetscene is currently ongoing to help streamline processes (e.g. removal of timesheets to 
help free up officer time). Waste service in particular relies on grant income which have yet to be confirmed by Welsh Government so remains a 
risk. The movement relates to a review of the position with regard to Major Projects, which do change month on month in response to external 
work planned, and increased costs relating to street lighting. Obviously detailed monitoring will continue.

Planning and Public Protection 12 44 32

The overspend relates to planning income which, although has recovered over recent months, is still below pre-pandemic levels. Vancy savings 
have reduced as some apointments have been made earlier than initially predicted. This will be monitored closely over coming months. Risks 
remain around School Transport however following the approval of a £0.500m pressure as part of the 22/23 budget process it is hoped that this 
area will remain in a break even position but we should know more next month as the new contracts come in.

Community Support Services 0 606 606
See body of report for summary.
The main reason for the movement relates to additional high cost placements in Specialist Services – Complex Disabilities. 

Leisure - ADM 11 11 0 The movement relates to minor variances.

Corporate & Miscellaneous -422 -417 5 See body of report for details

Precepts & Levies 0 0 0 See body of report for details

Capital Financing 0 0 0
The position on capital financing is very much related to progress on capital projects and variances do not crystallise until the final outturn is 
known. In previous years any underspend on this budget has been carried forward to help support the capital programme. With the level of 
overspend curently being reported it is umlikely that this will be possible this year. 

Council Services & Corporate Budget 1,953 2,661 708

P
age 289



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Denbighshire County Council  - Capital Plan 2021/22 - 2024/25 APPENDIX  3
Position to end SEPTEMBER 2022

2021/22 2022/23 2022/23 

OUTTURN ORIGINAL LATEST

POSITION ESTIMATE ESTIMATE

£000s £000s £000s

Capital Expenditure

Total Estimated Payments  - Other 21,254 23,771 45,008

Total Estimated Payments - Major Projects:

Housing Improvement Grants 1,210 1,200 1,565
Highways Maintenance 4,109 4,710 7,495
East Rhyl Coastal Defence Scheme 5,137 3,575 2,333
Rhyl Queens Market Redevelopment 1,682 3,493 6,403
Waste Service Remodelling 2,152 11,428 5,811

Contingency 500 1,014
Total 35,544 48,677 69,629

Capital Financing

External Funding 20,482 19,399 40,266
Receipts and Reserves 5,223 7,944 11,071
Prudential Borrowing  9,839 21,334 18,292
Unallocated Funding 0 0 0

Total Capital Financing 35,544 48,677 69,629

Note: 2022-23 Original Estimate is the position as approved by Council on 22nd February 2022

P
age 291



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 4 - Major Capital Projects Update – September 2022 

 
 

Rhyl Queens Market Redevelopment 

Total Budget £13.232m 

Expenditure to date £7.033m 

Estimated remaining spend in 22/23 £3.899m 

Future Years estimated spend £2.300m 

Funding WG £8.060m DCC Asbestos £0.272m. DCC 
£4.900m 

Narrative: 
 
Construction commenced on Monday 15 August by Wynne Construction and is scheduled to 
finish June 28th 2023. 
Currently in the process of looking to procure an operator to run the facility once developed. 
Hoping to go out to the Market Mid to late October. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
. 

Forecast In Year Expenditure 22/23 £6.403m 

 
  

Page 293



Waste Service Re-modelling 

Total Budget £20.495m 

Expenditure to date £6.221m 

Estimated remaining spend in 22/23 £5.839m 

Future Years estimated spend £8.435m 

Funding WG £11.132m, DCC £9.363m 

Narrative: 
 

A number of work streams are being taken forward including: 
 

 Development of a new single central waste transfer station depot on land adjacent to the 
Colomendy Industrial Estate in Denbigh. The Phase 1 enabling works contract commenced 
on site on July 5th 2021 and completed on April 14th 2022. A Contract has now been awarded 
for the Phase 2 works to complete construction of the new waste transfer station. Works on 
Phase 2 commenced on site on August 15th 2022 and anticipated to take 12 months with the 
new site ready to support a subsequent roll out of the proposed new service model from the 
autumn of 2023 – the precise dates for roll out to be confirmed and dependant on issue of a 
permit to operate the depot from NRW. 

 
 Specification and procurement of the new fleet required to support the new model has 

been completed with delivery of this new fleet anticipated to commence c. 3 months prior 
to roll out of the new service 

 
 Procurement of the new containers required for the new collections model are ongoing, 

with the main order for the trolley boxes for the recyclate anticipated to be awarded 
Autumn 2022 

 
 A number of mobilisation and communication activities are ongoing to prepare for the 

service change and include developing the new collection routes; planning for any staffing 
changes/requirements and ongoing engagement and communication with stakeholders and 
residents 

 

Forecast In Year Expenditure 22/23 £6.563m 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 294



 

1 | P a g e  
 

 
BUSINESS CASE – CAPITAL INVESTMENT 

 

This Business Case provides justification for undertaking a project. The completed form will be reviewed 
by the Budget Board who will make a recommendation to Council whether the bid should be approved 
and included within the Capital Plan.  All sections should be completed and evidence of costs will need 
to be supplied. 

 

For details of Budget Board Meeting and deadlines for the submission of this form, please contact Sian 
Jackson / Val Holland , Capital & Technical Finance Team on ext  71 2594 or 6144 

 
 

PROJECT TYPE 
 

Please categorise your project type.  Mark one box only. 
 

SMALL x  MEDIUM   LARGE  

 
 

 
 
DECISION SOUGHT FROM SIG: 
 
 

Approval of outline spending for the Capital Grant received 
from the Welsh Government towards Improving 
Ventilation, Supporting Decarbonisation and Reducing 
Backlog Maintenance in Schools (reference M-DEN-0001). 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Project Name: 
 

Schools Maintenance, Ventilation and Decarbonisation 
Grant – Welsh Government 

Project Reference:  

Project Manager: 
 

Andrew Ward / James Curran 

Workstream/Programme: 
 

Property / Education Support 

Head of Service/Project Sponsor 
 

Geraint Davies Lead member: Cllr Gwyneth Ellis / 
Cllr Gill German 

Service: 
 

Education and 
Children’s services 

LM Portfolio: Facilities, Assets & 
Housing / 
Education  

Form completed by: 
 

Isobel Bourke-
Richardson 

Date: 
 

Sept 2022 

Service Accountant: 
 

 Date:  

Page 295



 

2 | P a g e  
 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
Highlights the key points in the Business Case to include:- 
 

 what the project will achieve / important benefits 

 estimated costs 

 how the project will be funded 

 
 

The Council were notified in December 2021 that they had been awarded £1,799,392 by the Welsh 
Government (WG) for Improving Ventilation, Supporting Decarbonisation and Reducing Backlog 
Maintenance in Schools.  This money was to be spent by the 31st March 2023. 
 
Of the total grant allocation, £80,841 is to be focused on projects to improve ventilation, where poor 
ventilation has been identified through CO2 monitoring. The remaining funding is allocated as capital 
maintenance grant and is to improve ventilation, support decarbonisation and reduce backlog 
maintenance in schools. 
 
In 2020 and 2021 the Council received £1.487m and £1.716m respectively from the previous schools 
capital maintenance grant from WG. 
 
A review of all school sites was undertaken by the Energy Team in order to identify suitable 
decarbonisation project proposals (see Appendix 1). All schools were also requested to identify 
priority areas for support and these are reflected in the proposals for maintenance works.  In 
addition, this funding will be used to address the existing maintenance backlog and will complement 
the funding allocated in the block allocations (see Appendix 1 for a draft priority list of maintenance 
works – this will be developed further over the coming months-all costs are currently estimates).  
 
In terms of the ventilation element of the allocated funding, in February 2022 all Denbighshire 
schools were requested to take part in a 2 week CO2 monitoring exercise in order to identify schools 
where ventilation works should be prioritised. A piece of work is now being undertaken to establish 
the scope of works required at the sites with the highest readings in order to improve the ventilation 
and an amount of the funding will be set aside to cover these works. 
 
Given the volatile nature of the market contingencies have been allocated for each priority area of 
the grant however these contingency could be reallocated across the three priority areas to reflect 
emerging issues. 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 296



 

3 | P a g e  
 

BUSINESS OPTIONS  
 
Analysis and reasoned recommendation for the base business options of: do nothing / do the minimal 
or do something.  
 
You must include an environmentally enhanced (net carbon zero/ecologically positive compatible) 
option. If your project is a business development project, then this may not be relevant. 

 

Option 1: Do nothing – maintain the existing situation  

Please provide brief details: 

The authority could reject the grant offer.  This would reduce the capital available for investment in the 
County’s School estate and would not address any issues regarding ventilation, decarbonisation or 
backlog of maintenance in schools. 

Please mark with an X how this option compares with the preferred option in terms of Cost, 
Time, Quality and Benefits: 

Costs Costs more  Time Takes longer to 
deliver 

x 

Costs the same  Takes the same to 
deliver 

 

Costs less x Is quicker to deliver  

Quality Improves the quality  Benefits Improves benefits  

Is the same quality  No impact on 
benefits 

 

Is a lower quality x Worsens benefits x 

What is the main reason this option has not been selected? 

 
This option would have no benefits to the local authority. 

 

 
 

Option 2: Environmentally enhanced option 

Please provide brief details: 

This option would ensure all works done under this grant would be carbon neutral and support the 
Council’s goal to become Net Carbon Zero by 2030 
 

Please mark with an X how this option compares with the preferred option in terms of Cost, 
Time, Quality and Benefits: 

Costs Costs more X Time Takes longer to 
deliver 

X 

Costs the same  Takes the same to 
deliver 

 

Costs less  Is quicker to deliver  

Quality Improves the quality  Benefits Improves benefits  

Is the same quality X No impact on 
benefits 

X 

Is a lower quality  Worsens benefits  

What is the main reason this option has not been selected? 

 
 This grant covers a diverse range of work areas that will be considered and although some will focus 
on decarbonisation not all will have an environmentally enhanced options available. The project will 
impact on numerous sites with minor investments, some of the investment areas are expected to have 
no significant impact on energy/ carbon emissions. 

Page 297



 

4 | P a g e  
 

 

  
 

Option 3: Include within general Schools Maintenance Budget 

Please provide brief details: 

 
The option remains to subsume the allocation within the general allocation for schools maintenance.  
This option could see other funding displaced and no overall impact made on the condition of school 
buildings. This would also go against the wishes of the Welsh Government who have requested that 
this funding is also used to improve ventilation and decarbonisation of the school estate. 

Please mark with an X how this option compares with the preferred option in terms of Cost, 
Time, Quality and Benefits: 

Costs Costs more  Time Takes longer to 
deliver 

X 

Costs the same  Takes the same to 
deliver 

 

Costs less X Is quicker to deliver  

Quality Improves the quality  Benefits Improves benefits  

Is the same quality  No impact on 
benefits 

 

Is a lower quality X Worsens benefits X 

What is the main reason this option has not been selected? 

This option would not meet the spirit of the grant from the Welsh Government and would not make any 
additional impact on addressing the backlog of maintenance, improving ventilation or decarbonisation 
of the school estate. 
  

 
 
 
 
 

  

Page 298



 

5 | P a g e  
 

EXPECTED BENEFITS  
 
The benefits that the project will deliver expressed in measurable terms against the situation as it exists 
prior to the project. Remember to capture co-benefits (the added benefits we get from this 
action/project as well as the direct benefits it will realise). 

 
 

 
The use of the £1.799m in the intended form would assist in making improvements to the school estate by 
addressing existing areas of the maintenance backlog, improving ventilation in those schools identified as 
being most at in need based the CO2 monitoring period and undertaking projects to reduce carbon emissions 
from our school sites.  The Council’s approach to the management of the school estate via major works funded 
by the Sustainable Communities for Learning Programme and through the Maintenance Programme is 
ensuring investment is targeted in areas of greatest need. Additionally, the focus on delivering projects which 
will result in decarbonisation of the school estate will also support the aims of becoming a net carbon zero 
authority by 2030. 
 
 

 
EXPECTED DIS-BENEFITS  
Outcomes perceived as negative by one or more stakeholders 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
  

Page 299



 

6 | P a g e  
 

TIMESCALE  
Over which the project will run (summary of the Project Plan) and the period over which the 
benefits will be realised 

 

Date Milestone 

October 2022 Commencement of programme 

March 2023 Aimed Completion of Programme 

  

  

  
 

CAPITAL COSTS – CONSTRUCTION PROJECTS 
 

COMPLETE ALL THREE TABLES BELOW FOR CONSTRUCTION PROJECTS 
LEAVE BLANK/DELETE SECTION FOR BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT PROJECTS 
 

The capital cost of a project is an important consideration in terms of whether or not it should proceed. 
 

 Any costs relating to ICT infrastructure and equipment should have been provided by ICT 
department. 

 Any costs that relate to construction should have been provided by Design & Development or 
Building Services. 

 

Please provide details of any capital funding that has already been spent on the project: 
 

Enter details of cost element below: 
 

Total 

Feasibility (surveys, market research, etc)  

Client side project management  

OTHER (please enter)  

OTHER (please enter)  

TOTAL  
 

Please provide details of the capital funding requirement (not including amount already spent): 
 

Enter details of cost element below: 
 

2022/23 2023/24 Future 
Years 

All Years 
Total 

Feasibility (surveys, market research, etc) Please see 
Appendix 1 

for 
estimated 

costs 

   

Client side project management     

Land/property acquisition     

Land preparation/remediation     

Demolition and/or site security     

Construction, refurbishment or maintenance     

BREEAM rating of “Excellent”     

Security measures (CCTV, door entry, etc)     

Fire prevention measures (sprinklers, etc)     

External landscaping and other works     

Land/property acquisition     

Highways work     

ICT infrastructure and hardware     

Fixtures & fittings     

Page 300



 

7 | P a g e  
 

Furniture     

Planning/Building Regulation Costs     

Design Team Fees (architects, QS, etc)     

Legal Costs and Fees     

Marketing/Consultation     

External Project Support (eg gateway review)     

OTHER (please enter)     

OTHER (please enter)     

OTHER (please enter)     

OTHER (please enter)     

TOTAL     

 
 
 
 
 
 

Please provide details of proposed capital funding sources 
 

Enter details of funding source 
 

Status: 2022/23 2023/24 Future 
Years 

TOTAL 

Improving Ventilation in Education 
Settings 

Approved 
 80,841  80,841 

Capital Maintenance Grant   1,718,911  1,718,911 

      

      

      

TOTAL     1,799,392 
 

 
REVENUE COST IMPACT 
 

TO BE COMPLETED FOR ALL PROJECTS 
 

In considering whether a project should be developed due regard should be made to the potential impact 
on revenue budgets. 
 

If the activity will result in a requirement for additional revenue funding, please provide details 
below: 
 

What is the impact of this project in terms of the annual 
revenue requirement for: 

 

Existing 
Revenue 

Budget 

Post-
project 

Revenue 
Budget 

Increase/ 
Decrease 

staff costs (salaries and associated) 
 

   

energy costs (heating, lighting, ICT, etc) 
 

  Decrease(See 
appendix 1) 

property maintenance and servicing costs 
 

  Decrease 
(see appendix 

1) 

other property related costs (rental, insurance, etc) 
 

   

ongoing ICT costs (licences, etc) 
 

   

mileage of Denbighshire fleet vehicles 
 

   

Page 301



 

8 | P a g e  
 

mileage for business travel by Denbighshire employees 
using their personal vehicles 

   

OTHER (please enter) 
 

   

OTHER (please enter) 
 

   

OVERALL REVENUE REQUIREMENT 
 

   

 

Please provide brief details of the revenue impact of this project: 
 

 Where revenue savings are forecast, you should detail what is proposed for the saving (e.g. 
reduction of an existing revenue budget, re-allocation of revenue to alternative services area, 
etc) 

 Where revenue increases are forecast, you should provide details of how the revenue shortfall 
will be addressed.  In this instance you should also append a three year surplus/deficit forecast. 

 

 Details of any one-off revenue cost requirements that may be required post-project 
implementation (e.g. recruitment, redundancies, etc).  DO NOT include any costs detailed in the 
capital section of this Business Case 

 
 

 
 
Energy costs for school sites should be reduced as a result of the significant investment in the installation 
of renewable energy sources.   
 
 
 
 
 

 
WHOLE LIFE COST 

 
Please provide brief details of the whole life cost impact of this project over a 20-year period. This should 
be completed for the preferred business option as well as for the environmentally enhanced business 
option if it is not selected as the preferred option: 
 

 [guidance to follow] 

 [guidance to follow] 

 [guidance to follow] 
 

 

NOTE: THIS SECTION IS CURRENTLY IN DEVELOPMENT AND FURTHER GUIDANCE ISSUED IN DUE 
COURSE. OFFICERS DO NOT NEED TO COMPLETE THIS SECTION AT THIS STAGE UNLESS THEY 
HAVE UNDERTAKEN A WHOLE LIFE COSTING EXERCISE ALREADY INDEPENDENTLY WITHIN 
THEIR PROJECT. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 302



 

9 | P a g e  
 

PROJECT MANAGEMENT 
Please provide details of proposed project management – Establishment of Project Board etc 

 
The project will be managed through the Building Maintenance team. The programme of works will consist 
of numerous projects, with the vast majority being categorised as small / minor works. Each project will be 
procured in accordance with the current CPR’s, procurement strategy and industry best practice. 
 
A Surveyor / Technician from the Design, Construction and Maintenance team will be allocated as project 
officer, who will be responsible for the delivery of each project on time, within budget and to the required 
specification. 
 
Regular meetings will be held with Education Managers to monitor the spend and amend the programme 
to ensure the contingency element is fully spent. 
 
 

 
 

STATUTORY REQUIREMENTS / HEALTH & SAFETY 
This section should identify how the activity will help Denbighshire meet any of its statutory 
requirements.  Please include any Health & Safety Issues that the activity will address in this section.  
Please leave blank if not applicable. 

 
 
 
The project will help meet the Health and Safety at Work etc. Act 1974, Management of Health and Safety 
at Work Regulations 1999, Workplace (Health, Safety and Welfare) Regulations 1992, Provision and Use 
of Work Equipment Regulations 1998, Occupiers Liability Act 1957 and 1984, Equalities Act 2010, DDA 
1995, HSE Approved Codes of Practice, British Standards including BS 4163:2007, Health and Safety 
Guidance Note GS23 (Electrical Safety in Schools), Control of Asbestos Regulations 2006. 
 
Meet the requirements of the Education Building Bulletins, Education (School Premises Regulations) 
1999, Department for Education Regulations and Design Notes, etc. 
 
The project will help meet the Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005  
 
 

 

  

Page 303



 

10 | P a g e  
 

 

CARBON MANAGEMENT IMPACT 
 
 

Please consult with Council’s Principal Energy Manager (robert.jones@denbighshire.gov.uk) and the 
Council’s Climate and Ecological Change Programme Manager (Hodgson.Jane@denbighshire.gov.uk) 
before completing this section. 
 

Denbighshire has committed to reducing its carbon emissions from buildings and fleet by at least 15% 
by 2022, for the Council to be net carbon zero by 2030 (buildings, fleet, waste, business travel, staff 
commuting, street lighting) and for the Council to reduce its supply chain emissions by 35% by 2030.   
 
The Business Case requires you to make a forecast for the anticipated carbon emissions impact of the 
project.   
 
 

Annual Forecasts: 
 

Annual 
(current) 

Carbon 
(kgCO2e) 

Annual 
(Post 
Project) 

Carbon 
(kgCO2e) 

Carbon 
Variance 

Comments 

Money spent on external 
goods and services 
(UNIT= £) 
  

     See decarbonisation section 
of appendix 1 

Energy consumption in 
buildings: 
(UNIT = kWh) 
 

     See decarbonisation section 
of appendix 1 

Energy consumption in 
Street Lighting: 
(UNIT = kWh) 
 

     n/a 

Fuel consumption of 
Denbighshire Fleet 
vehicles: 
(UNIT = litres/ kWh) 
 

     n/a 

Mileage of Business 
Travel (personal 
vehicles): 
(UNIT = miles travelled) 
 

     n/a 

Mileage of Staff 
Commute: 
(UNIT = miles travelled) 
 

     n/a 

Tonnes of waste 
produced: 
(UNIT = tonnes) 
 

     n/a 

One off Forecasts: 
 

  Project 
cost (£) 

Carbon 
(kgCO2e) 

 Comments 

Money spent on external 
goods and services 
(UNIT= £) 
  

  1.799 
million 

  See decarbonisation 
section of appendix 1 

TOTAL CARBON 
EMISSIONS 

      

Page 304

mailto:robert.jones@denbighshire.gov.uk


 

11 | P a g e  
 

Annual Forecasts: 
 

Annual 
(current) 

Carbon 
(kgCO2e) 

Annual 
(Post 
Project) 

Carbon 
(kgCO2e) 

Carbon 
Variance 

Comments 

       

Annual Forecasts: 
 

Current Carbon 
Absorptio

n 
(kgCO2e) 

Post 
Project 

Carbon 
Absorptio

n 
(kgCO2e) 

Carbon 
Absorptio

n 
Variance 

Comments 

Hectare of Grassland 
(UNIT=ha) 

n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a Assuming no 
grassland/woodland being 
removed to create 
outdoor spaces 

Hectares of Forestland 
(UNIT=ha) 

n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a Assuming no 
grassland/woodland being 
removed to create 
outdoor spaces 

TOTAL CARBON 
ABSORPTION 

      

 

Please highlight the appropriate cell depending on whether on balance this project helps, hinders or is 
neutral to the Council’s goal to become net carbon zero by 2030 (reducing carbon emissions and 
increasing carbon absorption). 
 

Net Carbon Zero 
Council Summary 

HELPS HINDERS NEUTRAL 

 
Please provide brief details of the carbon impact of this project, and detail specific actions that will be 
taken to reduce carbon emissions.  If carbon emissions are expected to increase as a result of this 
project, please provide details of proposed actions to compensate for this increase in other areas of the 
Service’s activity and/or via tree planting/land management for the benefit of carbon sequestration. 
 

 
The project will impact on numerous sites with minor investments. Some of the investment areas 
are expected to have no significant impact on energy/ carbon emissions, however due to the 
significant number of decarbonisation projects to be funded we expect to see a positive impact 
on reducing carbon emissions overall within the school estate. 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 305



 

12 | P a g e  
 

Climate Change Lead Officer statement: 

Please provide a statement from the Climate Change Lead Officer. Contact Jane Hodgson on 
climatechange@denbighshire.gov.uk.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The decarbonisation projects are projected to reduce carbon by approximately 80tonnes CO2e. It 
is assumed that this is per year rather than over the lifetime of the works. These works are 
welcomed as they will reduce operational carbon over the long term and contribute to DCC 
meeting its goal of net carbon zero by 2030.  
 
I encourage the inclusion of tree and/or hedge planting wherever possible, for example at the 
schools having outside work carried out. Please do contact the Climate Change team to discuss or 
for advice.  
DCC’s Climate and Ecological Change Strategy has a ‘plus’ target for reducing carbon from its 
supply chain by 35% by 2030. This project represents a significant spend under the category of 
‘construction’ with an emissions factor of 0.37 kgCO2e per £ spent. Every effort should be taken 
within the procurement activity of this spend to specify the works for the benefit of low carbon (e.g. 
via the use of lower spend lots to open the field to local SME’s), to assess the bids from a low 
carbon consideration (e.g. including quality criteria questions with a scoring weighting) and monitor 
carbon emission performance of the chosen contractor (e.g. through contract management, 
provision of data). Any procurement over £25k should seek Community Benefits and I would 
encourage the project manager to focus their negotiations with the contractor around securing 
local environmental improvements which can include measures to increase carbon sequestration.  
The project manager should continue to engage with their Procurement Business Partner and the 
Community Benefits Hub (Karen Bellis) early in maximising on low carbon / carbon sequestration 
opportunities from the supply chain associated with this project. 
 
Supplied by:  Jane Hodgson         Date: 9 September 2022 
  

Page 306

mailto:climatechange@denbighshire.gov.uk


 

13 | P a g e  
 

BIODIVERSITY IMPACT 
 
Please consult with Denbighshire’s Biodiversity Lead Officer before completing this section. Contact 
Joel Walley on joel.walley@denbighshire.gov.uk. 
 
The Council has a statutory duty to ensure compliance and enforcement of the Habitats Regulations 

(as amended in 2017). Furthermore, the Environment (Wales) Act, 2016 requires the Council to 

maintain and enhance biodiversity, and promote the resilience of ecosystems.  At this pre-feasibility 

stage, please determine the anticipated impact of the project on biodiversity, and proposed measures 

to ensure the project results in an overall biodiversity enhancement. 

 

Please mark a cross in the appropriate box. 

Will this project impact on a habitat that supports living organisms 

(plant or animal), or involve physical works to property or Land? 

Yes  No x 

 

If you have answered yes to the above question, please complete all the following biodiversity sections.  

If answered no, please leave blank 

IMPACTS ON BIODIVERSITY 

Has an ecological appraisal or survey of the site or proposals 

taken place?  

Yes  No x 

Cofnod eMapper Link:   

Please provide brief summary of survey findings, or provide a copy of the ecological report for 

review:  

  

 

Please provide brief details of how the project will avoid harm to biodiversity. 

 

It is anticipated that the projects will have little impact on biodiversity. However, there is a possibility 

that bats and/or nesting birds such as swallows and house martins may be affected by some of the 

works. As these species are legally protected, measures will be taken to minimise any disturbance and 

mitigate if necessary, by following best practice and guidance, if any are found whilst project works are 

being carried out which could disturb them. 

 

Where there is the potential for this to occur then any bat and bird surveys will be undertaken if 

necessary and consultation will take place with the County Ecologist or the County Biodiversity Officer 

about specifics. 

 

 

 

Page 307



 

14 | P a g e  
 

Please provide brief details of how the project will mitigate and compensate for any harm to 

biodiversity. 

 

 

Please provide brief details of how the project will enhance biodiversity and restore ecosystem 

resilience. 

 

 

Please highlight the appropriate cell depending on whether on balance this project helps, hinders or is 
neutral to the Council’s goal to become ecologically positive by 2030 (increasing the species richness 
of land). 
 

Ecologically Positive 
Council Summary 

HELPS HINDERS NEUTRAL 

 

Ecology Officer summary: 

Please provide a statement from the Biodiversity Lead Officer. Contact Joel Walley on 
joel.walley@denbighshire.gov.uk. 
 

If your works have the potential to impact on protected species, then their presence/likely 

absence needs to be ascertained before you start works. Bats and their breeding and resting 

places are protected under the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017. It is 

an offence to kill, injure, or disturb bats, and to damage, destroy, or block access to their 

breeding or resting places, even if they are not present at the time. An offence under this 

legislation could result in an unlimited fine and a custodial sentence of up to 6 months per 

offence.  

While an initial bat survey/preliminary roost assessment can be completed any time of year, 

should this identify the potential of a building or structure to support bats then these surveys 

can only be undertaken between May – August, which is obviously a concern if your deadline 

is the end of the financial year.   

As a Public Authority, we also have a duty to maintain and enhance biodiversity and promote 

the resilience of ecosystems under Section 6 of the Environment (Wales) Act. I previously 

(maintenance grant business case 2021) included a section on how this work represents a real 

opportunity to enhance sites for biodiversity, even if the proposed works will not have a direct 

impact on wildlife. Simple measures such as wildflower/hedge/tree planting, green roof 

installation, pond creation, or the provision of bat/bird boxes can all be cost effective ways to 

improve the environment, and should be considered on a cases by case basis at each site 

impacted by the proposals. Has this been considered at all? 

 

Name:  Joel Walley                     Date:  09/09/2022 

 
 

Page 308



 

15 | P a g e  
 

 
 
VAT IMPLICATIONS  
 
Please consult with the VAT accountant to consider any VAT implications of the scheme. Rhys I Jones 
on ext  6165. rhys.i.jones@denbighshire.gov.uk   
 
 
 
 
 

Page 309



 

16 | P a g e  
 

MAJOR RISKS TO THE PROJECT 
A summary of the key risks associated with the project together with the likely impact and plans should they occur is provided below: 
 

Title 
Inherent 

Risk 
Mitigating Action Residual Risk 

Unforeseen essential maintenance 
requirements 

Loss of 
service 
delivery. 

 

Dynamic re-prioritisation of works; 
Closure of buildings/part closure; 
Relocation of essential service provision 

Potential 
prosecution/fines/reputational 

damage 

Lack of resources to deliver 
maintenance/decarbonisation/ventilation 
programme 
 

Failure to 
deliver 

programme  

Employ agency/temporary contract staff to deliver 
projects 

Failure to spend allocation 

    

 

P
age 310



 

17 | P a g e  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 311



18 | P a g e

SUPPORTING INFORMATION 
Please list any supporting documents that accompany this Business Case 

Appendix 1 – Summary spreadsheet of all projects to be funded 
Appendix 2 - Funding Letter from Welsh Government  
Appendix 3 – Wellbeing Impact Assessment 

ANNUAL CAPITAL BIDS – BLOCK ALLOCATIONS 

Please provide details of expenditure and commitments for allocations received in the current financial year. 

COUNTY LANDLORD STATEMENT 
Please provide a statement from the County Landlord and where applicable the recommendation of the 
Asset Management Group. Contact Tom Booty on tom.booty@denbighshire.gov.uk.  

The proposals are fully supported. The proposed projects reflect a balance in supporting 
decarbonisation, healthy learning environments and providing well maintained facilities within the 
education portfolio via a funding stream that supplements the Council’s ongoing investment in these 
key areas and reflect a realistic approach to delivery within the time constraints of the funding 
deadlines. 

Supplied by:  David Lorey     Date: 09/09/2022 

CHIEF FINANCE OFFICER STATEMENT 
Please provide a statement from the Chief Finance Officer. Contact Steve Gadd on 
steve.gadd@denbighshire.gov.uk.  

Supplied by:      Date:

Although the way that this sort of funding comes through from Welsh Government causes issues
around planning and long term decision making, it is important that we maximise the use of this 
funding in a structured way. I believe this report fully sets out a solid methodology for prioritising 
the use of the grant and is fully supported. As always in such cases, it is important that 
approvals are made in a timely fashion in order to avoid delays, however, as it's over £1m it will 
need to go to the next available Cabinet meeting also.

Steve Gadd 13 September 2022

Page 312

mailto:tom.booty@denbighshire.gov.uk
mailto:steve.gadd@denbighshire.gov.uk


19 | P a g e

VERIFICATION:

Project 
Manager: 

Isobel Bourke-Richardson 

Project 
Sponsor: 

Geraint Davies 

Name: Position: 

Signature: Date: 

For use by Finance: 

R      Result of S.I.G. Review 

Date of Meeting 

Approval 

Code 

Page 313



This page is intentionally left blank



Schools Maintenance, Ventilation and Decarbonisation Grant :
Well-being Impact Assessment Report

This report summarises the likely impact of the proposal on the social, economic, environmental and

cultural well-being of Denbighshire, Wales and the world.

Assessment Number: 1089

Brief description: The council has been allocated £1.799million Capital Grant from the Welsh

Government towards Improving Ventilation, Supporting Decarbonisation and Reducing Backlog

Maintenance in Schools.

Date Completed: 13/09/2022 10:01:04 Version: 1

Completed by: Isobel Bourke-Richardson

Responsible Service: Education and Children Services

Localities affected by the proposal: Whole County,

Who will be affected by the proposal? Denbighshire schools will benefit from the additional

investment in the school estate.

Was this impact assessment completed as a group? Yes

Schools Maintenance, Ventilation and Decarbonisation Grant 

Page 1 of 14 Printed on 13/09/2022Page 315



Summary and Conclusion

Before we look in detail at the contribution and impact of the proposal, it is important to consider how

the proposal is applying the sustainable development principle. This means that we must act "in a

manner which seeks to ensure that the needs of the present are met without compromising the ability

of future generations to meet their own needs."

Score for the sustainability of the approach

3 out of 4 stars

Actual score : 30 / 36.

Summary for each Sustainable Development principle

Long term

This grant funding will impact on numerous sites with minor investments. The grant is towards

maintenance on the school estate, with additional focus on ventilation and decarbonisation projects.

The proposed works have been selected based on the greatest need/the repercussions that not

undertaking the works would have on the school, their potential for reducing carbon emissions and

improving ventilation.

Prevention

The project will impact on numerous sites with minor investments, some of the investment areas are

expected to have a significant impact on energy/ carbon emissions and improving ventilation.

Integration

This project aligns with the corporate priorities for Environment and Young People. The grant is

partially allocated for maintenance and improving ventilation on the school estate which in turn will

result in an improved environment for Denbighshire pupils. The additional focus on decarbonisation

projects aligns the works with the authority's aims to reduce carbon emissions and increasing

renewable energy provision across the county.

Collaboration

Schools Maintenance, Ventilation and Decarbonisation Grant 

Page 2 of 14 Printed on 13/09/2022Page 316



The Education department are working closely with the Building Maintenance manager and Energy

team to ensure works are prioritised and actioned as agreed by all parties.

Involvement

A review of all school sites was undertaken by the Energy team in order to identify suitable

decarbonisation project proposals. All schools were also requested to identify priority areas for

support around maintenance. Existing maintenance backlogs will also be considered.

Summary of impact

Well-being Goals Overall Impact

A prosperous Denbighshire Positive

A resilient Denbighshire Positive

A healthier Denbighshire Neutral

A more equal Denbighshire Positive

A Denbighshire of cohesive communities Neutral

A Denbighshire of vibrant culture and thriving Welsh language Neutral

A globally responsible Denbighshire Neutral

Main conclusions

The proposals overall will have a neutral impact due to the size of the works. Some elements

especially around the energy consumption and decarbonisation will be positive but overall it would be

difficult to justify a significant positive impact from a well-being perspective. Many of the schemes are

low value although they will have a positive impact on the school estate.

Schools Maintenance, Ventilation and Decarbonisation Grant 

Page 3 of 14 Printed on 13/09/2022Page 317



The likely impact on Denbighshire, Wales and the world.

A prosperous Denbighshire

Overall Impact

Positive

Justification for impact

The proposed works will improve the efficiency of the school estate and the investment may benefit

the local economy.

Further actions required

Early market engagement with local suppliers to see if they are able to bid for works on offer.

Positive impacts identified:

A low carbon society

Proposed works will impact on the energy efficiency of buildings.

Quality communications, infrastructure and transport

The proposed works will improve the condition of the schools estates and therefore improve its

infrastructure.

Economic development

The additional expenditure may benefit local economy subject to procurement routes. Potential to

stimulate the local and national green construction market.

Quality skills for the long term

Some of the works could upskill maintenance staff.

Quality jobs for the long term

Schools Maintenance, Ventilation and Decarbonisation Grant 

Page 4 of 14 Printed on 13/09/2022Page 318



Could encourage and stimulate local green construction market.

Childcare

Some education sites also include wrap around childcare provision and they may therefore also

benefit from the improvements to energy efficiency/improved ventilation at our sites.

Negative impacts identified:

A low carbon society

The proposal will have no negative impact on a low carbon society

Quality communications, infrastructure and transport

The proposal will have no negative impact on quality communications, infrastructure and transport

Economic development

Some of the specialised work maybe only be available nation wide rather than locally.

Quality skills for the long term

The proposal will have no negative impact on quality skills for the long term

Quality jobs for the long term

The proposal will have no negative impact on quality jobs for the long term

Childcare

The proposal will have no negative impact on childcare.

A resilient Denbighshire

Overall Impact

Positive

Schools Maintenance, Ventilation and Decarbonisation Grant 

Page 5 of 14 Printed on 13/09/2022Page 319



Justification for impact

Through the decarbonisation works energy and fuel consumption at some of our schools will be

reduced and therefore assist achieving a resilient Denbighshire.

Further actions required

The scale of the works will make additional benefits difficult to achieve.

Positive impacts identified:

Biodiversity and the natural environment

The proposal will have no material impact on biodiversity and the natural environment

Biodiversity in the built environment

The proposal will have no material impact on biodiversity in the built environment

Reducing waste, reusing and recycling

Where appropriate there will be requirement for recycling of building materials etc.

Reduced energy/fuel consumption

Through some of the works schools will improve ventilation and support decarbonisation therefore

reducing energy/fuel consumption.

People’s awareness of the environment and biodiversity

Works carried out around decarbonisation will help educate our building operators.

Flood risk management

The proposal will have no material impact on flood risk management.

Negative impacts identified:

Biodiversity and the natural environment

Schools Maintenance, Ventilation and Decarbonisation Grant 

Page 6 of 14 Printed on 13/09/2022Page 320



The proposal will have no negative impact on biodiversity and the natural environment

Biodiversity in the built environment

The proposal will have no negative impact on biodiversity in the built environment

Reducing waste, reusing and recycling

The proposal will have no negative impact on reducing waste, reusing and recycling

Reduced energy/fuel consumption

The proposal will have no negative impact on reduced energy/fuel consumption

People’s awareness of the environment and biodiversity

The proposal will have no negative impact on people’s awareness of the environment and

biodiversity

Flood risk management

The proposal will have no negative impact on flood risk management

A healthier Denbighshire

Overall Impact

Neutral

Justification for impact

The grants will have a limited impact on a healthier Denbighshire, however improvements to

buildings will impact positively on pupil and staff health and well-being.

Further actions required

The scope of the proposed works will impact on maximising the positives.

Schools Maintenance, Ventilation and Decarbonisation Grant 

Page 7 of 14 Printed on 13/09/2022Page 321



Positive impacts identified:

A social and physical environment that encourage and support health and well-being

Improvements to school buildings will support health and well-being by providing an improved

environment for learning.

Access to good quality, healthy food

The proposal will have no material impact on access to good quality, healthy food

People’s emotional and mental well-being

Improved ventilation could increase positive mental well-being for staff and pupils.

Access to healthcare

The proposal will have no material impact on access to healthcare

Participation in leisure opportunities

The proposal will have no material impact on participation in leisure opportunities

Negative impacts identified:

A social and physical environment that encourage and support health and well-being

The proposal will have no negative impact on a social and physical environment that encourage and

support health and well-being

Access to good quality, healthy food

The proposal will have no negative impact on access to good quality, healthy food

People’s emotional and mental well-being

The proposal will have no negative impact on people’s emotional and mental well-being

Access to healthcare

Schools Maintenance, Ventilation and Decarbonisation Grant 

Page 8 of 14 Printed on 13/09/2022Page 322



The proposal will have no negative impact on access to healthcare

Participation in leisure opportunities

The proposal will have no negative impact on participation in leisure opportunities

A more equal Denbighshire

Overall Impact

Positive

Justification for impact

Overall the impact will be positive due to the improvements in access to buildings from some of the

proposed works. Additionally, the works planned at school sites will likely benefit everyone who

attends, works at or visits those schools regardless of any protected characteristics.

Further actions required

Issues around access will be considered by these schemes in addition to the block allocation for

such works.

Positive impacts identified:

Improving the well-being of people with protected characteristics. The nine protected
characteristics are: age; disability; gender reassignment; marriage or civil partnership;
pregnancy and maternity; race; religion or belief; sex; and sexual orientation

Some elements of the works may improve access arrangements for schools.

People who suffer discrimination or disadvantage

The proposal will have no material impact on people who suffer discrimination or disadvantage

People affected by socio-economic disadvantage and unequal outcomes

Schools Maintenance, Ventilation and Decarbonisation Grant 

Page 9 of 14 Printed on 13/09/2022Page 323



The proposal will have no material impact on people affected by socio-economic disadvantage and

unequal outcomes

Areas affected by socio-economic disadvantage

The proposal will have no material impact on areas affected by socio-economic disadvantage

Negative impacts identified:

Improving the well-being of people with protected characteristics. The nine protected
characteristics are: age; disability; gender reassignment; marriage or civil partnership;
pregnancy and maternity; race; religion or belief; sex; and sexual orientation

The proposal will have no negative impact on improving the well-being of people with protected

characteristics.

People who suffer discrimination or disadvantage

The proposal will have no negative impact on people who suffer discrimination or disadvantage

People affected by socio-economic disadvantage and unequal outcomes

The proposal will have no negative impact on people affected by socio-economic disadvantage and

unequal outcomes

Areas affected by socio-economic disadvantage

The proposal will have no negative impact on areas affected by socio-economic disadvantage

A Denbighshire of cohesive communities

Overall Impact

Neutral

Justification for impact

The proposals will have a neutral impact on a Denbighshire of cohesive communities. There could be

Schools Maintenance, Ventilation and Decarbonisation Grant 

Page 10 of 14 Printed on 13/09/2022Page 324



some improvements to school site security and energy resilience but this will be minor.

Further actions required

Works will have limited impact.

Positive impacts identified:

Safe communities and individuals

Elements of some of the works will improve the safety of staff and pupils.

Community participation and resilience

If schools can generate onsite renewable energy through works achieved through this grant it will

improve resilience.

The attractiveness of the area

Some works may improve the appearance of a building.

Connected communities

The proposal will have no material impact on connected communities

Rural resilience

If a school is not connected to gas- generation of onsite renewable energy will increase resilience.

Negative impacts identified:

Safe communities and individuals

The proposal will have no negative impact on safe communities and individuals

Community participation and resilience

The proposal will have no negative impact on community participation and resilience

Schools Maintenance, Ventilation and Decarbonisation Grant 

Page 11 of 14 Printed on 13/09/2022Page 325



The attractiveness of the area

The proposal will have no negative impact on the attractiveness of the area

Connected communities

The proposal will have no negative impact on connected communities

Rural resilience

The proposal will have no negative impact on rural resilience

A Denbighshire of vibrant culture and thriving Welsh language

Overall Impact

Neutral

Justification for impact

The proposals within the allocation will involve some expenditure within welsh medium schools.

However this will not have a significant impact on people using Welsh or promoting the Welsh

language.

Further actions required

The works will have limited impact on the Welsh language.

Positive impacts identified:

People using Welsh

The proposal will have no material impact on people using Welsh

Promoting the Welsh language

The proposal will have no material impact on promoting the Welsh language

Schools Maintenance, Ventilation and Decarbonisation Grant 

Page 12 of 14 Printed on 13/09/2022Page 326



Culture and heritage

The proposal will have no material impact on culture and heritage

Negative impacts identified:

People using Welsh

The proposal will have no negative impact on people using Welsh

Promoting the Welsh language

The proposal will have no negative impact on promoting the Welsh language

Culture and heritage

The proposal will have no negative impact on culture and heritage

A globally responsible Denbighshire

Overall Impact

Neutral

Justification for impact

Existing frameworks will be used to involve some local contractors/ suppliers.

Further actions required

Early market engagement needed to ensure local suppliers can provide.

Positive impacts identified:

Local, national, international supply chains

Some of the works may stimulate local and national green companies which is a growing market.

Human rights

Schools Maintenance, Ventilation and Decarbonisation Grant 

Page 13 of 14 Printed on 13/09/2022Page 327



The proposal will have no material impact on human rights

Broader service provision in the local area or the region

The proposal will have no material impact on broader service provision in the local area or the region

Reducing climate change

Some of the works are looking at saving energy and producing buildings fit for the future.

Negative impacts identified:

Local, national, international supply chains

The proposal will have no negative impact on local, national, international supply chains

Human rights

The proposal will have no negative impact on human rights

Broader service provision in the local area or the region

The proposal will have no negative impact on broader service provision in the local area or the

region

Reducing climate change

The proposal will have no negative impact on reducing climate change

Schools Maintenance, Ventilation and Decarbonisation Grant 

Page 14 of 14 Printed on 13/09/2022Page 328



Cabinet Forward Work Plan   

Meeting Item (description / title) Purpose of report Cabinet 
Decision 
required 
(yes/no) 

Author – Lead member and 
contact officer 

 

22 Nov 1 Council Performance Update – 
July to September 

To consider the Council’s 
performance in delivering 
against the council’s strategic 
plan and services 

Tbc Cllr Gwyneth Ellis 
Lead Officer Nicola Kneale 
Report Author Iolo McGregor 

 2 Temporary Accommodation 
Support Project 

To seek Cabinet approval to 
award the contract for the 
project 

Yes Cllr Rhys Thomas 
Lead Officer Ann Lloyd 
Report Author Hayley Jones 

 3 Draft Sustainable Transport 
Plan 

To seek Cabinet approval of 
the draft Sustainable 
Transport Plan for 
consultation 

Yes Cllr Barry Mellor 
Lead Officer/Report Author 
Mike Jones 

 4 Implementation of Renting 
Homes (Wales) Act 2016 and 
the Introductory Tenancy Policy 
for council housing 

To give an overview of new 
legislation and ask for a 
decision on ending the Use 
of Introductory Tenancies for 
new council tenants 

Yes Cllr Rhys Thomas 
Lead Officer Liz Grieve 
Report Author Geoff Davies 

 5 Finance Report To update Cabinet on the 
current financial position of 
the Council 

Tbc Cllr Gwyneth Ellis 
Lead Officer/Report Author 
Steve Gadd 

 6 Items from Scrutiny Committees To consider any issues 
raised by Scrutiny for 
Cabinet’s attention 

Tbc Lead Officer – Scrutiny 
Coordinator 

 

13 Dec 1 Housing Rent Setting & To seek approval for the Yes Cllr Gwyneth Ellis 

P
age 329

A
genda Item

 11



Cabinet Forward Work Plan   

Meeting Item (description / title) Purpose of report Cabinet 
Decision 
required 
(yes/no) 

Author – Lead member and 
contact officer 

Housing Revenue and Capital 
Budgets 2023/24 

proposed annual rent 
increase for council housing 
and to approve the Housing 
Revenue Account Capital 
and Revenue Budgets for 
2023/24 and Housing Stock 
Business Plan 

Lead Officer/Report Author 
Geoff Davies 

 2 Ysgol Plas Brondyffryn To consider the Outline 
Business Case for the 
proposed new building for 
Ysgol Plas Brondyffryn 

Tbc Cllr Gill German 
Lead Officer Geraint Davies 
Report Author James Curran 

 3 Finance Report To update Cabinet on the 
current financial position of 
the Council 

Tbc Cllr Gwyneth Ellis 
Lead Officer/Report Author 
Steve Gadd 

 4 Items from Scrutiny Committees To consider any issues 
raised by Scrutiny for 
Cabinet’s attention 

Tbc Lead Officer – Scrutiny 
Coordinator 

 

24 Jan 1 Queen’s Market: Operator 
Contract Award 

Following the culmination of 
the procurement process to 
appoint an operator for the 
Queen’s Market in Rhyl, 
approval is sought from 
Cabinet to award a contract 
to the preferred tenderer 

Yes Cllr Jason McLellan 
Lead Officer Emlyn Jones 
Report Author Russ Vaughan 

P
age 330



Cabinet Forward Work Plan   

Meeting Item (description / title) Purpose of report Cabinet 
Decision 
required 
(yes/no) 

Author – Lead member and 
contact officer 

 2 Finance Report To update Cabinet on the 
current financial position of 
the Council 

Tbc Cllr Gwyneth Ellis 
Lead Officer/Report Author 
Steve Gadd 

 3 Items from Scrutiny Committees To consider any issues 
raised by Scrutiny for 
Cabinet’s attention 

Tbc Lead Officer – Scrutiny 
Coordinator 

 

21 Feb 1 Finance Report To update Cabinet on the 
current financial position of 
the Council 

Tbc Cllr Gwyneth Ellis 
Lead Officer/Report Author 
Steve Gadd 

 2 Items from Scrutiny Committees To consider any issues 
raised by Scrutiny for 
Cabinet’s attention 

Tbc Lead Officer – Scrutiny 
Coordinator 

      

 

28 March 1 Finance Report To update Cabinet on the 
current financial position of 
the Council 

Tbc Cllr Gwyneth Ellis 
Lead Officer/Report Author 
Steve Gadd 

 2 Items from Scrutiny Committees To consider any issues 
raised by Scrutiny for 
Cabinet’s attention 

Tbc Lead Officer – Scrutiny 
Coordinator 

      

      

 

Note for officers – Cabinet Report Deadlines 

P
age 331



Cabinet Forward Work Plan   

 

Meeting Deadline Meeting Deadline Meeting Deadline 

      

18 October 4 October 22 November 8 November 13 December 29 November 
 
Updated 04/10/2022 – KEJ 
 
Cabinet Forward Work Programme.doc 

P
age 332


	Agenda
	2 DECLARATION OF INTERESTS
	4 MINUTES
	5 CENTRAL RHYL AND CENTRAL PRESTATYN COASTAL DEFENCE SCHEMES
	CDS - APPENDIX 1
	CDS - APPENDIX 2
	CDS - APPENDIX 3a Prestatyn WBIA
	Coastal defence works at Prestatyn
	Well-being Impact Assessment Report
	IMPACT ASSESSMENT SUMMARY AND CONCLUSION
	Score for the sustainability of the approach
	Summary for each Sustainable Development principle
	Summary of impact
	Main conclusions
	Evidence to support the Well-being Impact Assessment

	THE LIKELY IMPACT ON DENBIGHSHIRE, WALES AND THE WORLD
	A prosperous Denbighshire
	A resilient Denbighshire
	A healthier Denbighshire
	A more equal Denbighshire
	A Denbighshire of cohesive communities
	A Denbighshire of vibrant culture and thriving Welsh language
	A globally responsible Denbighshire



	CDS - APPENDIX 3b RHYL WBIA
	Central Rhyl Coastal Defence Works
	Well-being Impact Assessment Report
	IMPACT ASSESSMENT SUMMARY AND CONCLUSION
	Score for the sustainability of the approach
	Summary for each Sustainable Development principle
	Summary of impact
	Main conclusions
	Evidence to support the Well-being Impact Assessment

	THE LIKELY IMPACT ON DENBIGHSHIRE, WALES AND THE WORLD
	A prosperous Denbighshire
	A resilient Denbighshire
	A healthier Denbighshire
	A more equal Denbighshire
	A Denbighshire of cohesive communities
	A Denbighshire of vibrant culture and thriving Welsh language
	A globally responsible Denbighshire



	CDS - APPENDIX 4 - Central Prestatyn CDS Business Case (Sept 22)
	CDS - APPENDIX 5 - Central Rhyl CDS Business Case (Sept 22)

	6 REVIEW OF CABINET DECISION RELATING TO THE PROPOSED SCHEME OF DELEGATED DECISION MAKING FOR LAND ACQUISITON (FREEHOLD AND LEASEHOLD) FOR CARBON SEQUESTRATION AND ECOLOGICAL IMPROVEMENT PURPOSES
	REVIEW OF CABINET DECISION - Appendix 1
	REVIEW OF CABINET DECISION - Appendix 2
	REVIEW OF CABINET DECISION - Appendix 3
	REVIEW OF CABINET DECISION - Appendix 4 WBIA
	Land use and acquisition for carbon sequestration and ecological improvement purposes : Well-being Impact Assessment Report
	Summary and Conclusion
	Score for the sustainability of the approach
	Summary for each Sustainable Development principle
	Long term
	Prevention
	Integration
	Collaboration
	Involvement

	Summary of impact
	Main conclusions

	The likely impact on Denbighshire, Wales and the world.
	A prosperous Denbighshire
	Overall Impact
	Justification for impact
	Further actions required
	Positive impacts identified:
	Negative impacts identified:

	A resilient Denbighshire
	Overall Impact
	Justification for impact
	Further actions required
	Positive impacts identified:
	Negative impacts identified:

	A healthier Denbighshire
	Overall Impact
	Justification for impact
	Further actions required
	Positive impacts identified:
	Negative impacts identified:

	A more equal Denbighshire
	Overall Impact
	Justification for impact
	Further actions required
	Positive impacts identified:
	Negative impacts identified:

	A Denbighshire of cohesive communities
	Overall Impact
	Justification for impact
	Further actions required
	Positive impacts identified:
	Negative impacts identified:

	A Denbighshire of vibrant culture and thriving Welsh language
	Overall Impact
	Justification for impact
	Further actions required
	Positive impacts identified:
	Negative impacts identified:

	A globally responsible Denbighshire
	Overall Impact
	Justification for impact
	Further actions required
	Positive impacts identified:
	Negative impacts identified:




	REVIEW OF CABINET DECISION - Appendix 5
	REVIEW OF CABINET DECISION - Appendix 6
	REVIEW OF CABINET DECISION - Appendix 7
	REVIEW OF CABINET DECISION - Appendix 8
	REVIEW OF CABINET DECISION - Appendix 9

	7 YSGOL PLAS BRONDYFFRYN PROJECT - SCHOOL ORGANISATION FORMAL CONSULTATION REPORT
	YPB SCHOOL ORGANISATION Appendix 1- WBIA
	New build- Ysgol Plas Brondyffryn
	Well-being Impact Assessment Report
	IMPACT ASSESSMENT SUMMARY AND CONCLUSION
	Score for the sustainability of the approach
	Summary for each Sustainable Development principle
	Summary of impact
	Main conclusions
	Evidence to support the Well-being Impact Assessment

	THE LIKELY IMPACT ON DENBIGHSHIRE, WALES AND THE WORLD
	A prosperous Denbighshire
	A resilient Denbighshire
	A healthier Denbighshire
	A more equal Denbighshire
	A Denbighshire of cohesive communities
	A Denbighshire of vibrant culture and thriving Welsh language
	A globally responsible Denbighshire



	YPB SCHOOL ORGANISATION - Appendix 2 Eng Formal Consultation Report
	Structure Bookmarks
	 
	 
	Figure
	Figure
	Formal Consultation Report- Relating to the proposal to increase the capacity at Ysgol Plas Brondyffryn
	Formal Consultation Report- Relating to the proposal to increase the capacity at Ysgol Plas Brondyffryn
	 

	  
	September 2022
	September 2022
	 
	 

	 
	 
	Should you require a copy of this report in hard copy please email 
	Should you require a copy of this report in hard copy please email 
	modernisingeducation@denbighshire.gov.uk
	modernisingeducation@denbighshire.gov.uk

	 with your name and postal address. Please indicate whether you would like to receive the document in Welsh, English or both. 

	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	Contents 
	Contents 
	Introduction 4
	Introduction 4
	Introduction 4

	 

	Formal Consultation 4
	Formal Consultation 4
	Formal Consultation 4

	 

	Meetings 5
	Meetings 5
	Meetings 5

	 

	Consultation Responses 6
	Consultation Responses 6
	Consultation Responses 6

	 

	Response Forms 7
	Response Forms 7
	Response Forms 7

	 

	Response from Estyn 8
	Response from Estyn 8
	Response from Estyn 8

	 

	Conclusion 12
	Conclusion 12
	Conclusion 12

	 

	The next step 12
	The next step 12
	The next step 12

	 

	APPENDIX 1- Consultation Document Recipient List 13
	APPENDIX 1- Consultation Document Recipient List 13
	APPENDIX 1- Consultation Document Recipient List 13

	 

	APPENDIX 2- Summary of Comments/ Questions raised in the meetings 15
	APPENDIX 2- Summary of Comments/ Questions raised in the meetings 15
	APPENDIX 2- Summary of Comments/ Questions raised in the meetings 15

	 

	APPENDIX 3- School Council Findings 20
	APPENDIX 3- School Council Findings 20
	APPENDIX 3- School Council Findings 20

	 

	APPENDIX 4- Full Governing Body response to the consultation: 28
	APPENDIX 4- Full Governing Body response to the consultation: 28
	APPENDIX 4- Full Governing Body response to the consultation: 28

	 

	APPENDIX 5- Summary of responses received via Email 30
	APPENDIX 5- Summary of responses received via Email 30
	APPENDIX 5- Summary of responses received via Email 30

	 

	APPENDIX 6- Summary of responses via the Formal Consultation Response Form 37
	APPENDIX 6- Summary of responses via the Formal Consultation Response Form 37
	APPENDIX 6- Summary of responses via the Formal Consultation Response Form 37

	 

	APPENDIX 7- Estyn Response 68
	APPENDIX 7- Estyn Response 68
	APPENDIX 7- Estyn Response 68

	 

	  

	Introduction 
	Denbighshire County Council (DCC) have completed a period of formal consultation regarding the proposal to increase Ysgol Plas Brondyffryn’s capacity from 116 to 220. The school will move into a brand new purpose built facility in the town of Denbigh to accommodate the increase.  
	The formal consultation began on 17th May 2022 and closed on the 27th June 2022. 
	Following the end of a school organisation consultation period, the Welsh Government’s School Organisation Code requires the proposers to publish a consultation report.  In this document we have to: 
	 Summarise each of the issues raised by people we speak to and who write to us;  
	 Summarise each of the issues raised by people we speak to and who write to us;  
	 Summarise each of the issues raised by people we speak to and who write to us;  

	 Show our response to those issues; and  
	 Show our response to those issues; and  

	 Set out Estyn’s view of the overall merits of what we are considering. 
	 Set out Estyn’s view of the overall merits of what we are considering. 


	This report should be considered by decision makers prior to determining whether or not to implement any proposal. 
	Formal Consultation 
	Electronic versions of the Formal Consultation document were sent to 460 recipients.  You can see the complete list of recipients in Appendix 1.   
	Hard copies of all documents including response forms were left in Denbigh library. The school were also given a number of hard copies of all documents.  
	Hard copies of all documents were sent out via the school to 2 parents who were not contactable via email and 1 person contacted the Local Authority during the consultation period requesting for a hard copy to be sent out via post, which was provided.  
	The Formal Consultation documents were published on DCC’s website on 17th May 2022. We also produced a Children’s and Young person version of the document.  
	All documentation, including the Formal Consultation document, Community, Equality and Welsh language impact assessment, Children and Young peoples’ consultation document and the electronic version of the response form were published on the DCC website. All documents were available in both Welsh and English.  
	To help and encourage people to give us their views, we produced a response document (Formal Consultation Response Form).  This Response Form formed part of the Consultation Document and as such was also published on the DCC website. The Formal Consultation Response Form was converted into an online survey; a link to this survey was also published on the DCC website.   
	Meetings 
	In the Consultation document information on booking a 10 minute slot to discuss the consultation was offered for the 24th May (between 4-7pm). These were offered as telephone or online sessions- representatives from the school and the Local Authority would have been involved to answer any questions asked. No requests for these were made. 
	The following meetings were held: 
	 Ysgol Plas Brondyffryn Governors online- 6th June 2022, 
	 Ysgol Plas Brondyffryn Governors online- 6th June 2022, 
	 Ysgol Plas Brondyffryn Governors online- 6th June 2022, 

	 Primary site staff meeting- also open to staff at Ty’r Ysgol site at Ysgol Plas Brondyffryn primary site - Tuesday 7th June 2022,  
	 Primary site staff meeting- also open to staff at Ty’r Ysgol site at Ysgol Plas Brondyffryn primary site - Tuesday 7th June 2022,  

	 Secondary site staff meeting which was also open to staff at Ty’r Ysgol at Ysgol Plas Brondyffryn secondary site - Wednesday 8th June 2022, 
	 Secondary site staff meeting which was also open to staff at Ty’r Ysgol at Ysgol Plas Brondyffryn secondary site - Wednesday 8th June 2022, 

	 Primary School Council at Ysgol Plas Brondyffryn primary site- 10th June 2022 10am, 
	 Primary School Council at Ysgol Plas Brondyffryn primary site- 10th June 2022 10am, 

	 School Council at Ysgol Plas Brondyffryn secondary site – 10th June 2022, 11.10am. 
	 School Council at Ysgol Plas Brondyffryn secondary site – 10th June 2022, 11.10am. 


	A summary of the points raised at these meetings and the responses given at the time is available in Appendix 2.  
	Consultation sessions were arranged for the school councils at the school- the primary school council and secondary school council. A summary of both sessions can be found in Appendix 3.   
	Consultation Responses 
	In total 93 responses were received during the consultation period and a response was received from Estyn. 
	The Governing Body for Ysgol Plas Brondyffryn also responded - this can be read in full in Appendix 4.   
	Support of the proposal is as follows: 
	Table
	TR
	TD
	Span
	 

	TD
	Span
	Total 

	Span

	For the proposal 
	For the proposal 
	For the proposal 

	71 
	71 

	Span

	Against the proposal 
	Against the proposal 
	Against the proposal 

	18 
	18 

	Span

	Didn’t state either way 
	Didn’t state either way 
	Didn’t state either way 

	4 
	4 

	Span

	Total 
	Total 
	Total 

	93 
	93 

	Span


	 
	The table below shows the methods people used to respond to the consultation: 
	Table
	TR
	TD
	Span
	1. Method of contact 
	1. Method of contact 
	1. Method of contact 



	TD
	Span
	Number of contacts received 

	Span

	Online Response Forms 
	Online Response Forms 
	Online Response Forms 

	89 
	89 

	Span


	Letters 
	Letters 
	Letters 
	Letters 

	0 
	0 

	Span

	Emails 
	Emails 
	Emails 

	4 
	4 

	Span

	2. Total  
	2. Total  
	2. Total  
	2. Total  
	2. Total  



	93 
	93 

	Span


	Respondents were as follows: 
	Table
	TR
	TD
	Span
	3. Responding as: 
	3. Responding as: 
	3. Responding as: 



	TD
	Span
	Number 

	Span

	Pupil 
	Pupil 
	Pupil 

	0 
	0 

	Span

	Parent 
	Parent 
	Parent 

	20 
	20 

	Span

	Staff member 
	Staff member 
	Staff member 

	30 
	30 

	Span

	Local resident 
	Local resident 
	Local resident 

	22 
	22 

	Span

	Likely to be a pupil 
	Likely to be a pupil 
	Likely to be a pupil 

	0 
	0 

	Span

	Parent/carer of a prospective pupil 
	Parent/carer of a prospective pupil 
	Parent/carer of a prospective pupil 

	4 
	4 

	Span

	Other 
	Other 
	Other 

	7 
	7 

	Span

	Did not say 
	Did not say 
	Did not say 

	10 
	10 

	Span

	4. Total number of contacts 
	4. Total number of contacts 
	4. Total number of contacts 
	4. Total number of contacts 
	4. Total number of contacts 



	93 
	93 

	Span


	 
	Appendix 5 summaries the comments received via email.  
	Response Forms 
	The Formal Consultation Response Form was designed to establish: 
	 whether or not people were in favour of the Proposals;  
	 whether or not people were in favour of the Proposals;  
	 whether or not people were in favour of the Proposals;  


	 the capacity in which they were responding;  
	 the capacity in which they were responding;  
	 the capacity in which they were responding;  

	 If they had any alternative options to the current proposal that they would like the proposers to consider; 
	 If they had any alternative options to the current proposal that they would like the proposers to consider; 

	 whether they wanted to make any other comments. 
	 whether they wanted to make any other comments. 


	A summary of the responses to the Formal Consultation Response Form is set out in Appendix 6 together with the Proposers’ response. 
	Response from Estyn 
	The main points made by Estyn in response to the Proposals and the Proposers’ response to them are set out below.  The full response from Estyn is set out in Appendix 7.  
	Table
	TR
	TD
	Span
	Estyn Comment 

	TD
	Span
	Proposers’ Response 

	Span

	It is Estyn’s opinion that the proposal is likely to at least maintain the current standards of education in the area. 
	It is Estyn’s opinion that the proposal is likely to at least maintain the current standards of education in the area. 
	It is Estyn’s opinion that the proposal is likely to at least maintain the current standards of education in the area. 
	 

	Agreed 
	Agreed 

	Span

	The council has presented an appropriate rationale for the proposal. 
	The council has presented an appropriate rationale for the proposal. 
	The council has presented an appropriate rationale for the proposal. 
	 

	Agreed 
	Agreed 

	Span

	The nominal capacity at the school is 116, the school currently has 136 pupils on roll and has been over capacity for the last 6 years. The school currently has pupils waiting to attend the school and the council expects the demand to increase over the next few years and suggests that a capacity of 220 is reasonable. 
	The nominal capacity at the school is 116, the school currently has 136 pupils on roll and has been over capacity for the last 6 years. The school currently has pupils waiting to attend the school and the council expects the demand to increase over the next few years and suggests that a capacity of 220 is reasonable. 
	The nominal capacity at the school is 116, the school currently has 136 pupils on roll and has been over capacity for the last 6 years. The school currently has pupils waiting to attend the school and the council expects the demand to increase over the next few years and suggests that a capacity of 220 is reasonable. 

	The Local Authority believe that 220 is justified for the new building for the school.  
	The Local Authority believe that 220 is justified for the new building for the school.  
	 
	Currently the school has 136 pupils (September 2021 numbers on roll) with 

	Span


	However, there is no explanation as to why the figure of 220 has been chosen. 
	However, there is no explanation as to why the figure of 220 has been chosen. 
	However, there is no explanation as to why the figure of 220 has been chosen. 
	However, there is no explanation as to why the figure of 220 has been chosen. 

	10 pupils on the waiting list and a possible further 10 in the system.  
	10 pupils on the waiting list and a possible further 10 in the system.  
	 
	There are approximately 63 pupils still awaiting assessment due to delays caused by the pandemic. If 40% are admitted to the school then a further 25 pupils would be admitted- this would leave 39 places. Given the impact of the pandemic and the predicted consequence on the demand for these school places we believe that the 220 number is sensible.  

	Span

	The council also lists some issues with the conditions of the sites currently being used which a new build facility would address. 
	The council also lists some issues with the conditions of the sites currently being used which a new build facility would address. 
	The council also lists some issues with the conditions of the sites currently being used which a new build facility would address. 

	Agreed 
	Agreed 

	Span

	The council has provided seemingly appropriate details regarding the timescales for the implementation of the proposal. 
	The council has provided seemingly appropriate details regarding the timescales for the implementation of the proposal. 
	The council has provided seemingly appropriate details regarding the timescales for the implementation of the proposal. 

	Agreed 
	Agreed 

	Span

	The expected advantages of the proposal include increasing the capacity to better meet the demand, all pupils and staff being on the same site, improved transition arrangements and having subject specific rooms. The disadvantages include an increase in 
	The expected advantages of the proposal include increasing the capacity to better meet the demand, all pupils and staff being on the same site, improved transition arrangements and having subject specific rooms. The disadvantages include an increase in 
	The expected advantages of the proposal include increasing the capacity to better meet the demand, all pupils and staff being on the same site, improved transition arrangements and having subject specific rooms. The disadvantages include an increase in 

	Agreed 
	Agreed 

	Span


	traffic to the one site and a potentially noisy play area for all pupils. 
	traffic to the one site and a potentially noisy play area for all pupils. 
	traffic to the one site and a potentially noisy play area for all pupils. 
	traffic to the one site and a potentially noisy play area for all pupils. 
	These seem to be appropriate and reasonable. 
	 

	Span

	The mitigation against these risks appears to be mainly appropriate, however the council does not provide sufficient information regarding alternative pathways should they fail to obtain planning and funding approval. 
	The mitigation against these risks appears to be mainly appropriate, however the council does not provide sufficient information regarding alternative pathways should they fail to obtain planning and funding approval. 
	The mitigation against these risks appears to be mainly appropriate, however the council does not provide sufficient information regarding alternative pathways should they fail to obtain planning and funding approval. 

	If funding and planning are not approved the school will continue to be supported by the Local Authority and the capacity will not change. 
	If funding and planning are not approved the school will continue to be supported by the Local Authority and the capacity will not change. 

	Span

	The council has provided suitable reasons for discounting three of these options and choosing the fourth option. 
	The council has provided suitable reasons for discounting three of these options and choosing the fourth option. 
	The council has provided suitable reasons for discounting three of these options and choosing the fourth option. 

	 Agreed 
	 Agreed 

	Span

	The council iterates that transport arrangements will continue to be made in accordance with the county council’s home to school transport policy. This seems to be fair and reasonable. 
	The council iterates that transport arrangements will continue to be made in accordance with the county council’s home to school transport policy. This seems to be fair and reasonable. 
	The council iterates that transport arrangements will continue to be made in accordance with the county council’s home to school transport policy. This seems to be fair and reasonable. 

	Agreed 
	Agreed 

	Span

	The council has appropriately undertaken a Welsh language impact assessment. It states that providing an improved educational provision represents an opportunity to strengthen Welsh education in the area and as a result strengthen the Welsh language. It concludes that overall, the 
	The council has appropriately undertaken a Welsh language impact assessment. It states that providing an improved educational provision represents an opportunity to strengthen Welsh education in the area and as a result strengthen the Welsh language. It concludes that overall, the 
	The council has appropriately undertaken a Welsh language impact assessment. It states that providing an improved educational provision represents an opportunity to strengthen Welsh education in the area and as a result strengthen the Welsh language. It concludes that overall, the 

	Agreed 
	Agreed 

	Span


	proposal would not have a negative impact on the Welsh language 
	proposal would not have a negative impact on the Welsh language 
	proposal would not have a negative impact on the Welsh language 
	proposal would not have a negative impact on the Welsh language 

	Span

	The council does not refer directly to how this proposal will support the targets in the Welsh in Education Strategic Plan. It does however comment that Welsh is not used as a language of instruction in any Key Stage or subject, but the school provides the necessary resources for pupils to access the whole curriculum through the medium of Welsh. It would be useful to provide further details regarding this assertion. 
	The council does not refer directly to how this proposal will support the targets in the Welsh in Education Strategic Plan. It does however comment that Welsh is not used as a language of instruction in any Key Stage or subject, but the school provides the necessary resources for pupils to access the whole curriculum through the medium of Welsh. It would be useful to provide further details regarding this assertion. 
	The council does not refer directly to how this proposal will support the targets in the Welsh in Education Strategic Plan. It does however comment that Welsh is not used as a language of instruction in any Key Stage or subject, but the school provides the necessary resources for pupils to access the whole curriculum through the medium of Welsh. It would be useful to provide further details regarding this assertion. 

	Special schools do not have a language designation. Based on the needs of the pupils attending the school, the language of the teaching is provided appropriately. 
	Special schools do not have a language designation. Based on the needs of the pupils attending the school, the language of the teaching is provided appropriately. 
	Some teachers at the school can teach through the medium of Welsh if required. This is consistent in the approach set out in Section 6 of Denbighshire’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan.  

	Span

	The council has suitably identified the financial costs for this proposal. 
	The council has suitably identified the financial costs for this proposal. 
	The council has suitably identified the financial costs for this proposal. 

	Agreed 
	Agreed 

	Span

	The school has suitably considered the impact of the proposal on the quality and standards in education including the impact of the proposal on teaching and learning experiences, care, support and guidance and leadership and management. 
	The school has suitably considered the impact of the proposal on the quality and standards in education including the impact of the proposal on teaching and learning experiences, care, support and guidance and leadership and management. 
	The school has suitably considered the impact of the proposal on the quality and standards in education including the impact of the proposal on teaching and learning experiences, care, support and guidance and leadership and management. 

	Agreed 
	Agreed 

	Span

	The council has provided a document called “community, equality and Welsh language impact assessment”. Whilst this document suitably considers the impact of the proposal on the community and the Welsh language, it 
	The council has provided a document called “community, equality and Welsh language impact assessment”. Whilst this document suitably considers the impact of the proposal on the community and the Welsh language, it 
	The council has provided a document called “community, equality and Welsh language impact assessment”. Whilst this document suitably considers the impact of the proposal on the community and the Welsh language, it 

	The proposal will improve the number of places available to all pupils including those with protected characteristics.  
	The proposal will improve the number of places available to all pupils including those with protected characteristics.  
	The building will be fully accessible.  

	Span


	lacks sufficient consideration of the proposal’s impact on vulnerable groups or on pupils that have protected characteristics. 
	lacks sufficient consideration of the proposal’s impact on vulnerable groups or on pupils that have protected characteristics. 
	lacks sufficient consideration of the proposal’s impact on vulnerable groups or on pupils that have protected characteristics. 
	lacks sufficient consideration of the proposal’s impact on vulnerable groups or on pupils that have protected characteristics. 

	Span

	The council has appropriately considered that one of the main advantages of this proposal is that construction works would take place away from all current school sites, therefore minimal disruption to pupils learning will occur. 
	The council has appropriately considered that one of the main advantages of this proposal is that construction works would take place away from all current school sites, therefore minimal disruption to pupils learning will occur. 
	The council has appropriately considered that one of the main advantages of this proposal is that construction works would take place away from all current school sites, therefore minimal disruption to pupils learning will occur. 

	Agreed 
	Agreed 

	Span


	    
	Conclusion 
	Having considered all the information gathered to date, it is the view of officers that increasing Ysgol Plas Brondyffryn’s capacity from 116 to 220 in a brand new facility in the town of Denbigh will deliver the greatest benefits to pupils, staff and the wider community. The location of the new facility is subject to the planning process. 
	The next step 
	Following the publication of this consultation report the proposal will be discussed at DCC next Cabinet meeting. If the proposal is given approval a Statutory notice will be published following the decision by Cabinet.  
	Consultees are advised that, unfavourable comments made during the consultation period will not be treated as objections. Anyone wishing to object will need to do so in writing during the statutory objection period. Comments submitted as part of this consultation process will need to be re-submitted in writing during the statutory objection period if they are to be considered as objections. 
	APPENDIX 1- Consultation Document Recipient List 
	Table
	TR
	TD
	Span
	No 

	TD
	Span
	Stakeholder 

	TD
	Span
	Number of recipients  

	Span

	1.  
	1.  
	1.  
	1.  
	1.  



	Parents of pupils of Ysgol Plas Brondyffryn 
	Parents of pupils of Ysgol Plas Brondyffryn 

	131 
	131 

	Span

	2.  
	2.  
	2.  
	2.  
	2.  



	Teachers and support staff at Ysgol Plas Brondyffryn 
	Teachers and support staff at Ysgol Plas Brondyffryn 

	106 
	106 

	Span

	3.  
	3.  
	3.  
	3.  
	3.  



	Ysgol Plas Brondyffryn Governing Body  
	Ysgol Plas Brondyffryn Governing Body  

	17 
	17 

	Span

	4.  
	4.  
	4.  
	4.  
	4.  



	The School Council of Ysgol Plas Brondyffryn- Primary and secondary 
	The School Council of Ysgol Plas Brondyffryn- Primary and secondary 

	2 
	2 

	Span

	5.  
	5.  
	5.  
	5.  
	5.  



	The Diocese of St Asaph  
	The Diocese of St Asaph  

	1 
	1 

	Span

	6.  
	6.  
	6.  
	6.  
	6.  



	The Diocese of Wrexham 
	The Diocese of Wrexham 

	1 
	1 

	Span

	7.  
	7.  
	7.  
	7.  
	7.  



	Headteachers and Chair of Governors of all schools in Denbighshire ( Primary, Secondary & Special Schools) 
	Headteachers and Chair of Governors of all schools in Denbighshire ( Primary, Secondary & Special Schools) 

	50- Chairs 
	50- Chairs 
	51- Heads 

	Span

	8.  
	8.  
	8.  
	8.  
	8.  



	Denbighshire Children and Young People’s Partnership and the Early Years Development and Childcare Partnership 
	Denbighshire Children and Young People’s Partnership and the Early Years Development and Childcare Partnership 

	2 
	2 

	Span

	9.  
	9.  
	9.  
	9.  
	9.  



	NHS Community Paediatric  
	NHS Community Paediatric  

	1 
	1 

	Span

	10.  
	10.  
	10.  
	10.  
	10.  



	All Denbighshire County Councillors  
	All Denbighshire County Councillors  

	48 
	48 

	Span

	11.  
	11.  
	11.  
	11.  
	11.  



	Local and regional Assembly Members and MPs 
	Local and regional Assembly Members and MPs 

	10 
	10 

	Span

	12.  
	12.  
	12.  
	12.  
	12.  



	Denbigh Town Council  
	Denbigh Town Council  

	1 
	1 

	Span

	13.  
	13.  
	13.  
	13.  
	13.  



	The Welsh Government 
	The Welsh Government 

	1 
	1 

	Span

	14.  
	14.  
	14.  
	14.  
	14.  



	Estyn 
	Estyn 

	1 
	1 

	Span

	15.  
	15.  
	15.  
	15.  
	15.  



	Relevant Teaching and support staff Trade Unions 
	Relevant Teaching and support staff Trade Unions 

	8 
	8 

	Span


	16.  
	16.  
	16.  
	16.  
	16.  
	16.  



	North Wales Regional School Effectiveness and Improvement Service 
	North Wales Regional School Effectiveness and Improvement Service 

	3 
	3 

	Span

	17.  
	17.  
	17.  
	17.  
	17.  



	North Wales Police and Crime Commissioner 
	North Wales Police and Crime Commissioner 

	1 
	1 

	Span

	18.  
	18.  
	18.  
	18.  
	18.  



	Welsh language Commissioner 
	Welsh language Commissioner 

	1 
	1 

	Span

	19.  
	19.  
	19.  
	19.  
	19.  



	Flintshire County Council- Chief Officer for Education and Youth 
	Flintshire County Council- Chief Officer for Education and Youth 

	1 
	1 

	Span

	20.  
	20.  
	20.  
	20.  
	20.  



	Conwy County Borough Council- Head of Education Services 
	Conwy County Borough Council- Head of Education Services 

	1 
	1 

	Span

	21.  
	21.  
	21.  
	21.  
	21.  



	Wrexham County Borough Council- Chief Officer Education and Early Intervention 
	Wrexham County Borough Council- Chief Officer Education and Early Intervention 

	1 
	1 

	Span

	22.  
	22.  
	22.  
	22.  
	22.  



	Denbighshire County Council- Head of Education 
	Denbighshire County Council- Head of Education 

	1 
	1 

	Span

	23.  
	23.  
	23.  
	23.  
	23.  



	Gwynedd Council- Head of Education 
	Gwynedd Council- Head of Education 

	1 
	1 

	Span

	24.  
	24.  
	24.  
	24.  
	24.  



	Isle of Anglesey County Council- Director of Education, Skills and Young People 
	Isle of Anglesey County Council- Director of Education, Skills and Young People 

	1 
	1 

	Span

	25.  
	25.  
	25.  
	25.  
	25.  



	Children and adolescent learning disability Service 
	Children and adolescent learning disability Service 

	1 
	1 

	Span

	26.  
	26.  
	26.  
	26.  
	26.  



	National Autistic Society 
	National Autistic Society 

	1 
	1 

	Span

	 
	 
	 

	Total 
	Total 

	460 
	460 

	Span


	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	APPENDIX 2- Summary of Comments/ Questions raised in the meetings 
	Online Governors meeting via Teams- Monday 6th June 2022 
	Table
	TR
	TD
	Span
	No 

	TD
	Span
	Comment/ Question Raised 

	TD
	Span
	Response 

	Span

	1.  
	1.  
	1.  
	1.  
	1.  



	How did DCC come up with the number 220 for the new capacity? 
	How did DCC come up with the number 220 for the new capacity? 

	The number of 220 was arrived at to ensure that the school is placed to meet future demand. Pupil numbers at the school for the last few years are around 140 and there have been significant challenges to meet demand due to a lack of space at the school. We looked at the numbers currently in the system, awaiting assessment and room for future growth.  
	The number of 220 was arrived at to ensure that the school is placed to meet future demand. Pupil numbers at the school for the last few years are around 140 and there have been significant challenges to meet demand due to a lack of space at the school. We looked at the numbers currently in the system, awaiting assessment and room for future growth.  

	Span

	2.  
	2.  
	2.  
	2.  
	2.  



	How long will it take until we are full once again? 
	How long will it take until we are full once again? 

	This is difficult to say with any certainty however we believe the 220 number is a reasonable number taking into account numbers awaiting assessments currently. Future demand in terms of special schools is very difficult to predict  
	This is difficult to say with any certainty however we believe the 220 number is a reasonable number taking into account numbers awaiting assessments currently. Future demand in terms of special schools is very difficult to predict  

	Span

	3.  
	3.  
	3.  
	3.  
	3.  



	Impact on the Admissions policy 
	Impact on the Admissions policy 

	Admission into the school is in accordance to the Admissions policy and all pupils must have a Statement of Education needs indicating autism as the primary need. If the Admissions policy requires review, the Governors will do this in conjunction with the Local 
	Admission into the school is in accordance to the Admissions policy and all pupils must have a Statement of Education needs indicating autism as the primary need. If the Admissions policy requires review, the Governors will do this in conjunction with the Local 

	Span


	Table
	TR
	Authority with any changes being subject to a consultation process. 
	Authority with any changes being subject to a consultation process. 

	Span

	4.  
	4.  
	4.  
	4.  
	4.  



	When will parents and governors see the latest regarding the design of the new build? 
	When will parents and governors see the latest regarding the design of the new build? 

	At the moment we are hoping the pre-planning process will start in the summer and will involve a drop-in session at the school where the latest plans can be seen and discussed with members of the project team.  
	At the moment we are hoping the pre-planning process will start in the summer and will involve a drop-in session at the school where the latest plans can be seen and discussed with members of the project team.  
	Alternatively we can ask Wates to present at a future Governors meeting the latest design.  

	Span


	 
	Staff meetings- Primary site meeting- also open to staff at Ty’r Ysgol site- Tuesday 7th June 2022, Secondary site meeting which was also open to staff at Ty’r Ysgol- Wednesday 8th June 2022 
	Table
	TR
	TD
	Span
	No 

	TD
	Span
	Comment/ Question Raised 

	TD
	Span
	Response 

	Span

	5.  
	5.  
	5.  
	5.  
	5.  



	Will we have 220 pupils on day 1 of the new build? 
	Will we have 220 pupils on day 1 of the new build? 

	No, the Local Authority believe it will be a gradual increase over a number of years. The growth will be controlled so that pupils and staff can settle into the new building.   
	No, the Local Authority believe it will be a gradual increase over a number of years. The growth will be controlled so that pupils and staff can settle into the new building.   

	Span

	6.  
	6.  
	6.  
	6.  
	6.  



	Will we still be a ‘regional centre’? 
	Will we still be a ‘regional centre’? 

	The school has traditionally operated as a regional provision since the school was re-established in the early 2000’s. The school was considered as a regional provision although the funding model for 
	The school has traditionally operated as a regional provision since the school was re-established in the early 2000’s. The school was considered as a regional provision although the funding model for 

	Span


	Table
	TR
	the school was solely through Denbighshire.   
	the school was solely through Denbighshire.   
	Faced with a growing demand for places and a restricted capacity the short term decision was taken by Denbighshire, pending the outcome of the Band B proposals to restrict admissions to Denbighshire pupils pending the outcome of a long term approach for the school. 
	One of the workstreams of the project will be to review the admission policy to clarify access for out-of-county placements.  

	Span

	7.  
	7.  
	7.  
	7.  
	7.  



	Are the building plans set in stone? 
	Are the building plans set in stone? 

	No, we still need to carry out pre-planning consultation and then submit to full planning.  
	No, we still need to carry out pre-planning consultation and then submit to full planning.  

	Span

	8.  
	8.  
	8.  
	8.  
	8.  



	How big are the classrooms compared to the classrooms now? 
	How big are the classrooms compared to the classrooms now? 

	Comparisons are below:  
	Comparisons are below:  
	New build-General Classrooms- approx. 55m²,  
	Specialist rooms range from 60m² Art to DT 72m², Science Lab 65m², Science Studio 60m² 
	Primary hall/dining- 122m² 
	Secondary hall- 145m² 

	Span


	Table
	TR
	Secondary dining- 138m² 
	Secondary dining- 138m² 
	Current sizes- Classrooms range from 45m² to 54m² 
	Primary dining/hall- 103m² 
	Park Street site- DT room approx. 58m², Science lab 69m² 

	Span

	9.  
	9.  
	9.  
	9.  
	9.  



	How will we manage moving the pupils into a new setting given that some will be unsettled? 
	How will we manage moving the pupils into a new setting given that some will be unsettled? 

	During the construction phase there will be opportunities for staff and pupils to visit the site and start familiarising themselves with the new building. As the moving date gets nearer, we will work closely with the contractors and the school to ensure any pupils that need additional visits to the new building can be facilitated.   
	During the construction phase there will be opportunities for staff and pupils to visit the site and start familiarising themselves with the new building. As the moving date gets nearer, we will work closely with the contractors and the school to ensure any pupils that need additional visits to the new building can be facilitated.   

	Span

	10.  
	10.  
	10.  
	10.  
	10.  



	How does the project link with Denbigh High- they are losing one of their fields?  
	How does the project link with Denbigh High- they are losing one of their fields?  

	This projects links closely with the Denbigh High project in a number of ways. As this project progresses through the milestones the more certainty and confidence of delivery will ensure a clearer scope for the development of Denbigh High School.  
	This projects links closely with the Denbigh High project in a number of ways. As this project progresses through the milestones the more certainty and confidence of delivery will ensure a clearer scope for the development of Denbigh High School.  
	The secondary site at Ysgol Plas Brondyffryn will be key to the developments at Denbigh High as this building is in a relatively good condition and will enable Denbigh High to utilise the space either temporarily or 

	Span


	Table
	TR
	permanently depending on how the Denbigh High project progresses and what works are agreed on the site. This will also include the external areas currently used by Plas Brondyffryn.  
	permanently depending on how the Denbigh High project progresses and what works are agreed on the site. This will also include the external areas currently used by Plas Brondyffryn.  

	Span

	11.  
	11.  
	11.  
	11.  
	11.  



	What happens if there is a delay with the build- will we be expected to increase our capacity at our current sites? 
	What happens if there is a delay with the build- will we be expected to increase our capacity at our current sites? 

	No, there will be a modification to the Statutory Notice if a delay in the build occurs.  
	No, there will be a modification to the Statutory Notice if a delay in the build occurs.  

	Span

	12.  
	12.  
	12.  
	12.  
	12.  



	Who are the architects and do they have experience in designing schools for autistic pupils?  
	Who are the architects and do they have experience in designing schools for autistic pupils?  

	The architects on the project are Pozzoni Architects, they are very experienced in designing SEN schools, please see their website for further details:  
	The architects on the project are Pozzoni Architects, they are very experienced in designing SEN schools, please see their website for further details:  
	www.pozzoni.co.uk
	www.pozzoni.co.uk
	www.pozzoni.co.uk

	 


	Span


	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	APPENDIX 3- School Council Findings 
	Report on the consultation with the School Councils of Ysgol Plas Brondyffryn- Primary council and Secondary council 
	The sessions were led by the Local Authority’s Engagement and Participation Lead officer and were supported by the staff from the school. In the primary sessions a number of pupils were non-verbal and staff had brought PECS Cards (Picture Exchange Communication System) so they could participate in the session.   
	Pupils on the secondary school council had taken the questions in the consultation document and discussed it with their class members so had a number of responses for each question- all are detailed below.  
	How do you feel about the proposal? 
	 Within the sessions we asked pupils how they felt about all Ysgol Plas Brondyffryn pupils being in the same building and having a new build, below are the responses from the sessions.  
	Primary School Council: 
	 Thumbs up 
	 Thumbs up 
	 Thumbs up 

	 Excited 
	 Excited 

	 Bit Nervous 
	 Bit Nervous 

	 Excited to be together with other pupils 
	 Excited to be together with other pupils 

	 Good 
	 Good 

	 Happy 
	 Happy 

	 Ok 
	 Ok 

	 Bit happy, bit nervous 
	 Bit happy, bit nervous 

	 Cheeky 
	 Cheeky 


	Secondary School Council: 
	 Excited-4 
	 Excited-4 
	 Excited-4 


	 I don’t mind-2 
	 I don’t mind-2 
	 I don’t mind-2 

	 Good-4 
	 Good-4 

	 Feel cool about it 
	 Feel cool about it 

	 Happy-3 
	 Happy-3 

	 Happy to have a new yard as its too small right now 
	 Happy to have a new yard as its too small right now 

	 Very good as we need more space 
	 Very good as we need more space 

	 Not sure if there will be enough outdoor space for all pupils to use in the new building. 
	 Not sure if there will be enough outdoor space for all pupils to use in the new building. 

	 Ok-3 
	 Ok-3 

	 Could be terrible as will be chaotic 
	 Could be terrible as will be chaotic 

	 Ok in the same building but I feel a bit uncomfortable on the yard with everyone 
	 Ok in the same building but I feel a bit uncomfortable on the yard with everyone 

	 Fine- 1 
	 Fine- 1 

	 Good as easier for taxis. 
	 Good as easier for taxis. 

	 It will be more eco friendly 
	 It will be more eco friendly 

	 I can see why we need a new building so we won’t be paying bills on each site 
	 I can see why we need a new building so we won’t be paying bills on each site 

	 Not sure about us being around smaller, screaming children- will be nosier 
	 Not sure about us being around smaller, screaming children- will be nosier 

	 It will be a nice change. 
	 It will be a nice change. 

	 Get to know other pupils. 
	 Get to know other pupils. 

	 Not bothered 
	 Not bothered 

	 Very happy as I will be able to see my friends in primary.  
	 Very happy as I will be able to see my friends in primary.  


	What is important to you about School now? 
	Within the sessions we asked pupils what was important to them about school.  
	Primary school council responses:  
	 Chrome books  
	 Chrome books  
	 Chrome books  

	 Sensory room 
	 Sensory room 

	 Friends 
	 Friends 

	 Swings and slides outside 
	 Swings and slides outside 

	 Garden 
	 Garden 

	 Forest school 
	 Forest school 


	 Science room 
	 Science room 
	 Science room 

	 Drums 
	 Drums 

	 Climbing wall 
	 Climbing wall 

	 Outdoor space 
	 Outdoor space 

	 Cookery 
	 Cookery 

	 Medical room 
	 Medical room 

	 Bigger classrooms 
	 Bigger classrooms 

	 Mud kitchen- outdoor classrooms 
	 Mud kitchen- outdoor classrooms 

	 Story time 
	 Story time 

	 Cycle path 
	 Cycle path 


	Secondary school council responses: 
	 Lessons 
	 Lessons 
	 Lessons 

	 Chrome books 
	 Chrome books 

	 Access to ICT 
	 Access to ICT 

	 Important to know where you are going 
	 Important to know where you are going 

	 One dinner hall 
	 One dinner hall 

	 Equipment on the yard- swings missing, green spinners are broken 
	 Equipment on the yard- swings missing, green spinners are broken 

	 Forest school 
	 Forest school 

	 The ICT room 
	 The ICT room 


	What don’t you like about your school now? 
	Primary School Council responses:  
	 Work 
	 Work 
	 Work 

	 Loud noises 
	 Loud noises 

	 No shade on the yard 
	 No shade on the yard 

	 There is only one medical room 
	 There is only one medical room 

	 No small/ break out rooms 
	 No small/ break out rooms 


	 
	Secondary School Council responses: 
	 Toilets- lots are broken 
	 Toilets- lots are broken 
	 Toilets- lots are broken 

	 Canteen 
	 Canteen 

	 Need more toilets 
	 Need more toilets 

	 Need a new yard- too small at the moment 
	 Need a new yard- too small at the moment 


	What are your worries about the plans? 
	When there are plans to make big changes, it is normal to have concerns about what could happen. Within the sessions we asked pupils if they had any worries about the plan. The responses below will be taken into consideration if the plan is approved. 
	 Primary school council: 
	· Mixing with the bigger children 
	· Mixing with the bigger children 
	· Mixing with the bigger children 

	· Bullies 
	· Bullies 

	· People pushing- need wide corridors 
	· People pushing- need wide corridors 


	Secondary school council: 
	· Taxis- it will be chaos 
	· Taxis- it will be chaos 
	· Taxis- it will be chaos 

	· Lunch time arrangements 
	· Lunch time arrangements 

	· Not knowing the way around the building 
	· Not knowing the way around the building 

	· It might be difficult for staff to keep pupils from different sites apart- need strong doors with codes so can’t be pushed open between different areas. 
	· It might be difficult for staff to keep pupils from different sites apart- need strong doors with codes so can’t be pushed open between different areas. 

	· Concerned that we will lose forest school 
	· Concerned that we will lose forest school 


	What would you like to see in the new school? 
	Within the sessions we asked pupils what they would like to see in the new school if the plans for the new school were agreed, below are the suggestions from the sessions. 
	 A stage room. 
	 A stage room. 
	 A stage room. 


	 Computer room-3 
	 Computer room-3 
	 Computer room-3 

	 Gaming room- 2 
	 Gaming room- 2 

	 Acting room. 
	 Acting room. 

	 A Playground. 
	 A Playground. 

	 Bigger playground-2 
	 Bigger playground-2 

	 Swings on the playground and a better playground. 
	 Swings on the playground and a better playground. 

	 A gym. 
	 A gym. 

	 A second small playground with trampolines. 
	 A second small playground with trampolines. 

	 Better computers with photoshop. 
	 Better computers with photoshop. 

	 Mediation area. 
	 Mediation area. 

	 Need a lift for disabled people. 
	 Need a lift for disabled people. 

	 Have a field of our own. 
	 Have a field of our own. 

	 Have a canteen on our own-2 
	 Have a canteen on our own-2 

	 Drinking fountains in the corridor so we don’t have to ask staff-2 
	 Drinking fountains in the corridor so we don’t have to ask staff-2 

	 Need a better playground.-3 
	 Need a better playground.-3 

	 Better art room, science labs and toilets. 
	 Better art room, science labs and toilets. 

	 More technology. 
	 More technology. 

	 A sports hall 
	 A sports hall 

	 Grass on the playgrounds. 
	 Grass on the playgrounds. 

	 All weather football pitch. 
	 All weather football pitch. 

	 Swings. 
	 Swings. 

	 Trampoline-2 
	 Trampoline-2 

	 Climbing wall. 
	 Climbing wall. 

	 Basketball hoop- 2 
	 Basketball hoop- 2 

	 Mini house. 
	 Mini house. 

	 Separate area for pupils who do not attend lessons etc as it stops other pupils using facilities. 
	 Separate area for pupils who do not attend lessons etc as it stops other pupils using facilities. 

	 Football posts. 
	 Football posts. 

	 Updated computing system and greater ICT space. 
	 Updated computing system and greater ICT space. 

	 Updated D&T and art facilities. 
	 Updated D&T and art facilities. 

	 More GSCE options. 
	 More GSCE options. 

	 More appropriate sports facilities. 
	 More appropriate sports facilities. 

	 Lockers for pupils in corridors. 
	 Lockers for pupils in corridors. 


	 Soft play area. 
	 Soft play area. 
	 Soft play area. 

	 Relaxing area for staff. 
	 Relaxing area for staff. 

	 Better school WI-FI.  
	 Better school WI-FI.  


	Questions?  
	We asked pupils if they had any questions about the plan. Below are the pupil’s questions and responses. 
	Table
	TR
	TD
	Span
	Question 

	TD
	Span
	Response 

	Span

	Will there be enough space on the playground? 
	Will there be enough space on the playground? 
	Will there be enough space on the playground? 
	 

	Yes, the playground areas are split up into sections depending on what age you are in the school. Some classrooms will have direct access into an outdoor area. There will also be a small woodland and forest school area and equipment such as swings and trampolines will be available for all pupils to use.    
	Yes, the playground areas are split up into sections depending on what age you are in the school. Some classrooms will have direct access into an outdoor area. There will also be a small woodland and forest school area and equipment such as swings and trampolines will be available for all pupils to use.    

	Span

	Is there going to be separate breakout/ group rooms? 
	Is there going to be separate breakout/ group rooms? 
	Is there going to be separate breakout/ group rooms? 
	 

	Yes many of the classrooms have group rooms within them so they are easy for pupils and staff to get to.  
	Yes many of the classrooms have group rooms within them so they are easy for pupils and staff to get to.  

	Span

	Will there be maps of the new school to help students and staff find their way around? 
	Will there be maps of the new school to help students and staff find their way around? 
	Will there be maps of the new school to help students and staff find their way around? 
	 

	If maps would be useful this can be arranged for your first day in the new building.  
	If maps would be useful this can be arranged for your first day in the new building.  
	Pupils and staff will be invited to visit the site as the building progresses so they can get used to the layout and visit areas of the new build that they are 

	Span


	Table
	TR
	interested in.  
	interested in.  

	Span

	How will the taxis be able to line up? 
	How will the taxis be able to line up? 
	How will the taxis be able to line up? 
	 

	Taxis and minibuses will enter the site from Ystrad Road and line up within a secure zone next to the school. Pupils will only exit the taxi once everyone is stationary. This process will be managed by school staff and vehicles will only leave the zone once all pupils are safely inside.  
	Taxis and minibuses will enter the site from Ystrad Road and line up within a secure zone next to the school. Pupils will only exit the taxi once everyone is stationary. This process will be managed by school staff and vehicles will only leave the zone once all pupils are safely inside.  
	If a taxi is late they would queue up in the staff parking area before being allowed through to the main drop off zone. There are also 2 areas either end of the school where taxis can drive onto the school yard itself and drop off those pupils who maybe experiencing difficulties exiting the car that day.  
	During the school day this secure taxi drop off zone can be used by the school for cycling lessons and highway awareness.  

	Span

	Will all the school finish at the same time? 
	Will all the school finish at the same time? 
	Will all the school finish at the same time? 
	 

	This will be decided and agreed by the headteacher and governors.  
	This will be decided and agreed by the headteacher and governors.  
	It is likely that there will be a small time gap between the primary and secondary pupils leaving the building.  

	Span

	How will playtime/lunchtime be 
	How will playtime/lunchtime be 
	How will playtime/lunchtime be 

	The primary pupils will have their own 
	The primary pupils will have their own 

	Span


	allocated? Same times or different? 
	allocated? Same times or different? 
	allocated? Same times or different? 
	allocated? Same times or different? 
	How will dinner time be arranged? 
	 

	dining area in the primary hall and will probably be served food just before the secondary pupils. The secondary pupils have their own separate dining area away from the younger pupils. Times will be decided by the headteacher. 
	dining area in the primary hall and will probably be served food just before the secondary pupils. The secondary pupils have their own separate dining area away from the younger pupils. Times will be decided by the headteacher. 
	Playtimes will also be agreed by the headteacher- it is important to say that pupils will have their own specific areas to play in and older pupils will not be on the same area of yard as the younger ones.  

	Span


	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	APPENDIX 4- Full Governing Body response to the consultation: 
	This submission to the consultation process regarding the new build school for Plas Brondyffryn is from the full Governing Body and was agreed unanimously at the Governors Meeting tonight, 27-06-2022 Alison Duncan (chair), Simon Humphreys (vice-chair), David Price (Head teacher), Hannah Maddock, Louise Hollingworth, Joanne Morris, Eirlys Parry, Ali Ballantyne, Haydn Owen, Nathalie Thomas, Sian Evans, Mark Adams, Richard Crowther, Cheryl Cooper (Absent tonight but provided a written response in support of th
	The present capacity of the school is 116 pupils. According to the most recent records, the current number of pupils in the school is 139, i.e. 23 above its stated capacity - 81 below the planned increase to 220 pupils. The school is at present under a high degree of strain given the many compromises which have had to be introduced in order to accommodate the increase in pupil numbers. This increase is not a blip, but steady and ongoing. More and more young people are receiving a diagnosis of autism and the
	The compromises I have referred to are not matters of minor tinkering with school arrangements, but significant alterations which have made the numbers manageable but have reduced in a worrying way the quality of educational provision. Thus, the range of special rooms or areas (break-out areas, play areas, sensory areas, quiet areas) which, in addition to ordinary classrooms, are an essential part of any special school, have been whittled away, till they have become pale shadows of what is actually needed a
	It is therefore self-evident that the school needs more room not only to accommodate the existing pupils, and enable them to thrive, but also to reach out to the pupils who are already knocking at the door as well as the others, yet to be identified, but coming our way soon. It is the Governors' strong belief that a larger, better resourced school is urgently needed now, and that, given ever-pressing demand, the new school will have reached its capacity of 220 within the next decade. 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	APPENDIX 5- Summary of responses received via Email 
	Table
	TR
	TD
	Span
	Summary of Comments 

	TD
	Span
	Proposers Response 

	Span

	Concerned around loss of green spaces and increased volume of traffic. 
	Concerned around loss of green spaces and increased volume of traffic. 
	Concerned around loss of green spaces and increased volume of traffic. 

	Please see Appendix 6- section 3 for a full response 
	Please see Appendix 6- section 3 for a full response 

	Span

	In favour in principle.  
	In favour in principle.  
	In favour in principle.  
	Must question the logic of site selection.  Not only will it deprive the adjacent school of valuable playing fields and open space, but as the majority of pupils will inevitably be delivered and collected by some form of transport, this will significantly add to congestion in the area.  
	Surely a site outside of town would be more appropriate, which could have adequate off-road space for parking, setting-down and picking-up, without depriving other schools of playing fields and making it more difficult for parents. 

	Please see Appendix 6- section 3 for a full response 
	Please see Appendix 6- section 3 for a full response 

	Span

	I think the impact of the school on the physical education provision at Denbigh high will be significant due to the additional time it will take pupils to get to the farthest fields away. How will this be mitigated? 
	I think the impact of the school on the physical education provision at Denbigh high will be significant due to the additional time it will take pupils to get to the farthest fields away. How will this be mitigated? 
	I think the impact of the school on the physical education provision at Denbigh high will be significant due to the additional time it will take pupils to get to the farthest fields away. How will this be mitigated? 

	The mitigation of this will be a consideration in the design for the remodelling of Denbigh High. 
	The mitigation of this will be a consideration in the design for the remodelling of Denbigh High. 

	Span


	If the proposal does go ahead will the LA consider modernising and amalgamating Ysgol y Parc and Ysgol Frongoch on the current Frongoch site? 
	If the proposal does go ahead will the LA consider modernising and amalgamating Ysgol y Parc and Ysgol Frongoch on the current Frongoch site? 
	If the proposal does go ahead will the LA consider modernising and amalgamating Ysgol y Parc and Ysgol Frongoch on the current Frongoch site? 
	If the proposal does go ahead will the LA consider modernising and amalgamating Ysgol y Parc and Ysgol Frongoch on the current Frongoch site? 

	There is currently no proposal to amalgamate Ysgol y Parc and Ysgol Frongoch. 
	There is currently no proposal to amalgamate Ysgol y Parc and Ysgol Frongoch. 

	Span

	There has been significant investment in main stream schools (Rhyl, Glan Clwyd, Brynhyfryd etc.) right across the county but this has not been reflected in Denbigh and it should be.   
	There has been significant investment in main stream schools (Rhyl, Glan Clwyd, Brynhyfryd etc.) right across the county but this has not been reflected in Denbigh and it should be.   
	There has been significant investment in main stream schools (Rhyl, Glan Clwyd, Brynhyfryd etc.) right across the county but this has not been reflected in Denbigh and it should be.   
	 

	The Band B proposals for the Sustainable Communities for leaning programme- previously 21st Century Schools and College programme is focused on the town of Denbigh with the following 3 projects being proposed:  
	The Band B proposals for the Sustainable Communities for leaning programme- previously 21st Century Schools and College programme is focused on the town of Denbigh with the following 3 projects being proposed:  
	 Proposal to rebuild Ysgol Pendref, 
	 Proposal to rebuild Ysgol Pendref, 
	 Proposal to rebuild Ysgol Pendref, 

	 Proposal to increase the capacity at Ysgol Plas Brondyffryn via a new purpose built facility, 
	 Proposal to increase the capacity at Ysgol Plas Brondyffryn via a new purpose built facility, 

	 Proposal to refurbish Denbigh High school. 
	 Proposal to refurbish Denbigh High school. 


	If all 3 proceed there would be £46.6 million investment in the town. 

	Span

	As it is proposed to build this facility on part of the existing Denbigh High School playing field, I consider this is a near-sighted proposal that will in the long term prove to be detrimental to the pupils and residents of Denbigh. 
	As it is proposed to build this facility on part of the existing Denbigh High School playing field, I consider this is a near-sighted proposal that will in the long term prove to be detrimental to the pupils and residents of Denbigh. 
	As it is proposed to build this facility on part of the existing Denbigh High School playing field, I consider this is a near-sighted proposal that will in the long term prove to be detrimental to the pupils and residents of Denbigh. 

	 
	 
	Please see Appendix 6- section 3 for a full response 

	Span


	Open recreational space is extremely valuable to the physical and mental health of the community, and regrettably since the creation of the footpath/ cycleway around the perimeter of the proposed site, which included fencing off the Denbigh High School fields, the public access to the playing fields and athletics facilities has been severely limited.  
	Open recreational space is extremely valuable to the physical and mental health of the community, and regrettably since the creation of the footpath/ cycleway around the perimeter of the proposed site, which included fencing off the Denbigh High School fields, the public access to the playing fields and athletics facilities has been severely limited.  
	Open recreational space is extremely valuable to the physical and mental health of the community, and regrettably since the creation of the footpath/ cycleway around the perimeter of the proposed site, which included fencing off the Denbigh High School fields, the public access to the playing fields and athletics facilities has been severely limited.  
	Open recreational space is extremely valuable to the physical and mental health of the community, and regrettably since the creation of the footpath/ cycleway around the perimeter of the proposed site, which included fencing off the Denbigh High School fields, the public access to the playing fields and athletics facilities has been severely limited.  
	Many individuals/ groups previously used the athletics track out of hours for training, the wider fields for running and walking, however as noted in your response to queries on my behalf to Dr James Davies MP, there is now little booked activity there - unsurprising as there has been a Covid-19 pandemic; and the once freely accessible fields presumably now incur a usage charge via the leisure centre. 

	Span

	The consultation document refers to the outdoor space requirements being less than at available at present by Denbigh High School; has this taken into account the long term population growth estimates?  Given the considerable number of new houses built and current planned house building projects, presumably the Council believes the local population is likely to increase, which will increase pupil 
	The consultation document refers to the outdoor space requirements being less than at available at present by Denbigh High School; has this taken into account the long term population growth estimates?  Given the considerable number of new houses built and current planned house building projects, presumably the Council believes the local population is likely to increase, which will increase pupil 
	The consultation document refers to the outdoor space requirements being less than at available at present by Denbigh High School; has this taken into account the long term population growth estimates?  Given the considerable number of new houses built and current planned house building projects, presumably the Council believes the local population is likely to increase, which will increase pupil 

	The current proposal to enable the increase in capacity of Ysgol Plas Brondyffryn includes consolidating provision on a single site.  This would involve the building of a new facility on one of the two fields currently used by Denbigh High School.  
	The current proposal to enable the increase in capacity of Ysgol Plas Brondyffryn includes consolidating provision on a single site.  This would involve the building of a new facility on one of the two fields currently used by Denbigh High School.  
	The field proposed for development is currently used by Denbigh High predominantly in the spring / summer term for athletics, football and rugby- 

	Span


	numbers at Denbigh High School, requiring a greater outdoor footprint. 
	numbers at Denbigh High School, requiring a greater outdoor footprint. 
	numbers at Denbigh High School, requiring a greater outdoor footprint. 
	numbers at Denbigh High School, requiring a greater outdoor footprint. 
	 

	the school principally use the all-weather pitch at the leisure centre during the winter months.  
	the school principally use the all-weather pitch at the leisure centre during the winter months.  
	This site is fenced off for school use and can only be accessed by the community if they book it through the leisure centre. 
	At present the space provided by these 2 external pitches area for Denbigh High School is in excess of what is required for current pupil numbers and its capacity.  Based on the school capacity there is a requirement of approximately 45,000 sqm for pitches and the school at present has an overall area of approximately 70,000 sqm including the all weather pitch. 
	During construction of Ysgol Plas Brondyffryn and then following completion of works, pupils at Denbigh High School would retain access to the second field and the all weather pitch.   
	The field that would be retained by Denbigh High School together with the continued use of the All Weather Pitch at the Leisure Centre would give Denbigh High access to the equivalent of approximately 46,000 

	Span


	Table
	TR
	sqm.  This would be in line with the suggested size for the school. 
	sqm.  This would be in line with the suggested size for the school. 
	Survey works have started on the field next to Denbigh Town FC to establish whether any remedial works are needed to ensure Denbigh High are able to continue to use it for PE. 
	We will be working with the school to ensure the field is accessible to pupils from the leisure centre where they currently change. There will need to be a temporary route during the construction phase and then a permeant solution once the project is completed as this will impact on the Denbigh High project.  
	Based on this we are of the view that for school pupils at Denbigh High there will remain appropriate access to sports pitches for the full delivery of physical exercise and this will allow the school to continue to address agendas such as childhood obesity etc. 

	Span

	Will the remaining sports field be upgraded to develop a 400 m track and all the other field -events facilities as well? If not this will disadvantage Denbigh pupils from training 
	Will the remaining sports field be upgraded to develop a 400 m track and all the other field -events facilities as well? If not this will disadvantage Denbigh pupils from training 
	Will the remaining sports field be upgraded to develop a 400 m track and all the other field -events facilities as well? If not this will disadvantage Denbigh pupils from training 

	Please see Appendix 6- section 3 for a full response 
	Please see Appendix 6- section 3 for a full response 

	Span


	and competing compared with their local peers in Ruthin and St Asaph, as well as local athletics groups who wish to train competitively. 
	and competing compared with their local peers in Ruthin and St Asaph, as well as local athletics groups who wish to train competitively. 
	and competing compared with their local peers in Ruthin and St Asaph, as well as local athletics groups who wish to train competitively. 
	and competing compared with their local peers in Ruthin and St Asaph, as well as local athletics groups who wish to train competitively. 

	Span

	Can I request confirmation that the Council has fulfilled all the requirements of the Welsh Government document: 
	Can I request confirmation that the Council has fulfilled all the requirements of the Welsh Government document: 
	Can I request confirmation that the Council has fulfilled all the requirements of the Welsh Government document: 
	 
	https://gov.wales/playing-field-disposal-guidance
	https://gov.wales/playing-field-disposal-guidance
	https://gov.wales/playing-field-disposal-guidance

	 

	In particular Sections 8.7-9.12 

	The Local Authority is not granting any estate in the land and we are not ‘disposing’ of the land.  
	The Local Authority is not granting any estate in the land and we are not ‘disposing’ of the land.  
	As part of the pre-planning and planning process Sports Council for Wales and Fields in Trust will be consulted. Informal discussions have already taken place.  

	Span

	While I am in not opposed to the proposal to merge the three schools onto one campus, it should not be at the expense of the sporting opportunities, and potential detriment to the physical health of Denbigh school students,  and the loss of the sole publically -accessible athletics facility in Denbigh. 
	While I am in not opposed to the proposal to merge the three schools onto one campus, it should not be at the expense of the sporting opportunities, and potential detriment to the physical health of Denbigh school students,  and the loss of the sole publically -accessible athletics facility in Denbigh. 
	While I am in not opposed to the proposal to merge the three schools onto one campus, it should not be at the expense of the sporting opportunities, and potential detriment to the physical health of Denbigh school students,  and the loss of the sole publically -accessible athletics facility in Denbigh. 

	Please see Appendix 6- section 3 for a full response 
	Please see Appendix 6- section 3 for a full response 

	Span

	I would like to propose that an alternative location be considered: the recently purchased, council -owned site, namely the former North Wales Hospital campus, which is currently being re-developed for further proposed housing.  
	I would like to propose that an alternative location be considered: the recently purchased, council -owned site, namely the former North Wales Hospital campus, which is currently being re-developed for further proposed housing.  
	I would like to propose that an alternative location be considered: the recently purchased, council -owned site, namely the former North Wales Hospital campus, which is currently being re-developed for further proposed housing.  

	The site is currently owned by DCC however there is a Development Agreement with Jones Bros.(JB) in place. As part of that agreement they currently have right to occupy the site and an obligation to provide security. 
	The site is currently owned by DCC however there is a Development Agreement with Jones Bros.(JB) in place. As part of that agreement they currently have right to occupy the site and an obligation to provide security. 
	 

	Span


	If some land there were to be set aside and the new school built there, this could be an ideal alternative for the Brondyffryn schools, without the loss of the Denbigh High School sports fields. Additionally it is very close to the Gerddi Glasfryn residential site; this could allow the residents the opportunity to walk to their school, instead of requiring a daily short trip in a vehicle, with the benefit of reducing the council’s carbon footprint. 
	If some land there were to be set aside and the new school built there, this could be an ideal alternative for the Brondyffryn schools, without the loss of the Denbigh High School sports fields. Additionally it is very close to the Gerddi Glasfryn residential site; this could allow the residents the opportunity to walk to their school, instead of requiring a daily short trip in a vehicle, with the benefit of reducing the council’s carbon footprint. 
	If some land there were to be set aside and the new school built there, this could be an ideal alternative for the Brondyffryn schools, without the loss of the Denbigh High School sports fields. Additionally it is very close to the Gerddi Glasfryn residential site; this could allow the residents the opportunity to walk to their school, instead of requiring a daily short trip in a vehicle, with the benefit of reducing the council’s carbon footprint. 
	If some land there were to be set aside and the new school built there, this could be an ideal alternative for the Brondyffryn schools, without the loss of the Denbigh High School sports fields. Additionally it is very close to the Gerddi Glasfryn residential site; this could allow the residents the opportunity to walk to their school, instead of requiring a daily short trip in a vehicle, with the benefit of reducing the council’s carbon footprint. 

	JB have submitted an outline planning application to renovate and convert the main range listed building into 34 apartments and construct houses on the site in order to fund the restoration. Members have resolved to grant outline planning consent subject to a section 106 agreement being signed.  
	JB have submitted an outline planning application to renovate and convert the main range listed building into 34 apartments and construct houses on the site in order to fund the restoration. Members have resolved to grant outline planning consent subject to a section 106 agreement being signed.  
	JB are currently in the process of developing a section106 which sets out the detail of the development. 
	The site is outside DCC’s development boundary and planning consent was only granted on the principal of enabling development. 
	Even with the enabling development there is still a viability funding gap and funding application have been submitted as part of DCC’s Vale of Clwyd Levelling Up Funding bid and Growth Deal. 

	Span


	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	  
	APPENDIX 6- Summary of responses via the Formal Consultation Response Form 
	Question 1 Are you in favour of the Proposals? 
	Table
	TR
	TD
	Span
	 

	TD
	Span
	Total 

	Span

	Yes 
	Yes 
	Yes 

	70 
	70 

	Span

	No 
	No 
	No 

	18 
	18 

	Span

	No answer 
	No answer 
	No answer 

	1 
	1 

	Span

	TR
	TD
	Span
	 

	89 
	89 

	Span


	Question 2: Please tell us whether you are responding as a: 
	Table
	TR
	TD
	Span
	Type 

	TD
	Span
	Total 

	Span

	Pupil  
	Pupil  
	Pupil  

	0 
	0 

	Span

	Parent/Carer  
	Parent/Carer  
	Parent/Carer  

	20 
	20 

	Span

	Teacher/ Staff Member  
	Teacher/ Staff Member  
	Teacher/ Staff Member  

	30 
	30 

	Span

	Local Resident 
	Local Resident 
	Local Resident 

	22 
	22 

	Span

	Prospective pupil 
	Prospective pupil 
	Prospective pupil 

	0 
	0 

	Span

	Parnet/ Carer of prospective pupil 
	Parnet/ Carer of prospective pupil 
	Parnet/ Carer of prospective pupil 

	4 
	4 

	Span


	Other 
	Other 
	Other 
	Other 

	6 
	6 

	Span

	Skipped Question 
	Skipped Question 
	Skipped Question 

	7 
	7 

	Span

	TR
	TD
	Span
	 

	89 
	89 

	Span


	Question 3: Please provide comments regarding the proposal and any suggestions on alternative proposals which should be considered:  
	These responses have been grouped into themes below alongside a response or point of clarification from the local authority: 
	Table
	TR
	TD
	Span
	Summary of Comments 

	Span

	TR
	TD
	Span
	General support for the proposal 
	14 Respondents raised 

	Span

	My daughter has come from a mainstream school to YPBD and although she still has challenging times she is much more fully supported by YPBD than she ever was at mainstream. Autistic pupils with a Statement of Special Education Needs will not thrive in a mainstream environment as the staff are not sufficiently trained to deal with the demands / challenges faced by autistic pupils, they're deemed as "problematic" and take up too much time. They are also more likely to be bullied in a mainstream than their pee
	My daughter has come from a mainstream school to YPBD and although she still has challenging times she is much more fully supported by YPBD than she ever was at mainstream. Autistic pupils with a Statement of Special Education Needs will not thrive in a mainstream environment as the staff are not sufficiently trained to deal with the demands / challenges faced by autistic pupils, they're deemed as "problematic" and take up too much time. They are also more likely to be bullied in a mainstream than their pee
	My daughter has come from a mainstream school to YPBD and although she still has challenging times she is much more fully supported by YPBD than she ever was at mainstream. Autistic pupils with a Statement of Special Education Needs will not thrive in a mainstream environment as the staff are not sufficiently trained to deal with the demands / challenges faced by autistic pupils, they're deemed as "problematic" and take up too much time. They are also more likely to be bullied in a mainstream than their pee

	Span


	attend YPBD, including my daughter. That said the pupils have a high regard / respect for all their teachers and each other and every milestone they meet is a proud moment for them, the teachers and their parents. Their recent Eisteddfod performance at this year's Urdd confirms this. 
	attend YPBD, including my daughter. That said the pupils have a high regard / respect for all their teachers and each other and every milestone they meet is a proud moment for them, the teachers and their parents. Their recent Eisteddfod performance at this year's Urdd confirms this. 
	attend YPBD, including my daughter. That said the pupils have a high regard / respect for all their teachers and each other and every milestone they meet is a proud moment for them, the teachers and their parents. Their recent Eisteddfod performance at this year's Urdd confirms this. 
	attend YPBD, including my daughter. That said the pupils have a high regard / respect for all their teachers and each other and every milestone they meet is a proud moment for them, the teachers and their parents. Their recent Eisteddfod performance at this year's Urdd confirms this. 
	I agree the proposal should go ahead it’s a fantastic school and more children should be given the opportunity to access the school 
	I think the proposal should go ahead it will give 116 other children access to the school 
	Spaces should be increased in all SEN provision. There are so many children with ALN in mainstream schools who simply can't access the curriculum, the schools themselves are massively under staffed and the child's needs are not being met. Nobody seems to listen and nobody seems to care. Very little is done in terms of transferring pupils from mainstream into a specialist setting, and opening up these spaces will provide a welcomed opportunity for so many children. 
	As education in Wales is evolving, it provides a wonderful opportunity to provide learners who have ASC to develop in a new and exciting environment that takes into account the unique needs of the learners. There are many pupils who need to have the security of the amazing support that Brondyffryn provides but are currently denied. In order to help all pupils in Denbighshire achieve their potential, I feel this is an incredible opportunity to ensure ASC pupils are highly challenged and supported. 
	Ysgol Plas Brondyffryn is essential for children with ASD, as all their learning, social and personal needs are met accordingly, whereas their needs may not be met in the same way as a main stream school. More children should have access to our exceptional facilities. 
	As a parent of a child who is currently benefiting hugely from being at Brondyffryn, I am completely for the proposal. As a teacher in a local primary school, I know of several children who would thrive in Brondyffryn as our child is, but unfortunately there isn't enough capacity as it stands. Our family life has completely changed for the better since our child started at Brondyffryn. Our child is much happier and settled which of course has a massive effect on us as a whole family. Our child is now reachi

	Span


	potential thanks to this specialist school and its staff. Surely every child in the same situation as ours deserves this opportunity to reach their full potential and to be in an environment that's suitable for their specific needs? The fact that all school sites would be on one site is also very important for continuity for these pupils. 
	potential thanks to this specialist school and its staff. Surely every child in the same situation as ours deserves this opportunity to reach their full potential and to be in an environment that's suitable for their specific needs? The fact that all school sites would be on one site is also very important for continuity for these pupils. 
	potential thanks to this specialist school and its staff. Surely every child in the same situation as ours deserves this opportunity to reach their full potential and to be in an environment that's suitable for their specific needs? The fact that all school sites would be on one site is also very important for continuity for these pupils. 
	potential thanks to this specialist school and its staff. Surely every child in the same situation as ours deserves this opportunity to reach their full potential and to be in an environment that's suitable for their specific needs? The fact that all school sites would be on one site is also very important for continuity for these pupils. 
	I am for the proposal as I think every child with ASD deserves a chance to go to a school that will fully understand them. 
	I think that the proposal offers a positive education provision which will serve to benefit even more children. Having all phases of the school on one site will clearly have many benefits too. The fact that there are children currently waiting for places at the school it shows that there is need for such a provision to be made. I believe that the proposal to increase numbers to 220 is excellent. It means that more children will benefit from the specialist education on offer. There shall be benefits to the c
	I think this is a fantastic proposal to give children like my son a chance to thrive in an environment suitable to his needs. My son started in September and had come on leaps and bounds. I know lots of children that our in main stream school that should be in a sen school but there are no places available. 
	It’s needed. 
	Completely agree with the proposal a new school is needed as the numbers will continue to increase. Hopefully two years will allow a gradual change for our pupils as we support them to move over to a new building. 
	My niece has been attending this school since September and she has become a completely different child!! She now skips into school whereas before whilst in a mainstream school she would hold onto her mother's clothes and not want to go inside!! Ysgol Plas Brondyffryn is, in my opinion, an essential part of any autistic child's (or children with other disabilities) development. 
	 

	Span


	This is a very positive opportunity for all pupils and staff as well as future pupils, more space, opportunities to learn more new skills such as serving the community in the new school café and having all our pupils and staff in the one site, is beneficial in a supportive and interactive way. 
	This is a very positive opportunity for all pupils and staff as well as future pupils, more space, opportunities to learn more new skills such as serving the community in the new school café and having all our pupils and staff in the one site, is beneficial in a supportive and interactive way. 
	This is a very positive opportunity for all pupils and staff as well as future pupils, more space, opportunities to learn more new skills such as serving the community in the new school café and having all our pupils and staff in the one site, is beneficial in a supportive and interactive way. 
	This is a very positive opportunity for all pupils and staff as well as future pupils, more space, opportunities to learn more new skills such as serving the community in the new school café and having all our pupils and staff in the one site, is beneficial in a supportive and interactive way. 
	I fully support the preferred option of the proposal to increase the capacity of the school and to bring the school sites together on a new purpose built school building, although the capacity increase to 220 pupils could become oversubscribed in just a few years given the growing demand for places. 

	Span

	TR
	TD
	Span
	Response: 

	Span

	Points noted. 
	Points noted. 
	Points noted. 

	Span

	TR
	TD
	Span
	Loss of playing fields/ green space/ athletics track: 
	19 Respondents raised 

	Span

	Will other playing fields be found? 
	Will other playing fields be found? 
	Will other playing fields be found? 
	The proposed site would require the loss of the playing fields adjacent to Denbigh Leisure Centre. I cannot support, condone, or understand the decision to remove this asset from the community. The playing fields are currently underused in my opinion. The recent installation of perimeter fencing has removed the use of the field by the casual public, and the ability for children to play freely in a large open space. I believe the current usage is purely by prior arrangement with Denbighshire Leisure Ltd, and

	Span


	track in Denbighshire. Conwy, Flintshire, Ynys Mon, etc, all provide these facilities for their communities, and each has spawned sports clubs at these venues. 
	track in Denbighshire. Conwy, Flintshire, Ynys Mon, etc, all provide these facilities for their communities, and each has spawned sports clubs at these venues. 
	track in Denbighshire. Conwy, Flintshire, Ynys Mon, etc, all provide these facilities for their communities, and each has spawned sports clubs at these venues. 
	track in Denbighshire. Conwy, Flintshire, Ynys Mon, etc, all provide these facilities for their communities, and each has spawned sports clubs at these venues. 
	I support improvements to Plas Brondyffryn but have concerns about the loss of playing fields at the proposed sight. 
	The field is used for physical exercise and the destruction of green space for buildings hardly a good thing for the environment and residents wellbeing. 
	What consideration has been given for the needs of Denbigh High School after the land has been used for Ysgol Brondyffryn - whether consideration has been given for the needs of green land resources, sports/athletics resources for the school and the wider community due to a change of use of the proposed land? 
	I am opposed as the proposed site will use playing fields and green space used by the community and the proposed site is the only running track available in Denbigh and only full sized running 400m track in the Vale of Clwyd. 
	The location of the new building takes away the precious green spaces that are so lacking in Denbighshire for sport and other physical activities. The school is the only 400m flat track in the county, it is always sport that suffers and this is seen time and time again where 3g pitches are put over long jump run ways, schools have less playing fields to work with. 
	I fully support the building of a new school, however I cannot agree that this location is the best place for it. Denbigh has experienced so much new building in the past few years. 2-3 years ago, when I walked down towards Brookhouse I used to be surrounded by fields - this is no longer the case. There are houses on each side of the road - so all I have to look at is bricks. At the moment when I walk alongside the Leisure Centre I enjoy watching Denbigh High School children playing football, rugby, hockey 

	Span


	Whilst I understand the need for a new site, it seems like a very small number of families who will benefit compared to those who will lose out by building the school on the main playing fields in Denbigh. I would be in support of the proposal if it wasn't for the location. We know that obesity is increasing and getting kids to exercise is a big challenge - this area of Denbigh gives my child and many others the opportunity to see green spaces rather than concrete. Denbigh doesn't have the luxury of plenty 
	Whilst I understand the need for a new site, it seems like a very small number of families who will benefit compared to those who will lose out by building the school on the main playing fields in Denbigh. I would be in support of the proposal if it wasn't for the location. We know that obesity is increasing and getting kids to exercise is a big challenge - this area of Denbigh gives my child and many others the opportunity to see green spaces rather than concrete. Denbigh doesn't have the luxury of plenty 
	Whilst I understand the need for a new site, it seems like a very small number of families who will benefit compared to those who will lose out by building the school on the main playing fields in Denbigh. I would be in support of the proposal if it wasn't for the location. We know that obesity is increasing and getting kids to exercise is a big challenge - this area of Denbigh gives my child and many others the opportunity to see green spaces rather than concrete. Denbigh doesn't have the luxury of plenty 
	Whilst I understand the need for a new site, it seems like a very small number of families who will benefit compared to those who will lose out by building the school on the main playing fields in Denbigh. I would be in support of the proposal if it wasn't for the location. We know that obesity is increasing and getting kids to exercise is a big challenge - this area of Denbigh gives my child and many others the opportunity to see green spaces rather than concrete. Denbigh doesn't have the luxury of plenty 
	Do not think taking the area designated is right. There is very little playing GB areas in Denbigh and to take the green space would minimise this even more. 
	I do not agree with building the school on green land. Playing fields and green spaces are important to our community and I do not think we should build on them. I wonder if there are any brown sites which require redevelopment which could be used as an alternative? 
	The proposed site is the only flat field for sports and a running track in Denbighshire. This proposal would mean getting rid of even more of the green space in lower Denbigh which should be protected rather than built on. Until recently the sports field was very well used by local residents for over 30 years for family sports, picnics, running track youths having a kick around and generally making use of the limited green space. This was of course stopped once Denbighshire Leisure, which is basically a par

	Span


	youths were playing football in the car park rather than on the fields that are all fenced off and locked. Where are youths supposed to go? 
	youths were playing football in the car park rather than on the fields that are all fenced off and locked. Where are youths supposed to go? 
	youths were playing football in the car park rather than on the fields that are all fenced off and locked. Where are youths supposed to go? 
	youths were playing football in the car park rather than on the fields that are all fenced off and locked. Where are youths supposed to go? 
	I wonder if there is an alternative place to build rather than use more green space. 
	Denbigh High School and the community who pay to use the current playing field will lose this green space, the athletics track and a football field if the build were to go ahead. Is this fair for the community of Denbigh?  
	The playing field that the proposed building is set to occupy is far more than just a playing field. It is the areas only dedicated grass running track and is pivotal in training runners who in some cases represent North Wales in races. It would be an absolute travesty to assume this is a mere playing field and treat it with such little regard. The decision to build on it will negatively impact the sporting representation of Denbighshire and north wales. I beg of you please give us all the continued chance 
	Reducing green space and access to sports and play areas is not in keeping with initiatives to improve health and increase physical activity. Consolidating the schools and increasing capacity is great, but this would be better located on an existing site that does not reduce green space. 
	The proposed site for the new build is, currently, Denbigh High School's athletics track/ football pitch. This green space is also used by the community ( they hire it). Losing this green space would mean that Denbigh High School and the young people of the community would be at a disadvantage. There are two other fields belonging to Denbigh High School, the rugby filed but this filed is on a slope and uneven, also much further from the Leisure Centre. The County is putting profit in front of the wellbeing 

	Span


	Estyn have commented on the lack of green space at Denbigh high yet Denbighshire county council don’t seem to think that taking more of their green space away is a problem ?? 
	Estyn have commented on the lack of green space at Denbigh high yet Denbighshire county council don’t seem to think that taking more of their green space away is a problem ?? 
	Estyn have commented on the lack of green space at Denbigh high yet Denbighshire county council don’t seem to think that taking more of their green space away is a problem ?? 
	Estyn have commented on the lack of green space at Denbigh high yet Denbighshire county council don’t seem to think that taking more of their green space away is a problem ?? 
	There is not sufficient green space for existing school children at Denbigh High School, this has been highlighted during a recent Estyn report however you still propose to build the school on the current school field depriving the children of even more grassed area. 

	Span

	TR
	TD
	Span
	RESPONSE: 

	Span

	It is important to note that this formal consultation is in regards to the increase in capacity at Ysgol Plas Brondyffryn and not the location of the new build. This will be subject to the planning process for which there will be a public consultation before any decision is made.  
	It is important to note that this formal consultation is in regards to the increase in capacity at Ysgol Plas Brondyffryn and not the location of the new build. This will be subject to the planning process for which there will be a public consultation before any decision is made.  
	It is important to note that this formal consultation is in regards to the increase in capacity at Ysgol Plas Brondyffryn and not the location of the new build. This will be subject to the planning process for which there will be a public consultation before any decision is made.  
	The current proposal is to build on 1 of Denbigh High’s fields. This field currently is used by Denbigh High predominantly in the summer term for athletics, football and rugby. The school principally use the all-weather pitch at the leisure centre.  
	This site is also currently fenced off and can only be accessed by the community if they book it through the leisure centre. Prior to taking any booking, the leisure centre has to check with the school if it is available and gain their permission to use the area. The area is accessed by a junior running club Saturday mornings and Tuesday evenings but there are no other bookings on this area other than the junior section of Denbigh Harriers Running Club.  
	Survey works have started on the other Denbigh High field next to Denbigh Town FC to establish whether any improvement works are needed to ensure Denbigh High are able to continue to use it for PE and to ensure it is available for controlled community use. 
	We will be working with the school to ensure the field is accessible to pupils from the leisure centre where they currently change. There will need to be a temporary route 

	Span


	during the construction phase and then a permeant solution once the project is completed as this will impact on the Denbigh High project.  
	during the construction phase and then a permeant solution once the project is completed as this will impact on the Denbigh High project.  
	during the construction phase and then a permeant solution once the project is completed as this will impact on the Denbigh High project.  
	during the construction phase and then a permeant solution once the project is completed as this will impact on the Denbigh High project.  

	Span

	TR
	TD
	Span
	Capacity of the school: 
	16 Respondents raised 

	Span

	I welcome this proposal to increase capacity at this important school. 
	I welcome this proposal to increase capacity at this important school. 
	I welcome this proposal to increase capacity at this important school. 
	The proposal for the increase in education capacity at Plas Brondyffryn is worthy and would be a superb upgrade from the current situation for the pupils, parents and teachers of the school. I am in full support of this idea. 
	In principle I support the need for increasing capacity for Brondyffryn Special School. I understand and support the need for resources that are suitable for the 21st century ensuring extensive and suitable resources for all pupils at the school to support education that is suitable and of the highest quality. I am pleased to see that the proposal ensures capacity for the future not only in the short term but also for the long term as well. 
	A huge need for more capacity - need for specialist provision. 
	I feel that more specialist placements are required to meet the increasing demand for our young people with autism. Increasing the number of places at the school will hopefully help to meet this increasing demand, for Denbighshire pupils and for pupils from outside the County also. 
	More places are desperately needed. I have many parents approach me who’s children are struggling in mainstreams which are not suitable to meet the child’s needs, resulting in a hugely detrimental effect on the young persons mental health. Also as we are aware a 3-18 setting provides continuity, nurturing, and the best academic outcomes. Please approve the new school. 

	Span


	There is a desperate need for ASD provision and increasing the school capacity by the way of a new build is definitely necessary. 
	There is a desperate need for ASD provision and increasing the school capacity by the way of a new build is definitely necessary. 
	There is a desperate need for ASD provision and increasing the school capacity by the way of a new build is definitely necessary. 
	There is a desperate need for ASD provision and increasing the school capacity by the way of a new build is definitely necessary. 
	We are in favour of the proposal with reservations. Whilst the idea of better facilities is very attractive we are concerned that the whole point of moving our younger son to YPD was for him to enjoy a quieter, less busy environment with fewer pupils and to be able to thrive instead of feeling permanently anxious. I’m sure many other families are in the exact same situation. We are concerned that a doubling of pupils will be a very serious increase in the noise and bustle and will impact his experience of a
	I'm not surprised there is already a waiting list for further pupils to join YPBD, it is an excellent school. It makes sense to bring all sites together to a more modern building to accommodate and fulfil their needs educationally and mentally. Other schools have been brought into modernisation to accommodate demands, YPBD is no different. I support the increase in pupil numbers and the new build. 
	The current situation in the school is totally unacceptable in terms of space. It is becoming increasingly difficult to create the environment pupils need to thrive. The school is so crowded there are very few opportunities for the flexibility and personal space that autistic pupils need. I know too that we are saying "no" to a lot of pupils who should be coming to us. 
	The current school buildings are no longer fit for purpose and they don't offer enough accommodation for the numbers of students who need specialist schooling. 
	Increasing the capacity would ensure that all pupils needing the provision would be able to access it. 
	Because capacity is not enough currently. The system… waiting lists… everything is all wrong. Children should not have to wait to be at a suitable setting. 
	The school has been over capacity with regards to pupils for a number of years and as a result there isn’t enough space. Classrooms are too small and there aren’t enough safe spaces to have inclusion or therapy rooms to support the needs of the pupils. 

	Span


	I think I increasing the school capacity is a great idea! There is a desperate need for more specialist education placements in the local area. 
	I think I increasing the school capacity is a great idea! There is a desperate need for more specialist education placements in the local area. 
	I think I increasing the school capacity is a great idea! There is a desperate need for more specialist education placements in the local area. 
	I think I increasing the school capacity is a great idea! There is a desperate need for more specialist education placements in the local area. 
	At present the school is too small, we already have too many pupils attending the school and not enough space. 

	Span

	TR
	TD
	Span
	RESPONSE: 

	Span

	As detailed in the formal consultation document the school is currently facing difficulties due to the amount of pupils it has. The demand for places at the school has increased and a waiting list is growing. The Local Authority believe this proposal will ensure the school can meet the growing demands now and in the future.  
	As detailed in the formal consultation document the school is currently facing difficulties due to the amount of pupils it has. The demand for places at the school has increased and a waiting list is growing. The Local Authority believe this proposal will ensure the school can meet the growing demands now and in the future.  
	As detailed in the formal consultation document the school is currently facing difficulties due to the amount of pupils it has. The demand for places at the school has increased and a waiting list is growing. The Local Authority believe this proposal will ensure the school can meet the growing demands now and in the future.  

	Span

	TR
	TD
	Span
	Facilities at the new building 
	5 Respondents raised 

	Span

	Outside areas are very important to my son. Currently it's very small and 'prison like'. It would be lovely to have a variety of different play / break areas, grassed/ natural areas, veg patches, a view of the surroundings. Their own sports area and equipment so it's not shared, and their own dining facilities. 
	Outside areas are very important to my son. Currently it's very small and 'prison like'. It would be lovely to have a variety of different play / break areas, grassed/ natural areas, veg patches, a view of the surroundings. Their own sports area and equipment so it's not shared, and their own dining facilities. 
	Outside areas are very important to my son. Currently it's very small and 'prison like'. It would be lovely to have a variety of different play / break areas, grassed/ natural areas, veg patches, a view of the surroundings. Their own sports area and equipment so it's not shared, and their own dining facilities. 
	Would the new building be likely to lead to wider use e.g. for a summer school? After school provision? 
	There appears to be no facility for sports day events such as running, field sports etc. 
	Is there plans for a garden area and plenty of space for the children with the more complex needs of ASD. The children currently have a huge outdoor area and this plays an important part in keeping them happy, content and ensuring they have the space and privacy they need. The garden at the Ty’r Ysgol site will be such a massive loss to the children who spend a lot of time on the swings/ trampolines and they are highly 

	Span


	used as a method of redirecting pupils who are unsettled. Maybe we could take the swings with us and create an area for them. 
	used as a method of redirecting pupils who are unsettled. Maybe we could take the swings with us and create an area for them. 
	used as a method of redirecting pupils who are unsettled. Maybe we could take the swings with us and create an area for them. 
	used as a method of redirecting pupils who are unsettled. Maybe we could take the swings with us and create an area for them. 
	It will be amazing for the whole school to be together and the pupils will have a purpose built school for their autism. 

	Span

	TR
	TD
	Span
	RESPONSE: 

	Span

	The design of the external areas of the new build are informed by Building Bulletin guidance- in relation to SEN schools this is BB104. This guides the type of spaces needed and areas required based on 220 pupils. BB104 guidance state a minimum area of and the current design shows we are considerably over the minimum amount. There will be a mixture of hard surface, soft and habitat area.  
	The design of the external areas of the new build are informed by Building Bulletin guidance- in relation to SEN schools this is BB104. This guides the type of spaces needed and areas required based on 220 pupils. BB104 guidance state a minimum area of and the current design shows we are considerably over the minimum amount. There will be a mixture of hard surface, soft and habitat area.  
	The design of the external areas of the new build are informed by Building Bulletin guidance- in relation to SEN schools this is BB104. This guides the type of spaces needed and areas required based on 220 pupils. BB104 guidance state a minimum area of and the current design shows we are considerably over the minimum amount. There will be a mixture of hard surface, soft and habitat area.  
	Dining areas- the building will have it owns dining facilities meaning pupils will not have to share these with other schools.  
	The Governors and the head teacher would decide on the after school provision provided and the summer school offer. The Local Authority would hope that the building will be utilised outside of school hours.  

	Span

	TR
	TD
	Span
	Class sizes 
	5 Respondents raised 

	Span

	I would like the class sizes to remain small with the proposed increase of pupils on roll.  
	I would like the class sizes to remain small with the proposed increase of pupils on roll.  
	I would like the class sizes to remain small with the proposed increase of pupils on roll.  
	More classes with fewer pupils. 
	I am in favour as long as it does not see class sizes get bigger as a result because this has a detrimental effect on both the pupils and staff /teacher wellbeing and stress. 
	I am all for expanding the school to cater for more children with Autism like my son as I am completely aware of the shortage of setting within Wales and UK . However my 

	Span


	concern and my husband the current class sizes and teachers per class would this cause a shortage of teachers if you where to increase class sizes. My son requires small class sizes and as much 1-2-1 support as possible. I would like to assume you would put more classes in places and to keep the class sizes at a minimum. 
	concern and my husband the current class sizes and teachers per class would this cause a shortage of teachers if you where to increase class sizes. My son requires small class sizes and as much 1-2-1 support as possible. I would like to assume you would put more classes in places and to keep the class sizes at a minimum. 
	concern and my husband the current class sizes and teachers per class would this cause a shortage of teachers if you where to increase class sizes. My son requires small class sizes and as much 1-2-1 support as possible. I would like to assume you would put more classes in places and to keep the class sizes at a minimum. 
	concern and my husband the current class sizes and teachers per class would this cause a shortage of teachers if you where to increase class sizes. My son requires small class sizes and as much 1-2-1 support as possible. I would like to assume you would put more classes in places and to keep the class sizes at a minimum. 
	What will be the ideal class size per classroom? 
	Classes are regularly above the national guidelines for special schools of eight pupils. It is therefore self-evident that the school needs more room not only to accommodate the existing pupils, and enable them to thrive, but also to reach out to the pupils who are already knocking at the door as well as the others, yet to be identified, but coming our way soon. It is the Governors' strong belief that a larger, better resourced school is urgently needed now, and that, given ever-pressing demand, the new sch

	Span

	TR
	TD
	Span
	RESPONSE: 

	Span

	The new school is being designed to have a maximum of 8 pupils in each classroom.  
	The new school is being designed to have a maximum of 8 pupils in each classroom.  
	The new school is being designed to have a maximum of 8 pupils in each classroom.  
	The school believe that small groups of 8 or less allow them to use person centred approaches so that each pupil has an individual and/or bespoke plan. The new building design also has a number of group/ break out rooms in order to deliver individual interventions/ therapies.  

	Span

	TR
	TD
	Span
	Advantages of bringing the school together 
	5 Respondents raised 

	Span

	TR
	TD
	Span
	Bring YPB under one site would support developing closer and more complex relationships with health, especially therapies and developing an increasingly integrated approach to care between health and education, in keeping with the new ALN act. It would support the training and development of staff with special skills, e.g. ABA, makaton, physical intervention etc. for children with complex needs. 

	Span


	Table
	TR
	TD
	Span
	This seems to be the sensible and long overdue decision to transform Brondyffryn into a centre of excellence with adequate resources and a completely fit for purpose site. 
	As a member of staff at YPBD I am fully aware of the growing need for specialist provision for pupils with ASD. Incorporating all three (current) sites into one will be highly beneficial for the progression of our pupils also. 
	PB has been split across sites for years. This meaning our pupils can only access one of the sites were in reality some of our pupils would benefit greatly on being able to access at least two of them for different activities and having a curriculum that will work for them so every pupil can access an education that suits them. As a member of staff being able to work on one site as a team will be beneficial to us all. We are proud to work in such an amazing school and to be able to help more children with a
	Agree with the plans to have all pupils at one site which will also help with transitions. 

	Span

	TR
	TD
	Span
	RESPONSE: 

	Span

	TR
	TD
	Span
	The Local Authority agree that there will be many benefits of bringing all staff and pupils into one building, including appropriate training and the development of specialist skills. 

	Span

	TR
	TD
	Span
	Alternative proposal 
	7 Respondent raised 

	Span

	TR
	TD
	Span
	As an alternative proposal, I would put forward the idea of building the new school on the land behind the skatepark and the land currently used for Denbigh Town FC. Included in the development would be the installation of a modern synthetic athletics track behind the leisure centre, with a small covered spectator stand. This would house the football club in the winter months, and provide far superior sports facilities than the community currently has access to. 

	Span


	Table
	TR
	TD
	Span
	Surely there is a better proposal for a brown site or doing better with Denbigh High School itself. 
	A site outside town would be more appropriate. No loss of existing playing fields, and no additional traffic congestion and pollution. 
	Has consideration has been given to the possibility of expanding existing locations for increasing capacity as needed? 
	Probably impossible but the land up at Gerddi would surely offer the peace and quiet these children crave? 
	I don’t think having the school spread across different sites is a bad thing and I like that it gives the pupils similar experiences of transition as their mainstream counterparts (I.e. changing setting moving to high school). Despite change being more challenging for pupils with ASD it is an unavoidable part of life and managing change in a supported manner is a good learning experience for the children. I wonder if there would be the ability to extend the schools on their current sites? 
	I am unsure why the current Denbigh high school rugby fields haven’t been investigated and thought off before disrupting Denbigh high school learners. 

	Span

	TR
	TD
	Span
	RESPONSE: 

	Span

	TR
	TD
	Span
	In 2019 a feasibility report looked at options regarding the development of Ysgol Plas Brondyffryn. As part of that study the current Ty’r Ysgol site was looked at as an option, however the site is steeply sloping and to accommodate the volume of new building accommodation would require a massive amount of excavation. The site also has listed buildings.  
	Another option examined was to refurbish the existing secondary site utilising some parts of Denbigh High school- this option assumed Denbigh High was vacant and that the works could be done without disrupting the pupils too much.  

	Span


	Table
	TR
	TD
	Span
	Travel/ traffic concerns 
	10 Respondents raised 

	Span

	TR
	TD
	Span
	Please consider any active travel routes to the school and link in with other routes if possible. 
	How and where is the building likely to be located - will this likely increase transport along Ystrad Road? Will this likely have a negative impact on the trumpet route (walking and cycling) 
	The only criticism we have ever had of the school is the taxi/car debacle at drop-off and collection. The hope is that this ridiculous situation will cease and a real workable solution is achieved. 
	The impact on the local infrastructure in terms of the increase of traffic is also a concern. 
	Current Primary site has no walkway from the car park or the car park entrance side of the school to drop off children, will this be provided on the new site? 
	Given that the council are proposing to increase pupil numbers, how do they envisage the passenger transport accessing the site? Again Park Street and the junction onto Ruthin Road is not suitable for this amount of traffic and there would need to be significant improvement in the current road layout to make this a safe junction...given the amount of passenger transport I have seen queuing to get into the site on Rhyl Road, many impatient taxi drivers who can't wait to drop off their load.  
	I am also concerned about the extra traffic that would be necessary to accommodate the increase in school children should this new build go ahead. The volume of traffic during some periods of the day - at both Ty'n Fron and Park Street - is tremendous and to think that this will be increased is worrying. The Denbigh High school area is all ready congested with traffic - buses, taxis etc, the junctions just can't take much more traffic 

	Span


	Table
	TR
	TD
	Span
	Another concern is the increased traffic on Ystrad Road which is already a fairly narrow twisty road - and characterful because of it - this is going to totally change this end of Denbigh for the worse. If this went ahead, the top end of Denbigh is going to be affected by the long term building work at the old mental hospital at the same time as the bottom end (Ystrad Road) is going to be affected by building the school. 
	I am very concerned as a local resident how the increased traffic to this site will be managed, currently the taxis at Plas Brondyffryn juniors park up at the current site so where will the safe entry be for the vehicles to access the new proposed site? 
	Access to the site will be overcrowded and present additional dangers to pedestrians and school children attending both school areas. The higher proportion of vehicles including buses will present additional problems to the already busy infrastructure. 

	Span

	TR
	TD
	Span
	RESPONSE: 

	Span

	TR
	TD
	Span
	The current proposal is to take all vehicles off the highway so there will be no queuing on Ystrad Road. The drop off will take place within a secure zone directly adjacent to the school. Students will only exit the vehicles once everyone is stationary. This process will be managed by school staff and vehicles will only leave the zone once all pupils are safely inside.   
	The drop off area will be used to accommodate all anticipated taxis and minibuses. Any late arrivals would stack up in the teaching staff parking and not on the road. There is a separate area for the SSP pupils to be dropped off and for the occasional student unable to exit the vehicle.  16 visitors spaces and 17 staff parking spaces are accessible at all times- the remaining of the car park spaces for staff are in a controlled area to assist the safe drop off of all pupils in the ‘stationary drop off’ area
	DCC ‘s highways department will be involved in ensuring the plans are safe and complaint.  

	Span


	Table
	TR
	TD
	Span
	Community Use 
	1 Respondents raised 

	Span

	TR
	TD
	Span
	I am also pleased to see proposals such as expanding potential use of the resources for the local community also being considered in the scheme particularly the reference to a community café that may be available for the local sports and leisure provision. 

	Span

	TR
	TD
	Span
	RESPONSE: 

	Span

	TR
	TD
	Span
	The Governors are keen that the new building will be accessible to the community to use out of hours. The Café is an existing opportunity for the school to establish a relationship between them and the community. Pupils will be able to learn hospitality and social skills through controlled and gentle interaction with members of the public who use the cycle and walking route surrounding the school site, and individuals within the community will have opportunities to meet pupils experiencing a range of additi

	Span

	TR
	TD
	Span
	Future Use of current buildings 
	3 Respondents raised 

	Span

	TR
	TD
	Span
	What plans have been considered for the use of the existing, relatively new buildings, within the community? 
	What does the council propose to do with the old building next to Ysgol Frongoch, is this to be made suitable for use by the other schools next to it or will it just become a white elephant? 
	Concern over the amount of buildings being unused which is waste such as the previous Brondyffryn site at the Ystrad road and what will happen to the old buildings now. 

	Span


	Table
	TR
	TD
	Span
	RESPONSE: 

	Span

	TR
	TD
	Span
	Discussions regarding the 3 sites that will be vacated if the project progresses is ongoing. In terms of the primary site options around Ysgol Frongoch utilising the vacated space will be examined.  
	The secondary site next door to Denbigh High will form part of the Denbigh High developments and will allow the school to be reconfigured and refurbished utilising the extra space internally and externally. The Ty’r Ysgol site is next door to the residential provision Gerddi Glasfryn which is currently being reviewed and may form part of any developments around this. The charity SENSE have also moved onto the site and refurbished 2 other buildings and they may look to expand provision.  

	Span

	TR
	TD
	Span
	Environmental considerations 
	2 Respondents raised 

	Span

	TR
	TD
	Span
	Has there been consideration given to the materials / building methods that would be used especially given the DCC’s carbon impact agenda. 
	Clearly we need to build for the future and time proof ourselves as much as we can in terms of heating and running costs as well as allowing ample storage space and communal areas. 

	Span

	TR
	TD
	Span
	RESPONSE: 

	Span

	TR
	TD
	Span
	DCC are committed to the following in regards to any new build projects: 
	 Net Zero carbon in construction 
	 Net Zero carbon in construction 
	 Net Zero carbon in construction 

	 Net Zero carbon in operation 
	 Net Zero carbon in operation 

	 Net Zero carbon in whole life 
	 Net Zero carbon in whole life 



	Span


	Table
	TR
	TD
	Span
	The design for the new build will embrace all of the above requirements as a core part of the design work.  

	Span

	TR
	TD
	Span
	Links with Denbigh High/ Denbigh Leisure 
	6 Respondents raised 

	Span

	TR
	TD
	Span
	How much consultation has been undertaken with Denbigh High School and Denbigh Leisure and the impact the change will have on their provision. 
	The building on the proposed site will reduce sporting opportunity and amenity for Denbigh High School Students. 
	I am unsure about putting the specialist provision next to the high school. Many children have had negative experiences of mainstream provision before attending the special school and I feel that it may be difficult for them being so close to a setting/cohort that may have caused them distress/trauma. I also think that the local authority need to be aware that young people can be very cruel and the interface between the mainstream high school and the specialist provision, particularly for those with more co
	I also object because of the Impact on Denbigh High School. As a parent of 3 students in Denbigh High School I am disgusted that once again they are being let down by DCC and the LEA. I feel there are plenty of other more suitable locations for a new school that should be considered. The fact that DLL/DCC fenced off the fields 12-18 months ago is of concern as it suggests this proposal was always on the cards. Additionally the extra traffic on Ystrad Road/leisure centre would impact on local residents. 
	Denbigh High pupils already have to cross a road (clwyd avenue ) to get to their pe lessons and with this proposal where will the pupils new field be ? across a public footpath?, this wasn’t allowed in rhyl high due to various safe guarding issues so surely 

	Span


	Table
	TR
	TD
	Span
	can’t happen in Denbigh, not to mention the class time wasted to walk to the lesson across the fields, operationally it will be a lot of wasted time. 
	The first language English schools seem to be under-represented and the poor relations when it comes to any funding or development of a new school site. The current Denbigh High school is no longer fit for purpose, showing its age and impractical to attract new pupils. The improvements for the school through a new building are long overdue. The access to the school playing fields for children of Denbigh High School will include crossing two gated areas onto a public cycle footpath to participate in their sp

	Span

	TR
	TD
	Span
	RESPONSE: 

	Span

	TR
	TD
	Span
	Denbigh High is part of the Local Authorities Band B projects and is inevitably linked with the proposal around Ysgol Plas Brondyffryn.  
	Given the specialist nature of Plas Brondyffryn and the need for any construction works to be away from the current sites due to the cohort of pupils at the school, it was agreed that this proposal would move forward first. The current pressures the school currently faces in terms of the lack of capacity was also a major factor in ensuring this project was progressed first.   
	If the secondary provision at Ysgol Plas Brondyffryn vacates the Denbigh High site as part of the Denbigh High School project, they will not only have their building but also additional yard space and improved access to the schools other field which will be used solely for PE lessons.   

	Span


	Table
	TR
	TD
	Span
	The flow of Denbigh High is not currently ideal and condition of the building is overall rated D.  The likely options of refurbishment, remodelling, demolition and rebuild will be complimented by the option of refurbishment and utilising of the better conditioned vacated Plas Brondyffryn building.  This will enhance the offer for Denbigh High pupils and provide greater flexibility for the Denbigh High project. 
	Currently Denbigh High and the secondary pupils at Ysgol Plas Brondyffryn utilise the leisure centre facilities quite heavily- both schools use the main hall, dance studio, the field, all weather pitch and the swimming pool. The 2 schools work together to ensure the facilities are timetabled in a way that suits both schools. Denbigh High has a Dual Use agreement with the leisure centre and then Ysgol Plas Brondyffryn work with Denbigh High on appropriate use. As part of this agreement the All weather pitch 
	Officers from Denbighshire Leisure are aware of the project and are kept up to date regularly. Both Ysgol Plas Brondyffryn and Denbigh High projects are entwined with the leisure centre and are important partners in delivery of PE in both schools. 

	Span

	TR
	TD
	Span
	Integration with mainstream 
	4 Respondent raised 

	Span

	TR
	TD
	Span
	The proposal to have a combined site for all age groups reduces opportunities for integration with main stream students, especially for primary aged students. 
	The school already utilises existing sites. The separation of these sites has met pupils needs well on the basis of both learning and behavioural needs. The division has been based on ability and management needs (behavioural). Many of the pupils placed are out of county, provision should be made for local pupils to local inclusion. Segregation 

	Span


	Table
	TR
	TD
	Span
	of pupils now seems dated and units within mainstream sites promote inclusion and knowledge around disability needs from peer groups, staff groups and community alike. 
	The Primary - aged pupils at Brondyffryn should be integrating into a primary school / junior/ infant school for some subjects e.g. P. E. , Art. At the moment they are next door to Ysgol Frongoch, Ysgol Twm o’r Nant and not too far from Ysgol y Parc. On the Denbigh High school site they would be much further … this makes no sense. 
	The Primary Department of Ysgol Brondyffryn is, currently, near Ysgol Fron Goch and Ysgol Twm o'r Nant. It is convenient for the integration of pupils from Ysgol Brondyffryn into a mainstream class for certain subjects such as P.E. or Art or other subjects which an individual with autism would benefit from being with mainstream pupils. Moving these pupils to the new proposed site would mean longer travelling times between schools, less time for education. 

	Span

	TR
	TD
	Span
	RESPONSE: 

	Span

	TR
	TD
	Span
	In regards to the primary site currently there is no physical joining of the school to Ysgol Frongoch. The pupils from both schools share the dining room for lunch every day but that is the extent of collaboration. As far as pupils utilising the mainstream school this has not happened in a number of years.  
	The secondary site is joined to Denbigh High School by a corridor but the door that connects the two is always locked. However some pupils do spend time at Denbigh High. Pupils may study a subject that Denbigh High offer and Plas Brondyffryn do not and they wish to go to college in the future to study this. Other pupils who may benefit from time spent in the 'mainstream' setting to prepare for what is to come when they leave Ysgol Plas Brondyffryn are those pupils who are on target for solid Level 2 GCSE gr
	Moving to the site proposed for the new build will not impact on this at all and this aspect of integration will continue exactly as it is now. The physical inter-connection between the 2 schools is irrelevant because pupils currently have to enter Denbigh 

	Span


	Table
	TR
	TD
	Span
	High through the public foyer and sign-in. The route from the proposed new site to Denbigh High is actually shorter, simpler and safer than the existing one. 

	Span

	TR
	TD
	Span
	Location 
	6 Respondents raised 

	Span

	TR
	TD
	Span
	I think the area designated for the school is very cramped and hemmed in. There is no room for possible expansion to the site to accommodate more students as we are already over capacity on the current site and the same will more than likely happen on the new site. 
	Of concern is also the location. Situated behind the high school where the pupils are loud and boisterous will also increase noise levels. There is also the issue of the boundary between the two schools and the potential for name-calling through fencing etc. 
	This should all have been thought of prior to the resitting of the current junior element of Plas Brondyffryn and the council should have been forward thinking to envisage that the school and needs of the children would change. In addition to siting it next to a mainstream school was short sited. 
	I have no objections to the building of the new school and can understand the need for it. But I feel the location need more consideration. 
	I strongly believe an alternative site should be chosen. 
	I strongly object to this proposal, due to the proposed location for the school. 
	I also am unsure why you would build a school for children who might have sensory needs as well as other complex needs on the middle of a busy public footpath and a sports pitch which is used frequently. 
	 

	Span


	Table
	TR
	TD
	Span
	RESPONSE: 

	Span

	TR
	TD
	Span
	As mentioned previously this proposal is around increasing the capacity at Ysgol Plas Brondyffryn, and not the location of the new build- this will be subject to the planning process. 
	The Local Authority believe that Denbigh is the right location for the school, the school has always been in the town and given the catchment of pupils to the school Denbigh is considered central and ensures travel times to those in the north and south of Denbighshire are reasonable to the school.  
	The design of the external areas will consider the proximity of the cycle/ path and majority of the areas will be screened by some means to ensure pupils privacy.  

	Span

	TR
	TD
	Span
	Gerddi Glasfryn 
	1 Respondent raised 

	Span

	TR
	TD
	Span
	I believe Gerddi Glasfryn should remain under the control of Brondyffryn. I am aware the reasons as to why this break away is being proposed. I believe that the constraints placed around the school prohibiting the disclosure of Gerddi Glasfryn to prospective and existing families is a travesty. Most of the time these resources are going under-used. However this s not a reflection of the need! Families all too often are reaching crisis point before adding support is even considered. 

	Span

	TR
	TD
	Span
	RESPONSE 

	Span

	TR
	TD
	Span
	This proposal does not include the residential provision Gerddi Glasfryn. This provision is still accessible to Ysgol Plas Brondyffryn. The future of the provision is currently being discussed with the Governors and the Local Authority but is not linked with increasing the capacity of the school.  

	Span


	Table
	TR
	TD
	Span
	Admissions  
	3 Respondents raised 

	Span

	TR
	TD
	Span
	I am highly concerned about upcoming proposals in the future around admissions policy changes. The children at the school desperately need this provision. Being funded 75% by Welsh Government and 25% DCC, I fear that it will become a postcode lottery. I have heard language such as "lets look at what's in the local area first" and "tightening up admissions". This is a mistake as locally there has been such significant under-investment for so long that there are no there suitable settings that can come anywhe
	ASC provision in Denbighshire is woefully inadequate and none of the mainstream high schools are able to provide a suitable environment for autistic kids to thrive - which will place more pressure on YPB. As well as expanding YPB you should also consider making mainstream high schools neurodiversity friendly (they are not at the moment) so that every child can have access to good quality education. You should really ask Autistic experts to help you with this - (rather than Autism experts) since the people w
	The school is at present under a high degree of strain given the many compromises which have had to be introduced in order to accommodate the increase in pupil numbers beyond the reported capacity of 116 pupils for the school. This increase is not a blip, but steady and ongoing. More and more young people are receiving a diagnosis of autism and there is a constant demand for places. Quite recently, the LA agreed that new admissions to the school would be limited to priority situations only. Whilst this deci

	Span


	Table
	TR
	TD
	Span
	areas, play areas, sensory areas, quiet areas) which, in addition to ordinary classrooms, are an essential part of any special school, have been whittled away, until they have become pale shadows of what is actually needed and what once existed. In order to meet the needs of pupils at Ysgol Plas Brondyffryn it is extremely important to provide a low arousal environment, and the facilities, space and opportunities for sensory breaks as and when these are needed. The current building does not have capacity to

	Span

	TR
	TD
	Span
	RESPONSE 

	Span

	TR
	TD
	Span
	As a Local Authority we will continue to work with all our mainstream schools to ensure pupils with autism, if possible, can remain in mainstream with the correct support.  
	Pupils who are already at the school will move over into the new build. As part of the project one of the workstreams will be to review the admission policy to clarify access for out-of-county placements. Consultation on the revised admission policy will take place with colleagues from across the region. 

	Span

	TR
	TD
	Span
	Finance 
	4 Respondents raised 

	Span

	TR
	TD
	Span
	With the increase in pupils in the school how will this affect the provision for each child currently set at £26k per pupil. Will this decrease? What affect will this have on the pupils? 
	How many of the proposed students are Denbighshire residents? The current student population has a high proportion of out of county students if this trend continues it is 

	Span


	Table
	TR
	TD
	Span
	unclear how this benefits Denbighshire residents apart from out of county payments. Perhaps DCC should be up front about this. 
	Building a new school here for Ysgol Brondyffryn is a money- making scheme for Denbighshire County Council. Out-of -county pupils bring in a great amount of money … at the detriment of our local children … it’s not right. 
	Many of Ysgol Brondyffryn's pupils are not Denbighshire pupils... they come out of County. The County receives a great sum money for each pupil they accept. 

	Span

	TR
	TD
	Span
	RESPONSE 

	Span

	TR
	TD
	Span
	Ysgol Plas Brondyffryn is funded in accordance with Denbighshire County Council’s funding formulas and will receive resources in the same basis as any other school within the County Council, based on the new schools pupil numbers and facilities.    
	As the table below reflects in recent years the amount of Out of County placements at the school has reduced and currently is 16%.  
	Table
	TR
	TD
	Span
	Child resides… 

	TD
	Span
	Jan 2022 

	TD
	Span
	Jan 2021 

	TD
	Span
	Jan 2020 

	TD
	Span
	Jan 2019 

	TD
	Span
	Jan 2018 

	TD
	Span
	Jan 2017 

	TD
	Span
	Jan 2016 

	Span

	TR
	TD
	Span
	in Denbighshire 

	TD
	Span
	111 

	TD
	Span
	112 

	TD
	Span
	97 

	TD
	Span
	103 

	TD
	Span
	95 

	TD
	Span
	79 

	TD
	Span
	65 

	Span

	TR
	TD
	Span
	Outside Denbighshire 

	TD
	Span
	21 

	TD
	Span
	28 

	TD
	Span
	29 

	TD
	Span
	31 

	TD
	Span
	45 

	TD
	Span
	49 

	TD
	Span
	58 

	Span

	TR
	TD
	Span
	Total  

	TD
	Span
	132 

	TD
	Span
	140 

	TD
	Span
	126 

	TD
	Span
	134 

	TD
	Span
	140 

	TD
	Span
	128 

	TD
	Span
	123 

	Span



	Span


	Table
	TR
	TD
	Span
	Table
	TR
	TD
	Span
	% from out of county 

	TD
	Span
	16% 

	TD
	Span
	20% 

	TD
	Span
	23% 

	TD
	Span
	23% 

	TD
	Span
	32% 

	TD
	Span
	38% 

	TD
	Span
	47% 

	Span


	Faced with a growing demand for places and a restricted capacity the short term decision was taken by Denbighshire, pending the outcome of the Band B proposals to restrict admissions to Denbighshire pupils pending the outcome of a long term approach for the school. This will be reviewed and managed once the new build is open as the school will have an increase in capacity. 

	Span

	TR
	TD
	Span
	Construction concerns 
	2 Respondents raised 

	Span

	TR
	TD
	Span
	The construction traffic will have to pass by Denbigh Infirmary, a road that currently is not suitable for that amount of traffic, due to local residents parking and the configuration of the junction onto Ruthin Road, plus the access needed on occasion for emergency vehicles. In addition there will be a substantial amount of construction dust believe all construction comes with dust and I don't believe any construction company that says there isn't. This dust will -dependant on weather conditions blow towar
	There is no consideration for residents who will be exposed to increased traffic, risk, noise and disruption in the area.  

	Span

	TR
	TD
	Span
	RESPONSE 

	Span


	Table
	TR
	TD
	Span
	Construction traffic to the proposed site would not go past Denbigh Infirmary- it would access the site off Ystrad Road.  
	As with all DCC builds the contractors will need to minimise dust and noise and keep nearby residents informed of any works that will be disruptive. 

	Span


	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	APPENDIX 7- Estyn Response 
	Estyn response to Denbighshire County Council’s proposal to increase the capacity at Ysgol Plas Brondyffryn from 116 to 220. 
	Introduction 
	This report has been prepared by Her Majesty’s Inspectors of Education and 
	Training in Wales. 
	Under the terms of the School Standards and Organisation (Wales) Act 2013 and its 
	associated Code, proposers are required to send consultation documents to Estyn. 
	However, Estyn is not a body which is required to act in accordance with the Code 
	and the Act places no statutory requirements on Estyn in respect of school 
	organisation matters. Therefore, as a body being consulted, Estyn will provide their 
	opinion only on the overall merits of school organisation proposals. 
	Estyn has considered the educational aspects of the proposal and has produced the 
	following response to the information provided by the proposer. 
	 
	Summary/ Conclusion 
	The proposal is by Denbighshire County council. It is to increase the capacity at 
	Ysgol Plas Brondyffryn from 116 to 220. The school would move into a brand-new 
	purpose-built facility in the town of Denbigh to accommodate the increase. 
	It is Estyn’s view that this proposal is likely to at least maintain the standard of 
	education provision and outcomes for pupils in the area. 
	 
	Description and benefits 
	The council has presented an appropriate rationale for the proposal. It is to increase 
	the capacity of the school to meet the growing demand for provision for pupils with 
	Autism Spectrum Condition (ASC). The nominal capacity at the school is 116, the 
	school currently has 136 pupils on roll and has been over capacity for the last 6 
	years. The school currently has pupils waiting to attend the school and the council 
	expects the demand to increase over the next few years and suggests that a 
	capacity of 220 is reasonable. However, there is no explanation as to why the figure 
	of 220 has been chosen. The school currently caters for pupils from across 
	Denbighshire and beyond with pupils from Flintshire, Wrexham and Gwynedd also 
	receiving education from the provision. The provision is currently located over four 
	sites and the proposal would rationalise this from three of these sites onto one site 
	with new purpose-built provision. The council also lists some issues with the 
	conditions of the sites currently being used which a new build facility would address. 
	The council has provided seemingly appropriate details regarding the timescales for 
	the implementation of the proposal. 
	 
	The expected advantages of the proposal include increasing the capacity to better 
	meet the demand, all pupils and staff being on the same site, improved transition 
	arrangements and having subject specific rooms. The disadvantages include an 
	increase in traffic to the one site and a potentially noisy play area for all pupils. 
	These seem to be appropriate and reasonable. 
	The council includes three main risks with the proposal. These include failure to 
	obtain statutory approval to implement the proposal, reduced demand for provision and integration of pupils into the new school building. The mitigation against these 
	risks appears to be mainly appropriate, however the council does not provide 
	sufficient information regarding alternative pathways should they fail to obtain 
	planning and funding approval. 
	 
	The council has provided details of the four options considered as part of this 
	consultation process. These options were to do nothing, to do the minimum by 
	clearing the maintenance backlog at each site, an intermediate option and the 
	preferred option. The council has provided suitable reasons for discounting three of 
	these options and choosing the fourth option. 
	 
	The council states that the proposed site is already in the local authority’s ownership 
	and is still in the town of Denbigh, therefore travel times for pupils will not be 
	significantly different. In addition, the council iterates that transport arrangements will 
	continue to be made in accordance with the county council’s home to school 
	transport policy. This seems to be fair and reasonable. 
	 
	The council has appropriately undertaken a Welsh language impact assessment. It 
	states that providing an improved educational provision represents an opportunity to 
	strengthen Welsh education in the area and as a result strengthen the Welsh 
	language. It concludes that overall, the proposal would not have a negative impact 
	on the Welsh language. The council does not refer directly to how this proposal will 
	support the targets in the Welsh in Education Strategic Plan. It does however 
	comment that Welsh is not used as a language of instruction in any Key Stage or 
	subject, but the school provides the necessary resources for pupils to access the 
	whole curriculum through the medium of Welsh. It would be useful to provide further 
	details regarding this assertion. 
	 
	The council has suitably identified the financial costs for this proposal. It falls within 
	Band B of the Welsh Government’s Sustainable Communities for Learning 
	programme and was approved by Welsh Government in September 2020. The 
	programme included an overall allocation of £23.8m for this project. Subject to the 
	approval of the relevant business cases, the Welsh Government will provide 75% of 
	the funding with the remaining 25% to be provided by Denbighshire County council. 
	There will be no capital receipts from this proposal as the current sites share with 
	other facilities. 
	 
	Educational aspects of the proposal 
	The school has suitably considered the impact of the proposal on the quality and 
	standards in education including the impact of the proposal on teaching and learning 
	experiences, care, support and guidance and leadership and management. The 
	council summarises this by expressing its view that, should the proposal be 
	implemented, it would at least maintain the current standard and quality of education. 
	The new building will be equipped to provide all pupils with a broad and balanced 
	curriculum from foundation phase to post-16. Bringing together all pupils and staff 
	into a provision that is purpose built for their needs can only have a positive influence 
	on pupil wellbeing and attitude to learning. 
	 
	The council has included the findings from the school’s most recent Estyn inspection 
	report which was in July 2016. This inspection returned judgements of good for all 3 
	key questions and for the school’s current performance and its prospects for 
	improvement. 
	 
	The council has provided a document called “community, equality and Welsh 
	language impact assessment”. Whilst this document suitably considers the impact of 
	the proposal on the community and the Welsh language, it lacks sufficient 
	consideration of the proposal’s impact on vulnerable groups or on pupils that have 
	protected characteristics. 
	 
	The council has appropriately considered that one of the main advantages of this 
	proposal is that construction works would take place away from all current school 
	sites, therefore minimal disruption to pupils learning will occur. 
	 
	 




	8 DISTRICT HEATING SYSTEM BETWS GWERFIL GOCH
	DISTRICT HEATING SYSTEM BETWS GG - APPENDIX 1 WBIA
	Betws GG - Community Ground Source Heating Proposal: Well-being Impact Assessment Report
	Summary and Conclusion
	Score for the sustainability of the approach
	Summary for each Sustainable Development principle
	Long term
	Prevention
	Integration
	Collaboration
	Involvement

	Summary of impact
	Main conclusions

	The likely impact on Denbighshire, Wales and the world.
	A prosperous Denbighshire
	Overall Impact
	Justification for impact
	Further actions required
	Positive impacts identified:
	Negative impacts identified:

	A resilient Denbighshire
	Overall Impact
	Justification for impact
	Further actions required
	Positive impacts identified:
	Negative impacts identified:

	A healthier Denbighshire
	Overall Impact
	Justification for impact
	Further actions required
	Positive impacts identified:
	Negative impacts identified:

	A more equal Denbighshire
	Overall Impact
	Justification for impact
	Further actions required
	Positive impacts identified:
	Negative impacts identified:

	A Denbighshire of cohesive communities
	Overall Impact
	Justification for impact
	Further actions required
	Positive impacts identified:
	Negative impacts identified:

	A Denbighshire of vibrant culture and thriving Welsh language
	Overall Impact
	Justification for impact
	Further actions required
	Positive impacts identified:
	Negative impacts identified:

	A globally responsible Denbighshire
	Overall Impact
	Justification for impact
	Further actions required
	Positive impacts identified:
	Negative impacts identified:





	9 ANNUAL TREASURY MANAGEMENT (TM) REPORT 2021/22
	TREASURY MANAGEMENT REPORT - APPENDIX 1
	TREASURY MANAGEMENT REPORT - APPENDIX 2 WBIA
	Annual Treasury Management Report 2021/22: Well-being Impact Assessment Report
	Summary and Conclusion
	Score for the sustainability of the approach
	Summary for each Sustainable Development principle
	Long term
	Prevention
	Integration
	Collaboration
	Involvement

	Summary of impact
	Main conclusions

	The likely impact on Denbighshire, Wales and the world.
	A prosperous Denbighshire
	Overall Impact
	Justification for impact
	Further actions required
	Positive impacts identified:
	Negative impacts identified:

	A resilient Denbighshire
	Overall Impact
	Justification for impact
	Further actions required
	Positive impacts identified:
	Negative impacts identified:

	A healthier Denbighshire
	Overall Impact
	Justification for impact
	Further actions required
	Positive impacts identified:
	Negative impacts identified:

	A more equal Denbighshire
	Overall Impact
	Justification for impact
	Further actions required
	Positive impacts identified:
	Negative impacts identified:

	A Denbighshire of cohesive communities
	Overall Impact
	Justification for impact
	Further actions required
	Positive impacts identified:
	Negative impacts identified:

	A Denbighshire of vibrant culture and thriving Welsh language
	Overall Impact
	Justification for impact
	Further actions required
	Positive impacts identified:
	Negative impacts identified:

	A globally responsible Denbighshire
	Overall Impact
	Justification for impact
	Further actions required
	Positive impacts identified:
	Negative impacts identified:





	10 FINANCE REPORT
	FINANCE REPORT - App 1 Revenue Budget Summary
	FINANCE REPORT - App 2 Service Variance Narrative
	FINANCE REPORT - App 3 Capital Plan Summary
	FINANCE REPORT - App 4 Major Projects Update
	FINANCE REPORT - Appendix 5.1  WG School Capital Grant Business Case
	FINANCE REPORT - Appendix 5.2 WG Schools Capital Grant WIA
	Schools Maintenance, Ventilation and Decarbonisation Grant : Well-being Impact Assessment Report
	Summary and Conclusion
	Score for the sustainability of the approach
	Summary for each Sustainable Development principle
	Long term
	Prevention
	Integration
	Collaboration
	Involvement

	Summary of impact
	Main conclusions

	The likely impact on Denbighshire, Wales and the world.
	A prosperous Denbighshire
	Overall Impact
	Justification for impact
	Further actions required
	Positive impacts identified:
	Negative impacts identified:

	A resilient Denbighshire
	Overall Impact
	Justification for impact
	Further actions required
	Positive impacts identified:
	Negative impacts identified:

	A healthier Denbighshire
	Overall Impact
	Justification for impact
	Further actions required
	Positive impacts identified:
	Negative impacts identified:

	A more equal Denbighshire
	Overall Impact
	Justification for impact
	Further actions required
	Positive impacts identified:
	Negative impacts identified:

	A Denbighshire of cohesive communities
	Overall Impact
	Justification for impact
	Further actions required
	Positive impacts identified:
	Negative impacts identified:

	A Denbighshire of vibrant culture and thriving Welsh language
	Overall Impact
	Justification for impact
	Further actions required
	Positive impacts identified:
	Negative impacts identified:

	A globally responsible Denbighshire
	Overall Impact
	Justification for impact
	Further actions required
	Positive impacts identified:
	Negative impacts identified:





	11 CABINET FORWARD WORK PROGRAMME



